REGULATION OF MAMMARY CELL DIFFERENTIATION AND

METABOLISM BY SINGLEMINDED-2S

A Dissertation

by

Kelly Catherine Scribner

Submitted to the Office of Graduate Studies of Texas A&M University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Chair of Committee, Committee Members, Weston Porter Stephen Safe Timothy Phillips Scott Dindot W. Les Dees Weston Porter

Intercollegiate Faculty Chair,

August 2013

Major Subject: Toxicology

Copyright Kelly Catherine Scribner 2013

ABSTRACT

Ductal carcinoma in *situ* (DCIS) has been shown to be a precursor to invasive ductal cancer (IDC). Though the progression of DCIS to IDC is believed to be an important aspect of tumor aggressiveness, prognosis and molecular markers that predict progression are poorly understood. Therefore, determining the mechanisms by which some DCIS progress is critical for future breast cancer diagnostics and treatment.

Singleminded-2s (SIM2s) is a member of the bHLH/PAS family of transcription factors and a key regulator of differentiation. SIM2s is highly expressed in mammary epithelial cells and lost in breast cancer. Loss of *Sim2s* causes aberrant mouse mammary development with features suggestive of malignant transformation, whereas over-expression of *Sim2s* promotes precocious alveolar differentiation, suggesting that *Sim2s* is required for establishing and enhancing mammary gland differentiation. We hypothesize that *SIM2s* expression must be lost in premalignant lesions for breast cancer to develop.

We first analyzed *Sim2s* in the involuting mammary gland, which is a highly tumorpromoting environment. *Sim2s* is down-regulated during involution, and forced expression delays involution. We then analyzed SIM2s expression in human breast cancer samples and found that SIM2s is lost with progression from DCIS to IDC, and this loss correlates with metastasis. SIM2s expression in DCIS promoted a differentiated phenotype and suppressed genes associated with de-differentiation. Furthermore, loss of *SIM2s* expression in DCIS xenografts increased metastasis likely due to an increase in hedgehog signaling and matrix metalloproteinase expression. Interestingly, we found metabolic shifts with gain and loss of *SIM2s* in not only DCIS cells, but also MCF7 and SUM159 cells. *SIM2s* expression decreased aerobic glycolysis and promoted oxidative phosphorylation through direct upregulation of *CDKN1a* and senescence. Loss of *SIM2s*, conversely, promotes mitochondrial dysfunction and induction of the Warburg effect. This is the first time *CDKN1a* and cellular senescence have been indicated as causative to metabolic shifts within cancer cells.

These studies show a new role for SIM2s in metabolic homeostasis, and this regulation is lost during tumorigenesis. These data indicate SIM2s is at the apex where aging, metabolism, and disease meet – regulating the delicate relationship between the three.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank my committee chair, Dr. Porter, and my committee members, Dr. Dees, Dr. Dindot, Dr. Phillips, and Dr. Safe, for their guidance and support throughout the course of my research.

Thanks also go to my friends and colleagues and the toxicology department faculty and staff for making my time at Texas A&M University a rewarding experience. I also want to thank my Texas A&M collaborators: Dr. Burghardt, Dr. Mouneimne, Dr. Payne at the Image Analysis laboratory for assistance with electron microscopy and live cell imaging, Dr. Hilty and Mukundan Ragavan in the Dept. of Chemistry for NMR analysis; Dr. Chapkin and Dr. Fan in the Dept. of Nutrition for assistance in mitochondrial bioenergetics; and the Histology Core Facility. I would also like to thank Dr. Behbod at the University of Kansas Medical Center and Dr. Medina at Baylor College of Medicine for their extensive support throughout this project through providing cells, human samples, and intellectual input.

Finally, thanks to my mother and father for their unconditional encouragement and support throughout my long career as a student. I couldn't have done this without them.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	ii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iv
TABLE OF CONTENTS	V
TABLE OF FIGURES	ix
LIST OF TABLES	xii
CHAPTER I INTRODUCTION AND LITERATURE REVIEW	1
Breast Cancer	1
Breast Cancer Subtypes	2
Normal Mammary Gland Development	5
Stat5 in the Mammary Gland and Breast Cancer	9
Ductal Carcinoma In Situ	
MCF10DCIS.com Cells as a Novel Model for DCIS In Vivo	
Breast Cancer Differentiation	
GATA3 in Mammary Gland and Breast Cancer Differentiation	19
Singleminded	20
SIM2 in Down Syndrome	22
Characterization of SIM2	25
Sim2s in the Normal Mammary Gland	
SIM2s in Cancer	
Cancer Metabolism	40
Breast Cancer Metabolism	
Mitashandria in Canaar	
Autonhogy in Matcholigm and Concer	
Autophagy III Metabolisiii aliu Calicel	
DIVIES, a Novel Sinizs Target implicated in Metabolishi	
FJJ	01
P55 In Differentiation.	
P 55 IN Metadolism	
P21 in Cellular Senescence and Differentiation	
P21 in Metabolism	
CHAPTER II MATERIALS AND METHODS	
In Vitro	
Cell Culture	
Plasmids and Lentiviral Transductions	
Transient Transfections Using siRNA	
0-	

Page

Invasion Assays	78
Proliferation Assays	79
In Vivo	79
MMTV-Sim2s Mice	79
Animals	79
Xenograft Studies	80
Metabolic	80
Mitochondrial Bioenergetics	80
NMR Spectroscopy	80
DCFH Assay	81
ATP-lite Analysis	81
Lactate Measurements	82
Mitochondria Isolation	82
Microscopy	83
Electron Microscopy	83
Live Cell Imaging.	83
B-Galactosidase Staining	84
Immunohistochemical Analysis	84
RNA	86
RNA Isolation from Cells	86
RNA Isolation from Tissue	86
Reverse Transcription	86
PCR	87
Quantitative Real-time PCR	87
Protein	89
Protein Isolation from Cells	89
Western Blot Analysis	90
Microarray Analysis	90
Gene Expression Microarray	90
Microarray Analysis	91
Accession Numbers	91
Mechanistic Assays	. 92
Luciferase Promoter Assay	. 92
Chromatin Immunoprecipitation Assay (ChIP)	
Miscellaneous.	
Statistical Analyses	
Reagents	94
CHAPTER III MANUSCRIPT 1: SINGLEMINDED-2S (SIM2S) PROMOTES DELAYED	
INVOLUTION OF THE MOUSE MAMMARY GLAND THROUGH SUPPRESSION OF STAT3 AND NEVB	05
	75
Synopsis	95
Introduction	96
Results	98
Constitutively Active Sim2s Delays Mouse Mammary Gland Involution	98

Page

Multiparous MMTV-Sim2s Mammary Glands Exhibit Alveolar	
Structure and Milk Protein Expression	101
Sim2s Expression Inhibits Activation of Stat3	103
Microarray Analysis Revealed Changes in Pathways Regulating Involution	Ι,
Specifically Stat3 and NFkB	106
Discussion	108
CHAPTER IV MANUSCRIPT 2: REGULATION OF DCIS TO INVASIVE BREAST	
CANCER PROGRESSION BY SINGLEMINDED-2S (SIM2S)	112
Synopsis	112
Introduction	113
Results	115
SIM2s is Lost During DCIS Progression	115
Re-establishment of SIM2s in the MCF10.DCIS.com Cell Line	
Induces Genetic and Morphologic Changes In Vitro	116
In Vivo Analysis of Transduced MCF10DCIS.com Cell Xenografts	
Show Changes in Growth and Morphology	119
SIM2s Inhibits Expression of Basal Breast Cancer Markers	120
SIM2s Promotes Expression of Luminal Markers	123
Angiogenesis and Metastasis are Inhibited by SIM2s	125
SIM2s-dependent Regulation of Matrix Metalloproteinase	
and Hedgehog Signaling	127
Discussion	128
CHAPTER V MANUSCRIPT 3: SIM2S INHIBITS DCIS BREAST CANCER	
PROGRESSION BY REGULATING SENESCENCE-DEPENDENT METABOLIC	
EQUILIBRIUM	132
Synopsis	132
Introduction	132
Results	135
SIM2s Expression Correlates with Early Stage DCIS and	
Luminal Breast Cancer	135
Loss of and Re-establishment of SIM2s Modulates Metabolic Shifts	
in Breast Cancer Cells	137
SIM2s Induces Intracellular Changes in Metabolic Constituents	141
Key Glycolytic Enzymes Are Inhibited by SIM2s Expression	143
DCIS Xenograft Analysis Confirms In Vitro Data and Induces	
P53 Stress Response	148
SIM2s Regulates P21 Expression and Induces Cellular	
Senescence and Inhibits Glycolysis	150
Discussion	154

CHAPTER VI CONCLUSIONS	
SIM2s in Mammary Gland Lactation and Metabolism	
SIM2s and Full Body Metabolism	
SIM2s in Brain Development and Neurodegenerative Disease	
Conclusion	
REFERENCES	
APPENDIX I COPYRIGHT INFORMATION	
Molecular Endocrinology Copyright	
Oncogene Copyright	
APPENDIX II MOLECULAR ENDOCRINOLOGY COVER	
APPENDIX III NOMENCLATURE	
APPENDIX IV VITA	

Page

LIST OF FIGURES

	Page
Figure 1. Cancer Rates in the United States of America.	1
Figure 2. Mammary Gland Hierarchy and Derivation of Breast Cancer Subtypes.	7
Figure 3. The Mammalian Single-minded Protein.	
Figure 4. Singleminded-2s Induction of an Epithelial Mesenchymal Transition	
Figure 5. Metabolic Localization in the Cell.	
Figure 6. Normal Cellular Glycolysis	
Figure 7. Tricarboxylic Acid Cycle	
Figure 8. Electron Transport Chain (ETC).	
Figure 9. Normal Metabolism and the Warburg Effect.	
Figure 10. P53 Stress Response	
Figure 11. Oncogene Induced Senescence.	
Figure 12. Involution is Delayed and Milk Protein mRNA Levels are Increased in MMTV-Sim2s Transgenic Mice.	
Figure 13. Delayed Fat Pad Regeneration in MMTV-Sim2s Mice During Involution.	100
Figure 14. MMTV-Sim2s Transgenic Mice Have Significantly Lower Levels of Apoptotic Cells During Involution.	101
Figure 15. Multi-parous MMTV-Sim2s Females Have More Alveolar Structures in the Non-lactation Gland, and Higher β-casein Expression	
Figure 16. Active Stat3 and Stat3 Target Genes Are Significantly Lower in MMTV-Sim2s Mice During Involution.	
Figure 17. Immunohistochemical Analysis of pan-Stat3 During Involution Reveals No Change in Overall Expression.	

Figure 18. Canonical Pathway Analysis of 72 Hour Involuting Glands Reveals Multiple Pathways that Are Affected by MMTV-Sim2s Over Expression	ı 107
Figure 19. SIM2s Expression is Progressively Lost in Human Ductal Carcinoma In Situ (DCIS) Transition to Invasive Ductal Cancer (IDC)	116
Figure 20. Analysis of MCF10DCIS Cell Transductions In Vitro Show Changes in Proliferation, Invasion, and Differentiation Markers.	118
Figure 21. Channel Images of the SIM2s Fluorescence Previously Shown (Figure 20).	118
Figure 22. Differential SIM2s Expression Regulates Growth In Vivo	120
Figure 23. SIM2s Decreases Markers Associated with Basal Breast Cancer in MCF10DCIS.COM Xenografts	122
Figure 24. Channel Images of the KER5/VIM Fluorescence Previously Shown (Figure 23).	122
Figure 25. SIM2s Xenografts Have Increased Levels of Luminal Markers and Express β-Casein.	124
Figure 26. SIM2s Inhibits Metastasis and Alters Angiogenesis	126
Figure 27. Loss of SIM2s Increases Tumor Invasiveness through MMP Expression and Hedgehog Signaling	127
Figure 28. SIM2s Expression Correlates with DCIS and Luminal Breast Cancer.	136
Figure 29. Loss of and Re-establishment of SIM2s Modulates Metabolism in Breast Cancer Cells.	140
Figure 30. Proliferation Assays of MCF7, SUM159, and DCIS Cells in Galactose Containing Media.	141
Figure 31. SIM2s Induces Intracellular Changes in Metabolic Constituents.	144
Figure 32. Single Channel Images of MCF7, SUM159, and DCIS Live Cell Imaging	145
Figure 33. Key Glycolytic Enzymes are Inhibited by SIM2s Expression.	146
Figure 34. Q-PCR Analysis of Breast Cancer Cells for Metabolic and Stress Response Genes.	147

Figure 35. DCIS Xenograft Analysis Confirms In Vitro Data and Induces P53 Stress Response.	149
Figure 36. Q-PCR Analysis of DCIS Xenografts of Key Mitochondrial Genes and Alternative Metabolic Pathways	150
Figure 37. SIM2s Regulates P21 Expression, Induces Cellular Senescence, and Inhibits Glycolysis.	153
Figure 38. High Fat Diet Reduces SIM2 Expression, and Loss of SIM2s Affects Weight Gain and Mammary Gland Development.	
Figure 39. Sim2s Expression Effects Muscle Development and Aerobic Activity	161
Figure 40. Model of SIM2s Regulation of DCIS Progression through P21 and Metabolic Homeostasis	

Page

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.	Classification of Breast Cancer Subtypes	3
Table 2.	Immunohistochemical Antibodies	85
Table 3.	Immunofluorescent Antibodies	85
Table 4.	ChIP RT-PCR Primers	87
Table 5.	Human Q-PCR Primers	88
Table 6.	Mouse Q-PCR Primers	89
Table 7.	Western Blot Antibodies	90

Page

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION AND LITERATURE REVIEW

Breast Cancer

Breast cancer is the most common type of cancer occurring in women in the United States, and remains one of the leading causes of mortality (Figure 1)(Group, 2013). Breast cancer occurs when cells in the breast proliferate uncontrollably, ignoring the signals from the body to stop.



Figure 1. Cancer Rates in the United States of America. Data is courtesy of CDC cancer statistics. Breast cancer is the higher occurring cancer among women, and the second leading cause of mortality in the USA.

Approximately 50-75% of breast tumors begin in the ductal tree (ductal carcinoma), while 10-15% begin in lobular structures (Dillon, 2010). In 2013, an estimated 232,340 new cases of invasive breast cancer will be diagnosed, along with 64,640 new cases of *in situ* breast cancer. The estimated number of breast cancer related deaths in 2013 is 39,620 (American Cancer Society). In the United States, approximately 22% of women between the ages of 4554 are diagnosed with breast cancer. Despite drastic advances in diagnostics and therapies, there remains a need for more efficient biomarkers and treatments.

Breast cancer is a collection of diseases that have diverse histo-pathological phenotypes, genetic make-ups and prognostic indicators (LaMarca and Rosen, 2008; Vargo-Gogola and Rosen, 2007). Non-invasive breast cancer is characterized by hyperplastic cells that are proliferating within the ductal structure of the mammary gland, but have not spread to nearby tissue. This early stage of the disease is termed ductal carcinoma *in situ* (DCIS) or the less common lobular carcinoma *in situ* (LCIS). Due to improved detection methods, the diagnosis of DCIS has risen from less than 1% of diagnosed breast cancers to 15-25% (Jones, 2006; Norton et al., 2010). DCIS has been shown to be a precursor to invasive ductal cancer (IDC), with 20-30% of DCIS showing evidence of invasion upon diagnosis (Burstein et al., 2004; Maffuz et al., 2006). Invasive breast cancer occurs when rapidly growing cells from within ductal and lobular structures invade through the stroma into nearby tissues. From here tumor cells can spread to lymph nodes and to distant organs (metastasis). Metastasis to distant organs is the primary cause of mortality in breast cancer patients. Research has provided many biomarkers that aid in diagnoses and chemotherapy, as well as characterization and classification of this disease.

Breast Cancer Subtypes

Analysis of primary breast cancers for genetic mutations and unique genetic phenotypes has led to the characterization of 6 breast cancer sub-types: luminal A, luminal B, HER2 positive, and basal-like (Table 1), as well as the lesser known normal-like and claudin-low (Cancer Genome Atlas, 2012; Perou et al., 2000; Sorlie et al., 2001).

2

Molecular		Immunohistochemical staining				
Subtype	ER	PR	HER2	СК5/6	СК8/18	EGFR
Luminal A	+	+	-	-	+	-
Luminal B	+	+	+	-	+	-
HER2	-	-	+	-		-
Basal	-	-	-	+	-	+

 Table 1. Classification of Breast Cancer Subtypes.

The use of high-throughput sequencing and protein arrays have enabled scientists to view whole-genome changes that are acquired with the onset of breast cancer, thus identifying unique profiles that divide breast cancer based on certain genotypic characteristics.

Luminal breast cancers make up the most heterogeneous subtype of breast cancers in terms of genes expression and mutation (Cancer Genome Atlas, 2012). Luminal-type tumors are mainly characterized by the expression of luminal genes such as GATA binding protein 3 (GATA3), X-box binding protein 1 (XBP1), and cytokeratins 8 and 18 (CK8/18). More commonly, luminal cancers are identified by the expression of hormone receptors: estrogen receptor (ER) and progesterone receptor (PR) (Perou et al., 2000). ER⁺/PR⁺ breast cancers require hormone stimulation to maintain tumor proliferation and integrity. As such, endocrine therapy that blocks this signaling is highly effective in treating these cancers. Luminal breast cancers can be further broken down into subtypes A and B by whether, in addition to ER and PR, the tumors also express human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2) (Luminal B).

HER2 overexpression occurs in approximately 30% of primary breast cancers (Slamon et al., 1989). Also called Neu, ErbB2, and CD340, HER2 expression in tumors activates mitogenic pathways such as STAT, AKT, and MAPK. HER2 expression is associated with lower survival rate and high recurrence rates and metastasis, and is often associated with

increased expression of epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) (Cancer Genome Atlas, 2012). Although resistant to hormone therapy, new treatments, such as trastuzumab, that directly target HER2 (and therefore leave healthy tissue alone) are very effective (Damodaran and Olson, 2012; Tinoco et al., 2013).

If a tumor is missing all three of these biomarkers, it is said to be a triple-negative, or basal, breast cancer. Triple-negative breast cancers, which comprise approximately 15% of breast cancers, are hard to classify, and as such are a heterogeneous mixture of various subtypes. Triple negative breast cancers are said to be basal-like when they are highly proliferative, poorly differentiated, and express the basal marker cytokeratin 5/6 (CK5/6) (Perou et al., 2000) and this accounts for approximately 75% of triple negative breast cancers. Triple-negative breast cancers are often characterized by expression of genes such as Ki67 and Proliferating Cell Nuclear Antigen (PCNA) regulating proliferation, as well as loss or mutation of p53 (Cancer Genome Atlas, 2012). These cancers are often harder to treat, and their inherent aggressive characteristics account for a much higher proportion of breast cancer mortality compared to luminal subtypes (Oakman et al., 2010). A relatively newly characterized triple-negative breast cancer is the claudin-low subtype (Herschkowitz et al., 2007). In addition to being a triplenegative breast cancer, claudin-low subtype tumors also are characterized by low expression of adhesion genes such as E-cadherin (CDH1) and claudins, as well as a strong mesenchymal phenotype. Additionally, claudin-low breast cancer have a unique signature of CD44⁺/CD24⁻ breast tumor-initiating cells, which are linked to chemoresistance and metastasis (Hennessy et al., 2009).

Thanks to many new treatments and biomarkers, our understanding of breast cancer progression has been greatly enhanced. However, much remains to be understood. Research has increasingly shown that the normal development of the mammary gland includes a delicate balance that is the basis for cancer development when insults occur. In order to understand the progression of breast cancer, we must also understand the normal mammary gland and how the normal function is mis-regulated in carcinogenesis.

Normal Mammary Gland Development

The mammary gland is a unique reproductive structure of mammals that, with the exception of humans and some dairy calves, is critical for reproductive success. Mammary glands are epithelial organs that at birth are extremely rudimentary, and do not reach full development until lactation following parturition. The mammary is a complex structure of lactating lobules, ducts for milk passage, supporting tissue, muscles, fat, and lymph nodes. Throughout puberty, menstruation, pregnancy, lactation, and menopause the structure and activity of the mammary gland dynamically changes to meet the varying signals of these cycles.

The mammary gland is composed of three major epithelial cell types including ductal, alveolar and myoepithelial cells, which undergo dramatic morphological and genetic changes associated with different stages of mammary gland differentiation (Siegel and Muller, 2010; Visvader, 2009). A rudimentary ductal structure develops *in utero*, however, all subsequent development occurs at the onset of puberty. During puberty, mammary gland development is regulated through a branching morphogenic mechanism driven by terminal end buds (TEB). TEBs are highly proliferative and invasive, invading the mammary fat pad to develop the rudimentary ductal structure (Sympson et al., 1995; Sympson et al., 1994). As the TEB invades, the ductal structures remaining are formed through highly regulated apoptotic and differentiation mechanisms. The onset of estrous cycling promotes side branching and alveolar budding (Andres and Strange, 1999). Prolactin and progesterone are largely responsible for alveolar bud formation during post-pubertal growth by stimulating proliferation through paracrine signaling

with Wn4 and Rank Ligand (RankL) (Brisken et al., 2000). During pregnancy and lactation, progesterone and prolactin levels increase, causing the mammary gland to enter a cyclic transition characterized initially by growth and differentiation of lobuloalveolar structures, a switch to milk production during lactation, and regression to a state similar to the pre-pregnant virgin gland during involution. Similar to the hematopoietic system, a differentiation hierarchy of mammary stem cells has been identified in the adult mammary gland that give rise to the luminal and myoepithelial lineages (Figure 2) (Visvader, 2009). The luminal lineage can be further sub-divided into ductal cells that line the ducts and alveolar luminal cells that expand in response to lactogenic hormones to form alveolar units. There is also increasing evidence that the differentiation hierarchy in the developing mammary gland may be linked with the different sub-types of breast cancer. Gene expression profiling studies suggest that breast cancer heterogeneity is a result of the transformation of specific stem cell or progenitor cell populations responsible for normal mammary gland development (Figure 2) (Siegel and Muller, 2010; Visvader, 2009).



Figure 2. Mammary Gland Hierarchy and Derivation of Breast Cancer Subtypes. The mammary gland is composed of a unique hierarchy of stem, progenitor, and differentiated cells. Mutations in various cell types lead to the different subtypes of breast cancer.

Mammary gland involution is the regression of a lactating mammary gland post weaning to its quiescent state. Involution is characterized by a decrease in milk protein, collapse of alveolar structure, apoptosis of epithelial cells, and reinvasion of adipocytes (Baxter et al., 2007; Furth, 1999; Thangaraju et al., 2004; Walker et al., 1989; Wilde et al., 1999). Involution has been shown to proceed in two separate phases, first an acute response phase characterized by a decrease in milk protein synthesis, and epithelial cell apoptosis (Baxter et al., 2007; Bierie et al., 2009; Clarkson and Watson, 2003; Furth, 1999; Henson and Tarone, 1994; Jaggi et al., 1996; Lund et al., 1996; Marti et al., 1999; Quarrie et al., 1996). This initial phase is reversible and occurs for 1-3 days post weaning (varies with species). The second phase begins at 72 hours post weaning, and is characterized by a collapse in the alveoli, extensive epithelial apoptosis, and breakdown of the basement membrane by matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) (Stein et al., 2007). Involution is a unique process with a wound healing signature and controlled inflammation, both of which are associated with breast cancer progression, metastasis, and survival. During this process terminally differentiated luminal epithelial cells proceed through two pathways: the most prominent is cellular apoptosis, the remaining undergo a dedifferentiation back to their pre-lactating state. The extracellular matrix of the involuting mammary gland has also been shown to enhance metastasis, and the gene expression signature of the involuting gland has been associated with poor prognoses in breast cancer diagnosis (Marti et al., 1999; McDaniel et al., 2006; Schedin et al., 2007; Stein et al., 2009). Extensive research has looked at gene expression, basement membrane changes, and signaling in involution and its respective correlation with breast cancer. Research has shown that metastatic breast cancer shares a gene expression profile similar to the involuting mammary gland (Clarkson and Watson, 2003; Clarkson et al., 2004; Come et al., 2004; Henson and Tarone, 1994; Jager et al., 1997; Lefebvre et al., 1992; Lyons et al., 2009; McDaniel et al., 2006; O'Brien and Schedin, 2009; Pensa et al., 2009; Radisky and Hartmann, 2009).

Pregnancy-associated breast cancer is one of the more aggressive, highly metastatic, types of breast cancer and often has a poor prognosis (Lyons et al., 2009; Newcomb, 1997; Polyak, 2006; Russo and Russo, 1998). Research has indicated that this is due to hormonal changes during pregnancy and lactation, and more recently the microenvironment and unique wound healing signature of the involuting mammary gland (Clarkson and Watson, 2003; Lund et al., 1996; McDaniel et al., 2006; Newcomb, 1997; O'Brien and Schedin, 2009; Radisky and Hartmann, 2009; Stein et al., 2009).

Stat5 in the Mammary Gland and Breast Cancer

Transcription factor cascades controlling functional gene expression are key events in regulating the differentiation potential of mammary epithelial cells. In the mammary gland, signal transducer and activator of transcription 5A (STAT5a), a well-known non-tyrosine kinase-containing cytokine receptor-activated transcription factor, is a key modulator of three different cellular outcomes: differentiation, survival, and proliferation (Liu et al., 1997; Silva, 2004). STAT5a can be activated via serine phosphorylation and de-phosphorylation, as well as interactions with other cellular proteins (Johnson et al., 2010; Wang et al., 2003). As a key regulator of mammary cell fate and lactation, STAT5a is activated by diverse and overlapping signaling pathways. These same pathways are potentially involved in the aberrant up-regulation of STAT5a in breast cancer.

Studies in normal mammary gland development have established the vital role for STAT5a in alveolar differentiation and lactation. STAT5a expression is present throughout virgin development of the mouse mammary gland, with highest levels of expression seen during pregnancy and lactation, coinciding with expression levels of Whey Acidic Protein (Liu et al., 1995). Using deletion transplant studies, loss of STAT5a in mouse mammary epithelium did not affect virgin ductal development (Miyoshi et al., 2001). However, STAT5a null mammary glands failed to differentiate and form alveoli or express milk proteins, resulting in locational failure in early pregnancies. Interestingly, after subsequent pregnancies, coupled with suckling pups, STAT5b expression and phosphorylation increased to eventually rescue the lactation defect (Liu et al., 1998). Complete knockdown of both STAT5a and STAT5b prevent this rescue, and significantly inhibited proliferation and differentiation in the mammary gland. Using conditional gene activation Cui et al (2004) examined this loss of STAT5 at different stages of mammary gland development to determine its effect. Loss of STAT5 expression prior to pregnancy prevented epithelial proliferation and differentiation, and caused lactation failure. Loss of *STAT5* during late pregnancy using a WAP Cre gene promoter, which itself (WAP) is a milk protein induced in differentiating mammary tissue, did not completely ablate functional lactation, although alveolar structures were fewer in the *STAT5^{fl/fl}* mice. However, further analysis showed that loss of STAT5 in lactating epithelial cells resulted in a de-differentiation, and was characterized by loss of WAP protein expression and the apical secretory marker Npt2b. Loss of STAT5 in late pregnancy also increased apoptosis in the lactating gland, indicative of an involution phenotype. Indeed, under normal circumstances, a cyclic relationship with loss of STAT5 and induction of STAT3 is a key step in the onset of involution (Philp et al., 1996).

In the mammary gland, STAT5a expression can be regulated by many different pathways. The most commonly identified pathway is gene induction through pregnancy hormones and prolactin. Alveolar epithelial cells respond to prolactin by initiating a Janus kinase 2 (Jak2)-mediated phosphorylation and dimerization with cytoplasmic STAT5a, resulting in activation and nuclear translocation of STAT5a, which then binds regulatory elements of milk protein genes, increasing their expression and subsequent lactation (Happ and Groner, 1993; Li and Rosen, 1995). However, in studies where the prolactin receptor (PrlR) was knocked down in mammary epithelium, STAT5 could still be induced by a myriad of other cytokine and hormone signals. While loss of PrlR in mammary epithelium inhibited lactation in the same manner as STAT5 loss, it was not as severe. PrlR-null mammaries were able to form small, open alveolar lumina, indicating that other cytokines were potentially activating STAT5 (Miyoshi et al., 2001). Miyoshi et al. showed that injection of epidermal growth factor (EGF) or growth hormone (GH) was sufficient to induce activation of STAT5a in PrlR-null mammary glands. However, other work done by Gallego et al. (2001) shows that neither one of these is necessary for normal mammary gland development, while PrlR is essential. Although prolactin-mediated STAT5a activation is central to alveolar epithelial cell function, it is not the only pathway responsible for initiating mammary gland specification towards terminal differentiation. Other transcription factors, including the glucocorticoid receptor (GR), CCAAT-enhancer binding protein-beta (CEBPβ), Elf-5 and GATA-3 also play a role in lactogenic differentiation (Asselin-Labat et al., 2007; Kouros-Mehr et al., 2008; Kouros-Mehr et al., 2006; LaMarca et al., 2010). Thus, commitment to cellular differentiation in the mammary gland requires activation and coordination of multiple signaling pathways to ensure that specific mammary lineage commitment is achieved. However, it is still not clear how these proteins control the specification of distinct cell types within the differentiation hierarchy of the developing mammary gland (Asselin-Labat et al., 2007; LaMarca and Rosen, 2008).

Ductal Carcinoma In Situ

DCIS is also a heterogenous group of diseases within itself, characterized by a neoplastic mammary lesion that is confined to the ductal-lobular system of the breast. It is hypothesized that nearly all invasive ductal carcinomas proceed from DCIS, and the ability to detect this early stage of breast cancer has allowed clinicians to target DCIS before the onset of invasive disease. However, research has yet to find reliable biomarkers that dictate the progression of DCIS to invasive ductal cancer (IDC). An estimated 14-60% of women with untreated DCIS will later develop invasive disease (Burstein et al., 2004).

Pathological markers such as nuclear grade, comedo necrosis, and size have been associated with an increased risk of DCIS progression, however these features are confounded when also addressing treatment and follow-up (Chin et al., 2004; Cocker et al., 2007; Ma et al., 2003; Porter et al., 2003; Yao et al., 2006). Serial analysis of gene expression (SAGE) showed no distinct genetic signature that differentiates DCIS from IDC. Indeed, most genetic changes occurred at the normal to DCIS transition. In fact, extensive studies using fluorescent in situ hybridization (FiSH), microarrays, and whole genome analysis of human DCIS and IDC lesions have not consistently identified any classical markers for progression from DCIS to IDC (Hernandez et al., 2012; Muggerud et al., 2010). Molecular profiling of DCIS compared to IDC shows the same heterogeneity and sub-types previously described for IDC (Clark et al., 2011). However, the frequency of these subtypes varies between DCIS and IDC, indicating differences in subtype progression that may merit further research. Cocker, et al. (2007) studied the potential role or proteolytic enzymes in promoting the progression of DCIS to IDC, however, their results were inconsistent. Current research has also not determined the mechanisms that cause some DCIS to progress and others to lie dormant. Many confirmed oncogenes and tumor suppressors such as p53, PTEN, ERBB2, and MYC have been analyzed in DCIS and IDC samples; and consisten changes in gene expression indicating progression to invasion were not observed (Behling et al., 2011; de Biase et al., 2010; Knudsen et al., 2012; Liu et al., 2010; Lu et al., 2009; Miron et al., 2010; Rajan et al., 1997; Schmidt et al., 2010; Yao et al., 2006). ERBB2 was overexpressed in 25% of invasive tumors, and 50-60% of DCIS lesions, and must be correlated with 14-3-3ζ or its downstream regulator SIAH to better predict the risk of progression from DCIS to IDC; changes in PTEN signaling between DCIS and IDC were also not observed. MYC has been implicated as a possible genetic signature predicting DCIS and IDC, however the genetic imbalances and heterogeneity seen in these tumors did not show a definitive correlation (Heselmeyer-Haddad et al., 2012). However, FiSH studies of ERBB2, ESR1, CCDN1, and MYC showed no significant changes in their amplification in the progression from DCIS to IDC (Burkhardt et al., 2010). While a correlation has been established between hormone receptors ER and PR and DCIS, no change in p53 expression is seen during DCIS progression (Liu et al., 2010). Another study by Lee et al. showed that suppression of

genes involved in cell adhesion and signaling, and protease inhibition significantly increased DCIS progression, and pointed toward increased cathepsin activity (which is involved in autophagy) as a possible mechanism for DCIS progression (Lee et al., 2012). Currie et al. studied the potential role of tumor initiating cells (cancer stem cells) in the progression from DCIS to IDC. Tumor initiating cells are defined as de-differentiated, stem cell-like cells that are able to generate the heterogeneous cells of the tumor. In breast cancer, TICs have been identified as CD44⁺/CD24⁻ (cluster of differentiation 44/24, cell surface proteins) cells that are also positive for aldehyde dehydrogenase (ALDH) activity (Al-Hajj et al., 2003; Ginestier et al., 2007). Higher percentages of TICs have been implicated in basal breast cancers and have been associated with enhanced invasion and metastasis (Charafe-Jauffret et al., 2009; Charafe-Jauffret et al., 2008; Dontu et al., 2003; Korkaya and Wicha, 2007). Analysis of these three TIC markers in matched DCIS and IDC samples showed similar TIC populations (Currie et al., 2013). Although some possible indicators have been found between DCIS and IDC, no causal links to induced DCIS progression have been established, and no major pathways have emerged as necessary for the onset of invasive disease.

Emerging evidence indicates that response to metabolic stress and hypoxia promote progression of DCIS to IDC (Espina and Liotta, 2011; Hu et al., 2008; Lee et al., 2012; Schmidt et al., 2010). Indeed, hypoxic stress and nutrient deprivation are well established inducers of mutagenesis and genetic instability (Bindra and Glazer, 2005; Mathew et al., 2009; Mathew and White, 2011). In order for DCIS to progress, these lesions must circumvent stress-induced death and senescence, and adapt to using alternative sources of energy. HIF1 α up-regulation in a hypoxic environment has been implicated as an inhibitor of p53-mediated cell death and the DNA damage response (Sendoel et al., 2010). De-phosphorylation of retinoblastoma (RB) in response to hypoxia and nutrient deprivation is responsible for cell-cycle arrest and senescence, however, research in DCIS indicates this pathway is compromised, resulting in uncontrolled proliferation regardless of stress signals (Berman et al., 2010; Gauthier et al., 2007). A similar study further analyzed RB and the related tumor suppressor phosphatase and tensin homolog (PTEN) as potential regulators of DCIS progression (Knudsen et al., 2012). Using human DCIS samples, loss of RB protein expression was found to be significantly related to recurrent DCIS or progression to IDC. However, PTEN expression showed no correlations with DCIS progression. It was suggested that RB and PTEN expression together was a promising prognostic indicator for DCIS progression, through dual regulatory roles in cell cycle progression and an adaptive growth advantage via PTEN loss (Knudsen et al., 2012). In order to survive the stressed environment during tumorigenesis, autophagy has also been implicated in survival. Interestingly, autophagy has been to shown to have both tumorigenic and tumor-suppressive qualities, which will be further discussed. Autophagy has been shown to be activated during hypoxia and nutrient stress, and is hypothesized to be a major survival mechanism in DCIS cells (Debnath, 2011; Jin, 2006; Lozy and Karantza, 2012; Mathew et al., 2009).

MCF10DCIS.com Cells as a Novel Model for DCIS In Vivo

Until recently, mechanistic research of DCIS and the mechanism of cancer progression has been challenging due to lack of *in vivo* models. Studies were restricted to human samples, limiting real-time experimentation and modulation. Development of the MCF10DCIS.com (DCIS) cell line provided a useful and novel technique for modeling DCIS progression in vivo (Miller, 2000; Miller et al., 2000; Tait et al., 2007). Developed from the premalignant MCF10AT cells, DCIS cells were obtained from xenograft lesions of MCF10AT cells that mimicked DCIS *in vivo*. *In vitro*, DCIS cells grow in a single monolayer, and all cells express keratin and smooth muscle actin. DCIS cells, upon injection, form rapidly growing DCIS lesions, characterized by tightly packed lobular structures, many with central necrosis (comedo DCIS). After injection and growth, these DCIS lesions will ultimately progress and become invasive, similar to a normal human DCIS lesion. It is hypothesized that *in vitro* DCIS cells are still in a bipotent progenitor state, and *in vivo* they differentiate into the myoepithelial and luminal cells necessary for DCIS development. Thanks to the development of this model, researchers are now able to actively study the genetic and environmental effects on DCIS progression.

Initial studies using this model were used to elucidate the potential role of the myoepithelial cell layer and fibroblasts in DCIS progression. Using subcutaneous injections, Hu et al. (2008) verified the bipotent activity of the DCIS cell line and development of DCIS lesions with intact basement membranes and myoepithelial cell layers, which other human breast cancer cell lines were unable to do. Using immunohistochemical analysis and flow cytometry, the bipotent progenitor capabilities of the DCIS cell line were verified. In vitro, DCIS cells are uniformly positive for both basal and luminal markers, and only upon injection do they differentiation into separate luminal and myoepithelial cells. Additionally, microarray analysis confirmed that genetic alterations in DCIS xenografts mimicked genetic alterations commonly found in human breast carcinomas, such as downregulation of cell cycle regulator p16 (CDKN2A). SAGE and microarray analysis showed that the myoepithelial layer in DCIS xenografts and human DCIS lesions was largely responsible for maintenance of the extracellular matrix (ECM), cytoskeleton, and basement membrane remodeling. Further analysis of matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs), which have been highly indicated in degradation of the basement membrane and promotion of invasion, found that MMP14 was highly upregulated in DCIS associated myoepithelial cells. Co-injection of DCIS cells with fibroblasts resulted in invasive ductal carcinoma rather than the previously described DCIS lesions, but this could be reversed by the addition of normal myoepithelial cells. Importantly, none of these differences induced

genetics changes in the epithelial cells of DCIS xenografts, indicating a paracrine effect of fibroblasts on the bipotent progenitor potential of DCIS cells. This study elegantly elucidated a potential role for tumor progression that explains the lack of genetic changes with the onset of invasive disease.

More recently, a new technique, the mouse intraductal (MIND) injection has been developed to better mimic the natural environment of human DCIS in vivo (Behbod et al., 2009). In addition to the DCIS.com cell lines, a second DCIS-like SUM225 cell line and primary human DCIS cells can be used in this model. Using immunosuppressed mice, these cells were injected into the inguinal mammary gland through the nipple. This results in a DCIS lesion within the actual ductal structure of the mouse mammary gland, enhancing the similarities to a human mammary gland DCIS lesion. Interestingly, in this study, only the DCIS.com cells became invasive, the SUM225 cell line and primary human samples did not. In the intraductal model, the previously described comedo style DCIS of the DCIS.com cells was replaced by a cribiform pattern, where the epithelial cells have not completely filled the ductal region. In this model, the myoepithelial and basement membrane layers are developed by the mouse mammary gland, whereas the epithelial cells are from the human cell lines, indicating that the bipotent potential of the DCIS.com cell lines is altered in this model. This modeling experiment has also been used with human primary DCIS to continually grow human primary DCIS samples through repeated intraductal injection. Using this model, Valdez et al. (2011) were able to grow human DCIS cells within mouse mammary ducts that maintained that characteristics of the original DCIS pathology. This allows for long-term study of DCIS lesions in an in vivo situation with lower risks of genetic alteration.

The establishment of these unique models for DCIS progression has significantly enhanced our ability to study early onset and progression of breast cancer. These models will be critical for identification of markers for progression, and identification of novel and effect treatments that prevent the development of invasive disease.

Breast Cancer Differentiation

A major indicator of overall tumor aggressiveness and an important prognostic indicator is the differentiation status of the tumor. Understanding differentiation and the identification of genes regulating differentiation are major themes in cellular biology. While the discussion of differentiation permeates the study of breast cancer, understanding the definition and important of differentiation in breast cancer progression is vital.

In the normal body, differentiation is identified as the process by which a less specialized cell (ie. stem cell) becomes a more specialized cell with a specific function (ie., neuron). Thus, differentiation is vital for human growth and development. The mammary gland is unique in that it goes through repeating rounds of differentiation (specialization) and dedifferentiation with menstrual cycling, and most importantly with pregnancy and lactation. We have already discussed the various levels of differentiation that occur within the mammary gland during normal development, and also how it diverges at various points of this pathway resulting in unique subtypes or breast cancer. The mammary gland reaches its most differentiated state, named terminal differentiation, shortly after parturition, at the peak of lactation. During this state the cells are highly metabolically active but do not proliferate. After weaning, most of these terminally differentiated cells are unable to de-differentiate to the mammary glands prepregnancy state, and therefore, they undergo apoptosis. These terminally differentiated cells are also highly prone to cell death, and are more susceptible to outside insults such as chemotherapeutics. Throughout the cycles of differentiation within the mammary gland, it must always maintain the ability to form a subsequent, functional gland for later pregnancies, which is hypothesized to occur through the regulation of mammary stem cells (Visvader, 2009). While regulation of this process is highly controlled in the normal gland, the unique ability of this organ to cycle in its differentiation status makes tumor differentiation of the utmost importance in breast cancer.

In breast cancer, tumors are often graded according to their state of differentiation, or dedifferentiation – in accordance with how closely they resemble the normal tissue of the mammary gland (NCI). The more de-differentiated a breast tumor is, or the less it resembles the mammary gland, the worse the prognosis. Poorly differentiated tumors are often highly invasive and metastatic, in addition to being highly proliferative (Bloom and Richardson, 1957; Contesso et al., 1987; Liu et al., 2007). Indeed, the parameters used for breast cancer grading are directly related to the differentiation characteristics of the mammary gland (Jogi et al., 2012). Tumor grading in breast cancer is often based on several parameters – including tubule formation and nuclear pleomorphisms, both of which are directly related to tumor differentiation. Tubule formation is indicative of the cells' ability to maintain polarity, whereas large nuclei and variations in nuclear size are markers for low differentiation. Additionally, in ductal carcinoma *in situ*, the development of hypoxic regions within lesions correlates with a high localization of de-differentiated cells and progression to invasive breast cancer, and promotes the hypothesis that hypoxia, and specifically HIF1 α , plays an important role in loss of differentiation.

The importance of differentiation in breast cancer progression and aggressiveness has stimulated research on identification of critical pathways of differentiation that are altered with the onset of cancer. Several transcription factors have been implicated, including GATA3, p53, HIF1 α , and the previously mentioned STAT5a (Kouros-Mehr et al., 2008; Kouros-Mehr et al., 2006).

GATA3 in Mammary Gland and Breast Cancer Differentiation

GATA3 was first identified as a key transcription factor that is highly expressed in the luminal epithelial cells of the mature mammary gland (Kouros-Mehr et al., 2006). GATA3 is expressed in all luminal cells of the mammary gland, but not in the capsule of the TEB. Loss of GATA3 in the mouse mammary gland severely disrupted normal development. While embryonic and pre-pubertal development was similar to WT littermates, at the onset of puberty, the GATA3 null glands failed to develop beyond the pre-pubertal stage, and these glands exhibited defects in side branching and structural defects. GATA3 null luminal epithelial cells within ductal structures. Using a doxycycline-inducible system, Kouros-Mehr et al. (2006) allowed mice to read adulthood before targeting GATA3 in the mammary gland. Even after puberty, loss of GATA3 induced a drastic loss of luminal markers β -casein (CSN2) and CDH1, and also increased proliferation within the mammary gland, showing that GATA3 expression as critical for both the development and maintenance of the differentiated mammary gland (Kouros-Mehr et al., 2006).

Additional work in mammary cancer showed that loss of GATA3 in breast cancer promoted tumor growth and metastasis (Kouros-Mehr et al., 2008). Using the Mouse Mammary Tumor Virus Polyoma Middle-T (MMTV-PyMT) tumor system, GATA3 was shown to be down-regulated in breast tumors and was lost during tumor de-differentiation. Tumors that had metastasized to distant organs were consistently devoid of GATA3 expression. By examining a panel of breast cancer cell lines ranging from less aggressive, luminal to highly metastatic, basal types, Kouros et al. (2008) verified that less aggressive cell lines have detectable amounts of GATA3, which is progressively lost in more aggressive cell lines. Re-establishment of GATA3 in PyMT tumors significantly inhibited metastasis and promoted differentiation. Expression of GATA3 in PyMT tumors also induced CSN2 expression, indicative of terminal differentiation, and the tumors themselves formed ductal structures rather than disorganized tumors. Although tumor sizes were larger in GATA3 expressing tumors, this was due to the formation of cysts full of secretory material from the tumor rather than enhanced proliferation. These tumors had a 27 fold decrease in lung metastasis compared to controls. Interestingly, loss of GATA3 in early stage mammary carcinomas was not sufficient to induce tumor progression, since loss of GATA3 induced apoptosis in GATA3 positive cells, and did not completely eliminate GATA3 expression in subsequent tumors. Further analysis indicated that tumor progression occurred through the clonal expansion of the GATA3 null population of cells in the tumor, eventually overtaking the GATA3 positive population and conferring stem-like, basal characteristics on the tumor. These studies show a vital role for GATA3 expression in the promotion of differentiation, and its potential as a diagnostic indicator in breast cancer.

Singleminded

Originally discovered in *Drosophila*, d*sim* was found to be a key regulator of CNS midline differentiation and cell fate (Crews et al., 1992; Kasai et al., 1992; Lewis and Crews, 1994; Nambu et al., 1990; Nambu et al., 1991). It was found that d*sim* knockdown in embryos was fatal due to a lack of differentiation, and the d*sim* expression was sufficient and necessary for CNS development. These studies also examined the collaboration of *dsim* with tango (*dtgo*, homologous to mammalian ARNT) for association with DNA response elements and proper formation of the CNS (Pielage et al., 2002). This research concluded that *dsim* was a master regulator of neurogenesis (Nambu et al., 1990). Two mammalian homologs of *dsim* have been identified: Singleminded 1 (SIM1) and Singleminded 2 (SIM2) (Chrast et al., 1997). SIM1 is

located on chromosome 6, whereas SIM2 is located on the Down Syndrome (DS) critical region of chromosome 21 and is believed to contribute to many of the physiological abnormalities associated with trisomy 21 (Chrast et al., 2000). Sim2 plays an important role in development as *Sim2* null mice die shortly after birth due to multiple abnormalities including cleft palate, improper diaphragm development and rib defects (Goshu et al., 2002; Shamblott et al., 2002).

SIM2 is a member of the basic helix-loop-helix (bHLH)/Per-Arn-Sim (PAS) transcription factor. bHLH describes the basic structural motif of the transcription factor, and PAS describes the unique protein domain within the protein that functions as a signal sensor influencing the transcription of target genes (Ponting and Aravind, 1997). The bHLH superfamily contains transcriptional regulators that function in multiple fundamental biological processes. The basic bHLH region is involved in DNA binding and the helix-loop-helix motif is a dimerization domain. Both are necessary for the formation of functional DNA binding complexes required for transcription. bHLH proteins can be divided into three subfamilies: those with the bHLH domain only; those with a bHLH domain contiguous with a leucine zipper (Zip); and those with a bHLH domain contiguous with a Per-Arnt-Sim (PAS) domain (Kewley et al., 2004). The bHLH/PAS family of transcription factors form heterodimers that recognize sequences such as the xenobiotic response elements (XRE), the hypoxic response elements (HRE), and central midline elements (CME) (Kewley et al., 2004). The PAS domain, which consists of two adjacent repeats of approximately 130 amino acids, is important in regulating dimerization specificity (Kewley et al., 2004). Activation of signaling occurs when one bHLH/PAS protein dimerizes with another bHLH/PAS protein, namely ARNT. DNA binding and regulation of gene expression occurs through transcription machinery recruitment, elongation control, or transcriptional repression (Kewley et al., 2004).

SIM2 in Down Syndrome

DS is a genetic condition characterized by an extra chromosome 21 (also known as Trisomy 21). This extra chromosome, resulting in an overexpression of genes on this chromosome, results in complications in body and brain development. Some common physical symptoms include: a flat face with an upward slant to the eye, small hands and feet, poor muscle tone, and white spots on the iris of the eye. In addition to the classical mental and physical symptoms, people with DS are also prone to a unique subset of health problems, most notably, increased susceptibility to childhood leukemias and germ-line cancers, but a greater than 50% decreased development of solid tumors including cancers of the breast, lung, and other epithelial cancers (Boker et al., 2001; Boker and Merrick, 2002; Hasle et al., 2000a; Hasle et al., 2000b; Hasle et al., 2000c; Hill et al., 2003; Satge et al., 1998). Children with DS are 500 times more likely to develop acute leukemias, and a majority of adults with DS develop Alzheimer's or other neurodegenerative diseases (Seewald et al., 2012; Xavier et al., 2009). DS individuals often develop amyloid plaques as early as their 40s, and up to 75% of people with DS develop dementia. Research has shown that extra copies of amyloid precursor protein (APP), located on chromosome 21, are associated with increased Alzheimer's in DS individuals (Zigman and Lott, 2007; Zigman et al., 1996). Interestingly, long-term studies analyzing cancer in DS populations has shown that people with DS have a lower occurrence of solid tumors, especially breast cancer (Hasle et al., 2000c; Xavier et al., 2009). A substantial population of individuals with DS were followed through a national cancer registry to examine malignancy rates in a DS population compared to a matched normal population (Hasle et al., 2000c). In a population of approximately 2814 DS individuals, 60 cases of cancer were seen, which is significantly higher than the cases in a normal population; however, 60% of these cases were leukemia. Out of the 60 cases, only 24 were solid tumors, with 48 expected. Even more striking is the observation that women with DS are 10-25 times less likely to develop breast cancer compared to age-matched normal populations (Benard et al., 2005; Hasle et al., 2000a; Hasle et al., 2000b; Hasle et al., 2000c; Hill et al., 2003; Satge et al., 1998). The unique relationship between DS and tumorigenesis has led to extensive research of the DS Critical Region (DSCR) of chromosome 21 for potential tumor suppressors and oncogenes that would attribute to this unique tumor phenotype. Studies have established a unique paradox where the biological features of DS are also general characteristics of cancer-prone individuals (Nizetic and Groet, 2012). Chromosome instability, increased DNA damage and defective DNA repair, immunodeficiency, and the presence of oncogenes on the DSCR are all features of DS that increase specific cancer susceptibility. However, the presence of tumor suppressor genes and anti-angiogenic genes in the DSCR lead to the conclusion by Nižetić and Groet (2012) that the DS phenotype is more susceptible to cancers that do not depend on angiogenesis, such as leukemia. These conclusions are insufficient; however, to explain epidemiological findings that some solid tumors do occur in DS populations, indicating that there are complex, tissue specific effects of the genetic makeup of DS patients.

SIM2 expression during fetal development in the CNS as well as the facial, skull, and vertebra primordial indicate that the expression of *SIM2* could be involved in the phenotypes associated with DS (Dahmane et al., 1995). Indeed, the spatial and temporal location of SIM2 expression in the brain during development corresponds to the regions affected by DS (Rachidi et al., 2005). The short isoform of SIM2 (SIM2s) was discovered in 1997 in the study of the DSCR of chromosome 21 (Chrast et al., 1997). Using exon trapping, Chrast et al (1997) and associated discovered the additional isoform of SIM2 that was 10kD shorter than the long isoform, and one repressive Proline/Alanine- rich region was deleted (Figure 3).



Figure 3. The Mammalian Single-minded Protein. Schematic drawing of human and mouse Sim2 proteins with conserved and variable domains. Adapted from Chrast et al. (1997).

Chrast et al (1997) also showed high similarity between *dsim*, mouse *Sim1* and *Sim2*, and human *SIM1* and *SIM2*. To further elucidate the potential role of *SIM2* in DS, Ema et al. (1999) overexpressed *mSim2* in the hippocampus and amygdala of mice. They found that while these animals were viable and fertile, they had defects in fear conditioning and spatial learning and memory, indicating that the overdosage of *Sim2* may be important for the mental retardation seen in DS (Ema et al., 1999). In a similar study, Chrast et al. (2000) developed an artificial bacterial chromosome overexpressing *Sim2* with only one or two additional copies. Similar to previous experiments, these mice developed normally with no histological abnormalities. However, *Sim2* transgenic mice exhibited reduced exploratory behavior and enhanced anxiety, as well as reduced social interactions and increased pain tolerance. These studies provide strong evidence for the role of SIM2 in the etiology of DS. More recently, it was shown that Sim2 protein levels are upregulated in the cortex of Tc1 DS mouse models (Spellman et al., 2013). Using DS-derived lymphoblastoid cell lines and cortex material from two DS transgenic mouse models, Spellman et al. (2013) analyzed protein levels for 20 genes in the DSCR of chromosome
21, including Sim2. Out of the 20 genes analyzed, *Sim2* is one of only two transcription regulators that were elevated in trisomy in both transgenic mouse models analyzed. In addition to baseline level analysis of SIM2 in DS, analysis of single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) in the SIM2 gene have also been associated with DS (Chatterjee et al., 2013; Chatterjee et al., 2011). These investigators examined two coding, nonsynonymous SNPs in *SIM2* in DS populations compared to their parents, as well as ethnically matched controls. These SNPs were selected using FastSNP analysis due to their potential deleterious role in *SIM2* functioning. The first SNP called rs2073601 (C/A), showed significant upregulation in DS populations compared to parents and control groups; however, the second SNP (rs2073416 A/G) showed no significant changes. These studies established that rs2073601 SNP on the *SIM2* gene occurs at a high frequency in DS populations, and may lead to an alteration in protein function, thus contributing to the DS phenotype. Further *in silico* analysis was performed to predict pathways regulated by SIM2, including pathways involved in nervous system development, signal transduction, and induction of apoptosis. These studies provide strong evidence for a causal role of SIM2 in the DS etiology.

Characterization of SIM2

Human orthologues or *SIM2* are highly conserved with the murine and drosophila homologues, however, there are differences in the carboxyl terminus, where *dSim* acts as a transcriptional activator and murine Sims functions as a transcriptional repressor (Ema et al., 1996; Probst et al., 1997). While human *SIM2* mimics the murine *Sim2* and is thought to be a transcriptional repressor, the loss of proline/alanine rich domains in the short isoform (SIM2s) indicates the potential for SIM2s to operate either as a repressor or activator (Chrast et al., 1997; Moffett et al., 1997). Moffett et al. (1997) studied the transcriptional activity of murine Sim2 to determine its similarities to *dSim*. Using a series of structural deletions, Sim2 was determined to heterodimerize with Arnt through its bHLH-PAS region, similar to other Arnt partners, Ahr and Hifl α . Further immunoprecipitation analysis (IP) indicated that unlike its relative genes Per and Arnt, Sim2 does not form homodimers. Further analysis of Sim2 repression domains using deletion mutations identified a trans-repression element within the carboxyl terminus. By separating the C terminus into three unique regions based on the amino acid enrichment (serinethreonine, proline-serine, and proline-alanine), Moffett et al. (1997) determined the presence of two separable repression domains within the carboxyl terminus. It is interesting to note that in the earlier study by Chrast et al. (1997) that found SIM2s, part of the C-terminus is lost in the short isoform, enhancing the potential for both repression and activation (Chrast et al., 1997). Using a mammalian two-hybrid system, Moffett et al. (1997) determined that Sim2 dominantly represses Arnt mediated transactivation, but not DNA binding. Additionally, the transactivation of Hifl α through heterodimerization with Arnt is a well-established hypoxic response in cells. By inducing a hypoxic environment with Hifl α , Arnt, and Sim2, researchers were able to show that Sim2 interferes with Hifl α /Arnt transactivation by competitively dimerizing with Arnt. Competitive interference with Hifl α indicates the potential for Sim2 to inhibit hypoxic and dioxin-induced gene expression. Further work by Moffett et al. (2000) was done to evaluate the transcriptional properties of murine Sim1 and Sim2. Using reporter assays, Sim1 and Sim2 were found to bind to central midline elements (CME) in promoter regions, and this activity was dependent on the inclusion of Arnt. Interestingly, while Sim1/Arnt activates gene expression, Sim2/Arnt does not unless the carboxy-terminus is deleted. Additionally, Sim2 expression was shown to dominantly sequester Arnt and block Sim1 mediate transactivation. These data indicate a unique mechanism for Sim2 as a transcriptional repressor by blocking the availability of Arnt to other transcription factors.

Further analysis of SIM2 transcriptional activity has been reported by Woods et al. (2002). Based on the role of SIM2 in competing with HIF1 α for ARNT, Woods further examined the potential role of SIM2 expression during hypoxia (Woods and Whitelaw, 2002). Analysis of SIM cellular localization defined SIM proteins as mammalian class I bHLH/PAS proteins, meaning they are constitutively nuclear. The key nucleotides of the CME, which bind SIM2, are also present in the hypoxic response element (HRE). Using luciferase reporters, SIM1/ARNT complexes enhanced HRE transactivation, whereas SIM2/ARNT complexes did not. However, the presence of SIM2 ablated HIF1 α /ARNT mediated transcriptional activation of an HRE-regulated reporter gene. Using mutational analysis, chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP), Woods et al. (2002) discovered that this repression was not just from competitive dimerization with ARNT, but also with direct binding to the HRE sequence. Indeed, SIM2 can repress the hypoxic activity of HIF1 α by competitively dimerizing with ARNT and binding the HRE. However, prolonged hypoxic treatment decreased SIM2 protein levels while increasing HIF1 α protein, indicating an inverse relationship between HIF1 α and SIM2 expression as needed in a hypoxic environment. This has led to the theory of a "hypoxic switch" in cells where SIM1/2 are coexpressed with HIF1 α . These data indicate a potentially different activation and repression activity for SIM2 based on specific cis-element binding.

Additional characterization of SIM2 discovered that SIM2 is polyubiquitinated though interaction with E3 ubiquitin ligases (Okui et al., 2005). SIM2 was found to have a PEST motif, a sequence rich in proline (P), glutamic acid (E), serine (S), and threonine (T), using computer analysis. PEST motifs are typically found in short-lived proteins such as transcription factors and cell cycle regulators that are controlled by proteolysis. Initial attempts to examine SIM2 protein expression presented problems in finding the appropriate band size via western blot, which could be overcome with proteasome inhibition, thus, these problems are likely due to the

rapid ubiquitination of the protein. Using co-transfection experiment with SIM2 and various ubiquitin mutants, Okui e al. (2005) verified the ubiquitination of SIM2 protein on lysine residues. Further mutation of SIM2 showed that ubiquitination occurred on multiple lysine residues between the PAS1 and PAS2 domains. The potential SIM2 interaction with E3 ubiquitin ligases was analyzed using co-expression of a selection of ligases (Parkin, HHARI, Siah1, and AIRE) with SIM2, followed by IP analysis. Results showed that Parkin and HHARI interact with SIM2, whereas Siah-1 and AIRE did not. This binding is due to unique IBR (inbetween ring) and RING2 (really interacting new gene) domains on Parkin. This interaction has many implication for brain development, as Parkin is ubiquitous in the brain at all stages of development, whereas Sim2 is not, and Parkin has been strongly implicated in the etiology of Parkinson's disease and mitochondrial function (Kitada et al., 1998; Pilsl and Winklhofer, 2012).

Previous work in our laboratory has elucidated the unique transcriptional characteristics of Sim2s compared to its long isoform, Sim2 (Metz et al., 2006). Using 3' RACE analysis in mouse kidney and liver to identify the mouse homologue of *SIM2s*, Metz et al. (2006) showed that the unique short isoform that was previously detected in human tissues is also present in the mouse, again lacking the Pro-Ala rich repressor region present in full-length Sim2. Tissue analysis of full-length and short Sim2 showed that both isoforms were expressed at high levels in kidney and skeletal muscle; however the ratios between the two differ indicating that their expression is tissue-specific. Using the two-hybrid liquid culture assay and co immunoprecipitation (CoIP), our laboratory verified that Sim2s can also heterodimerize with Arnt and Arnt2, similar to Sim2, and that Sim2s preferentially binds Arnt over Arnt2. Luciferase assays showed that Sim2s significantly repressed hypoxia-induced reporter gene expression, and that this phenotype could be potentially overcome with addition of Arnt, but not Arnt2. These assays also indicated that Sim2s mediated repression was not by competition with Hiflα for Arnt

binding, but rather direct interaction with the hypoxic response element (HRE). Using similar methods, Metz et al. (2006) also verified that *Sim2s* expression significantly represses dioxininduced gene expression and was attenuated by increasing amounts of Arnt, indicating that this repression is caused by competition for Arnt binding. Since Sim2s is missing one of the repressor domains present in full length Sim2, analysis of the previously described Sim2 repressor activity on the central midline element (CME) need to be analyzed to determine if Sim2s had less repressive activity (Moffett and Pelletier, 2000). Luciferase studies on CME-controlled gene expression showed that Sim2s significantly increased reporter gene expression when expressed with Arnt. This transcriptional activity was mediated by the transactivation domain of Arnt, as mutation of this domain ablated CME-controlled gene expression. Through this work, it was determined that Sim2s has differential effects on CME and HRE-controlled gene expression compared to full length Sim2. Sim2s can also be both a transcriptional activator and repressor that depends on the cis-element and Arnt heterodimerization, adding a level of complexity and fine tuning to Sim2s mediated gene expression.

Sim2s in the Normal Mammary Gland

Previous work in our laboratory has examined the role of *Sim2s* in mouse mammary gland development. In normal mouse mammary gland development, *Sim2s* expression is developmentally regulated. In early mammary gland development, branching morphogenesis is a tightly regulated proliferative process, guiding the development of the basal ductal tree before the onset of puberty (Sympson et al., 1994). During development of the ductal tree, EMTs play a vital role in regulating migration and tissue development. A concert of proliferation, apoptosis, and differentiation are vital for the final structure of the ductal tree: a hollow lumen with luminal epithelial cells, mesenchymal cells, and stroma. Initial analysis by our laboratory in early development showed that Sim2s is the primary Sim2 isoform present in the early virgin

mammary gland (Laffin et al., 2008). Additionally, Sim2s expression was detectible in the ductal epithelial glands, indicating a potential role in mammary gland development. Using Sim2⁻ ^{*l*} mammary bud transplant models, the mammary buds were transplanted from embryonic lethal $Sim2^{-/-}$ mice and transplanted into the cleared fat pad of nude mice. At 8 weeks of age, the mammary glands from these mice were harvested and analyzed. Whole mount analysis showed an increase in alveolar budding. Significantly, H&E analysis of Sim2^{-/-} and WT glands revealed that Sim2^{-/-} glands failed to hollow appropriate, and the alveolar buds seen under whole mount analysis were disorganized epithelial cells reminiscent of hyperplasia. Mason's trichrome immunohistochemistry showed that $Sim2^{-/-}$ gland had less collagen and disrupted basement membranes. Indeed, examples of invasion through the stroma into the surrounding fat pad are seen in $Sim2^{-/-}$ glands and were also associated with an increase in the expression of proliferative marker Ki67 and a decrease in TUNEL apoptotic staining. Staining for cell polarity marker Aquaporin 5 showed a loss of polarity in $Sim2^{-/-}$ glands, which is a hallmark of tumorigenesis (Ellenbroek et al., 2012). These studies show that loss of Sim2 has a significant impact on normal mammary epithelial organization. Further analysis of EMT markers in the Sim2^{-/-} glands showed a decrease in CDH1 staining with an increase in Mmp2 and β -catenin protein levels. Additionally we saw a significant increase in EMT regulator Slug in the Sim2^{-/-} mammary glands.

While detected in early development, Sim2s levels remain low in virgin and early pregnant glands, which correlate well with Sim2s' hypothesized role in differentiation. *Sim2s* expression increases during late pregnancy and peaks during mid-lactation when the gland is terminally differentiated and metabolically active (Wellberg et al., 2010). Sim2s expression in the mammary gland is specific to the nuclei of luminal alveolar mammary epithelial cells as previously mentioned. The correlation between Sim2s expression and lactation led to our

hypothesis that Sim2s regulates this process in the mammary gland, promoting the onset of lactation and terminal differentiation. Over expression of Sim2s using a Mouse Mammary Tumor Virus (MMTV) long terminal repeat (LTR) promoter found that virgin mice undergo precocious lactogenic differentiation. While the ductal structure of the virgin mouse mammary was indistinguishable between wild type and MMTV-Sim2s mice, immunohistochemical and Q-PCR analysis showed the epithelial cells of the transgenic mice expressed milk proteins such as whey acidic protein (WAP),Csn2, and solute carrier Npt2b (a polarity marker that is upregulated with the onset of lactation) – which are hallmarks of lactation. This was believed to be a partial induction of alveolar differentiation, as the polarity marks Aqp5, which is normally lost during lactation, remained expressed in MMTV-Sim2sHA mammary glands. Indeed, when using the normal mouse mammary cell lines HC11 and CIT3, Sim2s expression was upregulated in response to prolactin-induced differentiation. HC11 and CIT3 cells are unique mouse mammary epithelial cell lines derived from the COMMA-D cell line that can undergo lactogenic differentiation with exposure to hydrocortisone and prolactin (Ball et al., 1988; Kabotyanski et al., 2009). Stable lentiviral transduction inducing *Sim2s* expression in these cells enhances their response to prolactin, significantly increasing Csn2 expression. Analysis of Sim2s levels in undifferentiated and differentiated cells showed that Sim2s levels increased within 24 hours of hormone stimulation and continued to elevate through day 4. Lentiviral transduction of these cell lines was performed to overexpress *Sim2s*, to establish whether enhanced *Sim2s* expression played a role in prolactin induced differentiation. Sim2s enhancement in HC11 and CIT3 cells significantly upregulated Csn2 expression following hormone induction. Additionally, shRNA transduction targeting *Sim2s* in these cells reduced Csn2 expression after prolactin exposure by 50%. While not completely abrogated, this indicated a role for Sim2s in the robust hormonemediated induction of Csn2 and differentiation. ChIP analysis of confirmed transcriptional

regulators of lactogenic differentiation showed a significant enhancement of recruitment to the *Csn2* promoter in *Sim2s* overexpressing cells. Both Stat5a and RNA Polymerase II (RNAPII) binding were enhanced in *Sim2s* expressing cells, and they presented a more rapid response to hormone induction. Additionally, further ChIP analysis confirmed that Sim2s directly binds and regulates the expression of Csn2 milk protein through elongation control and recruitment of transcriptional machinery. Sim2s re-ChIP analysis showed that Sim2s is associated with RNAPII on Csn2 but not on negative control β -actin, showing this is not a general transcriptional effect but is gene specific. These studies confirmed that Sim2s expression is necessary and sufficient to induce lactogenic differentiation.

One of the most unique aspects of the mammary gland is its ability to undergo numerous rounds of differentiation, lactation, and de-differentiation in response to the hormone signals during estrous cycling, pregnancy, and parturition. These pathways are classically highjacked during breast tumorigenesis, thus understanding their normal operation will help us elucidate the mechanisms by which they are hijacked during breast cancer. We hypothesize that Sim2s plays an integral role in normally mammary gland differentiation cycling, and thus is potentially a key pathway that must be loss for tumors to occur.

SIM2s in Cancer

In addition to the role of Sim2s in normal development and mammary gland development, SIM2s has also been implicated in multiple cancers. Interestingly, SIM2s has been described as both an oncogene and tumor suppressor depending on the organ and type of cancer. SIM2s expression was observed in colon, prostate, and pancreatic cancers, but not in breast, lung or ovarian tumors (DeYoung et al., 2003b).

In the search for tumor-critical genes on the DSCR region of chromosome 21 using large scale bioinformatics, DeYoung et al (2003) first pin-pointed *SIM2s* as a potential drug target for

solid tumors. Using RT-PCR analysis, *SIM2s* expression was detected in colon, pancreas, and prostate tumors, but not in the corresponding normal tissues. In adult tissues, *SIM2s* expression was observed only in kidney and tonsil derived samples. In fetal tissues, however, *SIM2s* was detected in the heart, kidney, and skeletal muscle. In colon tumors, *SIM2s* was found to be activated at an early stage, and was associated with increased tumor progression. These studies indicated a unique tumor phenotype with tissue specific *SIM2s* expression.

SIM2s in Breast Cancer

Our laboratory has established differential expression of SIM2s in normal and human breast cancer samples (Kwak et al., 2007). *SIM2s* expression was highest in the normal-like MCF10A and 16N breast cell lines, and was significantly decreased in breast cancer cell lines. Additionally, the expression of *SIM2s* in these cell lines decreased with the relative aggressiveness of the cell line. Luminal cancer cell lines MCF7 and T47D had moderate levels of *SIM2s*, whereas *SIM2s* was not detected in the highly metastatic MDA.MB.231 cells. This was confirmed in human primary samples using immunohistochemistry. SIM2s expression was strong and nucleic in normal mammary gland epithelial cells, and lost in primary breast tumors. Preliminary studies in the highly aggressive MDA.MB.435 breast cancer cell line showed that stable lentiviral transduction re-establishing *SIM2s* expression significantly decreased proliferation and colony formation in soft agar. Additionally, *SIM2s* expression significantly inhibited the invasive potential of MDA.MB.435 cells through inhibition of MMP3, which is known to play a role in epithelial mesenchymal transition (EMT) and breast cancer progression (loachim et al., 1998; La Rocca et al., 2004). ChIP and luciferase analysis of SIM2s showed that SIM2s binds the promoter of MMP3 and represses transcriptional activity.

Luminal-like MCF7 breast cancer cells express moderate levels of *SIM2s*, and loss of *SIM2s* (*SIM2si*) in these cells by RNA interference (RNAi) induced an EMT (Laffin et al.,

2008). These cells underwent a transition from the cobblestone, epithelial characteristics of the parent MCF7 cell line to a spindle-like mesenchymal morphology. Analysis of key epithelial and mesenchymal markers showed a decrease in epithelial markers CDH1 and CK18 and an increase in mesenchymal markers N-cadherin (NCad), Vimentin (VIM), and β -catenin (CTNNB1). Indeed, analysis of key EMT regulators showed a significant up-regulation of SLUG with loss of SIM2s (Come et al., 2006; Martinez-Estrada et al., 2006; Peinado et al., 2004; Peinado et al., 2007). To determine the tumorigenicity of these cells, they were injected into the flank of athymic nude mice. SIM2si xenografts grew rapidly and by day 10 were 3 times the size of Scrambled controls. SIM2si xenografts also had increased angiogenesis, elucidated by CD31 endothelial cell staining and VEGF. BrdU analysis of xenografts showed a significant increase in proliferation in SIM2si tumors. Similarly to the in vitro data, SIM2si xenografts had decreased CDH1 and increased VIM, indicative of an EMT. MCF7 cells classically require estrogen to sustain growth. However, SIM2si xenografts grew well in the absence of estrogen, did not respond to estrogen treatment, and immunohistochemical analysis showed that ER α was undetectable in these tumors. Based on the earlier study by our lab elucidated a mechanism by which SIM2s binds and represses MMP3, analysis of MMP expression and behavior was performed to determine if a similar mechanism was occurring in MCF7 xenografts. These experiments showed a significant increase in MMP2 expression with loss of SIM2s in MCF7 tumors, whereas the aforementioned MMP3 expression was unaltered. Luciferase assays verified that increasing amounts of SIM2s expression inhibited MMP2 activity. It was hypothesized that the difference in MMP regulation between MCF7 and MDA.MB.435 cancer cells is likely due to intrinsic differences between the two cell lines, as it is common for primary tumors and cell lines to have unique molecular signatures. Since in vitro and in vivo analysis showed significant alterations in EMT related proteins, we hypothesized that SIM2s may regulate these factors.

Key regulators of EMT have been well characterized in the SNAIL family of transcription factors (De Craene et al., 2005a; De Craene et al., 2005b). Analysis of key transcription factors *SNAIL* and *SLUG* showed that *SLUG* expression was significantly increased with loss of *SIM2s*. By expressing a SLUG-controlled luciferase reporter in the MCF7 Scr and *SIM2si* cells, we saw a significant increase in SLUG-controlled gene expression in *SIM2si* cells when compared to controls (Gustafson et al., 2009b; Laffin et al., 2008). ChIP analysis confirmed that SIM2s binds and represses SLUG expression through a promoter associated CME/XRE element. This data, along with the earlier work in normal mammary gland development, elucidated a role for SIM2s expression in the inhibition of an EMT through repression of SLUG and MMPs (Figure 4).



Figure 4. Singleminded-2s Induction of an Epithelial Mesenchymal Transition. During oncogenesis, upregulation of NOTCH and C/EBPbeta and NOTCH suppressive SIM2s expression, which results in upregulation of SLUG and MMP2, and concurrent EMT transition characterized by decreased CDH1 and upregulated invasion (Gustafson et al., 2009b; Laffin et al., 2008).

After characterizing the role of SIM2s in tumor inhibition, our laboratory sought to explain how SIM2s expression was lost in oncogenesis (Gustafson et al., 2009b). The Ras protooncogene is dis-proportionately activated in approximately 50% of breast cancers, and it's activity correlates with progression and poor prognosis (von Lintig et al., 2000). In breast cancer, Ras overexpression has been shown to target NOTCH signaling and the CCAT/enhance binding protein β (C/EBP β) transcription factor (Kiaris et al., 2004; Weijzen et al., 2002). To this end, previous work in our laboratory used the Ras oncogene in the MCF10A breast cell line to determine if SIM2s expression is lost through oncogenic induction of tumorigenesis. MCF10A cells express have high levels of SIM2s mRNA and are considered a normal breast epithelial cell line (Kwak et al., 2007). Stable overexpression of *Ras* in MCF10A cells was achieved by transfected cells with a lentiviral Ras construct. Upon transfection, Ras expression resulted in MCF10A cells that exhibited characteristics of transformation and EMT, including increased invasion, anchorage independent growth, and decreased CDH1. Ras induced transformation decreased SIM2s protein and mRNA levels. Ras target NOTCH was activated in MCF10A-Ras cells as well as NOTCH target genes HES1, HEY1, and HEY2. Similarly, stable transduction of the MCF10A cells with a SIM2s shRNA (SIM2si) resulted in a similar transformation characterized by poor acini growth in three-dimensional culture and increased invasive potential. SIM2si MCF10A cells also had increased VIM and decreased CDH1 expression. This led to our hypothesis that *Ras*-mediated tumorigenesis in MCF10A operates through NOTCH signaling, which targets SIM2s. Using a SIM2s-controlled luciferase assay, cells were cotransfected with SIM2s-reporter construct and either NOTCH intracellular domain (NICD) or the common NOTCH target C-repeat binding factor 1 (CBF1). Analysis showed that NICD significantly inhibited SIM2s-regulated gene expression while CBF1 did not. Thus, the effect of NOTCH on SIM2s was independent of its usual CBF1 mechanism. ChIP analysis

confirmed that NICD directly bound to the Sim2s promoter in Ras-overexpressing cells, indicating that NOTCH inhibits SIM2s expression to promote tumor progression. In addition to NOTCH, C/EBP^β has also been shown to be an important mediator of Ras-induced tumorigenesis (Grimm and Rosen, 2003; Seagroves et al., 1998). Analysis of Ras-transformed MCF10A cells showed a significant increase in the truncated dominant negative isoform (LIP), with no changes in other C/EBP β isoforms. To see if changes in these isoforms were sufficient to alter SIM2s expression, MCF10A cells were stable transduced with all 3 isoforms (LAP1, LAP2, and LIP). Western blot analysis revealed that the aforementioned LIP was the only isoform to reduced SIM2s protein levels. Previous studies of $C/EBP\beta$ in the mouse mammary gland have shown that loss of C/EBPβ impairs ductal outgrowth and differentiation (Seagroves et al., 1998). Analysis of C/EBP β^{-1} glands for Sim2s showed a significant increase in Sim2s expression. These data show roles for NOTCH and C/EBPβ as inhibitors of SIM2s in both normal mammary gland development and oncogenesis. While Ras-mediated oncogenesis is complex and activates many pathways, it is of interest that both these pathways mediate SIM2s, as they have differing molecular signatures that vary with tumor sites (Gomis et al., 2006; Sundaram, 2005).

SIM2s in Other Cancers

Additional work by DeYoung et al. (2003) determined whether SIM2s would make a viable drug target in colon cancer cells using a *SIM2s* antisense RNA chimera . Treatment of colon cancer cells resulted in a rapid inhibition of proliferation and induction of apoptosis, whereas, treatment of MDA.MB.231 breast cancer cells had no effect on proliferation or invasion. This work established a unique, tissue specific role for SIM2s expression and gene regulation. In later studies, the effect of SIM2s on p53 and caspase dependent apoptosis was determined in colon cancer (Aleman et al., 2005). Treatment of SIM2s expression colon cancer

cells with a *SIM2s* antisense RNA chimera induced tumor-specific apoptosis, since colon tissue does not express SIM2s. This apoptotic phenotype was reverse by general caspases and specific caspase 9 and 10 inhibitors, but not caspase 2 or 8 inhibitors. Protection from cell death was also seen with MAPK inhibition and p53 inactivation in these tumor cells. The induction of apoptosis with SIM2s antisense was due to increased GADD family expression in concordant with p38 MAPK activation; however, this did not correlate with an increase in cell cycle inhibition or senescence. Antisense treated cancer cells saw an induction in colon terminal differentiation markers such as mucins and alkaline phosphatase (ALP). While the role of SIM2s in colon cancer is the inverse of breast cancer cells, it is interesting to note that the pathways are similar, specifically the modulation of differentiation and apoptosis. A potential role for SIM2s in pancreatic cancer has also been observed (DeYoung et al., 2003a). Using microarrays and RT-PCR, pancreatic tumors expressed higher levels of SIM2s than normal tissues. Targeting SIM2s in pancreatic tumor cells significantly inhibited growth in a dose dependent manner, and also induced apoptosis. Since SIM2s expression is absent in healthy colon and pancreatic tissues, DeYoung and colleagues showed that targeting SIM2s in these tumors allowed for a tumor specific target that did not affect surrounding healthy tissue.

More recently, using a similar microarray approach, Caldas et al. (2012) also identified SIM2s as a potential regulator of malignant pleural mesothelioma. Using a genome-wide measurement of gene expression levels, *SIM2s* was significantly under-expressed in pleural mesothelioma. *SIM2s* expression was also under-expressed compared to control pleural tissue, along with a corresponding increase in *SNAI2* (SLUG) expression, consistent with our previous work in the breast. This was a novel association of SIM2s with mesothelioma, and a second example of the role of SIM2s as a potential tumor suppressor. Recent studies have also associated *SIM2s* expression in glioblastoma and invasion (He et al., 2010). SIM2s expression

was not detected in the normal cortex, meningioma, or pituitary gland of the brain at the RNA or protein level. However, *SIM2s* was detected at significant levels in glioma samples and glioblastoma cell lines. The expression of *SIM2s* also increased with the grade of glioma. Knockdown of *SIM2s* in gliomas and glioblastomas by RNAi had no effect on cell proliferation, however, invasion was significantly decreased. *SIM2s* knockdown in these cells increased tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase 2 (TIMP2) and decreased matrix metalloproteinase 2 (MMP2), which play a role in invasion and metastasis (Mendes et al., 2005). This MMP2 specific relationship has also been observed in our work (Laffin et al., 2008). The inverse relationship between the effect of SIM2s on MMP2 in the breast and glioblastoma is yet another example of the unique tissue specific effects of SIM2s expression.

In addition, a role for SIM2s in prostate cancer has also been observed. High levels of *SIM2s* were observed in prostate tumors compared to normal prostate tissue (DeYoung et al., 2003b). Halvorsen et al. (2007) first identified full length SIM2 in prostate tumors in cDNA microarrays, and Q-PCR confirmed that *SIM2s* was significantly upregulated in malignant samples. Immunohistochemical analysis of SIM2s protein levels in prostate tumors showed a significant correlation with adverse prognostic indicators such as preoperative serum prostate specific antigen (PSA), high histologic grade, and proliferation. Statistical analysis also showed that positive SIM2s expression significantly correlated with reduced survival and reduced time to metastasis. Similarly, Arredouani et al. (2009) used prostate tissue microarrays to identify genes significantly overexpressed in prostate cancer. 23 genes were overexpressed in prostate cancer, including SIM2. Q-PCR verified that *SIM2* had the highest frequency of expression among these genes, and elisa analysis for SIM2 immune antibodies in the sera of health and prostate cancer patients identified SIM2 antibodies in the sera of some prostate cancer patients, but not in the controls, indicating a humoral immune response to SIM2 expression. The presence of

autoantibodies against self-antigens correlates with clinical responses and immunotherapy. Based on this information, the possibility of deriving an effective vaccine to generate SIM2 specific lymphocytes that target prostate tumors was investigated. Using several unique epitopes, it was shown that SIM2 vaccines significantly increased the cytotoxic t-cell response to subsequent SIM2 stimulation, indicating a potential role for vaccination to enhance SIM2 tolerance in prostate cancer (Arredouani et al., 2009).

These studies indicate an important role for SIM2 in cancer, both as a potential oncogene and tumor suppressor. The previous work in our laboratory has demonstrated a role of SIM2s in breast cancer progression and inhibition. Promotion of differentiation, inhibition of invasion, and terminal differentiation are all important activities in the mammary gland that can be imperative to either maintain a functioning gland or prevent tumor progression. These pathways have been shown as causal pathways in SIM2 regulated gene transcription and has led to the hypothesis that SIM2s promotes differentiation in the mammary gland and loss of SIM2s is necessary for the development breast cancer.

Cancer Metabolism

Cellular metabolism is a complex and highly regulated series of pathways through which the cell generates energy, acquires the nucleotides necessary for growth and survival, and performs various functions necessary for organ function. For our purposes, we will limit the pathways discussed to the two major catabolic pathways of the cell: oxidative phosphorylation (cellular respiration) and glycolysis.

Oxidative phosphorylation (OXPHOS) is the major metabolic pathway through which normal cells produce adenosine triphosphate (ATP), the primary energy molecule of the cell. Oxidative phosphorylation is the most energy efficient pathway, generating most of the ATP in the cell, and must have oxygen in order to function. In aerobic organisms, all oxidative steps in various metabolic pathways converge with OXPHOS as the final stage. OXPHOS occurs in the mitochondria, where enzymes in the citric acid cycle produce CO_2 from the precursor acetyl CoA, then the electron transport chain (ETC) operates through the reduction of oxygen (O_2) into water (H_2O) using electron transfer and the generation of a proton gradient (Nelson and Cox, 2005). In addition to ATP and CO₂, OXPHOS also is responsible for the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) in the cell, which are important for cell signaling, and also be responsible for protein and DNA damage (Alfadda and Sallam, 2012; Verbon et al., 2012). Mitochondria have two membranes with different permeabilities – the outer membrane which is readily permeable and the inner membrane which is impermeable, and uses transport proteins to transmit particles. It is this inner membrane that contains the electron transport chain for ATP generation. Within the inner mitochondrial membrane, named the mitochondrial matrix, resides the enzymes of the citric acid cycle and other pathways, with the exception of glycolysis, which occurs in the cellular cytoplasm (Figure 5).



Figure 5. Metabolic Localization in the Cell. Glycolysis and lactate production or localized to the cytoplasm, while glutamate metabolism and the TCA cycle are located within the mitochondrial matrix (Cairns et al., 2011a).

Under normal circumstances, cellular respiration occurs in three distinct phases (Nelson and Cox, 2005). Cytoplasmic glycolysis oxidizes glucose in the cell through a series of 10 reactions into pyruvate (Figure 6). Under aerobic conditions, pyruvate is transported into the mitochondria, where it is decarboxylated by pyruvate dehydrogenase, resulting in acetyl-CoA (Figure 7). Under anaerobic conditions, pyruvate remains in the cytoplasm and is converted into lactate by lactate dehydrogenase (LDHA). Once converted, acetyl-CoA then enters the citric acid cycle (within the mitochondria), where it is enzymatically oxidized into CO₂, and energy is released through the production of reduced electron carriers NADH and FADH₂ (Figure 7).



Figure 6. Normal Cellular Glycolysis. The normal consumption of glycolysis in the cytoplasm.



Figure 7. Tricarboxylic Acid Cycle. Pyruvate metabolism localized in the mitochondria, oxygen dependent.

Finally, in the electron transport chain (on the inner mitochondrial membrane), these electron carriers are oxidized through five complexes, generating H₂O, and ultimately ATP through the generation of a proton motive force (Figure 8).



Figure 8. Electron Transport Chain (ETC). The flow of electrons across the inner mitochondrial membrane to generate ATP.

Deregulation of cell metabolism is a unique and defining feature of tumor cells. First described by Otto Warburg over eighty years ago, tumors cells preferentially utilize glycolytic pathways for energy generation while down-regulating their oxidative phosphorylation or mitochondrial energy activity, even in the presence of abundant oxygen (Warburg, 1956a; Warburg, 1956b). Warburg hypothesized that tumor cells originate from a two hit model: first the irreversible injury to mitochondrial respiration, and second the struggle for tumor cells to maintain their structure after the insult, resulting in a de-differentiation and ultimately a tumor cell. By measuring blood glucose levels in tumor veins and arteries, he established that tumors consumed significantly higher amounts of glucose out of the blood than normal tissues, and secreted more lactate. Warburg established that tumor cells are more adaptive at obtaining energy than normal cells, and in order to effectively target and kill tumor cells both glycolysis

and oxidative phosphorylation had to be thwarted. This is driven by the tumor cells' need to meet increased metabolic demands for proliferation and survive insults to mitochondrial respiration and the frequently hypoxic environment of the tumor (Bensinger and Christofk, 2012; Dang, 2012; Yeung et al., 2008). Increased glycolysis provides tumors with a selective growth advantage by supplying ATP to meet their high bioenergetics needs, including precursors required for nucleotide, amino acid and lipid biosynthesis. In fact, even though the net ATP gain for aerobic glycolysis is lower than that gained through oxidative phosphorylation, it is believed that the gain in metabolic precursors is more important for cellular survival and proliferation (Cairns et al., 2011b; Dang, 2012; DeBerardinis et al., 2007).

Normal non-proliferating cells and cancer cells use both glucose and glutamine to generate energy (Bensinger and Christofk, 2012; Dang, 2012; Kroemer and Pouyssegur, 2008; Lu et al., 2010a; Tennant et al., 2010). Differentiated cells predominantly metabolize glucose to pyruvate. Enzymes in the mitochondria facilitate the oxidation of pyruvate to produce ATP and reactive oxygen species (ROS) through electron transport-coupled oxidative phosphorylation (Figure 9).



Figure 9. Normal Metabolism and the Warburg Effect. Tumor cells preferentially used glycolysis for energy production, even in the presence of abundant oxygen.

In contrast, rapidly dividing cancer cells meet metabolic demands by switching from oxidative phosphorylation to aerobic glycolysis (Figure 9). This switch has been attributed to growth factor signaling, as well as oncogene and tumor suppressor mutations (DeBerardinis et al., 2008; Ward and Thompson, 2012). Cancer cells increase their glucose uptake by up-regulating glucose transporters (GLUT 1 to 9) and hexokinase (HK) to retain glucose in the cell. The majority of the pyruvate generated from glucose in cancer cells is metabolized in the cytoplasm to lactate by lactate dehydrogenase (LDHA) and secreted into the microenvironment, lowering the pH, and increasing angiogenesis and invasion (Cardone et al., 2005; Gatenby and Gillies, 2004; Harguindey et al., 2005; Jones and Thompson, 2009; Robey and Martin, 2011). Enhanced lactate levels have been associated with metastases, tumor recurrence, and patient survival in human cancers (Hirschhaeuser et al., 2011; Semenza, 2008; Walenta et al., 2000).

Increased intracellular glucose also promotes activation of the pentose phosphate pathway through induction of glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase (G6PD), which generates NADPH and ribose-5-phosphate for the synthesis of nucleotides. Recent studies have also found that glutamine is an essential nutrient for cancer cells by providing intermediates for the TCA cycle and synthesis of fatty acids and to regulate redox potential (Lu et al., 2010b).

Breast Cancer Metabolism

The use of positron emission tomography (PET) in patients to detect tumors and metastatic lesions with increased glucose uptake has shown that altered metabolism in breast cancer is associated with increased tumor progression and therapeutic resistance, supporting a role for alterations in metabolism in malignant transformation (Gambhir, 2002; Gatenby and Gillies, 2004; Hama and Nakagawa, 2010; Jones and Thompson, 2009; Kroemer and Pouyssegur, 2008; Tennant et al., 2010). [¹⁸F]deoxy-glucose (FDG), used in PET scans, uptake significantly correlates with glucose transporter 1 (GLUT1) expression in tumors (Robey et al., 2008). Early research in human breast cancer samples showed that GLUT1 was significantly upregulated in breast cancer when compared to healthy tissue (Brown and Wahl, 1993). Early research in MCF7 and MDA.MB.453 breast cancer cell lines examined the unique glycolytic phenotypes of these cells and their responsiveness to nutrient starvation (Mazurek et al., 1997). Their studies indicated that MCF7 cells maintained higher glycolytic flux than MDA.MB.453 cells, and were more susceptible to nutrient starvation and adenosine monophosphate levels. They also hypothesized that the unique metabolic environment of MDA.MB.453 cells would make them less prone to drugs that target electron carrier NAD^+ . While the authors touched on the unique metabolic differences between the two cells lines and their responses to different stresses, they did not pursue the inherent differences and their potential role in tumor progression. A later study analyzed key, rate-limiting proteins involved in aerobic glycolysis

(Brown et al., 2002). Primary glucose transporter GLUT1, which transports glucose from the body into the cell, and hexokinase II (HK2), responsible for the conversion of hexose to hexose-6-phosphate on the outer mitochondrial membrane, were analyzed via immunohistochemistry in untreated primary human breast cancer samples. HK2 is the first enzyme of the glycolytic pathway and is a key regulator of glucose metabolism in cancer cells (Mathupala et al., 2006). While the authors found upregulation of HK2 in breast cancer, it did not always correlate with increased GLUT1 expression. However, HK2 is more consistently activated than GLUT1 in primary tumors. Analysis of primary human breast cancer cell lines showed variable rates of glucose uptake and lactate production under normal cellular conditions (Robey et al., 2008) and a linear relationship between GLUT1 expression and lactate production. Analysis of key oncogenes HIF1 α and c-Myc with lactate production and glucose uptake showed that HIF1 α did not correlate with glucose uptake, although it was highly expressed in all cell lines, and phosphorylated c-Myc strongly correlated with lactate production and increase glucose uptake. Expression of another oncogenic protein, AKT, did not correlate with the glycolysis in breast cancer cells (Schmidt et al., 2010). However, another study showed activation of AKT in the glycolytic phenotype of breast cancer (Schmidt et al., 2010). Analysis of primary human specimens showed significantly upregulated AKT phosphorylation and GLUT1 expression in tumors compared to normal tissues. All of these studies point to an enhanced glycolytic phenotype in breast cancer.

Further analysis of GLUT1 in MMTV-ErbB2 tumors indicated an important role for glucose uptake in tumor growth (Young et al., 2011). GLUT1 screening across a panel of breast cancer cell lines and tumors verified that *GLUT1* was the most high expressed glucose transporter in all samples. Knockdown of *GLUT1* by RNAi in ErbB2 overexpressing mammary epithelial cells significantly decreased glucose uptake and lactate production, and also

proliferation and colony formation. However, loss of *GLUT1* had no effect on ATP production. Loss of *GLUT1* did not completely ablate glucose uptake in these cells, indicating that glucose uptake may still occur by non-specific means or other glucose transporters. Cells with silenced *GLUT1* were then injected into the cleared mouse mammary glands as xenografts and there was significantly decreased tumor growth *in vivo*. While *GLUT1* knockdown inhibited proliferation, it had no effect on apoptosis, indicating the differences in tumor size are due to differences in growth. Conversely, overexpression of *Glut1* in a mouse mammary tumor cell line that has low levels of *Glut1* significantly increased glucose uptake, however had no effect on proliferation *in vitro*. When these cells were injected into mice, however, enhanced Glut1 expression significantly increased tumor growth and decreased cellular apoptosis.

In addition to GLUT1, lactate dehydrogenase A (LDHA) has also been implicated in breast cancer growth and glycolysis (Hussien and Brooks, 2011; Zhao et al., 2009). Hussein et al. (2011) analyzed location of extracellular lactate transporter MCT and LDH isoforms in MCF7, MDA.MB.231, and HMEC cells. MCT and LDH expression were expressed in both control and cancer cell lines, and cancer was associated with increased expression, but not a change in localization of these proteins. They also found that lactate transport was associated with decreased oxidative phosphorylation and increased lactate accumulation in cancer cells. Surprisingly, their studies indicated that MCT1 was down regulated in breast cancer, and when expressed it is localized to the cell membrane, indicating a potential role for the flow of lactate between tumor cells and the stroma. Research on the role of LDHA in ErbB2 expressing MCF7 and MDA.MD.453 breast cancer cells (Zhao et al., 2009) showed that there was increased glucose uptake and lactate production, and decreased oxygen consumption. Analysis of LDHA protein levels showed higher LDHA levels in ErbB2 expressing cells, and this correlated with enhanced enzyme activity. Moreover, knockdown of ErbB2 in an ErbB2 overexpressing cell line down regulated glucose uptake and lactate production, and increase oxygen consumption. Knockdown of *LDHA* by RNAi in ErbB2 expressing tumors was sufficient to decrease the glycolytic phenotype and it was shown that ErbB2 regulation of LDHA was due to heat shock factor 1 (HSF1), a transcription factor that play an important role in stress response gene expression. ErbB2 expression in breast cancer cells also increased cell sensitivity to glycolytic inhibitors such as 2-deoxy glucose (2-DG). In contrast, ErbB2 decreased sensitivity to mitochondrial drugs such as oligomycin, which targets the ATPase complex of the electron transport chain.

Mitochondria in Cancer

In addition to glycolytic enzymes, mitochondrial dysfunction has also been implicated in cancer. Warburg's original work associated the enhanced aerobic glycolysis of tumor cells with an irreversible dysfunction of the mitochondria, where oxidative phosphorylation occurs (Warburg, 1956a). More recent research shows that while many tumors have irreversibly altered mitochondria, many continue to use cellular respiration, albeit at a significantly lower level than the use of glycolysis (Bensinger and Christofk, 2012; Crabtree, 1929; Scatena, 2012; Ward and Thompson, 2012). Mitochondria are incredibly complex organelles, and mutations to mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA), mitochondrial specific enzymes, or mitochondrial physiology can impact cellular respiration, ROS signaling, and other metabolic pathways (Wallace, 2012). Additionally, studies analyzing mitochondrial morphology and activity in cancer cells showed that mitochondrial dysfunction was due to increased mitochondrial replication, however alterations to mtDNA and the ETC prohibited increased oxygen consumption and ATP production (Shapovalov et al., 2011). This study emphasizes that mitochondrial number is not a true indicator of cellular respiration, and real-time analysis of oxygen consumption is key to understanding mitochondrial activity in tumors and tumor cells. Thanks to the development of

Seahorse Flux analysis, we are now able to measure these quantities in real-time. This multiparameter analysis of human tumor cells verified that increased levels of glycolysis correlated with decreased mitochondrial function, and that long-term, sustained glycolysis attenuated oxidative phosphorylation capacity, to the point that mitochondria are not able to adapt to compensate when glycolysis is inhibited (Wu et al., 2007). Mitochondrial length is also an important characteristic that can promote cellular survival and tumorigenesis (Gomes et al., 2011). At the induction of the self-degradation process, autophagy, mitochondria undergo fusion to elongate and avoid mitophagy (degradation of mitochondria), where the ubiquitin ligase PARKIN degrades components of mitochondrial fusion and dysfunctional organelles. The result is long, interconnected mitochondria that are spared from degradation, maintain ATP levels, and promote cell survival in low nutrient environments.

In breast cancer, mitochondrial adaptation to cellular stress has also been examined (Smolkova et al., 2010). As expected, oxygen consumption was lower in breast cancer cells compared to non-cancer cells. However, when these cells were grown in low glucose media, the rate of oxygen consumption was similar between cancer and non-cancer cells. This supports the Crabtree effect, which states that the high concentrations of glucose used for cancer cell growth inhibited oxidative phosphorylation in cancer cells (Crabtree, 1929; Rossignol et al., 2004). However, this study did not take into account other variables such as glutamine in the media. Further experiments were done by Owens et al. (2011) that examined the five complexes of the ETC in human breast cancer cells and primary tumors . Examination of a panel of breast cancer cells showed various ETC complexes were decreased in breast cancer, as well as the activities of these complexes. ETC complex defects also correlated with overall cancer aggressiveness. Complex III, the complex responsible for coenzyme Q:cytochrome c-oxidoreductase , is the most commonly reduced complex, and is sifnificantly down regulated in the highly metastatic

MDA.MB.231 cell line. Interestingly, although complex III activity was decreased in breast cancer, many of the subunits were upregulated. Knockdown of complex III subunits led to decreased mitochondrial membrane potential and increased ROS production. Inhibition of complex II proteins also decreased cellular invasion, not only in breast cancer cells but also osteosarcoma and ovarian cancer cells. A recent study by Diers et al. (2012) also found that induction of mitochondrial function in breast cancer cells through addition of pyruvate actually promotes cell growth . By substituting pyruvate for glucose in cell culture medium, proliferation of MCF7 and MDA.MB.231 cells was significantly increased compared to glucose-containing media, and the conditions did not affect cell death. Addition of pyruvate did not enhance baseline levels of oxygen consumption, but it increased reserve capacity. However, their reserve capacity was lower than cancer cells grown in a full complement including glucose and pyruvate. This study demonstrates that mitochondria play an important role in cellular proliferation and oncogenesis.

Autophagy in Metabolism and Cancer

Autophagy and mitophagy play important roles in cellular metabolism in response to nutrient stress and hypoxia. Autophagy is the process through which cells consume their own cytoplasm and organelles in autophagosomes in order to build new proteins and membranes. Autophagy can be non-selective, but is also used to selectively degrade faulty organelles, such as mitochondria (mitophagy), ribosomes (ribophagy), endoplasmic reticulum (reticulophagy), and lipids (lipophagy) (Gomes et al., 2011; Rabinowitz and White, 2010; Tanida et al., 2008). In the absence of cellular stresses, basal levels of autophagy are used in a housekeeping manner to removed damaged organelles that could become toxic. Due to the potential specificity of autophagy, the process is highly regulated, with complex pathways involved in promoting or inhibiting autophagosome development. Autophagy is integral to multiple stages in normal mammalian development, from embryonic survival to survival immediately after parturition. Autophagy is highly active in normal embryonic cells without stress, and is a potential mechanism to ensure survival and stress repair (Salemi et al., 2012). High levels of autophagy in adult stem cells also correlate with inhibition of cancer, and are required for adult stem cell differentiation. During starvation, autophagy is activated to promote cell survival until the necessary nutrients are available. Autophagy can also be used to remove unwanted organelles to adapt to changes in the nutrient environment. These mechanisms have also presented a potential mechanism for autophagy in the prevention of aging by maintaining cellular integrity (Wirawan et al., 2012). Cellular phenotypes of aging include damage to DNA, lipids, proteins, and other organelles - thus autophagy is a key anti-aging mechanism in normal cells through organelle cleanup.

Autophagy has been implicated both as an oncogenic and a tumor suppressive process (Tsuchihara et al., 2009). The general consensus is that early stages of autophagy induction prevent malignant transformation and oncogenesis, whereas autophagy induction at later stages can promote cell survival and tumor growth (Debnath, 2011; Wirawan et al., 2012). The primary hypothesis for the promotion of tumor growth by autophagy is through cellular survival. Autophagy allows tumor cells to survive in stressed environments that would normally undergo cell death, and suppresses necrosis and inflammation responses. The molecular mechanisms that activate autophagy under these circumstances, however, are unclear (Degenhardt et al., 2006). Beclin-1 (BECN1), a critical autophagy gene, is a candidate tumor suppressor, especially in breast cancer (Liang et al., 1999). Liang et al. found that BECN1 was highly expressed in normal mammary glands, and that expression was lost in breast cancer. Subsequent studies in cell lines verified that expression of *BECN1* reduced proliferation and tumorigenesis. P53, a

through multiple mechanisms including suppression of mTOR and direct effect through transcription of the damage-regulated autophagy modulator gene (DRAM) (Crighton et al., 2006; Feng et al., 2005). Additionally research has shown that autophagy can also mediate cellular senescence, a stable cell cycle arrest during which the cells remain metabolically active (Young et al., 2009). Young et al. (2009) found *Ras* induced senescence also upregulated autophagy marker LC3II, and this upregulation could be blocked by subsequent inhibition of the senescence machinery. Their study established that induction of autophagy contributes to the establishment of cellular senescence. The primary hypothesized tumor-suppressive function of autophagy is the induction of autophagy cell death. This non-apoptotic programmed cell death pathway is upregulated in cancer cells after chemotherapy (Kondo et al., 2005). Another hypothesis regarding autophagy in tumor suppression is through regulation of genomic stability (Mathew et al., 2007) where it has been hypothesized that loss of autophagy in cancer cells increased DNA damage and gene amplification, resulting in increased genomic instability due to an accumulation of damage organelles.

In breast cancer, autophagy is also oncogenic and tumor suppressive (Gong et al., 2012; Karantza-Wadsworth et al., 2007; Oh et al., 2011). Wadsworth et al. (2007) found that inhibition of autophagy was necessary to sensitize mammary epithelial cells to insult, thus causing the DNA damage and genomic stability that are integral to cancer progression. Oh et al. (2011) studied the effect of anti-apoptotic Bcl2 on autophagy inhibition. During breast cancer progression Bcl2 is often upregulated and confers drug resistance as well as oncogenic transformation. Bcl2 was shown to directly target BECN1, and thus inhibit autophagy during oncogenesis. Using a Bcl2 mutant unable to inhibit apoptosis but still capable of suppressing autophagy, it was shown that the anti-autophagic capability of Bcl2 was integral to its oncogenic effect. Conversely, Gong et al. (2012) found that autophagy was required in breast cancer tumor initiating cells. Autophagic flux was significantly upregulated in aldehyde dehydrogenase (ALDH) positive cells, and was integral for maintenance of TICs. While depletion of *BECN1* in a cell monolayer increased tumorigenesis, depletion of *BECN1* in the TIC specific population inhibited tumorigenesis (Gong et al., 2012). Autophagy is vital to embryonic stem cell survival and it appears that autophagy has unique cell-type specific effects in adult stem cells and differentiated cells.

The metabolic regulation in normal cells is elegantly controlled and intermingled. The derailment of this system in cancer is complex and not well understood. While it has been reviewed and studied, there remains competing theories that indicate the role of metabolism is not strictly black and white with tumorigenesis.

BNIP3, a Novel Sim2s Target Implicated in Metabolism

The identification of BCL2/adenovirus E1B 19 kDa protein-interacting protein 3 (BNIP3) as a target of SIM2s repression was the first indication that SIM2s plays a role in intracellular metabolism. BNIP3 is a HIF1 α regulated pro-apoptotic protein that is also pro-autophagic (Bruick, 2000; Tracy et al., 2007). Farrall and Whitelaw (2009) elucidated the regulation of BNIP3 by SIM2s in prostate cancer. Microarray analysis of *SIM2s* expressing prostate cancer cells compared to controls revealed the *BNIP3* levels were down regulated with ectopic expression of *SIM2s*. Similarly to SIM2s, BNIP3 has been shown to be down regulated in pancreatic and colon cancers (Akada et al., 2005; Bacon et al., 2007). The inverse relationship between *SIM2s* and *BNIP3* expression was confirmed using addition cell lines stably transduced to overexpress *SIM2s*, indicating that BNIP3 silencing is downstream of SIM2s activity. No changes were seen in epigenetic regulation of *BNIP3* expression, thus indicating a direct regulation of BNIP3 expression by SIM2s. SIM2s competes with HIF1 α to bind the HRE,

and inhibits hypoxic induced gene expression (Woods and Whitelaw, 2002). Since BNIP3 is a hypoxically regulated gene, ChIP analysis was performed to test for SIM2s binding to the HRE in the BNIP3 promoter, as well as two putative SIM2s specific response elements (S2RE) (Woods et al., 2008). SIM2s bound to the BNIP3 HRE, but not the S2REs, supporting previous studies (Woods and Whitelaw, 2002). To confirm that SIM2s binding to the BNIP3 promoter was sufficient to inhibit hypoxic induced gene expression, *SIM2s* expressing cells were grown in a hypoxic environment, resulting in enhanced *BNIP3* expression, even with the decreased levels of SIM2s that are seen after hypoxic exposure. Further analysis during hypoxic exposure verified that the binding affinity of SIM2s to the HRE during hypoxia was not altered. Additional ARNT expression during hypoxia partially alleviated SIM2s mediated repression, thus indicating that SIM2s also competes with HIF1 α for ARNT heterodimerization. Further analysis showed that SIM2s mediated BNIP3 repression inhibited hypoxia induced autophagy in prostate cancer cells and therefore inhibited autophagic cell death.

BNIP3 is a protein related to the BH3-only family, which contains only a single Bcl-2 homology (BH) domain. BNIP3 induces cell death and autophagy, but upon interaction with the anti-apoptotic protein BCL2, these effects are inhibited. BNIP3 is a hypoxia regulated gene, and its expression is associated with tumor cell death. Interestingly, the molecular mechanism of BNIP3 induced cell appears to work independently of the caspase cascade and is not well understood (Vande Velde et al., 2000; Zhang and Ney, 2009). The generally accepted model of BNIP3 activity involves mitochondrial dysfunction, specifically a loss in mitochondrial membrane potential through mitochondrial pore opening, the generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS), and ultimately necrosis (Kubli et al., 2007). BNIP3 can induce mitochondrial pore opening a number of ways: through direct interaction with BAX or BAK, or indirectly via increased mitochondrial calcium uptake (Marzo et al., 1998). Indeed, knockdown of *Bax* and

Bak in mice prevented Bnip3 mediated mitochondrial cell-death, but not Bnip3 mediated autophagy (Kubli et al., 2007). BNIP3 can also form channels in the mitochondrial outer membrane, thanks to its unique transmembrane domain (Chen et al., 1997; Imazu et al., 1999). As previously mentioned, in addition to cell death, BNIP3 is as an important protein in cellular autophagy and several studies have established a role for BNIP3 in drug-induced autophagy. Interestingly, the effect of BNIP3 induced autophagy varies with the cell type. Induction of autophagy in glioma cells induced mitochondrial depolarization and autophagy cell death, however HL-1 myocytes were protected from cell death by BNIP3 induced autophagy (Daido et al., 2004; Hamacher-Brady et al., 2007; Kanzawa et al., 2005). BNIP3 expression in skeletal muscle also induces autophagosome formation, and has been implicated in muscle wasting disorders (Mammucari et al., 2007). In a hypoxic environment, autophagy is often associated with cell survival rather than cell death, and BNIP3 expression during hypoxia does not induce autophagic cell death. Tracy and Macleod (2007) have observed that overexpression of BNIP3 in various tumor cell lines causes increased autophagy independently of cell death, and that knockdown of BNIP3 inhibits hypoxia-induced autophagy. Autophagy during hypoxia increases ATP production efficiency and helps combat the oxidative damage that occurs, particularly through mitophagy, in order to maintain an energy balance in hypoxic cells (Jin, 2006). BNIP3 expression increases activation of autophagic LC3 proteins, and increases lysosomal localization to faulty mitochondria for removal (Rikka et al., 2011). Inhibition of this process using autophagy inhibitor 3-methyladenine (3-MA) resulted in extensive cell death. BNIP3 is a novel autophagy gene in that is induced by varying and sometimes competitive signals, indicating a highly controlled process that it responsive to unique cellular stimuli, as opposed to the highly conserved ATG genes. In addition to the mitochondrial autophagy and cell death mechanisms, further work by Rikka et al. (2011) established that expression of BNIP3 decrease mitochondrial

respiration proteins, thereby reducing oxidative phosphorylation and ATP levels. In addition to regulation by HIF1 α and SIM2s, BNIP3 is also repressed by the classical tumor suppressor RB (Tracy et al., 2007). These competing regulators of BNIP3 expression could keep BNIP3 levels in a range that promotes autophagy without inducing cell death, as well as regulating autophagy in response to unique environmental stressors.

In breast cancer, research on BNIP3 has produced varying and conflicting data. Early work examined the expression of BNIP3 in DCIS lesions and correlation with necrosis and tumor grade (Sowter et al., 2003). Using both *in situ* hybridization and immunohistochemistry, an array of varying DCIS lesions were analyzed for BNIP3 expression. Sowter et al. (2003) reported that BNIP3 was not expressed in normal breast tissues, but was detected in DCIS tissue. BNIP3 levels varied significantly with tumor grade, as well as necrosis score. High levels of BNIP3 were observed in high-grade, highly-necrotic DCIS lesions, and BNIP3 expression significantly correlated with invasion-associated DCIS. It is important to note that DCIS necrosis has been associated with enhance tumor progression and metastasis (Shekhar et al., 2008). However, BNIP3 expression in the invasive component did not correlate with BNIP3 staining in the adjacent DCIS lesion, nor did it correlated with grade or necrosis. Sowter et al. (2001) also established that BNIP3 was upregulated in breast carcinoma cells lines, and hypoxia enhanced expression. In a similar study, a large number of DCIS and IDC lesions were analyzed for BNIP3 and HIF1 α to determine the potential use of BNIP3 as a marker of DCIS progression (Tan et al., 2007). BNIP3 was only weakly detected in normal tissues, but over 60% of DCIS samples and 70% of IDC samples expressed this protein. While there was a significantly correlation in BNIP3 expression and breast cancer compared to normal tissue, no correlation was seen between BNIP3 and progression to IDC. Nuclear expression of BNIP3 in IDC samples correlated with smaller tumor size and lower grade, as well as ER expression. Surprisingly,

BNIP3 expression did not correlate with HIF1 α expression. Additionally, nuclear localization of BNIP3 was significantly related to increased disease recurrence in DCIS lesions, and shorter disease-free survival. This study indicated an enhance complexity in the regulation of BNIP3 expression, with potential HIF1 α independent mechanisms and both pro and anti-tumorigenic properties. A recent study by Naushad et al. (2012) has elucidated a role for epigenetic regulation in BNIP3 expression in IDC. Combined bisulfite restriction analysis (COBRA) of the *BNIP3* gene showed that the CpG island on the *BNIP3* promoter was hypomethylated in IDC samples, and upregulated. However, the methylation profile of the *BNIP3* promoter did not correlate with hormone markers ER, PR, HER2, or mitotic index.

In contrast, the loss of *BNIP3* has also been associated with enhanced progression and metastasis. Manka et al. (2005) determined that loss of *BNIP3* in breast cancer promoted metastasis to the lung, liver, and bone, and in mouse breast cancer metastasis models, *BNIP3* was increased after exposure to hypoxia, however expression was lower in highly metastatic 4T1 cells compared to the non-metastatic 67NR cell line. Expression in 4T1 cells was also mitochondrial, compared to cytoplasmic expression in both the 67NR and 4T07 cell lines. Likewise, hypoxia also induced high levels of cleaved caspase in the non-metastatic 67NR and mildly-metastatic 4T07 cells compared to 4T1 cells. Knockdown of *BNIP3* in 67NR and 4T07 cells enabled tumors to form macroscopic metastatic lesions in the liver and sternum. Koop et al. (2009) also used *in situ* hybridization and immunohistochemistry to associate BNIP3 expression with IDC. Forty percent of IDC tumors were positive for *BNIP3* mRNA, and 57% were positive for BNIP3 protein, and expression was cytoplasmic and granular, as expected with mitochondrial localization. In adjacent normal tissue, immunohistochemistry showed that 8/35 samples exhibited nuclear staining of BNIP3, which is rarely seen in tumor cells. When tumor cells were
strongly positive for BNIP3, the lower levels of BNIP3 were observed in the surrounding normal tissues approximately 65% of the time, with stronger signal in normal tissue being seen 35% of the time. Again, BNIP3 expression did not correlate with HIF1 α status. Clinicopathological analysis showed that BNIP3 negative tumors had a higher frequency of lymph node metastasis, as well as mitotic index. Correlations with ER, PR, necrosis, or tumor size were not observed.

The conflicting reports on BNIP3 expression in breast cancer indicated a highly regulated, complex mechanism for BNIP3 in mitochondrial function and autophagy. BNIP3 is a new link between SIM2s and HIF1α. Most importantly, BNIP3 establishes a potential role for SIM2s in the regulation of cellular metabolism and autophagy. The roles of metabolic homeostasis and autophagy in tumor onset and progression are complex, and strategies that target these pathways would provide a novel approach for chemotherapy.

P53

P53 in Differentiation

P53 is one of the most well-known tumor suppressor genes and was identified in the early 70's. P53 has been shown to have important roles in apoptosis, DNA repair, cell-cycle regulation, and genomic stability (Linzer and Levine, 1979) and because of this it has earned the name, "Guardian of the Genome" (May and May, 1999). P53 is activated by variety of stresses, such as DNA damage, UV radiation, and stress signals, and regulates various functions such as mitochondrial function, senescence and autophagy, apoptosis, and DNA damage repair (Junttila and Evan, 2009) (Figure 10).



Figure 10. P53 Stress Response. Stress induction of p53 has multiple pathways, which can promote tumor suppression.

P53 is frequently inactivated or mutated in cancers, and by a wide range of mechanisms. Although extensively researched, while some methods of p53 inactivation are favored over other, it remains unclear why. One widely studied role of p53 is the promotion of cell cycle arrest through upregulation of p21. When activated, p53 transcribes cell cycle inhibitor p21^{WIF/CIP} which inhibits the CDK4/6 complex, thus blocking cell cycle progression and inducing senescence (Taylor and Stark, 2001). Additionally, many p53 target genes are pro-apoptotic, thus loss of p53 contributes to the survival of tumor cells (Jerry et al., 2000).

P53 mutation in breast cancer is associated with increased tumor aggressiveness and worse prognosis (Gasco et al., 2002). While p53 mutation occurs in approximately 50% of breast cancers, and it is enriched in the inheritable BRCA1/BRCA2 mutated tumors, hypothetically due to the increased genomic instability caused by germline mutations (Greenblatt et al., 2001). While p53 has been indicated as a potential prognostic marker for breast cancer, immunohistochemical analysis of breast cancer samples for p53 are inconclusive, as they cannot differentiate between wild-type and mutant p53. Mutant p53 expression is associated with increased tumor growth, metastasis, and chemotherapeutic resistance (Allred et al., 1994).

Aside from p53's role in cell cycle regulation and apoptosis, it has also been shown to play an important role in normal cell differentiation and tumor de-differentiation (Molchadsky et al., 2010). In normal embryonic development, p53 expression is high during organogenesis, but is almost un detectable in terminally differentiated tissues (Schmid et al., 1991). Initial studies on *p53* knockout mice appears as though *p53* null mice were viable and physiologically normal, but later generations exhibited frequent developmental defects in extremity development and fertility (Armstrong et al., 1995). These mice were also more susceptible to spontaneous cancers (Donehower et al., 1992). Further research in p53 function has established it as a critical regulator of differentiation in multiple tissues. P53 has been shown to be a critical regulator of neuronal differentiation, slowing growth and maintaining neuronal stem cell potential (Sah et al., 1995; Zheng et al., 2008). In p53 null mice, neurons proliferate uncontrollably, resulting in exencephaly and neural tube defects. In neurons, P53 has been shown to promote differentiation through two major pathways: progression through neurite outgrowth and cell-cycle arrest. P53 in osteogenic differentiation has a slightly different role. While P53 is considered a promoter of differentiation, studies have indicated that it acts as a negative regulator in bone development (Lengner et al., 2006; Wang et al., 2006). Loss of P53 accelerated osteoblast differentiation, resulting in higher levels of bone formation and bone density. The associated increase in proliferation has also been associated with a higher risk for osteosarcoma formation. Additionally, P53 has been shown to regulate skeletal muscle differentiation through maintenance of active retinoblastoma (RB) (Porrello et al., 2000). As noted with other tissues, loss of P53 in myogenic cells is associated with increased rhabdomyosarcomas (Choi and Donehower, 1999). Initially, the role of P53 in hematopoietic cell differentiation was not

observed, however later research has shown that P53 is necessary for B-cell maturation, which promotes their tumor suppressing activity (Donehower et al., 1992; Shaulsky et al., 1991). Finally, P53 has also been implicated in adipogenic differentiation. Adipocyte differentiation is another example of where P53 acts as an inhibitor of differentiation (Hallenborg et al., 2009; Inoue et al., 2008). P53 is down regulated during normal adipocyte differentiation, and loss of *P53* results in increase proliferation of adipocytes. P53 induction is also seen in obese mice, possibly promoting lipid accumulation in adipocytes. P53 expression in adipose tissues in animals with insulin resistance showed characteristics of aging and inflammation, likely due to P53 upregulation of P21 and senescence (Ahima, 2009). It is these effects on adipocytes that has led to the study of p53 in metabolism, we will discuss below.

In the mammary gland and breast cancer, P53 is an important target for hormonemediated tumor suppression. While P53 is stabilized with exposure to stresses such as radiation, estrogen and progesterone are also sufficient to increase P53 expression in the mammary gland (Becker et al., 2005). Thus P53 is upregulated during pregnancy, and hypothetically works to promote luminal cell differentiation and prevent mammary tumorigenesis due to the enhanced mammary epithelia proliferation that occurs during this time (Jerry et al., 2000; Medina and Kittrell, 2003). Original work attempting to analyzed breast cancer in p53 null mice indicated that loss of p53 had no effect on development of breast cancer. However, these mice often died young due to lymphomas, therefore, obscuring a possible mammary tumor phenotype. Thus, Jerry et al. (2000) used a mammary specific p53 knockout mouse to study the effects of p53 loss specifically in the mammary gland. Their studies found that loss of p53 alone was sufficient to induce significant levels of breast cancer, and exposure to hormones just increased the tumorigenicity in p53 null glands. Studies have shown that full-term pregnancy at a young age has a preventative effect on breast cancer, and Sivaraman et al. (2001) hypothesize that this preventative effect is the early upregulation of P53 in the differentiating mammary gland. Interestingly, while P53 expression peaks and is necessary during pregnancy and lactation, involution can proceed independently of p53 (Li et al., 1996). Li et al. showed that the major apoptosis that occurs during mammary gland involution is P53-independent, but still uses P53 apoptotic targets Bax and Bcl-x, indicating P53-independent mechanisms for their activation. Studies by Jerry et al., however, showed that loss of p53 delayed mammary gland involution, followed by compensation by p53-independent mechanisms (Jerry et al., 1998; Jerry et al., 1999). These studies indicated that p53 promoting the first stage of rapid cellular apoptosis in the involuting mammary gland, indicated through upregulation of p21.

P53 in Metabolism

While extensively characterized in differentiation, P53 has also been heavily implicated in the regulation of normal and tumor metabolism. We have already established the importance of P53 upregulation in response to various environmental stresses. So it also makes sense that P53 is upregulated in response to nutrient stress such or low oxygen. However, enhanced aerobic glycolysis, as is common in cancers, has been shown to suppress P53, and may potentially help cancer cells evade P53 induced apoptosis and senescence (Zhao et al., 2008). Hypoxia has also been shown to induce P53, however research is conflicting whether P53 stabilization is a direct effect of low oxygen or indirect due to DNA damage and nutrient deprivation (Alarcon et al., 1999; An et al., 1998; Pan et al., 2004). Similarly, mitochondrial ROS are an important activator of P53 (Karawajew et al., 2005). These authors found that inhibition of mitochondrial function through targeting of the ETC or MMP suppressed P53 activation. However, while these studies elucidated the promotion of classical P53 stress response, including senescence and inhibition of proliferation, new studies have shown novel mechanisms for P53 in the direct regulation of metabolic pathways.

P53 has been shown to suppress glycolysis and promote oxidative phosphorylation through suppression of GLUT1 and GLUT4 (Schwartzenberg-Bar-Yoseph et al., 2004). Additionally, two key P53 repression targets: P53-induced glycolysis and apoptosis regulator (TIGAR) and synthesis of cytochrome c oxidase (SCO2) have been shown to regulate various aspects of metabolism as well (Bensaad et al., 2006; Madan et al., 2011; Won et al., 2012). These proteins have been especially studied in breast cancer, where P53 expression significantly correlates with decreased TIGAR and SCO2 expression (Won et al., 2012). However, decreased SCO2 expression was associated with histological grade, metastasis, and poorer prognosis. This study was not able to determine the presence of mutant p53, which may provide a confounding factor. The authors hypothesize that it is the upregulation of these genes with mutation/loss of P53 that can induced the Warburg effect in breast cancer cells. TIGAR has been shown to promote the pentose phosphate pathway (PPP) in mitochondria, which lowers ROS and increases NADPH (Bensaad et al., 2006; Cheung et al., 2012). Under hypoxia, HIF1 α promotes the translocation of TIGAR to the mitochondria where it increases hexokinase 2 (HK2) activity. This shunting toward the PPP in the mitochondria decreases TCA cycle activity, thus lowering ROS and protecting the cells from apoptosis. P53 has also been shown to inhibit the PPP through binding and repressing the rate-limiting enzyme, glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase (G6PD) (Jiang et al., 2011). This inhibition of the PPP would have the opposite effect, promoting the TCA cycle and oxidative phosphorylation. Conversely to what was seen in breast cancer cells, P53 actually has been shown to upregulate SCO2 expression, which in turn upregulates oxidative phosphorylation through the cytochrome c complex (COX) (Madan et al., 2011). SCO2 and COX are critical for the major site of oxygen utilization in the cell. P53 regulation of SCO2 has been shown to be the modulator of balance between respiratory pathways and glycolysis (Ma et al., 2007; Matoba et al., 2006). Other work has also shown that

loss of *P53* in malignancy is associated with increased mtDNA mutations, mitochondrial dysfunction, and direct regulation of COXII by P53 (Compton et al., 2011; Zhou et al., 2003). Additional studies have shown a direct regulation of monocarboxylate transporter (MCT1), the key lactate transporter, by P53 (Boidot et al., 2012). P53 directly binds the MCT1 promoter and inhibits lactate efflux under normal conditions. At the onset of hypoxia, P53 is lost and MCT1 expression increases, thus increasing lactate transport, and ultimately glycolytic flux. This was verified in human breast cancers, and MCT1 expression was associated with poorer prognosis. Further studies attempting to upregulate *P53* in tumors showed that pharmacologically activating *P53* significantly inhibited glycolysis and HIF1 α and promoted cell death in tumors and breast cancer cells (Zawacka-Pankau et al., 2011).

P53 has also been shown to participate in regulation autophagy through DRAM as well as other indirect mechanisms (Abida and Gu, 2008; Crighton et al., 2006). As previously mentioned, autophagy is believed to be both oncogenic and tumor suppressive, and P53 has been shown to be both an activator and an inhibitor of autophagy (Tasdemir et al., 2008a; Tasdemir et al., 2008b). Interestingly, the pathways P53 upregulates autophagy through are different from the pathways through which it inhibits autophagy. Loss of *P53* has been shown to induced ER stress, which in turn promotes ER specific autophagy (reticulophagy) as party of the unfolded protein response (UPR) (Morselli et al., 2008; Tasdemir et al., 2008a). Since the presence of low oxygen and mitochondrial ROS have already been shown to induce the P53 stress response, it stands to reason that P53 is integral to repair oxidative stress and damage. The same pathways involved in P53-mediated autophagy and senescence are also key for the exertion of P53-dependent antioxidant mechanisms (Sablina et al., 2005; Yoon et al., 2004). The role of P53 in oxidative stress is highly complex, and examples have been shown where P53 can also be pro-oxidation through upregulation of BAX and PUMA, and thus induce senescence and apoptosis (Macip et al., 2003). This regulation by P53 might regulate oxidative adaption between basal, low stress environments and high damage conditions.

With these major roles in oxidative phosphorylation and oxidative stress, it is expected that P53 also have important roles in mitochondrial quality and function. Initial studies examined ischemic damage in the heart, and found that loss of *P53* caused an increase in mitophagy, thereby decreasing the levels of damaged mitochondria, and increasing survival after myocardial infarction (Hoshino et al., 2012). They found that P53 and TIGAR were inhibited in response to ROS, which in turn activated BNIP3 and mitophagy. This is an example of mitophagy's ability to prevent oxidative damage in organs through degradation of faulty mitochondria, which has also been implicated as being mandatory for extended lactation in the mammary gland (Hadsell et al., 2011). Furthermore, an addition P53-inducible gene, MIEAP, has been shown to regulate mitochondrial quality and autophagy (Kitamura et al., 2011). In a similar mechanism to P53/TIGAR, ROS and BNIP3 promote mitochondrial quality control through upregulation of MIEAP induced mitophagy, and this effect can be ablated with inactivation of *P53*. These studies indicate that not only is P53 integral for genome quality and repair, but also the repair and maintenance of metabolic machinery as well.

More recent studies have elucidated another mechanism through which P53 helps to inhibit the Warburg effect and promote normal cell metabolic homeostasis: through interactions with NF κ B signaling. NF κ B signaling is an important regulator of immune and inflammatory responses, and its mis-regulation is known to be tumorigenic (Johnson and Perkins, 2012; Johnson et al., 2011). During tumorigenesis, NF κ B subunit RELA translocates to the mitochondria where it inhibits mitochondrial gene expression, oxygen consumption, and ATP – thus promoting glycolysis. Expression of P53 however, blocks this effect by inhibiting RELA's interaction with the heat shock protein mortalin through competition and sequestration. Interestingly, RELA has been shown to have varying effects depending on cellular context, and these effects are determined by P53. RelA expression in mouse embryo fibroblasts upregulates p53, thus enhancing OXPHOS and inhibiting glycolysis through upregulation of Sco2 (Mauro et al., 2011). Other work has shown that RELA upregulates GLUT3, increasing glucose uptake and lactate production (Kawauchi et al., 2008). In fact, this upregulation of GLUT3 is required for Ras-induced cell transformation. The cross-talk between NF κ B and P53 adds an additional fine-tuning to metabolic homeostasis, and loss of this feedback can hyperactivate NF κ B, and promote the Warburg effect. So far RELA is the major NF κ B subunit that has been implicated in metabolic transformation, but there is potential crosstalk with other subunits as well.

P21

P21 in Cellular Senescence and Differentiation

One of the most well-known mechanisms of P53 action is through upregulation of P21 (CDKN1A), and promotion of cellular senescence. Senescence is an important mechanism for proliferation arrest in potential cancer cells, as well as tissue repair, inflammation, and aging. Originally described in the 1960's, senescence was described even then to be important for aging and tumor suppression (Hayflick, 1965). Hayflick's work found that normal diploid cells were not immortal *in vitro*, and could only undergo a set number of divisions, and this number varied with the cell type. Cellular senescence is classically described as the irreversible growth arrest that occurs when cells encounter an oncogenic insult. Almost all division-competent cells can undergo senescence when properly stimulated (Campisi and d'Adda di Fagagna, 2007). Characteristics are senescent cells are: flattened and enlarged cell size, expression of senescence-associated β-Galactosidase (SA-βGal), upregulation of *P16INK4a* and *P21* (Reddy and Li, 2011; Rodier and Campisi, 2011; Shay and Roninson, 2004). Senescent stimuli include DNA damage,

telomere erosion (aging), oncogenic insult, and epigenetic disruption (Rodier and Campisi, 2011). In addition, environmental stress can induce senescent without direct genomic insult. Serum starvation, oxidative stress, and other environmental factors have been indicted in senescence induction. These stimuli that induce senescence all have the ability to initiate or promote tumor growth, making cellular senescence one of the large tumor-suppressive pathways that must be overcome in oncogenesis (Reddy and Li, 2011; Rodier et al., 2007). Studies of human tissues and cancers have shown that cellular senescence is lost in most, if not all cancers. Also, research shows that early oncogenic transformation induces senescence (oncogene induced senescence, OIS), and this must be overcome through loss of *P53*, *CDKN1A*, and *P16* in order to tumors to develop (Figure 11).



Figure 11. Oncogene Induced Senescence. Upregulation of senescence in response to initial oncogenic events occur four potential pathways.

Some tumor cells may retain the ability to senesce, and may do so in response to chemotherapeutics (Schmitt et al., 2002). As is seen in P53, metabolism, and autophagy, cellular senescence can also be tumorigenic in the appropriate context. As previously mentioned, senescence is largely induced and implicated in aging – and cancer is primary an age-related disease (Campisi et al., 2011). Not much work has been done to elucidate how senescence promotes late-life cancer, however some hypothesize that the senescence secretory phenotype induced the secretion of factors that can stimulate cancer cells (Kuilman and Peeper, 2009). For example, work has shown that factors secreted by senescent fibroblasts (amphiregulin, growth-related oncogene α , and interleukin 6) stimulated proliferation of premalignant epithelial cells (Bavik et al., 2006; Coppe et al., 2010).

While senescent cells are similar to terminally differentiated cells, they are not the same. However research has not clearly delineated the two. In fact, several studies have shown that P21 promotes differentiation in various tissues and circumstances. P21 is associated with a G1 arrest, and this arrest is frequently characterized in cellular differentiation (Steinman et al., 1994). Scientists found that P21 was induced by multiple differentiation signalers during hematopoietic differentiation, and this induction could occur independently of P53, and was coupled with other differentiation markers. P21 has also shown to be expressed in welldifferentiated chondrosarcoma cells, and was associated with a better prognosis in these tumors (Hiraoka et al., 2002). In colorectal cancer cell lines, escape from P21-mediated OIS resulted in cell de-differentiation and enhanced survival (de Carne Trecesson et al., 2011). P21 and OIS have been established in many premalignant lesions as an important checkpoint to inhibit tumor progression (Reddy and Li, 2011). P21 has been indicated to promote differentiation in a myriad of other cells lines independently of P53, making it a powerful competitor for promotion of tumor differentiation.

In the mammary gland and breast cancer, P21 has already been established as a key barrier to tumor progression. Initial studies in MCF7 cells showed that oncogenic overexpression of HER2 induced senescence in a dose-dependent manner (Trost et al., 2005). A similar study actually showed that the co-expression of HER2 and senescence in breast epithelial cell lines induced a secretory phenotype that promoted metastasis (Angelini et al., 2013). In MDA.MB.231 cells, HER2 induced senescence promoted metastasis independently of cytokine attraction. Additional work in MCF7 cells showed that tumor-initiating cells survive through down-regulation of the senescence pathway (Karimi-Busheri et al., 2010). This enhanced survival allows for radiation resistance in mammosphere culture. Human pituitary tumortransforming gene1 (hPTTG1) is an oncogene commonly overexpressed in breast cancer (Ruan et al., 2012). Overexpression of hPTTG1 in premalignant lesions induces oncogene induced senescence, and in order for hPTTG1 to exert its oncogenic effects this senescence must be overcome. Similar to the secretory phenotype of HER2 induced senescence, hPTTG1 induces a similar secretory senescence that can promote metastasis in neighboring senescence-evading cells, hypothetically through development of a metastasis-promoting microenvironment. hPTTG1 expression induces senescence through P53-independent activation of CDKN1A, and early stage senescence inhibits cancer cell growth through a P21-CXCR2 axis. Other studies in MCF7 and MDA.MB.231 cells elucidated a unique set of P53-dependent and independent mechanisms for P21 expression and senescence (Wang et al., 1999). Wang et al. found that UV radiation down-regulates CDKN1A in cancer cells regardless of P53 expression. Conversely, xray exposure up-regulated P21 through P53. MCF7 is a P53 competent cell line, whereas MDA.MB.231 is a P53 mutant. Variations were seen in both cell lines, CDKN1A was downregulated more gradually in MCF7 cells compared to MDA.MB.231, indicating that P53 potentially still regulated CDKN1A gene expression, albeit not in a dose-dependent manner.

This loss of CDKN1A with UV radiation also suggests a role for P21 in DNA-damage response aside from cell cycle inhibition. Other studies have shown the opposite, up-regulation of P21 in response to UV radiation, but these studies are either in other cell lines or another type of UVradiation, indicating a complex response pathway than can adapt to unique insults (Zhan et al., 1996). In vivo studies in P53 null mice have shown the induction of OIS through P16 in ductal hyperplasias with the overexpression of mitotic oncogenes (Zhang et al., 2008). Ras-driven breast cancer also induced OIS, but only with high levels of Ras expression (Sarkisian et al., 2007). In this model, OIS has to be circumvented in order for tumor progression to proceed, and the authors hypothesized this occurred with later inactivation of P53. Later work confirmed this hypothesis (Borgdorff et al., 2010; Swarbrick et al., 2008). After Ras expressing mammary epithelial cells (MECs) form premalignant lesions with OIS, few progressed to tumors; however selective inactivation of *P19*, *P53*, or *CDKN1A* (but not p16) significantly increased progression. Human DCIS samples have also been analyzed for a relationship between senescence and progression (Gauthier et al., 2007; Kerlikowske et al., 2010). P16 induction in DCIS samples correlated with low proliferation and lower changes of progression to invasion. DCIS samples with *P16* defects, however, have high rates of tumor progression. Another master regulator, $C/EBP\beta$, has also been implicated in breast cancer and senescence (LaMarca et al., 2010). Loss of $C/EBP\beta$ in MECs decreased the stem cell population, and caused premature senescence and differentiation. This resulted in decreased growth and transplant success both in vivo and in *vitro*. As previously discussed, our lab has shown that C/EBP β suppresses SIM2s expression. It is possible that this upregulation of senescence with loss of $C/EBP\beta$ is due to subsequent upregulation of SIM2s. The implications of senescence in regards to DNA damage, early malignancy, cytokine attraction, and modes of activation indicate an intricate pathway in breast cancer with multiple factors needing to be addressed for successful tumorigenesis.

P21 in Metabolism

The role of P21 and senescence in the Warburg effect and metabolism has not been well researched. As previously discussed, mitochondria have been established as involved in aging, and aging with the onset of senescence, however to date senescence and metabolism have often been viewed as two separate mechanisms. Metabolomic analysis of oncogene induced senescence showed a unique metabolic phenotype that differs from normal cells and replicative senescing cells (Quijano et al., 2012). OIS cells have increased fatty-acid oxidation (a mitochondrial metabolic activity), that correlated with a high rate of oxygen consumption, indicating enhance mitochondrial function with senescence. It is this fatty acid metabolism that may be related to the unique inflammatory phenotype previously discussed. This study also provided a unique differentiation between types of cellular senescence, which are normally viewed as equivalent pathways. Other studies have analyzed the role of mitochondrial dysfunction in the onset of senescence (Masgras et al., 2012; Moiseeva et al., 2009). Rasinduced senescence was shown to be preceded by an increase in mitochondria, ROS, and a drop in ATP production. This response depended on intact P53 and RB, indicating a causal tie between metabolic deregulation and senescence. This was verified through direct pharmacological inhibition of oxidative phosphorylation, which was sufficient to trigger senescence. Masgras et al. (2012) showed that senescence itself cause an upregulation in mitochondrial ROS, dependent on CDKN1A expression. Interestingly, the senescent response could be abrogated by exposure to antioxidants, and P21 expression in cancer cells correlated with increased sensitivity to oxidants and mitochondrial polarizations changes. Early analysis of metabolic differences in human fibroblasts showed that senescent fibroblasts has lower levels of glycolysis compared to non-senescent cells (Zwerschke et al., 2003). The authors indicated that as fibroblasts aged, depletion of glycolytic enzymes resulted in a metabolic imbalance, decreased ATP, and subsequently increased AMP, which induced further senescence. This was the first study establishing a causal relationship between metabolic balance and senescence. In tumor cells, inhibition of the PPP has been shown to induce senescence through accumulation of growth inhibitory glucose intermediates (Sukhatme and Chan, 2012). This inhibition and senescence is associated with increased oxygen consumption and mitochondrial activity in glutamate metabolism. While this initial metabolic shift in cancer cells is to try to accommodate G6PD loss, the ultimate induction of senescence inhibits proliferation. Other mitochondrial specific enzymes, specifically the TCA cycle associate malic enzymes, have been shown to regulate P53 expression and senescence (Jiang et al., 2013). Down regulation of malic enzymes activates P53, generating a positive-feedback look between the two as P53 expression represses malic enzymes. This upregulation of P53 correlates with a strong induction of senescence, indicating a direct relationship between metabolic homeostasis and senescence. In addition to glucose metabolite accumulation, glycogen accumulation in cancer cells has also been associated with premature senescence (Favaro et al., 2012). Glycogen metabolism has been shown to be important during hypoxia for cell survival and metabolic reprogramming (Pelletier et al., 2012; Pescador et al., 2010). Favaro et al. found that inhibition of glycogen depletion through knockdown of glycogen phosphorylase (PYGL) resulted in an accumulation of glycogen, corresponding with reduced proliferation and senescence. This senescent phenotype could be partly abrogated through co-depletion of P53 or addition of an antioxidant, indicating this senescence occurs through ROS-mediation of P53 expression. This depletion of PYGL also leads to a decrease in the PPP, which we previously discussed as causal in cellular senescence as well. While all of these studies indicate a unique and important relationship between metabolism and senescence, to date senescence is evaluated as a response to metabolic insult, and not the inducer of a unique metabolic phenotype.

The unique relationship between differentiation, metabolism, aging, and cancer is complex. While work has been done in all of these areas individually, little work has been performed examining the causal relationships between the four and genes/pathways that may be integral to this cascade of events that result in cancer. Understanding the intricacies of these pathways will enhance our abilities to effectively target tumors, as well as prevent early tumor progression. In the work discussed herein, we seek to test the hypothesis that SIM2s' promotion of differentiation and inhibition of tumor progression are through induction of cellular senescence and a metabolic shift from aerobic glycolysis to oxidative phosphorylation.

CHAPTER II

MATERIALS AND METHODS

In Vitro

Cell Culture

MCF10DCIS cells were generously provided by Dr. Dan Medina (Baylor College of Medicine, Houston, TX, USA) and maintained in DMEM-F12 (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA) with 10% horse serum (Atlanta Biologicals, Lawrenceville, GA, USA). SUM159 cells were purchased from Asterand (Asterand, Detroit, MI, USA) and grown in Ham's F12 (Invitrogen) with 5% fetal bovine serum (Atlanta Biologicals) with insulin and hydrocortisone (Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA). HEK-293T Ampho-Phoenix packaging cells were obtained with permission from Gary Nolan at Stanford University and DMEM (Invitrogen) with 10% fetal bovine serum (Atlanta Biologicals). MCF7 cells were obtained from ATCC and maintained in DMEM (Invitrogen) with 10% fetal bovine serum (Atlanta Biologicals). All cells were maintained in 5% CO₂ at 37°C.

Plasmids and Lentiviral Transductions

Lentiviral transduction of MCF10DCIS.com, MCF7, and SUM159 cells was performed as previously described (Kwak et al., 2007). Lentiviral transduction, SIM2s shRNA and SIM2s overexpression plasmids have been previously described (Gustafson et al., 2009b; Kwak et al., 2007; Laffin et al., 2008). Retroviral plasmids were transfected into 293T Viral Packaging Cells, which stably express amphotrophic envelope proteins and are referred to as 293-Ampho. Up to 10 μ g of plasmid was transfected using Gene Juice (Novagen, Merck, Darmstadt, Germany), in a 3:1 ratio of Gene Juice (μ L) to DNA (μ g). Media was changed 24 hours later, and collected for infection 48 hours and 72 hours later. Viral media was filtered through 0.45 μ M syringe filters and polybrene was added to a final concentrations of 4 μ g/mL. Viral media was added to target cells, followed by centrifugation at 1200 rpm for 1 hour. Target cells were incubated at 32^oC for the duration of the infection protocol to promote viral stability. Selection was carried out using puromycin at varying concentrations, depending on the target cell type (.4 μ M-MCF10DCIS.com, .4 μ M-MCF7, 1 μ M-SUM159). Selection was considered complete when all cells in a mockinfected plate were dead.

Transient Transfections Using siRNA

CDKN1A and Negative Control siRNA was purchased from Invitrogen. siRNA transfection was performed using Lipofectamine RNAiMax (Invitrogen) according to the manufacturer's protocol, and cells were analyzed 48 hours after siRNA treatment.

Invasion Assays

Invasion was measured using control and Matrigel-coated invasion chambers (Falcon BD, Franklin Lakes, NJ, USA). A total of 12,500 cells were seeded in serum-free Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM-F12, Invitrogen) in the upper chamber, with serumcontaining medium in the lower chamber as a chemo attractant. After 18 hours at 37 °C, cells were scraped from the upper chamber with a cotton swab, and the undersides of the membranes were fixed in 3.8% paraformaldehyde (Sigma, St Louis, MO, USA), stained with DAPI (4',6'diamidino-2-phenylindole) (Invitrogen) and counted. The percent invasion was calculated according to the manufacturer's instructions. All experiments were done in triplicate.

Proliferation Assays

Proliferation was measured using a Coulter particle counter. A total of 15,000 cells of each transduction were plated in triplicates on six-well plates, and then every 24 hours the cells were trypsinized and counted in triplicate. The procedure continued for 6 days, or until the cells reached 100% confluency. Cells were imaged in 6 well plates on day 4 of proliferation using an Olympus IX71 inverted fluorescent microscope using Olympus CellSens Software (Olympus, Center Valley, PA, USA).

In Vivo

MMTV-Sim2s Mice

The transgenic mice used in this study were described previously (Wellberg et al., 2010). An MMTV-KCR cassette was used with the *Sim2s* coding sequence to overexpress Sim2s in the mammary gland of FVB mice. All procedures were approved and followed the guidelines set forth by the Texas A&M University Animal Use and Care Committee.

Animals

For involution studies pups were removed from both WT and MMTV-*Sim2s* mice at lactation day 10. Tissue was harvested at 24, 48, and 72 hours after weaning. The fourth inguinal mammary glands were used for histological sectioning, RNA isolation, and protein isolation. Litters were normalized to eight pups at parturition. All animals were housed with litter under a standard 12-hour photoperiod. Males were analyzed for genetic orientation prior to mating (Klar, 2003; Rahman et al., 2009). The animals were given access to food and water ad libitum. Three mice per genotype were analyzed for each time point, and transgene expression was confirmed before further experimentation. Procedures were approved by the University Laboratory Animal Care Committee at Texas A&M University.

Xenograft Studies

For xenograft studies, MCF10DCIS.com cells (50,000) were injected subcutaneously into 8- to 14-week-old female nude mice in 50% Matrigel (BD Biosciences, Bedford, MA, USA). Tumors were allowed to grow for 18 days, and were measured using calipers starting on day 13. Xenografts were weighed at harvest and either snap-frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80 °C for DNA/RNA purification or formalin-fixed and paraffin-embedded. Three tumors for each variable were taken for RNA, and three for histochemical analysis. Animal experiments were conducted following protocols approved by the Texas A&M Animal Care and Use Committee.

Metabolic

Mitochondrial Bioenergetics

Seahorse analysis was performed as previously described (Meerbrey et al., 2011). Briefly, cells were seeded at 10,000 cells/well and allowed to adhere overnight. Mitochondrial bioenergetic analysis was performed using a Seahorse XF24 Extracellular Flux Analyzer (Seahorse Bioscience, Massachusetts, USA). Cells were exposed to mitochondrial drugs oligomycin (30 μ M), FCCP (10 μ M), and rotenone (50 μ M) (Sigma Aldrich).

NMR Spectroscopy

Samples for NMR spectroscopy were obtained in triplicate from cell cultures. Cells were seeded at 80% density and allowed to grow for 24 hours, then media was collected and centrifuged at 15000xg for 10 minutes. Before NMR analysis, 10%(v/v) D2O was added to all media samples. NMR spectra were measured on a 400 MHz spectrometer (Bruker, Billerica, MA, USA) equipped with a 5 mm triple resonance (TXI) probe. The spectra were measured with 128 scans, a spectral width of 15 ppm and an acquisition time of 1.36 s, with 13C decoupling

(decoupling bandwidth of 9600 Hz). Measurement temperature was 298 K. NMR data were processed and peaks were integrated using Bruker Topspin 3.0. Chemical shifts were referenced indirectly to 4,4-dimethyl-4-silapentane-1-sulfonic acid (DSS) signal at 0 ppm. The concentrations of lactate in different samples were determined by comparing the signal integrals from the media samples to those of a standard sample of 20mM lactate. The concentrations of glucose remaining in the media samples were determined by comparing the signal integrals to that of unused control media. For each sample, 1H pulse lengths were measured, and based on these parameters the concentrations obtained were corrected for differences in sensitivity.

DCFH Assay

Cellular ROS was measured as previously described (Eruslanov and Kusmartsev, 2010). Briefly, Cells were seeded at 10,000 cells per well in a 9-well plate 12 hours prior to experimentation. Cells were washed with 1xPBS and incubated with 2.5µM CM-H₂DCFDA (Invitrogen) for 30 minutes. Cells were allowed to recover for 15 minutes and then fluorescence was measure in a fluorimetric plate reader at 495 nm excitation/521 nm emission.

ATP-lite Analysis

Intracellular ATP analysis was performed using the ATP-lite luminescence detection assay according to manufacturer's protocol (Perkin-Elmer, Waltham, Massachusetts, USA). Briefly, cells were seeded at a density of 10,000 cells per well in a 96-well plate. Cells were adhered for twelve hours then exposed to the compounds of interest (See Reagents). ATP was measured 24 hours post treatment on a chemiluminescent plate reader. Protein concentrations of cells were determined for signal normalization.

Lactate Measurements

Extracellular lactate analysis was measured using the Lactate Assay Kit according to manufacturer's protocol (Sigma-Aldrich). Briefly, spent media from cells in 6-well plates was harvested and spun through a molecular weight cut off column at 10kD (EMD Millipore, Billerica, Massachusetts, USA) for 30 minutes to remove lactate dehydrogenase. Flow through was collected. 5µl of media was used per sample. Experimental triplicate samples were analyzed in duplicate. Lactate was measured using a fluorimetric plate reader at 535nm excitation/567nm emission.

Mitochondria Isolation

All chemicals were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich. Mitochondria were isolated using the Abcam Mitochondrial purification protocol (MitoSciences, Eugene, Oregon, USA). Briefly, cells were collected by centrifugation (370xg for 10min) and resuspended in NKM buffer (1mM Tris-HCl pH 7.4, .13M NaCl, 5mM KCl, 7.5mM MgCl₂), and washed in NKM buffer 3 times. Cells were then resuspended in 6 cell volumes of homogenization buffer (10mM Tris-HCl, pH 6.7, 10mM KCl, .15mM MgCl₂, 1mM PMSF, 1mM DTT) and incubated on ice for 10 minutes. Using a glass homogenizer, cells were homogenized for 30 strokes or until cell breakage was approximately %60. Homogenate was mixed with a 2M sucrose solution and mixed gently. Cellular debris was pelleted through centrifugation (1200xg for 5min) and supernatant was removed, containing mitochondria. Mitochondria was pelleted through centrifugation at 7000xg for 10 minutes, and then resuspended in mitochondrial suspension buffer (10mM Tris-HCl pH 6.7, .15mM MgCl₂, .2M sucrose, 1mM PMSF, 1mM DTT). Mitochondria were frozen at -20^oC until use.

Microscopy

Electron Microscopy

Cells were fixed in 2% glutaraldehyde, 2.5% formaldehyde in sodium cacodylate buffer for 24 hours, then washed in 0.1 M sodium cacodylate buffer (Sigma-Aldrich). Briefly, the buffer-washed cells were stained en bloc with 1% osmium tetroxide and 0.5% potassium ferrocyanide then dehydrated in an ascending alcohol series and embedded in epoxy resin. Ultrathin sections were examined with an FEI Morgagni 268 transmission electron microscope operating at an accelerating voltage of 80 kV (FEI, Hilssboro, OR, USA). Digital images of were acquired with a MegaViewIII camera operated with iTEM software (Olympus Soft Imaging Systems). Work was performed in the Texas A&M University College of Veterinary medicine & Biomedical Sciences Image Analysis Laboratory.

Live Cell Imaging

Cells were grown on coverslip chamber slides (Nunc) for 12 hours before experimentation. Cells were incubated with MitoTracker Deep Red (100nM) or LysoTracker (200nM) (Invitrogen) for 30 minutes at 37°C. Images were acquired with a 63x oil planapochromat objective. Lysotracker images were taken at 488nm excitation and 500-550nm emission. Mitotracker deep red images were taken at 633nm excitation and 565-615nm emission. Image area was 142.9µm x 142.9µm. Images were taken on a Zeiss 510 confocal microscope (Carl Zeiss Microscopy, Jena, Germany). At least 10 images per specimen were collected for analysis. Quantification of these images was done using Adobe Photoshop by analyzing the mean histogram of color specific channels.

B-Galactosidase Staining

Senescence was determined by β-Galactosidase Staining Kit (Cell Signaling, Beverly, Massachusetts, USA) according to manufacturer's protocol. Cells were grown and stained on coverslips and then imaged on the Zeiss AxioImager.v1 using a 40x objective lens (25.2x magnification) using Zeiss Axiovision software (Carl Zeiss Microscopy).

Immunohistochemical Analysis

Immunostaining was carried out as previously described (Kwak et al., 2007). Samples were incubated in blocking solution for 1 h, followed by incubation in primary antibody overnight at 4 °C. Antibodies used with dilution and antigen retrieval information are included in Table 2 and Table 3. Tissue preparation and hematoxylin and eosin staining were carried out by the Histology Core Facility at Texas A&M University College of Veterinary Medicine and Biomedical Sciences. Immunostaining for SIM2s was performed on DCIS and IDC tissue sections provided by the University of Kansas Cancer Center Biospecimen Share Resources at the University of Kansas Medical Center. Statistical analysis of positive staining was performed using the ImageJ (National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD) cell-counting feature and has been previously described (Koodie et al., 2010; Stockmann et al., 2008). Images were taken on a Zeiss AxioImager .v1 with a 10x (6.3x) and 40x oil objective lens (25.2x magnification) using Zeiss Axiovision software (Carl Zeiss Microscopy).

Target	Source	Dilution	Ag Retrieval
CDH1	Cell Signaling	1:2000	5min high pressure
Cleaved Caspase 3	Cell Signaling	1:100	5min high pressure
GLUT1	Cell Signaling	1:250	5min high pressure
HK2	Cell Signaling	1:250	5min high pressure
KER14	Covance	1:250	5min high pressure
KER18	Neomarkers	1:500	5min high pressure
KER5	Covance	1:250	5min high pressure
Mucin-1	Neomarkers	1:250	5min high pressure
p21	Cell Signaling	1:100	5min high pressure
p63	Neomarkers	1:250	5min high pressure
PECAM-1	Santa Cruz	1:250	5min high pressure
Perilipin	Cell Signaling	1:250	5min high pressure
Phopho-STAT3	Cell Signaling	1:250	5min high pressure
SIM2	Millipore	1:100	5min high pressure
SIM2s	Santa Cruz	1:250	5min high pressure
SMA	Sigma	1:1200	5min high pressure
STAT3	Cell Signaling	1:200	5min high pressure
Vimentin	Sigma	1:1000	5min high pressure
β-Casein	Santa Cruz	1:100	5min high pressure

Table 2. Immunohistochemical Antibodies

 Table 3.
 Immunofluorescent Antibodies

Target	Source	Dilution	Ag Retrieval
SIM2s	Santa Cruz	1:500	5min high pressure
VIM	Covance	1:1000	5min high pressure
KER5	NeoMarkers	1:500	5min high pressure

RNA

RNA Isolation from Cells

Cells were washed with PBS and RNA was isolated using the High Pure RNA Isolation Kit (Roche Applied Science, Indianapolis, Indiana, USA) following the manufacturer's protocol for spin isolation, including DNase digestion of RNA contaminants. RNA was eluted in 30 to 50µL RNAse-free H2O and stored at -80 C.

RNA Isolation from Tissue

To isolate total RNA from tissue, sections of approximately 0.5 cm by 0.5 cm were homogenized in Trizol reagent (Invitrogen) for 30 seconds. Samples were then centrifuged for 5 min at 16.1K x g to pellet debris. Supernatant was mixed with 200 μ L of chloroform and allowed to incubate at RT for 5 min. Following centrifugation at 12K x g for 15 min, aqueous layer was mixed with 1 mL of 75 % EtOH and inverted several times. Samples were centrifuged for 10 min at 12K x g. Supernatant was aspirated and pellets were washed in 75 % EtOH, then centrifuged for 5 min at 7.5K x g. Supernatant was aspirated again, and pellets were resuspended in 100 μ L of RNAse-free H2O. Rehydrated RNA was subjected to purification according to that described in the previous section for RNA isolation from mammalian cells.

Reverse Transcription

For cDNA synthesis, depending on the RNA concentration, 1-2 μ g of RNA was used for reverse transcription reactions. cDNA was formed using the Transcriptor First Strand cDNA Synthesis Kit (Roche Applied Science) according to the manufacturer's protocols. One μ L of each 10 mM dNTPs and Oligo dT were added to RNA in H₂O for a total volume of 12 μ L. The sample was incubated at 70°C for 10 min, then 4 μ L 5X first strand buffer, 2 uL 0.1 M DTT, 1 μ L RNAse Inhibitor, and 1 μ L Superscript Reverse Transcriptase were added for a new total volume of 20 μ L per sample. The sample was incubated at 42°C for 50 min, followed by 70°C for 15 min. cDNA was diluted to 20 to 25 ng/ μ L with H₂O and stored at -20°C. These samples were then used for Q-PCR Analysis.

PCR

For chromatin immunoprecipitation, DNA samples were analyzed via PCR to determine binding at response elements on the proximal promoter of *CDKN1A* (P21) as previously described (Wellberg et al., 2010). Briefly, 2µl of DNA were combined with 2.5 µl 10X Taq Buffer (Invitrogen), 1 µl 50mM MgCl₂ (Invitrogen), 1 µL 10mM dNTPs (Invitrogen), 2.5µL Primers (See Table 4) (Sigma-Aldrich), .25 µl Taq polymerase (Invitrogen), and water for a total reaction volume of 25 µl. PCR reactions were run on a thermal cycler for 33 cycles with an annealing temperature of 60° C. Products were analyzed by electrophoresis on an 8% agarose gel with ethidium bromide (Sigma-Aldrich).

Table 4. ChIP RT-PCR Primers

Gene	Sense	Anti-sense	
CDKN1A TATAA Box	TCTAGGTGCCCAGGTGCTT	ACATTCCCCACGAAGTGAG	
CDKN1A 3'p53RE	CCAGGTCTTGGATTGAGGAA	TGTTAAGGTGGTGGCATTGA	

Quantitative Real-time PCR

One μ L of each cDNA sample were mixed with 5.0 μ L 2x SyberGreen master mix (Roche Applied Science), 3 μ L H2O, and 1 μ L of both sense and antisense primers (Tables 5 and 6) and added to a 384 well plate (Applied Biosystems). Reactions were run according to the following cycle conditions: 95°C for 10 minutes, and 40 cycles of 95°C for 10 seconds followed by 60°C for 1 minute. Analysis was performed using the $\Delta\Delta$ CT method as previously described (Hettinger et al., 2001). For mouse mammary tissue samples, expression of Claudin 7 was used to normalize mRNA levels of assayed genes (Blackman et al. 2005). For cell culture, expression of TBP and/or β -Actin was used to normalize mRNA levels.

Gene	Sense	Anti-sense
ACO2	TGTCACGTCCCCAGAGATTG	CGGTCTCTGGGTTGAACTTGA
AKT	GGGCGAGCTGTTTTTCCAT	TGTAGATAGTCCAAGGCAGAGACAA
B2Globulin	GGCTGGCAACTTAGAG	GCCTTACTTTATCAAATGTAT
B-Actin	GCAACGAGCGGTTCCG	CCCAAGAAGGAAGGCTGGA
BNIP3	TTCCCCCCAAGGAGTTCCT	CGCTCGTGTTCCTCATGCT
CDH1	CACAGACGCGGACGATGAT	GATCTTGGCTGAGGATGGTGTAA
CDKN1A	CCTAATCCGCCCACAGGAA	AAGATGTAGAGCGGGCCTTTG
СНОР	AGAACCAGGAAACGGAAACAGA	TTCATGCGCTGCTTTCCA
CSN2	TGTGCTCCAGGCTAAAGTTCACT	GGTTTGAGCCTGAGCATATGG
G6PD	GCCTTCTGCCCGAAAACAC	TGCGGATGTCAGCCACTGT
GATA3	CTG-GCT-CGC-AGA-ATT-GCA	AAC-TGG-GTA-TGG-CAG-AAT-AAA-ACG
GLUT1	CAGCTGACGTGACCCATGAC	CCTTCTTCTCCCGCATCATC
GLUT3	GACTCTTCGTCAACCGCTTTG	TGACAGCCAACAGGTTGACAA
GLUT4	GCTTCGTGGCATTTTTTGAGA	AGCTCGGCCACGATGAAC
HK1	TCTTATTTGAAGGGCGGATCA	TTTCGATGGCTGACACATCAC
HK2	GCATCTTTGAAACCAAGTTCTTGTC	GGTGCTCTCAAGCCCTAAGTG
KER18	GAGGCTGAGATCGCCACCTA	CCAAGGCATCACCAAGATTAAAG
LC3	GTGAACCAGCACAGCATGGT	CGTCTTTCTCCTGCTCGTAGATG
LDHA	AAATTGAAGGGAGAGATGATGGAT	AGTTACATTATAGTCTTTGCCAGAGA
MDH2	GGAGTGGCCGCAGATCTG	TCAGGTCCGAGGTAGCCTTTC
MFN1	TTCTACTCCCACTGCTCCTACCA	TCATGAGTTCTTCCTGTGATGCA
MFN2	ACCATGCAGCAGGACATGATAG	GACTCCGCACAGACACAGGAA
MTOR	AGGCGGCATTGTCTCTATCAA	GCAGTAAATGCAGGTAGTCATCCA
OPA1	CTGTGGATGCTGAACGCAGTA	CTCCTTCCATGAGGGTCCATT
P63	CCT-TCT-GTG-AGC-AG-CTT-ATC-A	CAT-CAG-GAA-TGG-TTG-TAG-GAG-TGA
PARKIN	TCCCAGTGGAGGTCGATTCT	GCTTAGCAACCACCTCCTTGA
PGC1a	TGTCACCACCCAAATCCTTATTT	TGTGTCGAGAAAAGGACCTTGA
PINK1	GGACACGAGACGCTTGCA	CTTACCAATGGACTGCCCTATCA
SCO2	CTTCACTCACTGCCCTGACA	TGAGCAGGTAGATGGCAATG
SIM2s	GCTGAGAACAAACCCTTACC	GAAGCAGAAAGAGGGCAAGTT
SLUG	GGCTGGCCAAACATAAGCA	CTGCAAATACTGCAACAAGGAATAC
SMA	CAA-GTG-ATC-ACC-ATC-GGA-AAT-G	AGC-AA-CTC-CAT-CCC-GAT-GA
SMO	CAC-CCT-GGC-CAC-ATT-CGT	CGC-ATT-GAC-GTA-GAA-GAG-AAT-AAC-A
SOD2	TTGGCCAAGGGAGATGTTACA	TGATATGACCACCACCATTGAAC
TBP	TGCACAGGAGCCAAGAGTGAA	CACATCACAGCTCCCCACCA
TFAM	GTGCACCGGCTGTGGAA	TGAAAACCACCTCGGTAAATACAC
TIGAR	CTCCAGTGATCTCATGAG	AGACACTGGCTGCTAATC
TSC2	AGCTCTACCATTCCCCCTTCTT	CTGCACCGACCGCTCAA
VIM	TTCTCTGCCTCTTCCAAACTTTTC	GGGTATCAACCAGAGGGAGTGA
XBP1	GTGAAGGAAGAACCTGTAGAAGATGA	GGGCAGTGGCTGGATGAA

Table 5. Human Q-PCR Primers

Table 6.Mouse Q-PCR Primers

Gene	Sense	Anti-sense
CEBP/D	CGC-CGC-AAC-CAG-AT	GCT-GAT-GCA-GCT-TCT-CGT-TCT
Claudin 7	TCCCTGGTGTTGGGCTTCT	ACAGCGTGTGCACTTCATG
CSN2	TGTGCTCCAGGCTAAAGTTCACT	GGTTTGAGCCTGAGCATATGG
GAPDH	CTA-ACA-CA-AAT-GGG-GTG-AGG	TCA-TAC-TTG-GCA-GGT-TTC-TCC
IGFBP5	GAT-GAG-ACA-GGA-ATC-CGA-ACA-AG	TTG-AAC-TCC-TGG-AGG-GAA-GCT
IKK2	CAG-CGA-GCA-GCC-ATG-ATG	GGA-GGC-CAT-GGC-GTT-CT
KER18	CATCGTCTTGCAGATCGACAA	GACTGGCGCATGGCTAGTTC
NFKB1	GCC-GTG-GAG-TAC-GAC-AAC-ATC	TGT-CCA-CGT-GGG-CAT-CAC
NFKB2	GGG-CAG-ACT-GGT-GTC-ATT-GA	GGT-TGA-TGA-CGC-CGA-GGT-A
RELA	GCC-CAT-GGA-GTT-CCA-GTA-CTT-G	GTC-CTT-TTG-CGC-TTC-TCT-TCA
SIM2s	AACCAGCTCCCGTGTTTGAC	ACTCTGAGGAACGGCGAAAA
STAT3	GGA-GTA-CGT-GCA-GAA-GAC-ACT-GA	TCC-GAT-GCA-GCG-GAT-CT
TBP	TGC ACA GGA GCC AAG AGT GAA	CAC ATC ACA GCT CCC CAC CA

Protein

Protein Isolation from Cells

Cells were washed once with PBS and scraped in PBS containing 25x protease inhibitor cocktail (Roche Applied Science). Cells were pelleted by spinning in a pre-cooled Eppendorf centrifuge at 2000 rpm for 4 minutes. Lysis buffer [20 mM Tris-Cl pH 8.0, 137 mM NaCl, 10 % glycerol, 1 % NP-40, 2 mM EDTA + 25x CPI + phosphatase inhibitors (0.5 mM NaMolybdate, 0.1 mM Na Orthovanadate, and 1 mM NaF)] was added and resuspended cells were agitated at 4° C for 30 minutes. Debris was pelleted by spinning in a cooled Eppendorf centrifuge at 16.1K X g for 10 minutes. Aliquots of 200 µL were stored at -20°C. If used immediately, they were stored at 4° C. Protein content was estimated using the RCDC Protein Assay (BioRad, Hercules, CA, USA) according to the manufacturer's protocol.

Western Blot Analysis

Protein samples were diluted in 30 μ L of H2O per sample. 6 μ L of 6x SDS loading buffer (60 % glycerol, 0.3 M Tris pH 6.8, 12 mM EDTA, 12 % SDS, 6 % beta- mercaptoethanol, 0.5 % bromophenol blue) was added and samples were boiled for 5 minutes, followed by 5 minutes of cooling on ice. Acrylamide gels ranging from 8%-12% were used for analysis. Depending on the size of the target protein, gels were run at 110mV (constant V) for 1-2 hours and transferred to PVDF membranes for 1.5 to 3 hours at 110mA (constant mA). After a 5 minute wash in PBS + 0.05 % Tween 20 (PBST), membranes were blocked for 1 hour or overnight in PBST + 5 % milk (BioRad). See Table 7 for antibody sources and incubation conditions. Proteins were visualized using the Amersham ECL Plus western blotting detection reagent (GE Healthcare) on Amersham Hyperfilm (GE Healthcare, Waukesha, WI, USA). All films were scanned using an HP All-in-one scanner.

 Table 7.
 Western Blot Antibodies

Target	Source	Catalog #	Dilution
Actin	Sigma	A5441	1:5000
p21	Cell Signaling	2947	1:1000
LC3B	Cell Signaling	3868	1:4000
Total OXPHOS Cocktail	MitoSciences	MS601	1:100

Microarray Analysis

Gene Expression Microarray

The Whole Mouse Genome CodeLink Bioarray (Amersham, GE Healthcare,

Piscataway, NJ) was used to determine differential gene expression between WT and MMTV-Sim2s transgenic females at 72 hours of involution. Sample preparation and hybridization were performed according to the manufacturer's protocols and as previously described (Davidson et al., 2004). RNA samples were confirmed for *Sim2s* overexpression via qPCR before microarray analysis.

The Whole Human Genome CodeLink Bioarray (Applied Microarrays, Tempe, AZ, USA) was used to determine differential gene expression between Scr and *SIM2si* MCF7 breast cancer cells. Sample preparation and hybridization were performed according to the manufacturer's protocols and as previously described (Davidson et al., 2004). RNA samples were confirmed for loss of *SIM2s* expression via qPCR prior to microarray analysis.

Microarray Analysis

Raw microarray data were initially normalized and analyzed using CodeLink Expression Analysis Software version 4.1.0.29054 (GE Healthcare). A median normalization method was used, with a 20% threshold trim percentage. Microarray data were analyzed, and functionally analyses were generated through the use of Ingenuity Pathways Analysis (Ingenuity Systems. Redwood City, CA, USA). A data set containing gene identifiers and corresponding expression values was uploaded into the application. The identifiers were mapped to their corresponding objects in Ingenuity's Knowledge Base. A P value cutoff of 0.05 was set to identify the expression of which pathway was significantly differentially regulated. These molecules were integrated into a molecular network developed from information in Ingenuity's Knowledge Base. The data were then analyzed for the biological functions and/or diseases that were most significant.

Accession Numbers

The data discussed in this publication have been deposited in NCBI's Gene Expression Omnibus and are accessible through GEO Series accession number GSE44187(MCF7 array) and GSE27012 (Involution) (Edgar et al., 2002).

Mechanistic Assays

Luciferase Promoter Assay

CDKN1A-Luciferase constructs were obtained from Dr. Zhi-Min Yuan (Harvard School of Public Health). Luciferase assays were performed as previously described (Yuan et al., 1996). Briefly, MCF7 breast cancer cells were transiently transfected with a *CDKN1A*-luciferase construct, then exposed to increasing amounts of SIM2s protein. Luciferase was measured in a luciferase plate reader as an indicator of gene expression.

Chromatin Immunoprecipitation Assay (ChIP)

Chromatin Harvest from Cells

Formaldehyde (Sigma Aldrich) was added to fresh culture media (final concentration 1%) and cells were incubated at room temperature (RT) for 10 minutes with gentle rocking. Glycine (Sigma Aldrich) was added to a final concentration of 125 mM and allowed to quench formaldeyhde for 5 additional minutes at RT. Cells were washed 2 times with ice cold PBS and scraped in cold PBS containing 25x Complete protease inhibitors (Roche Applied Science). Cells were pelleted by spinning at 2000 rpm (805 x g) for 4 min using an Eppendorf 5810R centrifuge chilled to 4°C. SDS lysis buffer (50mM Tris pH 8.1, 10 mM EDTA, 1% SDS, 25x CPI) was added, and resuspended cells were incubated on ice for 10 minutes. Using a sonicator (Heat Systems Ultrasonics Inc.), DNA was sheared in 20 second pulses, 16 times, allowing the lysate to cool on wet ice for 1 minute after every pulse. Debris was pelleted by spinning at 13,200 rpm (16.1K x g) in an Eppendorf 5415D centrifuge for 10 minutes at 4°C. Chromatin was stored at -80°C in 100 μ L aliquots.

ChIP Assay

One aliquot of chromatin was used for each assay. ChIP dilution buffer (0.01% SDS, 1.1 % Triton X-100, 1.2 mM EDTA, 16.7 mM Tris pH 8.1, 167 mM NaCl, 25x CPI) was added

to 5-fold dilution. 100µL of normal rabbit serum (5 µL Santa Cruz) conjugated Protein A Dynabeads (Invitrogen) was added for 1 hour and chromatin was precleared at 4^oC with agitation. Beads were pelleted by magnet and lysate was precleared once more with 100 μ l magnetic beads. Antibody conjugated beads (4µg SIM2 Rbd antibody, Millipore) were added and chromatin was agitated at 4°C overnight. Beads were pelleted and washed consecutively in each solution: low salt wash (0.1 % SDS, 1 % Triton X-100, 2 mM EDTA, 20 mM Tris pH 8.1, and 150 mM NaCl), high salt wash (0.1 % SDS, 1 % Triton X-100, 2 mM EDTA, 20 mM Tris pH 8.1, and 500 mM NaCl), lithium chloride wash (0.25 M LiCl, 1 % NP-40, 1 % sodium deoxycholate, 1 mM EDTA, and 10 mM Tris pH 8.0), and twice in TE buffer (10 mM Tris pH 8.0 and 1 mM EDTA). TE washes took place at RT and others at 4^oC. Immune complexes were eluted from beads in 1 % SDS and 0.1 M NaHCO3, adding 250µL to each aliquot and rocking for 15 min at RT, then repeating for a total of 500 μ L eluate. NaCl was added for a final concentration of 0.3 M with 1 µL of 10 mg/mL RNAse-A. Eluate was incubated at 65°C for 5 hours to reverse formaldehyde crosslinks. Two and one half volumes of 100 % EtOH were added to each sample and they were placed at -20° C overnight. On the third day, chromatin was pelleted by spinning in an Eppendorf centrifuge at 16.1K x g for 10 minutes. Supernatant was removed and the pellet resuspended in 100 μ L H2O, with 2 μ L 0.5 M EDTA, 4 μ L 1 M Tris pH 6.5, and 1 µL of 20 mg/mL proteinase K (Sigma Aldrich). Samples were incubated at 45 C for 2 h, and then purified using a Qiagen PCR purification kit (Qiagen). DNA was eluted in 50 μ L elution buffer (supplied with kit). PCR was performed according to conditions listed above.

Miscellaneous

Statistical Analyses

All differences were analyzed with Student's t test unless otherwise specified. Student's T-Tests were performed in Microsoft excel. A p-value less than 0.05 was considered to be statistically significant. For involution samples Fischer's exact test was also used to test for significance. Tissue microarrays and pathology reports were analyzed using categorical analysis accompanied with the Chi² Test of homogeneity with Likelihood Ratio and Pearson Tests. Tissue microarray analysis and Fischer's exact tests were performed using JMP statistical software (JMP, SAS Cary, North Carolina, US). Microarray heat maps were generated using R statistical software (R, GNU project).

Reagents

Cells were treated with rotenone (1 μ M–24hrs), oligomycin (2 μ M-24hrs) and 2-deoxy glucose (2-DG, 10mM-24hrs) (Sigma-Aldrich) for ATP and ROS assays. Cells were treated with rotenone (50 μ M), oligomycin (30 μ M), and carbonilcyanide p-triflouromethoxyphenylhydrazone (FCCP, 10 μ M) (Sigma-Aldrich) for seahorse flux analysis. All compounds were reconstituted in DMSO (Sigma-Aldrich).

CHAPTER III

MANUSCRIPT 1: SINGLEMINDED-2S (SIM2S) PROMOTES DELAYED INVOLUTION OF THE MOUSE MAMMARY GLAND THROUGH SUPPRESSION OF STAT3 AND NFKB^{*}

Synopsis

Post-lactational involution of the mammary gland following lactation provides a unique model to study breast cancer susceptibility and metastasis. We have shown that the short isoform of Singleminded-2 (Sim2s), a bHLH/PAS transcription factor, plays a role in promoting lactogenic differentiation, as well as in maintaining mammary epithelial differentiation and malignancy. *Sim2s* is dynamically expressed during mammary gland development, with expression peaking during lactation, and decreasing in early involution. To determine the role of Sim2s in involution, we used transgenic mice expression of *Sim2s* under the mouse mammary gland resulted in delayed involution, indicated by a lower proportion of cleaved caspase-3 positive cells and slower re-establishment of the mammary fat pad. Immunohistochemical and quantitative RNA analysis showed a decrease in apoptotic markers and inflammatory response genes, and an increase in anti-apoptotic genes, which were accompanied by inhibition of signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (Stat3) activity. Microarray analysis confirmed that genes in the Stat3 signaling pathway were repressed by Sim2s expression, along with NFkB and other key pathways involved in mammary gland development. Multiparous *MMTV-Sim2s*

^{*} Reprinted with permission from "Singleminded-2s (Sim2s) promotes delayed involution of the mouse mammary gland through suppression of Stat3 and NFκB" by Scribner, K. C., Wellberg, E. A., Metz, R. P., and Porter, W. W., 2011. *Mol Endocrinol*, Apr; 25(4):3-44, Copyright 2011 by The Endocrine Society.

females displayed a more differentiated phenotype compared to wild-type controls, characterized by enhanced β -casein expression and alveolar structures. Together, these results suggest a role for Sim2s in the normal involuting gland, and identify potential down-stream pathways regulated by Sim2s.

Introduction

Mammary gland involution is the regression of a lactating mammary gland to its quiescent state following weaning and is characterized by a decrease in milk protein, collapse of alveolar structures, apoptosis of epithelial cells, and re-establishment of the fat pad (Baxter et al., 2007; Furth, 1999; Thangaraju et al., 2004; Walker et al., 1989; Wilde et al., 1999). Involution has been shown to proceed in two separate phases; first an acute response phase characterized by a decrease in milk protein synthesis, and epithelial cell apoptosis (Baxter et al., 2007; Bierie et al., 2009; Clarkson and Watson, 2003; Furth, 1999; Henson and Tarone, 1994; Jaggi et al., 1996; Lund et al., 1996; Marti et al., 1999; Quarrie et al., 1996). This initial phase is reversible and occurs 1-3 days post weaning. Acute phase involution is characterized by a drop in Stat5, followed by an increase in Stat3 signaling. The second, irreversible, phase begins at 72 hours after pup removal, and is typified by a collapse in the alveoli, extensive epithelial apoptosis, and breakdown of the basement membrane by matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) (Stein et al., 2007). Involution is a unique process with a wound healing signature and controlled inflammation, both of which are associated with breast cancer progression, metastasis, and survival. Studies investigating differences in gene expression, extracellular matrix composition, and signaling associated with involution and breast cancers have shown that metastatic breast cancer shares characteristics of the involuting mammary gland (Clarkson and Watson, 2003; Clarkson et al., 2004; Come et al., 2004; Henson and Tarone, 1994; Jager et al., 1997; Lefebvre et al., 1992;
Lyons et al., 2009; McDaniel et al., 2006; O'Brien and Schedin, 2009; Pensa et al., 2009; Radisky and Hartmann, 2009). Therefore, defining the mechanisms regulating involution will identify potential pathways involved in breast cancer progression.

Singleminded-2s (Sim2s) is a member of the bHLH/PAS family of transcription factors that has been implicated in normal mammary gland development and is frequently lost or reduced in primary human breast tumors. We have shown that Sim2s is expressed in mouse luminal mammary epithelial cells and is developmentally regulated with highest expression observed in mid-lactation (Kwak et al., 2007; Wellberg et al., 2010). To further define the role of Sim2s in mammary gland development, we generated a transgenic mouse expressing Sim2s under control of the Mouse Mammary Tumor Virus promoter (MMTV-Sim2s) (Wellberg et al., 2010). Analysis of mammary glands from staged virgin MMTV-Sim2s and WT mice, showed that mRNA levels of Csn2 and Wap, were significantly increased, implying that Sim2s expression is associated with enhanced differentiation (Wellberg et al., 2010). While Sim2s is expressed in mammary epithelial cells, it is down regulated in a majority of breast tumors and breast cancer cell lines and forced expression of Sim2s in invasive breast cancer cells inhibits growth and motility. In addition, loss of Sim2s in the mouse mammary gland and in normal human breast epithelial cells results in an epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT), inducing an aggressive basal like phenotype (Gustafson et al., 2009a; Kwak et al., 2007; Laffin et al., 2008). Mammary glands from Sim2-null mice show impaired development, as the epithelial ducts do not properly form and differentiate (26).

To further elucidate the function of Sim2s in breast cancer progression and metastasis, as well as the function of Sim2s in normal mammary development, we analyzed the effect of *Sim2s* over-expression on involution following forced weaning (Wellberg et al., 2010). We found that mammary gland involution is disrupted in *MMTV-Sim2s* mice as demonstrated by a delay in the

reoccurrence of the fat pad and decrease in apoptosis. Furthermore, over-expression of *Sim2s* inhibited Stat3-mediated signaling and other pathways involved in the acute phase response. These studies extend the role of Sim2s in mammary gland development and identify Sim2s-regulated gene expression signatures that correlate with involution.

Results

Constitutively Active Sim2s Delays Mouse Mammary Gland Involution

To determine the effect of Sim2s on mammary involution, we analyzed glands from 3 MMTV-Sim2s transgenic mice force-weaned at lactation day 10 and harvested at 24, 48, and 72 hours after pup removal. Histological analysis showed clear differences starting at 24 hours post weaning in the number of apoptotic cells shedding into the alveolar lumen (Figure 12 A-D). Transgenic Sim2s mammary glands maintained distinct alveolar structures with copious amounts of milk at 72 hours of involution (Figure 12 K & L), while the wild-type glands had larger adipocytes and breakdown of luminal structures (Figure 12 I & J). Consistent with the observation that Sim2s promotes alveolar differentiation (Wellberg et al., 2010), we also observed an increase in β -casein (*Csn2*) and Whey Acidic Protein (*Wap*) gene expression 24 hours after pup removal as compared to controls (Figure 12 M & N). However, we observed no changes in phospho-Stat5a staining (data not shown), suggesting that Stat5a signaling is not involved in mediating this phenotype. Immunohistochemical staining of involuting mammary glands with anti-perilipin revealed distinct differences in adipocyte size between the transgenic and wild type glands 48 and 72 hours after pup removal. Figure 13 shows both fewer and smaller adjocytes in the fat pads of MMTV-Sim2s mice compared to wild type mice, indicating a delay in adipocyte lipid synthesis and repopulation of the mammary fat pad resulting from Sim2s over-expression.



Figure 12. Involution is Delayed and Milk Protein mRNA Levels Are Increased in MMTV-Sim2s Transgenic Mice.Normal (FVB) and MMTV-Sim2s mice were harvested at 24, 48, and 72 hours involution (I24, I48, I72). A,B,E,F,I, and J - Hematoxylin & eosin (H&E) stained mammary glands from wild-type FVB mice. C, D, G, H, K, and L - H&E stained mammary glands from MMTV-Sim2s transgenic mice. Transgenic mammary glands show less apoptotic cell shedding, slow fat pad reoccurrence, and slower alveolar regression (Indicated by arrows). A-D - 24 hours involution. E-H - 48 hours involution. I-L - 72 hours involution. Magnification bar represents 100µm on all images. Images are representative of all samples collected. M – Quantitative PCR analysis of involuting mammary gland β-casein (Csn2). N – Quantitative PCR analysis of involuting mammary gland Whey Acidic protein (Wap). Transgenic mammary glands have an increased trend of milk protein mRNA expression throughout involution when normalized to an epithelial specific control gene (Claudin 7).



Figure 13. Delayed Fat Pad Regeneration in MMTV-Sim2s Mice During Involution. Perilipin staining of wild-type FVB and transgenic MMTV-Sim2s mice. A-D - mammary gland 48 hours involution. E-H - Mammary glands I72 hours involution. A, B, E, and F - Wild-type FVB mammary glands. C, D, F, and H - MMTV-Sim2s mammary. Transgenic mammary glands show less fat pad regeneration post forced weaning. Magnification bars represent 100 µm. Images are representative of all samples.

The acute phase of involution is largely characterized by shedding of apoptotic cells into the lumen of mammary gland alveoli. To evaluate differences in apoptosis between transgenic and WT involuting mammary glands, we used immunohistochemistry to evaluate cleaved caspase-3, which is normally confined to those cells that have undergone apoptosis and shed into the lumen. The results showed a significant increase in caspase-3 positive cells in involuting glands from *MMTV-Sim2s* mice at 24, 48, and 72 hours compared to controls (Figure 14).





Figure 14. MMTV-Sim2s Transgenic Mice have Significantly Lower Levels of Apoptotic Cells During Involution. A-L - Wild-type and MMTV-Sim2s mammary glands stained for cleaved caspase 3. A-D - 24 hours involution. E-H - 48 hours involution. I-L - 72 hours involution. A, B, E, F, I and J - Wild-type FVB mammary glands. C, D, G, H, K and L - MMTV-Sim2s mammary glands. Magnification bars represent 100 μ m in all images. Images are representative of all samples. M - Quantification of cleaved caspase 3 images, %Positive cells taken from five images for each mouse, counted and averaged. MMTV-Sim2s transgenic mammary glands have significantly lower levels of cleaved-caspase 3 positive cells. * = p-value<.05

Multiparous MMTV-Sim2s Mammary Glands Exhibit Alveolar Structure and Milk Protein

Expression

To determine the effect of Sim2s over-expression on multiple rounds of involution,

mammary histology of transgenic and WT mice that had gone through at least 3 pregnancies

each was evaluated. Analysis of H&E staining shows a distinct alveolar phenotype in the

MMTV-Sim2s mammary glands with a more differentiated morphology and lipid accumulation (Figure 15 B, C, E, F) as compared to control animals (Figure 15 A and D). Furthermore, immunohistochemical analysis showed that WT glands have little β-casein expression, whereas the *MMTV-Sim2s* gland has distinct staining within the alveolar structures (Figure 15 H-M).



Figure 15. Multi-parous MMTV-Sim2s Females Have More Alveolar Structures in the Non-lactation Gland, and Higher β-casein Expression. A-F - H&E staining for multi-parous (+1 litter) WT and MMTV-Sim2s mice. A & D, WT multiparous, non-lactating mammary glands have small ductal branching similar to the virgin gland. B, C, E, and F – MMTV-Sim2s multi-parous, non-lactating mammary glands have larger alveolar glands indicating an incomplete involution (Indicated with arrows). Magnification bars represent 100µm. H-M - β-Casein Immunohistochemical staining of multi-parous wild-type and MMTV-Sim2s mice. H & K - WT multiparous, non-lactating mammary glands show little to no detectable levels of β-casein. I, J, L, and M - MMTV-Sim2s multi-parous, non-lactating mammary glands show much higher levels of β-casein in the alveolar structures still present in the quiescent gland. Magnification bars represent 100µm. Images are representative of at least 60% of samples.

Sim2s Expression Inhibits Activation of Stat3

Stat3 signaling plays an important part in regulating mammary gland involution by inducing genes involved in inflammation and the acute phase response. Activation of Stat3 through phosphorylation promotes translocation into the nucleus, where phospho-Stat3 (pStat3) functions as a transcriptional regulator. Analysis of pStat3 staining in WT and MMTV-Sim2s mice showed chimeric staining patterns throughout the mammary epithelium, but glands from transgenic mice appeared to have far fewer pStat3-positive cells than WT glands (Figure 16 A-L). Quantification of pStat3-positive cells revealed a significant decrease in Sim2s glands at 48 and 72 hours of involution (Figure 16 M). Pan-Stat3 immunohistochemistry was also performed to ensure pStat3 changes seen are due to altered activation of Stat3. No changes are seen between wild-type and transgenic mammary glands in levels of Stat3 (Figure 17 A-L). To determine if the reduction of active Stat3 seen in MMTV-Sim2s mice correlated with a decrease in down-stream Stat3 target genes, we performed qPCR analysis for $C/EBP\delta$ and IGFBP5 and found a distinct downward trend in gene expression in Sim2s transgenic mice at 72 hours of involution (Figure 16 O and P). Together, these results suggest that the delayed involution observed in mammary glands from MMTV-Sim2s mice is mediated, in part, by Sim2s-dependent suppression of the Stat3 pathway.





pan Stat3 in involuting mammary glands. O and P – Stat3 target genes C/EBP δ and IGFBP5 have downward trends in mRNA expression at 72 hours in transgenic mice as shown by quantitative PCR. * = p-value<.05



Figure 17. Immunohistochemical Analysis of pan-Stat3 During Involution Reveals No Change in Overall Expression. A-L - Immunohistochemical staining of Stat 3 in wild-type and MMTV-Sim2s mice. A-D - 24 hours involution. E-H - 48 hours involution. I-L - 72 hours involution. A, B, E, F, I, and J - Wild-type mammary glands. C, D, G, H, K, and L - MMTV-Sim2s transgenic mammary glands. Both wild-type and transgenic mammary glands express pan-stat3 at comparable levels. Stat3 is detected both as a cytosolic and nucleic stain, which is expected with non-active Stat3. Magnification bars represent 100μm. Images are representative of at least 60% of samples.

Microarray Analysis Revealed Changes in Pathways Regulating Involution, Specifically Stat3 and NFKB

Microarray analysis was performed using mammary glands from WT and MMTV-Sim2s transgenic females harvested 72 hours after force-weaning to identify additional pathways regulated by Sim2s during involution. Data was analyzed using the Ingenuity Pathway Analysis Software. The significance of the association between the data set and the canonical pathway was measured by taking a ratio of the number of molecules from the data set that map to the pathway divided by the total number of molecules that map to the canonical pathway displayed. Fisher's exact test was used to calculate a p-value to determine the probability that the association between the genes in the data set and the canonical pathway is explained by chance alone. As expected, one of the most significantly affected pathways identified in the involuting *MMTV-Sim2s* mammary gland was the Jak/Stat signaling pathway, which is involved in regulating mammary gland growth, differentiation, migration, and apoptosis. Other pathways identified, including Notch, Wnt/β-catenin, PI3K/Akt, and NFκB, also play roles in involution and breast cancer progression. Changes in multiple genes involved in NF κ B signaling, identified in the microarray studies, were verified using qPCR (Figure 18 B-E). In transgenic mammary glands, Ikk2, an activator of NF κ B, showed reduced expression compared to wild type glands throughout the time series. NFkB2 expression was gradually upregulated in wild type glands, showing maximal expression by 72 hours; however, the levels remained low in glands from transgenic females. These data suggest that Sim2s regulates multiple pathways involved in normal mammary gland function and malignancy.



A. Statistically Significant Pathways Affected at 72 hours involution by constitutively active Sim2s



Figure 18. Canonical Pathway Analysis of 72 Hour Involuting Glands Reveals Multiple Pathways that Are Affected by MMTV-Sim2s Over Expression. A- Canonical Pathway Analysis was performed using Ingenuity Pathway Analysis Software. Statistically significant data (p-value <.05) from the Codelink Microarray was analyzed to determine what pathways were significantly altered by Sim2s expression. B-C - Quantitative PCR analysis of Ikk2 and NFκB 2 show downward trends in MMTV-Sim2s mice.

Discussion

We have shown that Sim2s promotes mammary lactogenic differentiation when over expressed in virgin mice (Wellberg et al., 2010). The objective of this study was to evaluate the effect of *Sim2s* over expression on mammary involution following forced weaning. Here, we demonstrate that *MMTV-Sim2s* transgenic mice experience delayed involution, characterized by reduced epithelial cell apoptosis and lower Stat3 activation. Microarray studies performed on tissue from involuting glands revealed that Sim2s inhibited pathways associated with inflammation and apoptosis, both of which are hallmarks of involution and cancer progression. Previously, our lab has shown that Sim2s is required for proper development and differentiation of the mammary ductal tree. Additionally, down-regulation of *Sim2s* in MCF7 breast cancer cells and MCF10A breast epithelial cells results in the loss of epithelial characteristics and the acquisition of a basal phenotype (Gustafson et al., 2009a; Laffin et al., 2008; Rudolph et al., 2009; Wellberg et al., 2010). The results from this study support a role for Sim2s in maintaining epithelial differentiation and suppressing involuting pathways.

Recent studies have utilized the involuting mouse mammary gland as a model to identify pathways involved in breast cancer progression (Ackler et al., 2002; Atabai et al., 2007; Chapman et al., 2000; Clarkson et al., 2000; Clarkson and Watson, 1999; Clarkson and Watson, 2003; Desrivieres et al., 2006; Flanders and Wakefield, 2009; Gordon et al., 2000; Heermeier et al., 1996; Humphreys et al., 2002). Special interest has focused on the regulation of apoptosis during the acute phase of involution, and on controlled inflammation, which are part of the wound-healing signature. Bax, Akt, II6, Stat3, and other pro apoptotic genes associated with involution have been conditionally deleted in the mammary gland to determine their roles in involution (Ackler et al., 2002; Bierie et al., 2009; Chapman et al., 2000; Clarkson et al., 2000; Flanders and Wakefield, 2009; Heermeier et al., 1996; Humphreys et al., 2002; Jager et al., 1997; Jerry et al., 2002; Jerry et al., 1998; Kritikou et al., 2003; Schorr et al., 1999; Stein et al., 2004; Thangaraju et al., 2005; Tonner et al., 2000; Zhao et al., 2002a). Gene expression analysis of the involution signature shows that Stat3 and NFκB pathways are induced during involution, while the Stat5 pathway is inhibited. From these results, we know that a substantial number of factors up-regulated during involution play various roles in inflammation and the acute phase of involution. These pathways have also been analyzed in conjunction with various breast cancer subtypes, and correlate with an increase in metastasis and poor prognoses. In addition, the microenvironment of the involuting mammary gland has been shown to promote metastasis due to active basement membrane degradation, controlled inflammatory signaling, activation of fibroblasts, and other signals also involved with a wound healing signature (Baxter et al., 2007; Clarkson and Watson, 2003; Come et al., 2004; Henson and Tarone, 1994; Lyons et al., 2009; McDaniel et al., 2006; Pensa et al., 2009; Schedin et al., 2007).

The acute phase of involution, which occurs during the first 72 hours post weaning, is characterized by an increase in apoptosis, an enhanced immune response, and decreased milk protein synthesis (Abell et al., 2005; Chapman et al., 2000; Clarkson and Watson, 2003; Hennighausen et al., 1997; Kritikou et al., 2003; Stein et al., 2004; Walker et al., 2009; Watson, 2001). Many of these processes are dependent on Stat3, which mediates apoptosis of secretory epithelial cells, as well as their removal from the gland during involution. Stat3 is also the key regulator of the controlled inflammatory response observed in the involuting mammary gland and is constitutively active in many breast cancer cell lines and primary tumors (Pensa et al., 2009; Walker et al., 2009; Watson, 2001; Watson and Neoh, 2008; Yu et al., 2009; Zhou et al., 2007). Stat3 regulates both pro and anti-inflammatory responses, based on LIF and OSM signaling, and is often activated by tumor cytokines, oncogenes, and growth factors. In Stat3 null mice, involution is delayed and the secretory alveolar epithelial cells maintain functional

integrity up to 6 days post weaning in the absence of lactogenic stimuli (Chapman et al., 2000; Chapman et al., 1999; Humphreys et al., 2002; Pensa et al., 2009; Thangaraju et al., 2005; Zhao et al., 2002a). We observed a similar phenotype in our *MMTV-Sim2s* mice with a significant inhibition of pStat3 activity and reduced expression down-stream targets genes IGFBP5 and C/EBPδ (Thangaraju et al., 2005).

Stat3 and NF κ B are known to interact at multiple levels, and similar to Stat3, NF κ B is constitutively active in cancers (Yu et al., 2009). $NF\kappa B$ expression is high during the acute phase of mammary gland involution, and has been shown to play a role in milk clearance (Connelly et al., 2010). Conditional deletion of *IKK2*, a NFkB activator, resulted in delayed involution and a decrease in cleaved-caspase 3 positive apoptotic cells (Baxter et al., 2006). These studies indicate that NF κ B plays a role in pro-apoptotic signaling, in addition to the commonly described anti-apoptotic regulation of Bcl2 and Bcl X_L . Transgenic mice with a doxycycline inducible $NF\kappa B$ construct undergo rapid loss of milk and alveolar collapse shortly following pup weaning, in addition to an increase in cleaved-caspase 3 positive cells compared to wild-type counterparts (Connelly et al., 2010). Similarly, induction of $NF\kappa B$ expression during lactation resulted in decreased milk protein levels and alveolar collapse. NFkB has been implicated in tumorigenesis, as constitutive activation results in increased proliferation, inhibition of apoptosis, increased metastasis and angiogenesis (Cao and Karin, 2003; Clarkson and Watson, 1999; Haffner et al., 2006; Kozlow and Guise, 2005; Pensa et al., 2009; Pratt et al., 2009; Yu et al., 2009; Zhou et al., 2008; Zhou et al., 2005b). A pro-inflammatory target of $NF\kappa B$, interleukin-6 (IL-6), is a known activator of Stat3, and forms a positive feedback loop that is a major regulator of inflammation (Yu et al., 2009). *IL-6* null mice also have delayed involution and decreased epithelial cell death; however, Stat3 remains activated in these mice, indicating that Stat3 is activated through multiple cytokines (Zhao et al., 2002a). Stat3 also

inhibits anti-tumorigenic pathways that are typically activated by NF κ B Rel, allowing only the expression of pro-oncogenic Rel A (Yu et al., 2009). In tumors, this results in a reciprocal relationship between Stat3 and NF κ B because many cytokines and growth factors encoded by RelA activate Stat3. Similar to Stat3, active NF κ B signaling has also been indicated in maintenance of mammary stem cells (Pratt et al., 2009; Zhou et al., 2008).

We have shown that mammary gland involution is delayed in *MMTV-Sim2s* mice, and that Sim2s inhibits gene signatures associated with involution including Stat3 and NFKB signaling pathways. This suggests that Sim2s expression in breast cancer cell lines might suppress the pro-oncogenic activities of these transcription factors. Further studies into the inhibition of these pathways by Sim2s may significantly contribute to the understanding and therapeutic treatment of metastatic breast cancer. Increasing evidence indicates that the differentiation status of a tumor correlates with its aggressiveness, thus showing the importance of finding factors that induce terminal differentiation not only in the mammary gland, but also in primary tumors. Based on the studies shown here, and our previous work showing that Sim2s promotes mammary alveolar differentiation, we hypothesize that over-expression of Sim2s will inhibit tumor progression, metastasis, and render breast tumors more susceptible to therapeutics, leading to a better prognosis.

CHAPTER IV

MANUSCRIPT 2: REGULATION OF DCIS TO INVASIVE BREAST CANCER PROGRESSION BY SINGLEMINDED-2S (SIM2S)^{*}

Synopsis

Singleminded-2s (SIM2s) is a member of the bHLH/PAS family of transcription factors and a key regulator of mammary epithelial cell differentiation. SIM2s is highly expressed in mammary epithelial cells and down regulated in human breast cancer. Loss of Sim2s causes aberrant mouse mammary ductal development with features suggestive of malignant transformation, whereas over-expression of SIM2s promotes precocious alveolar differentiation in nulliparous mouse mammary glands, suggesting that SIM2s is required for establishing and enhancing mammary gland differentiation. To test the hypothesis that SIM2s regulates tumor cell differentiation, we analyzed SIM2s expression in human primary breast ductal carcinoma in situ (DCIS) samples and found that SIM2s is lost with progression from DCIS to invasive ductal cancer (IDC). Utilizing a MCF10DCIS.COM progression model, we have shown that *SIM2s* expression is decreased in MCF10DCIS.COM cells compared to MCF10A cells and reestablishment of SIM2s in MCF10DCIS.COM cells significantly inhibits growth and invasion in vitro and in vivo. Analysis of SIM2s-MCF10DCIS.com tumors showed that SIM2s promoted a more differentiated tumor phenotype including the expression of a broad range of luminal markers (CSN2 (β-casein), CDH1 (E-cadherin), and KER18 (keratin-18)) and suppressed genes associated with stem cell maintenance and a basal phenotype (SMO (smoothened), p63, SLUG (snail-2), KER14 (keratin-14) and VIM (vimentin)). Furthermore, loss of *SIM2s* expression in

^{*} Reprinted with permission from "Regulation of DCIS to invasive breast cancer progression by Singleminded-2s (SIM2s)" by Scribner, K. C., Behbod, F., and Porter, W. W., 2012. *Oncogene,* July Epub ahead of print. Copyright 2012 by Nature Publishing Group.

MCF10DCIS.COM xenografts resulted in a more invasive phenotype and increased lung metastasis likely due to an increase in hedgehog signaling and matrix metalloproteinase expression. Together, these exciting new data support a role for SIM2s in promoting human breast tumor differentiation and maintaining epithelial integrity.

Introduction

Ductal Carcinoma In Situ (DCIS) has been shown to be a precursor to invasive ductal cancer (IDC) (Burstein et al., 2004) with 20-30% of DCIS showing evidence of invasion upon diagnosis (Cody, 2007; Maffuz et al., 2006). Though the progression of DCIS to IDC is believed to be an important aspect of tumor aggressiveness, prognosis and molecular markers that can predict progression are poorly understood. Analysis of biomarkers and molecular profiles of IDC and DCIS have failed to identify progression-specific pathways (Chin et al., 2004; Cocker et al., 2007; Ma et al., 2003; Porter et al., 2003; Yao et al., 2006). Therefore, determining the mechanisms by which some DCIS progress is critical for future breast cancer diagnostics and treatment.

There is increasing evidence that DCIS are heterogeneous tumors, which enhances complexity when attempting to define the mechanisms that promote progression to IDC in *in vivo* models. Recent studies utilizing the MCF10DCIS.COM cell line, which was derived from the non-cancerous MCF10A cell line, have shown that these cells contain a unique bipotent progenitor ability that forms a myoepithelial cell layer in addition to luminal-type cells *in vivo*, which results in basal-like DCIS with high similarities to human DCIS samples (Behbod et al., 2009; Hu et al., 2008; Miller et al., 2000; Shekhar et al., 2008; Tait et al., 2007). Intraductal and flank injections have shown that MCF10DCIS.COM cells not only form DCIS like structures, but also spontaneously progress to invasive breast cancer (Behbod et al., 2009; Hu et al., 2008).

These observations suggest that MCF10DCIS.COM cells are a unique model to study DCIS, as well as the role of different factors in regulating the progression to IDC.

We have previously shown that the basic helix-loop-helix/PER-ARNT-SIM (bHLH/PAS) transcription factor Singleminded-2s (SIM2s) plays a role in normal mammary gland development as well as in promoting tumor cell differentiation (Gustafson et al., 2009b; Kwak et al., 2007; Laffin et al., 2008; Scribner et al., 2011; Wellberg et al., 2010). Loss of Sim2s expression in the mouse mammary gland and in normal breast and breast cancer cell lines is associated with an epithelial mesenchymal transition(EMT), whereas over-expression of Sim2s under the Mouse Mammary Tumor Virus (MMTV) promoter induces precocious alveolar differentiation in nulliparous mice and delayed forced involution (Gustafson et al., 2009b; Kwak et al., 2007; Laffin et al., 2008; Scribner et al., 2011; Wellberg et al., 2010). SIM2s is downregulated in primary human breast cancer samples, and re-establishment of SIM2s in human breast cancer cell lines inhibits cell proliferation and invasion (Gustafson et al., 2009b; Kwak et al., 2007). Moreover, we have found that *SIM2s* mRNA gene expression is inhibited by activation of C/EBP_β and NOTCH signaling, two known EMT promoters, in RAS-transformed MCF10A cells (Gustafson et al., 2009b). Both C/EBPβ and NOTCH expression have been shown to have to play a role in breast cancer progression through mediation of breast cancer stem cells, cellular proliferation, and oncogenesis (Grimm and Rosen, 2003; Kiaris et al., 2004; LaMarca et al., 2010; Politi et al., 2004; Stylianou et al., 2006). Together, these observations suggest that SIM2s is a tumor suppressor gene that is required to maintain epithelial integrity by inhibiting EMT-like pathways and promoting differentiation.

In the studies here, we examined the role of SIM2s in regulating the progression of DCIS to IDC and metastasis, while promoting the less aggressive, luminal-like breast cancer subtype. Based on our studies of SIM2s as a breast cancer tumor suppressor, we hypothesize

that *SIM2s* expression will decrease spontaneous metastasis seen in the MCF10DCIS.COM model, and play a role in the inhibition of DCIS progression.

Results

SIM2s is Lost During DCIS Progression

To determine the role of SIM2s in progression from DCIS to IDC, fourteen human primary DCIS and IDC samples were analyzed for SIM2s expression by immunohistochemistry. We have previously shown that SIM2s is localized in the nuclei of human breast and mouse mammary ductal epithelial cells (Kwak et al., 2007; Laffin et al., 2008), and similar punctate staining was observed in normal ductal structures surrounding the tumors analyzed (Figure 19 A). In these studies, we found that SIM2s expression is prominent in both the nucleus and cytoplasm in over 75% of DCIS samples (Figure 19 B), suggesting a loss in localization at the onset of progression. In contrast, as DCIS progresses to IDC, SIM2s staining is dramatically down-regulated with no evidence of nuclear expression in over 80% of IDC samples (Figure 19 C), supporting a role for loss of SIM2s in breast cancer progression.



Figure 19. SIM2s Expression is Progressively Lost in Human Ductal Carcinoma In Situ (DCIS) Transition to Invasive Ductal Cancer (IDC). A – Human Normal-like tissue, B – Human DCIS, C – Human IDC. Top Row – H&E staining of Normal, DCIS, and IDC samples. Bottom Rows - SIM2s immunohistochemistry of Normal, DCIS and IDC samples. Normal-like structures show clean, punctate nuclear staining. DCIS samples show nuclear and cytoplasmic SIM2s staining in over 75% of samples, and this expression is lost in over 80% of IDC samples. Images were taken at 10x and 40x objective (6.3x and 25.2x), scale bars represent 100µm. Images are representative of all samples. An n=14 was used for each tumor classification (DCIS and IDC).

Re-establishment of SIM2s in the MCF10.DCIS.com Cell Line Induces Genetic and

Morphologic Changes In Vitro

MCF10DCIS.COM cells are a unique human breast cancer cell line which form DCIS-

like lesions in *in vivo* mouse models, similar to primary human DCIS lesions, and spontaneously

progress to invasive cancer (Tait et al., 2007). In addition, MCF10DCIS.COM cells are

thought to contain a bipotent progenitor population that generate both myoepithelial and luminal

cells, mimicking the heterogeneity observed in human DCIS tumors (Behbod et al., 2009; Hu et al., 2008). Quantitative real-time PCR (Q-PCR) analysis of SIM2s levels showed that SIM2s is significantly down-regulated in MCF10DCIS.COM cells compared to parent MCF10A cells, however, SIM2s levels are still higher in MCF10DCIS.COM cells than levels found in luminal MCF7 and basal MDA.MB.231 cell lines, suggesting that SIM2s expression is lost with progression (Figure 20 A). To determine the effect of *SIM2s* loss and gain of function, we stably transduced MCF10DCIS.COM cells with SIM2s and previously validated SIM2s-shRNA (SIM2si) lentiviruses (Gustafson et al., 2009b; Laffin et al., 2008). SIM2s levels and localization were confirmed using Q-PCR and immunofluorescence (Figure 20 B, C, & D) (Figure 21). Q-PCR analysis of SIM2s mRNA levels show an approximate 80% loss of expression in SIM2si cells compared to scrambled controls (Figure 20 D). In growth assays, SIM2s inhibited cell proliferation, whereas loss of SIM2s led to a significant increase in proliferation as compared to scrambled controls (Figure 20 E). We observed no change in invasive potential with SIM2s over-expression in Boyden chamber assays; however, there was a significant increase in invasion in the SIM2si cells (Figure 20 F). Q-PCR analysis also showed a significant increase in E-Cadherin (CDH1) expression with SIM2s expression, as well as a decrease with SIM2si (Figure 20 G). Similarly, p21, an important senescence and cell cycle regulator, was also significantly altered in response to SIM2s (Figure 20 H).



Figure 20. Analysis of MCF10DCIS Cell Transductions In Vitro Show Changes in Proliferation, Invasion, and Differentiation Markers.A – Q-PCR analysis of *SIM2s* mRNA levels in MCF10DCIS.COM and parent MCF10A cells, as well as commonly used breast cancer cell lines MCF7 and MDA.MB.231.

B, C - Immunofluorescent staining of SIM2s to confirm nuclear SIM2s overexpression. D – Q-PCR analysis of *SIM2s* in the MCF10DCIS.com cell line confirming an approximate 80% loss of expression in adhered *SIM2si* cells. E – Proliferation assays confirm that *SIM2s* expression inhibits breast cancer cell proliferation, while loss of *SIM2s* increases growth. The values shown are the mean \pm SE of triplicate samples. F - Boyden chamber invasion assay shows significantly more *SIM2si* cells were able to invade and migrate compared to controls. Values are the average number of cells per five fields per membrane of three separate plates. G & H - Q-PCR analysis of differentiation markers CDH1 and p21. * = p-value < .05.



Figure 21. Channel Images of the SIM2s Fluorescence Previously Shown (Figure 20). Adhered cells were stained with SIM2s (green) and DAPI (blue). Images were taken using a 40x objective (25.2x).

In Vivo Analysis of Transduced MCF10DCIS.com Cell Xenografts Show Changes in Growth and Morphology

Similar to the *in vitro* results, we found that *SIM2s* xenograft tumors grew significantly slower than controls (Figure 22 A & B). In contrast to our *in vitro* observations, we were surprised to find that down-regulation of SIM2s led to a decreased trend in tumor size and weight as compared to scrambled controls; however statistical significance was not obtained (Figure 22 A & B). To determine if *SIM2s* expression affected changes in tumor morphology, we analyzed H&E sections from *SIM2s* and *SIM2si* tumors. Histological analysis confirmed a distinct phenotypic differences with SIM2s expression (Figure 22 D): SIM2s tumors had a more differentiated phenotype including lobular-like structures with intact myoepithelial layers whereas SIM2si tumors, despite growing at a slower rate, were more invasive and had large necrotic areas as compared to scrambled controls (Figure 22 D, invasion shown by arrows). These observations are similar to previous studies that found no correlation between MCF10DCIS.COM growth *in vivo* and invasive potential and support the hypothesis that SIM2s inhibits DCIS progression by promoting and maintaining a luminal phenotype (Behbod et al., 2009; Hu et al., 2008; Shekhar et al., 2008). Immunohistological analysis of tumors confirmed that SIM2s and SIM2si tumors continued to overexpress or knock down SIM2s protein levels in vivo (Figure 22 E). Q-PCR analysis of SIM2s levels confirmed an approximate 50% knockdown of SIM2s expression in SIM2si xenografts (Figure 22 C).



Figure 22. Differential SIM2s Expression Regulates Growth In Vivo. A & B – Analysis of xenograft tumor growth and mass shows that over-expression and loss of SIM2s expression inhibits xenograft growth. C – Q-PCR analysis of SIM2s mRNA expression in SIM2si tumors shows an approximate 50% loss of expression in vivo. D – H&E histological analysis shows that SIM2s expressing tumors exhibit smaller, more lobulo-like structures throughout the tumor, with less necrosis and inflammation. Images were taken using a 5x objective (5x) 10x objective (6.3x) and a 40x objective (25.2x). Scale bars represent 100μm. Arrows indicate areas of invasion. D – Histological analysis of SIM2s expression in xenografts confirms SIM2s overexpression and loss of expression. Images were taken using a 40x objective (25.2x). Scale bars represent 100μm. * = p-value < .05.</p>

SIM2s Inhibits Expression of Basal Breast Cancer Markers

We have previously established that SIM2s is a negative regulator of EMT and promotes mammary gland differentiation *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Kwak et al., 2007; Scribner et al., 2011; Wellberg et al., 2010). To determine if the morphological changes associated with *SIM2s* expression in MCF10DCIS.COM xenografts are similar to our previous gain and loss of function studies in the mouse mammary gland, we examined basal markers involved in breast cancer progression and EMT via Q-PCR and immunohistochemical analysis. Immunostaining for basal markers including keratin 14 (KER14), alpha-smooth muscle actin (SMA), vimentin (VIM) and p63 show a decrease in staining in *SIM2s* over-expressing MCF10DCIS.COM tumors, and up-regulation with loss of *SIM2s* (Figure 23 A, B, C, & D). Moreover, indicative of enhanced tumor aggressiveness and progression, we observed an increase in co-localization of KER5 and VIM in *SIM2si* tumors (Figure 23 E, Figure 24). Further analysis of EMT and basal markers, including the EMT transcription factor, *SLUG*, which we have previously shown is directly regulated and suppressed by SIM2s, was significantly decreased in *SIM2s* tumors along with *SMA* and *p63* (Figure 23 F, G, & I). These results are consistent with SIM2s's role in mammary gland differentiation as p63, SMO and SLUG regulate cell differentiation and stem cell maintenance, which suggests that re-establishment of *SIM2s* is sufficient to promote a decrease in basal breast cancer markers (de Biase et al., 2010; Du et al., 2010; Dubois-Marshall et al., 2011; Kallergi et al., 2011; Moraes et al., 2007; Visbal et al., 2011; Yalcin-Ozuysal et al., 2010). Analysis of *p21* mRNA levels also showed a decrease in *SIM2si* xenografts, similar to what was seen *in vitro* (Figure 23 H). p21 is an important cell cycle regulator and is involved in the p53 stress response pathway as well as senescence (Bond et al., 1996; Malkin et al., 1990; Zuo et al., 2012).



Figure 23. SIM2s Decreases Markers Associated with Basal Breast Cancer in MCF10DCIS.COM Xenografts.A, B, C, & D – Immunohistochemical staining for basal markers including KER14, SMA, VIM, and p63. Images were taken using a 40x objective (25.2x). Scale bars represent 100μm. E – KER5/VIM immunofluorescence shows increased overlap of KER5 and VIM in SIM2si xenografts, which is associated with enhanced invasive potential and aggressiveness. F, G, H, & I – Q-PCR analysis of basal markers SLUG, SMA, and p63, as well as cell cycle regulator p21. * = p-value < .05.</p>



Figure 24. Channel Images of the KER5/VIM Fluorescence Previously Shown (Figure 23). Tumors were stained with KER5 (green), VIM (red), and DAPI (blue). Images were taken using a 40x objective (25.2x).

SIM2s Promotes Expression of Luminal Markers

To determine whether differential expression of SIM2s regulates prominent luminal markers in DCIS xenografts, we evaluated the expression of E-cadherin (CDH1), keratin-18 (KER18), and Mucin-1 (MUC1). Immunostaining results for CDH1 showed increased trends and localization to the cellular membrane in the SIM2s over-expressing tumors, and a decrease in localized staining with SIM2si tumors (Figure 25 A). Interestingly, Q-PCR analysis of CDH1 showed no significant changes with SIM2s overexpression; however SIM2si tumors had significantly lower levels of *CDH1* mRNA compared to controls (Figure 25 D). Analysis of keratin 18 (KER18) showed a significant positive relationship with SIM2s expression; KER18 protein and mRNA levels were elevated in SIM2s tumors and protein appeared decreased with loss of SIM2s (Figure 25 B & E). MUC1, an apical luminal marker that is often mis-localized in cancer, showed an increase in apical staining in SIM2s xenografts, while a loss of localization is seen in SIM2si tumors (Figure 25 C). In addition, we also examined changes in the transcription factor GATA3, a prognostic factor associated with positive breast cancer outcome and regulator of breast tumor cell differentiation (Asselin-Labat et al., 2007; Kouros-Mehr et al., 2006). Analysis of GATA3 mRNA expression showed no differences in with SIM2s expression, indicating that the differentiation phenotype associated with SIM2s expression appears to be GATA3 independent in this model (Figure 25 G). To determine whether SIM2s tumors undergo partial lactogenic differentiation, we also examined the expression of the milk protein β-casein (CSN2). Immunostaining for β -case in in *SIM2s* tumors not only showed increased protein expression over controls, but also secretory globule formation indicative of milk protein expression as seen in the lactating mammary gland (Figure 25 H, arrows) and a distinct trend in CSN2 mRNA gene expression in SIM2s tumors (Figure 25 F & H). Overall these data support

the hypothesis that expression of *SIM2s* induces a luminal phenotype, including expression of milk proteins, while loss of *SIM2s* significantly decreases the expression of luminal markers.



Figure 25. SIM2s Xenografts Have Increased Levels of Luminal Markers and Express β-Casein. A, B, & C –Re-establishment of SIM2s promotes apical localization of CDH1 and increased KER18 expression, while SIM2s loss results in a decrease in expression. SIM2s expression also promotes apical expression of luminal marker MUC-1, whereas loss of SIM2s causes a loss of localization. D, E, F, & G – Q-PCR analysis of luminal markers CDH1, KER18, CSN2, and GATA3. H – Immunohistochemical analysis for CSN2 shows elevated levels in SIM2s tumors (see arrows). Images were taken using a 40x objective (25.2x) and 63x objective (63x). Scale bars of images represent 100µm. * = p-value < .05.</p>

Angiogenesis and Metastasis Are Inhibited by SIM2s

We have shown that gain and loss of SIM2s expression in MCF10DCIS.COM correlates with phenotypic changes in invasive behavior and expression of luminal and basal differentiation markers. To investigate if these phenotypic differences affect cancer progression and metastasis, we analyzed lungs from tumor bearing mice for vimentin (VIM), which is expressed in MCF10DCIS.COM cells, but not in normal lung tissue (McDaniel et al., 2006). The results showed positive VIM staining in lungs from control and scrambled tumors; however, we did not detect VIM expression in lungs from mice with SIM2s-expressing tumors (Figure 26 A & C). To confirm *SIM2s*-dependent changes in progression, we performed Q-PCR analysis for human specific β -2-globulin (β 2M) gene expression in mouse lungs, which has been previously shown as an indicator of human cells in mouse lung tissues either due to metastasis or circulating tumor cells (McDaniel et al., 2006). While moderate levels of $\beta 2M$ expression were observed in control tissues, we did not detect $\beta 2M$ expression in lung tissue from mice with SIM2s overexpressing tumors (Figure 26 B). In contrast, the majority of the lungs from mice with SIM2si tumors had high levels of $\beta 2M$ expression (Figure 26 B). Consistent with differences in metastatic potential and SIM2s expression, we observed a decrease in angiogenesis in SIM2s tumors compared to controls (Figure 26 D and E) Interestingly, this difference is seen without taking into account the drastic change in tumor size (Figure 26 E). In contrast, no significant change in angiogenesis was seen with loss of SIM2s, indicating that the increase in metastasis is due to other metastatic processes.



Figure 26. SIM2s Inhibits Metastasis and Alters Angiogenesis. A – Immunohistochemical analysis of lung tissue for vimentin (VIM) positive micrometastases showed decreased staining in SIM2s tumors, whereas loss of SIM2s enhanced lung metastasis. Images were taken with a 40x objective (25.2x). B – Q-PCR analysis for human β-2-Globulin as an indicator of lung metastasis confirmed the effect of SIM2s on metastasis with a decreased in β-2-Globulin expression in SIM2s tumors and increased expression with loss of SIM2s. Data is shown as the number of β-2G positive samples out of the total number of samples analyzed. C – Increased magnification (63x) of VIM staining to indicate the presence of vimentin positive cells in Scrambled controls and SIM2si tumors. D – Immunostaining for CD31 expression showed that

SIM2s tumors have smaller blood vessels that remained on the outer perimeter of the tumors, whereas SIM2si tumors had an increased trend in angiogenesis. E - Quantification of CD31 staining by measuring blood vessel length confirms trends seen with CD31 immunohistochemistry. Images were taken using a 10x objective (6.3x) and a 40x objective (25.2x). Scale bars in images represent 100µm. *= p-value < .05

SIM2s-dependent Regulation of Matrix Metalloproteinase and Hedgehog Signaling

We have previously shown cell type specific SIM2s-dependent regulation of matrix metalloproteinase (MMP). These studies found SIM2s binds to the *MMP3* promoter and inhibits *MMP3* expression in MDA.MB.435 cells (Kwak et al., 2007), while *MMP2* expression is increased in MCF7-*SIM2si* cells and mouse *Sim2s* knockout mammary glands (Laffin et al., 2008). Using Q-PCR, we examined *MMP* gene expression in *SIM2s* over and under-expressing tumors (Figure 27). The results show that *SIM2s* xenografts have decreased *MMP* expression, whereas *SIM2si* tumors have increased *MMP* levels (Figure 27 A, B, C, & D). In addition, the hedgehog signaling pathway has been shown to be overexpressed in breast cancer and play a role in proliferation and differentiation (Moraes et al., 2007; Visbal et al., 2011). Analysis of Indian Hedgehog (*iHH*) and *SMO* by Q-PCR showed a drastic increase in *iHH* and *SMO* mRNA levels with loss of *SIM2s* (Figure 27 E & F).



Figure 27. Loss of SIM2s Increases Tumor Invasiveness through MMP Expression and Hedgehog Signaling. A, B, C & D – Q-PCR analysis of various MMPs showing a decrease in expression with SIM2s tumors and an increase in SIM2si tumors, a likely mechanism for increased tumor invasiveness and metastasis. E & F – Q-PCR analysis of Indian Hedgehog (IHH) and Smoothened (SMO) show elevated levels of expression in SIM2si tumors. * - p-value < .05.</p>

Discussion

There is significant evidence that relates the differentiation status of a tumor with its metastatic potential (Bloom and Richardson, 1957; Liu et al., 2007; van 't Veer et al., 2002). Analysis of luminal markers by microarray analysis and immunohistochemistry have confirmed that loss of epithelial characteristics correlates with an increase in cancer progression (Perou et al., 2000; Sorlie et al., 2001; West et al., 2001; Zajchowski et al., 2001). Though pathways have been identified that promote differentiation, few molecules have been identified that maintain and enhance differentiation potential. We have previously shown that SIM2s is a negative regulator of EMT in normal breast, breast cancer cell lines and the mouse mammary gland by suppressing SLUG and MMP2 gene transcription (Kwak et al., 2007; Laffin et al., 2008). In contrast, overexpression of Sim2s in the mouse mammary gland under the MMTV promoter induces precocious lactogenic differentiation in virgin mice and delayed involution following forced weaning (Scribner et al., 2011; Wellberg et al., 2010). Together, these observations led us to hypothesize that expression of *SIM2s* in breast cancer would inhibit tumor growth by regulating differentiation potential. We report here that SIM2s expression is lost in human DCIS progression to invasive breast cancer and, utilizing the MCF10DCIS.com progression model, we demonstrate that re-establishment of *SIM2s* promotes a more luminal-like phenotype, whereas down-regulation of SIM2s leads to an increase in invasive potential. These new data support a role for SIM2s in regulating epithelial identity and a potential novel molecular target for differentiation therapy.

At the onset of xenograft studies, as expected we observed that tumors over-expressing *SIM2s* grew at a slower rate, as compared to controls, with lower amounts of necrosis. Surprisingly, we found that *SIM2si* tumors exhibited a decreased trend in growth compared to scrambled controls. However, upon histological analysis, we observed a more invasive phenotype and large necrotic areas in the SIM2si tumors. In comedo DCIS, necrotic centers have been implicated as a more rapidly progressing DCIS with a worse prognosis compared to DCIS lacking necrosis (Shekhar et al., 2008). Further analysis of luminal and basal-like breast cancer markers showed distinct trends regarding SIM2s gain and loss of function. We observed that basal markers were inhibited in SIM2s tumors, with upward trends occurring in SIM2si tumors. Conversely, when examining luminal markers, we found an increase either in the appropriate localization (CDH1 and MUC1) or increased expression with SIM2s tumors and a loss of localization and expression with SIM2si. Another unique expression pattern was the presence of α SMA in the SIM2s over-expressing tumors. We anticipated that re-establishment of SIM2s in MCF10DCIS.COM cells would inhibit the bipotent progenitor capabilities of the cell line, and thus prevent the development of a myoepithelial layer *in vivo*. Surprisingly, however, SIM2s did not affect the bipotent progenitor ability. The significant decrease in SMA mRNA expression seen in SIM2s tumors could possibly be due to the smaller size of the tumors and lobular units rather than a biologically significant change in SMA expression. Finally, the expression of CSN2 in SIM2s tumors further indicates that not only does re-establishment of *SIM2s* maintain epithelial integrity, but also promotes functional differentiation.

Recent studies have identified a number of transcription factor cascades that control key events in regulating mammary epithelial differentiation including GATA3, ELF5, NOTCH and C/EBPβ (Asselin-Labat et al., 2007; Grimm and Rosen, 2003; Politi et al., 2004; Zhou et al., 2005a). For instance, analysis of *Gata3* conditional knockout mammary glands found an increase in luminal progenitor cells during alveolar differentiation and a defect in virgin ductal morphogenesis as a result of compromised estrogen responsiveness (Kouros-Mehr et al., 2006), whereas loss of *Elf5* has no effect on virgin development and exclusively regulates alveolar cell fate (Oakes et al., 2006). Although these factors play key roles in promoting differentiation along the luminal lineage, it begs the question: what maintains mammary ductal epithelial cells in a differentiated state and keeps them from de-differentiating and acquiring stem cell characteristics? It can be hypothesized that this/these factor(s) may target pathways regulating tumor initiating cell self-renewal by blocking induction of EMT and maintaining epithelial integrity. Interestingly, studies with GATA3 have shown that while overexpression is sufficient to promote epithelial differentiation, forced loss of *GATA3* is not tolerated (Asselin-Labat et al., 2007). With *SIM2s* we observed that while overexpression is sufficient to induce differentiation, loss of expression promotes malignant transformation. Moreover, the lack of change in *GATA3* in the *SIM2s* tumors, which has been shown to promote differentiation and inhibit breast cancer growth and metastasis, indicates that SIM2s is operating independently of GATA3. This has significant implications for our understanding of normal mammary development and breast cancer progression by introducing a novel pathway that may play a role in maintaining tumor initiating cells or in promoting functional differentiation.

One of the most interesting phenotypes of this study was the dramatic increase in lung metastasis with loss of *SIM2s*. MMPs have long been attributed as playing a key role in breast cancer invasion and (Ioachim et al., 1998; Liu et al., 2012; Mendes et al., 2005; Pellikainen et al., 2004; Walsh et al., 2012) are integral to the degradation of the basement membrane during normal biology functions including mammary gland involution and lobular development (Ioachim et al., 1998; Kessenbrock et al., 2010; Schedin et al., 2004; Scribner et al., 2011; Sims et al., 2011; Sternlicht et al., 1999; Wang et al., 2011; Witty et al., 1995). Previous work in our lab has shown that SIM2s differentially regulates *MMP2* and *MMP3* gene expression (Kwak et al., 2007; Laffin et al., 2008). In the study here, we observed a *SIM2s*-dependent regulation of *MMP* gene expression in *SIM2s* over and under-expressing DCIS xenografts. We showed that *MMP1* and *MMP10* were significantly decreased by *SIM2s* expression, whereas *MMP3* was

significantly increased by loss of *SIM2s*, accompanied by increased trends in other MMPs analyzed. This data indicates that a likely mechanism for SIM2s' effect on metastasis may be through a global regulation of MMPs in a complex and varied manner. Hedgehog signaling has also been implicated in breast cancer progression and invasion as well as the maintenance of cancer stem cells (Kasper et al., 2009; Kasperczyk et al., 2009; Moraes et al., 2007; Visbal et al., 2011). In our study the decrease in *SMO* expression in *SIM2s* tumors is unique since *SMO* upregulation in tumors causes a phenotype similar to that seen in *SIM2si* tumors and *Sim2s* knockout mammary glands, including increased proliferation and altered differentiation, possibly indicating interaction between these genes (Moraes et al., 2007). Studies in gastric and ovarian cancer have also connected hedgehog signaling with invasion and *MMP* expression (Liao et al., 2009; Yoo et al., 2011), suggesting a potential mechanism of action by which SIM2s inhibits invasion and metastasis *in vivo*.

These observations provide a possible mechanism for the promotion of tumor differentiation through re-establishment of *SIM2s*, as well as possible roles for SIM2s in breast cancer progression. Determining what point of the metastatic cascade that SIM2s functions will be key in understanding SIM2s' role in breast cancer progression. Moreover, the use of established metastatic models and the impact of SIM2s on breast cancer subtypes will help elucidate the mechanism by which SIM2s affects tumor progression as well as its possible effect on tumor initiating cells. Together, these results suggest that SIM2s has the potential to be a novel target for differentiation therapy by inhibiting or reversing breast cancer progression.

CHAPTER V

MANUSCRIPT 3: SIM2S INHIBITS DCIS BREAST CANCER PROGRESSION BY REGULATING SENESCENCE-DEPENDENT METABOLIC EQUILIBRIUM

Synopsis

Dysregulation of cellular metabolism is a defining hallmark of breast cancer progression and is associated with metastasis and therapeutic resistance. However, there is a gap in our understanding of the mechanisms by which cells undergo the switch from respiration to glycolysis and its impact on tumorigenesis. Here, we show that the bHLH/PAS transcription factor Singleminded-2s (SIM2s) inhibits ductal carcinoma in situ (DCIS) to invasive ductal carcinoma (IDC) progression by regulating metabolic homeostasis and cell senescence. We found that SIM2s promotes oxidative phosphorylation and inhibits aerobic glycolysis through direct up-regulation of CDKN1A gene expression. These findings suggest that SIM2s is a tumor suppressor that blocks DCIS progression by regulating the equilibrium between glycolysis and senescence.

Introduction

Ductal Carcinoma in situ (DCIS) are a heterogeneous group of diseases that are characterized by a neoplastic mammary lesion that is confined to the ductal-lobular system of the breast (Cocker et al., 2007; Polyak, 2010; Porter et al., 2003; Tait et al., 2007). Due to improved detection methods, the diagnosis of DCIS has risen from less than 1% of diagnosed breast cancers to 15-25% (Jones, 2006; Norton et al., 2010). Studies have yet to find reliable
biomarkers that dictate the progression of DCIS to invasive ductal carcinoma (IDC).

Pathological markers such as nuclear grade, comedo necrosis, and size have been associated with increased risk of DCIS progression; however these features are confounded when addressing treatment and follow-up (Fujii et al., 1996; Gur, 2010; Liao et al., 2011; Nofech-Mozes et al., 2008; Shekhar et al., 2008). Many confirmed oncogenes and tumor suppressors such as PTEN, ERBB2, and MYC have been analyzed in DCIS and IDC samples; all showing no clear change with progression (Behling et al., 2011; de Biase et al., 2010; Lu et al., 2009; Miron et al., 2010; Rajan et al., 1997; Schmidt et al., 2010; Yao et al., 2006). Emerging evidence indicates that response to metabolic stress and hypoxia promotes the progression of DCIS to IDC (Hu et al., 2008; Lee et al., 2012; Schmidt et al., 2010). First described by Otto Warburg, tumor cells preferentially utilize glycolytic pathways for energy generation while down-regulating oxidative phosphorylation, even in the presence of abundant oxygen (Cairns et al., 2011b; Warburg, 1956a). This metabolic shift is driven by the tumor cells' need to meet increased metabolic demands for proliferation and survive insults to mitochondrial respiration (Bensinger and Christofk, 2012; Dang, 2012; Warburg, 1956a; Yeung et al., 2008). Increased glycolysis provides tumors with a selective growth advantage by supplying ATP and the precursors required for nucleotide, amino acid and lipid biosynthesis. Previous work has shown that altered metabolism in breast cancer is associated with increased tumor progression and therapeutic resistance, supporting a role for alterations in metabolism in malignant transformation (Gambhir, 2002; Gatenby and Gillies, 2004; Hama and Nakagawa, 2010; Jones and Thompson, 2009; Kroemer and Pouyssegur, 2008; Tennant et al., 2010).

Tumor cell metabolism is dependent upon the convergence of oncogenic and tumor suppressor pathways to support growth and survival (Levine and Puzio-Kuter, 2010; Yeung et al., 2008). The p53 and hypoxia inducible factor-1 alpha (HIF1α) pathways play a major role in metabolic adaptation since selective loss of p53 and activation of HIF1 α promote a metabolic switch. p53 has been implicated in metabolic control by influencing the balance between glycolysis and oxidative phosphorylation through inhibition of glucose transporters and promoting mitochondrial respiration (Madan et al., 2011; Yeung et al., 2008; Zawacka-Pankau et al., 2011). A major role of p53 is the promotion of cellular senescence, which is a major barrier to breast cancer progression (Kuilman et al., 2010; Peeper, 2010; Smit and Peeper, 2010). Senescent cells remain metabolically active yet fail to proliferate, and induction of senescence through chemotherapy or early oncogenic induction is considered inhibitory to tumor progression (Schmitt et al., 2002; te Poele et al., 2002). While past work has indicated an intricate relationship between AMP, glycogen consumption, and senescence; little research has been done to define the potential role of senescence in tumor progression through mediation of metabolism (Favaro et al., 2012; Kim et al., 2010; Zwerschke et al., 2003).

We have previously shown that the bHLH/PAS transcription factor Singleminded-2s (SIM2s) plays an important role in normal mammary gland development and tumor differentiation (Gustafson et al., 2009b; Kwak et al., 2007; Laffin et al., 2008; Metz et al., 2006; Scribner et al., 2012; Scribner et al., 2011; Wellberg et al., 2010). SIM2s expression is lost in primary breast tumors compared to normal mammary glands (Kwak et al., 2007; Scribner et al., 2012) and loss of *SIM2s* expression is associated with an epithelial mesenchymal transition (EMT), both in normal mammary glands and breast cancer cell lines, using multiple shRNA constructs. Re-establishment of *SIM2s* in breast cancer cell lines and xenografts inhibits growth and metastasis, while promoting luminal gene and milk protein expression (Kwak et al., 2007; Scribner et al., 2007; Scribner et al., 2012). Enhanced *Sim2s* expression in the mouse mammary promotes lactogenic differentiation and delays involution (Scribner et al., 2011; Wellberg et al., 2010). The expression of beta casein milk protein expression in *SIM2s* expressing tumors and the normal

expression of *SIM2s* during lactation indicates a role for *SIM2s* in mediating the metabolic demands of the mammary gland during lactation. The loss of *SIM2s* expression with breast tumor progression and EMT prompted us to examine the potential role of *SIM2s* in early DCIS progression in regards to cellular metabolism and the Warburg effect.

Results

SIM2s Expression Correlates with Early Stage DCIS and Luminal Breast Cancer

To confirm SIM2s expression with breast cancer progression, we analyzed normal breast, DCIS and IDC for differences in SIM2s by IHC. Tumor microarrays were stained for H&E, SIM2s, GLUT1, and HK2 (Figure 28 A). The results show that SIM2s expression is high and nucleic in normal tissue, but decreases and begins to translocate to the cytoplasm in DCIS, and is lost in IDC, verifying previous work (Scribner et al., 2012). Statistical analysis of SIM2s staining shows a significant correlation between SIM2s expression and the state of breast disease (Normal, DCIS, or IDC) (Figure 28 B). GLUT1 and HK2 expression increased with tumor progression, indicative of the increased aerobic glycolysis, confirming previous work showing a glycolytic shift with tumor progression (Schmidt et al., 2010; Vander Heiden et al., 2010; Young et al., 2011) (Figure 28 A).

We performed further analysis for correlations within DCIS and SIM2s. SIM2s expression significantly correlated with estrogen and progesterone receptor expression in DCIS samples, but not HER2, indicating a significant relationship between SIM2s and luminal stage breast cancer (Figure 28 C). SIM2s expression was also significantly aligned with p53 expression and inversely related to Ki67 expression in DCIS samples (Figure 28C). Importantly, loss of SIM2s in DCIS correlated with increased microinvasion and metastasis, supporting a role for SIM2s in breast cancer progression (Figure 28 D).

Α	Norm	al			2		<u> </u>	C						
22	(DAT	al 200	12		Charles and				Biomarkers					
20	area of	-	Es Ca	Stand Stand	117			Variable	Variablo	Sim2s		Tost Homor	onoity	
ш	400 S		A	-					Valiable	Positive	Negative	Test homog	sherty	
H 8			5						ER				p-val	
			Dal	Fine		Contraction of the			Positive	5	6	Likelihood Ratio	0.0197*	
		19三音	300		all F	H			Negative	0	6	Pearson	0.0493*	
1 in	0 -		S.I.	-					PR				p-val	
4	1905.0	D. A.A.	T.	AR PARTY	P.C.S	3	All all		Positive	5	4	Likelihood Ratio	0.0041 *	
A2s						S. S. S.			Negative	0	8	Pearson	0.0121 *	
SIN	100		1 1 to	Jaco	0				HER2				p- <i>val</i>	
C. S.	10000 TX	100	A State	Contraction of the	H				High	1	7	Likelihood Ratio	0.1377	
	1900			A			1. Al		Normal	4	5	Pearson	0.1491	
E	N. Ser	0.12	rk.				C		p53				p-val	
			a a		1 Contraction	Final			Positive	0	7	Likelihood Ratio	0.0095*	
O					-				Negative	5	5	Pearson	0.026*	
0	11.10	Side.			100	Store C	APR NOT		Ki67				p-val	
3	14 46 3	No.	all a	-	1.1	S 314 100 US	10.5		Positive	1	10	Likelihood Ratio	0.0124 *	
2		74.0				1214122	1.4		Negative	4	2	Pearson	0.0128*	
Ť	É)				
Arth.									Metastasis					
P						the state		Variable	Sim2s		Test Homogeneity			
P								⊢		Positive	Negative	0		
Breas	t Cancer	SI	M2s exp	pression	1	Test of Llemenseits			Invasion				p-val	
Тупе		Nuclear	Both	Cuto	None	Test of Homo	jeneity		Positive	1	9	Likelihood Ratio	0.0079	
	л»	. noroca	Dom	0,10	.1010				Negative	6	3	Pearson	0.0106	
No	rmal	17	3	0	5		p•val		Motostanic				n vol	
	CIS	1	6	7	5	Likelihood Ratio	6.17E-07 *		Positivo	0	4	Likelihood Petie	p-vai	
	DC	0	1	5	4	Pearson	2 02E-05 *		Nogativo	0	4	Likelinoou Hatio	0.0386	
	00	v		0	4	i caisoli	LULL-UU		negative	/	0	rearson	0.0600	

Figure 28. SIM2s Expression Correlates with DCIS and Luminal Breast Cancer. (A) Immunostaining of human normal, DCIS, and IDC samples for H&E, SIM2s, GLUT1, and HK2. Samples were imaged at 25.2x. (B) Statistical analysis of breast type with SIM2s expression. Tissue microarrays were analyzed using categorical analysis comparing SIM2s staining versus the type of tissue (C) Statistical Analysis of DCIS specific pathology reports (n=17). Common biomarkers ER, PR, HER2, p53, and Ki67 were categorically analyzed compared to binomial SIM2s staining (nucleic/both = positive, cytoplasmic/none = negative). (D) Prognosis of micro invasion and/or metastasis was compared with binomial SIM2s staining. Likelihood Ratio and Pearson Chi Squared tests were performed to test correlations. *=p-value

<.05. Scale bars = 100 μ m.

Loss of and Re-establishment of SIM2s Modulates Metabolic Shifts in Breast Cancer Cells

We have shown that loss of *SIM2s* in MCF7 and MCF10A cells and the mouse mammary gland induces an EMT (Laffin et al., 2008). These experiments analyzed multiple SIM2s targeting shRNA constructs to verify the effect of SIM2s knockdown in MCF7 and MCF10A cells. Potential downstream targets were identified by microarray analysis of MCF7 SIM2si cells using Ingenuity Pathway Analysis. Pathways critical to tumor metabolism and cellular function, as well as canonical pathways including p53 signaling, mitochondrial dysfunction, and oxidative stress were altered with loss of SIM2s (Figure 29 A). These results correlated with our observation that MCF7 SIM2si cells rapidly acidify their media compared to controls, indicative of enhanced glycolytic activity and lactate production (Figure 29 B). To determine if the MCF7-SIM2si cells had undergone a metabolic shift, we analyzed media from control and MCF7-SIM2si cells by ¹H nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR). MCF7 SIM2si cells significantly increased glucose consumption and lactate production under normal culture conditions (Figure 29 B). Metabolic flux was determined by measuring changes in oxygen consumption rates (OCR) and extracellular acidification rates (ECAR) using a Seahorse XF-24 extracellular flux analyzer. These results confirmed that the basal respiration rate in SIM2si cells was significantly lower than controls, whereas there was an increased trend in ECAR (Figure 29 B). Surprisingly, MCF7 SIM2si cells did not respond to mitochondrial drugs oligomycin (ATP

Synthase inhibitor), rotenone (Complex I inhibitor), and FCCP (electron transport uncoupler), indicating that the mitochondria are almost completely inert (Figure 29 B). Together, these data support a role for SIM2s in energy homeostasis.

To further determine the effect of SIM2s on tumor metabolism, we analyzed *SIM2s* gain and loss of expression using basal p53 mutant SUM159 cells and MCF10DCIS.com cells (referred to hereafter as DCIS), which are an early stage cell line derived from MCF10A cells that mimics the natural progression of DCIS to IDC *in vivo* (Miller et al., 2000). Over-expression of *SIM2s* in SUM159 cells caused a significant loss in lactate production along with a decreased trend in glucose consumption. However, we found that DCIS *SIM2s* cells showed significantly higher glucose consumption, with no change in lactate – indicating that glucose consumption was being shunted to other pathways than lactate production (Figure 29 C).

For these initial studies, cells were grown in excess glucose under normal conditions (10mM-25mM), which according to the Crabtree effect, increases glycolysis while inhibiting reliance on oxidative phosphorylation (Crabtree, 1929). To determine if this glycolytic switch represented a homeostatic response to proliferation, we examined the ability of *SIM2s* over and under-expressing cells to turn to oxidative phosphorylation for energy provision upon nutrient starvation. In normal glucose containing media, we have shown that *SIM2si* cells proliferate more rapidly as compared to controls, whereas SIM2s inhibits proliferation (Gustafson et al., 2009b; Kwak et al., 2007; Laffin et al., 2008; Scribner et al., 2012). When we limited glycolysis and forced oxidative phosphorylation by either substituting galactose as an energy source or

under glucose starvation, we found that loss of *SIM2s* impaired adaptation to nutrient stress, whereas re-establishment of *SIM2s* promoted resistance to low glucose as compared to controls (Figure 29 D-F and Figure 30). This response is likely due to the *SIM2s* cells' ability to utilize their mitochondria more efficiently than control and *SIM2si* cells.

Further analysis of SUM159 *SIM2s* cells showed significantly higher levels of oxidative phosphorylation in both glucose concentrations, along with decreased ECAR rates (Figure 29 G). DCIS *SIM2s* cells also showed higher OCR rates in glucose rich media, but interestingly this significance was lost in low glucose. This is likely due to the control DCIS cells being able to mount a mitochondrial response to the stressed environment. DCIS *SIM2s* cells' ECAR rates were insignificant in glucose rich media, but were significantly decreased in low glucose. DCIS *SIM2si* cells showed similar trends to the MCF7 *SIM2si* cells, with decreased OCR and increased ECAR, varying with glucose levels (Figure 29 G). *SIM2s* expression thus has a significant effect on the metabolic adaptation of breast cancer cells, and this effect varies with breast cancer aggressiveness and progression.



Figure 29. Loss of and Re-establishment of SIM2s Modulates Metabolism in Breast Cancer Cells. (A) Microarray Analysis of MCF7 SIM2si cells shows that pathways common to cell cycle, metabolism, and oxidative phosphorylation are significantly affected by loss of SIM2s. (B) Enhanced media acidification

caused by MCF7 SIM2si cells. NMR analysis of % glucose remaining and mM lactate produced. Seahorse flux analysis of oxygen consumption rate (OCR) and extracellular acidification rate (ECAR) of MCF7 SIM2si cells, along with response graph showing OCR cellular response to oligomycin (points 4-6), FCCP (points 7-9), and rotenone (points 10-12). (C) NMR analysis of SUM159 and DCIS SIM2s cells for mM lactate produced and % glucose remaining. (D) Proliferation assays of MCF7, SUM159, and DCIS cells in decreasing concentrations of glucose. 10mM cell counts were set to 100%, and decreasing glucose cell counts are normalized to their respective 10mM control. (E) Images of MCF7, SUM159, and

DCIS cells in high and low glucose. Images were taken using a 20x objective lens. (F) Proliferation assays of MCF7, SUM159, and DCIS cells grown in normal media (10-25mM glucose) and galactose (10mM) containing media. (G) Seahorse flux analysis of SUM159 and DCIS cells in high and low glucose media. *=p-value<.05. Data are shown as mean + SEM. Scale bars = 100µm.



Figure 30. Proliferation Assays of MCF7, SUM159, and DCIS Cells in Galactose Containing Media. 10mM cell counts were set to 100%, and galactose cell counts are normalized as a percentage to their respective 10mM control. Student's T-test was performed to test correlations. *=p-value <.05. Data are shown as mean + SEM.

SIM2s Induces Intracellular Changes in Metabolic Constituents

To further address SIM2s dependent regulation of oxidative phosphorylation, we assessed various parameters of mitochondrial content in each cell type. Despite the significant differences in glycolysis, we found no change in mitochondrial membrane potential in *SIM2s* over and under-expressing cells (data not shown). When we measured mitochondrial and lysosome content using live cell imaging of cells labeled with MitoTracker and LysoTracker, we saw a significant increase in lysosomes with *SIM2s* over-expression in DCIS and SUM159 cells, and a decrease in MCF7-*SIM2si* cells. Similarly, we found an inverse relationship between *SIM2s* expression and mitochondrial content (Figure 31 A and 32 A-B). The observed increase in lysosomal activity accompanied with a decreased trend in mitochondria is likely due to enhanced mitophagy. Increased LC3B protein was seen with *SIM2s* expression in both SUM159 and DCIS cells and decreased in MCF7 *SIM2si* cells (Figure 32 B). To further

characterize the effect of SIM2s on mitochondria function, mitochondria morphology was examined by transmission electron microscopy. *SIM2s* expression correlated with shortened mitochondria, well-defined cristae and an electron-dense cytoplasm in DCIS cells, whereas loss of *SIM2s* resulted in elongated mitochondria and electron-lucent cytoplasm as compared to controls (Figure 31 B and Figure 32). In SUM159 cells, *SIM2s* expression also caused shortened mitochondria with well-defined cristae, however the cytoplasm was more electron-lucent than controls. Loss of *SIM2s* in MCF7 cells reduced mitochondria definition and cristae organization (Figure 31 B and Figure 32).

The endpoints of mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation are ATP and reactive oxygen species (ROS). Therefore using ATP-lite luminescence and DCFH fluorescent assays we analyzed cellular capacity for energy production with SIM2s expression. In DCIS cells, SIM2s expression was associated with significantly higher ATP and ROS levels, regardless of glucose conditions. In contrast, down-regulation of *SIM2s* in DCIS cells significantly decreased ROS levels under glucose rich conditions, and decreased ATP production in low glucose (Figure 31 C). MCF7 SIM2si cells showed significantly lower levels of ATP regardless of glucose levels, as well as decreased trends in ROS that reached statistical significance in low glucose media. SUM159 SIM2s cells also showed significantly decreased ATP levels, with no significant change in ROS (Figure 31 C). Cells were treated with 2-deoxy-glucose (2-DG), which blocks glycolysis, and the ATP synthase inhibitor, Oligomycin (Oligo). Inhibition of glycolysis by 2-DG had little effect on SIM2s related differences; however the decreased ATP seen in SIM2si DCIS cells was lost. Trends remained similar with ROS as well, although blocking glycolysis in MCF7 *SIM2si* cells significantly reversed their ROS expression in glucose rich media. Inhibition of ATPase also saw little effect on ATP trends, except for during stressed, low glucose conditions - then ATP levels were reversed - indicating that during low glucose conditions a

majority of ATP is from oxidative phosphorylation, supporting the Crabtree effect (Figure 31 C). Since all trends were not reversed by 2-DG or oligomycin, it appears there is a complex balance between oxidative phosphorylation and glycolysis that is constantly adapting to the environment. These results also indicate that *SIM2s* plays an important role in the cells' ability to adapt to nutrient changes in the environment.

Key Glycolytic Enzymes Are Inhibited by SIM2s Expression

Tumor metabolism is dependent on the convergence of numerous signaling cascades and transcription factors. Minor changes in key pathways can have a significant impact on metabolic homeostasis (Figure 33 A). Analysis of key metabolic genes by qPCR in DCIS and SUM159 cells found that *SIM2s* expression correlated with significant decreases in glycolytic genes including *HK1* and *HK2*, as well as glucose transporters *SLC2A1*, *SLC2A3*, and *SLC2A4* (Figure 33 B). DCIS *SIM2si* cells showed a significant increase in *SLC2A3* and *HK1*, and increased trends in *SLC2A* and *HK2* gene expression. Similar trends were also observed in MCF7 *SIM2si* cells (Figure 34). Additionally, we saw no distinct trends with pentose phosphate pathway Glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase (*G6PD*), but did see significant decreases in lactate dehydrogenase (*LDHA*) in DCIS *SIM2s* cells (Figure 34).



Figure 31. SIM2s Induces Intracellular Changes in Metabolic Constituents. (A) Imaging of DCIS, MCF7, and SUM159 cells using LysoTracker and MitoTracker fluorescent probes. Images were taken using 63x objective lens. (B) Electron microscopy images of DCIS, MCF7, and SUM159 cells under glucose rich conditions. Images taken at 3.5kx, 11kx, and 44kx. (C) ATP and ROS quantification for DCIS, MCF7, and SUM159 cells. Cells were plated, adhered for 12 hours, and then were dosed for 24 hours prior to experiments. *=p-value<.05. Data are shown as mean + SEM.</p>



Figure 32. Single Channel Images of MCF7, SUM159, and DCIS Live Cell Imaging. MitoTracker is in red, LysoTrackers is in green. Images were taken using 63x objective lens. (B) Western blot analysis of LC3B and oxidative phosphorylation complexes using isolated mitochondria. Actin was used as loading control. . (C) Electron microscopy images of MCF7, SUM159, and DCIS cells grown in 1mM glucose media. Cells were grown in 1mM glucose for 24 hours prior to fixation and preparation. Images were taken at 3.5kx, 11kx, and 44kx.



Figure 33. Key Glycolytic Enzymes Are Inhibited by SIM2s Expression. (A) Simplified model of key pathways involved in cellular metabolism, along with key, rate-limiting enzymes involved in each pathway. (B) Q-PCR analysis of gene expression of key glycolytic enzymes in MCF7 and SUM159 cells. Samples are normalized to the Control, 10mM samples. *=p-value<.05. Data are shown as mean + SEM.</p>



Α



Figure 34. Q-PCR Analysis of Breast Cancer Cells for Metabolic and Stress Response Genes. (A) Q-PCR analysis of MCF7 cells for key glycolytic genes. (B) Q-PCR Analysis of MCF7, SUM159, and DCIS cells for alternative metabolic pathways and stress response genes. *=p-value<.05. Data are shown as mean + SEM.

DCIS Xenograft Analysis Confirms In Vitro Data and Induces P53 Stress Response

We have shown that SIM2s regulates MCF10DCIS.com progression and invasion in in vivo xenograft assays by promoting luminal gene expression and inhibiting matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) (Scribner et al., 2012). The glycolytic trends observed in vitro were analyzed in vivo, DCIS control, SIM2s, and SIM2si tumors were stained for SIM2s, GLUT1, and HK2 (Figure 35 A). Consistent with the *in vitro* results, we found that GLUT1 and HK2 staining increased with loss of SIM2s, along with shifts in localization to the cellular membrane (Figure 35 A). qPCR analysis showed decreased *HK1* and *HK2* with *SIM2s* expression, as well as *SLC2A1* (Figure 35 B). We saw a significant increase in the insulin-regulated *SLC2A4* with SIM2s, and no change in the NFkB regulated SLC2A3 (Figure 35 B). Also, DCIS xenografts showed a significant increase in p53-regulated oxidative phosphorylation genes SCO2 and TIGAR with SIM2s expression (Figure 35 B) (Bensaad et al., 2006; Won et al., 2012). This change, not seen *in vitro*, is likely due to the unique stressed and hypoxic environment that occurs in the tumor. We found that *SIM2s* expression significantly increased nucleic p21 expression in DCIS xenografts, and that p21 expression decreased under normal breast cancer progression from DCIS to IDC (Figure 35 C). Additionally, we saw a significant decrease in key metabolic signalers AKT and MTOR, as well as TSC2, which is often involved in autophagy (Figure 35 B) (Alexander et al., 2010; Zhu et al., 2012). However, we still see the increased trend in LC3 gene expression in SIM2s tumors. We did not see changes in genes involved in mitochondrial fusion, fission, and function, as well as key enzymes in the TCA cycle and pentose phosphate pathway (Figure 36).



Figure 35. DCIS Xenograft Analysis Confirms In Vitro Data and Induces P53 Stress Response. (A) Immunohistochemical analysis of DCIS xenografts. Immunostaining for H&E, SIM2s, GLUT1, and HK2. Images were taken at 25.2x magnification. (B) Q-PCR analysis of key metabolic and stress response genes in DCIS xenografts (C) p21 immunostaining and quantification. Quantification was done by counting positive and negative nuclei and calculating percentage. *=p-value<.05. Scale bars = 100µm. Data are shown as mean + SEM.



Figure 36. Q-PCR Analysis of DCIS Xenografts of Key Mitochondrial Genes and Alternative Metabolic Pathways. *=p-value<.05. Data are shown as mean + SEM. Control and SIM2s represent PLPCX lentiviral transductions (Empty plasmid and SIM2s overexpression). Scrambled and SIM2si represent shRNA transductions (Scrambled Control and SIM2s targeting).

SIM2s Regulates P21 Expression and Induces Cellular Senescence and Inhibits Glycolysis

The significant increase in p21 expression seen in DCIS *SIM2s* xenografts indicated a potential mechanism by which *SIM2s* may inhibit proliferation and tumor metabolism. Analysis of basal *CDKN1A* gene expression by qPCR showed that *CDKN1A* is highly expressed in DCIS cells as compared to MCF7 and SUM159 cells (Figure 37 A). Over-expression of *SIM2s* enhanced basal *CDKN1A* expression in DCIS, MCF7, and SUM159 cells, whereas *CDKN1A* levels decreased in *SIM2si* cells (Figure 37 A). p21 expression is associated with cellular senescence, and cell cycle regulation was significantly effected in our microarray analysis.

Analysis of senescence-associated β -Galactosidase (Sa β Gal) activity showed a increase in Sa β Gal staining in *SIM2s* cells (Figure 37 B). The observation that *SIM2s* induces senescence in MCF7 and SUM159 cells is significant, since these cells have lost several nodal tumor suppressive pathways. MCF7 cells lack the *INK4A/ARF* locus that encodes *p16* and *p14*, whereas SUM159 cells have a defective p53, suggesting that *SIM2s*-induced senescence is independent of these pathways (Deng et al., 2002; Wasielewski et al., 2006).

To determine the molecular mechanism of *SIM2s* induction of *CDKN1A* gene expression, we co-transfected a 2.4kb *CDKN1A* promoter luciferase into MCF7 cells with increasing amounts of *SIM2s*, showing that *SIM2s* induced *CDKN1A* promoter activity in a dosedependent manner (Figure 37 C). Analysis of the *CDKN1A* promoter identified two potential *SIM2s* central midline binding elements (CME) near the 3'-p53 response site and TATA box (Figure 37 C). Chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP) analysis showed that SIM2s differentially bound the 3'-CME in MCF7 cells under basal conditions (Figure 37 C). Since the p53 response element is often a stress response element, the MCF7 cells were irradiated and ChIP analysis was performed, showing increased SIM2s binding to the *CDKN1A* promoter in response to cellular stress (Figure 37 C). These results confirm that SIM2s directly binds and regulates basal and IR-induced *CDKN1A* promoter activity. To determine if silencing *CDKN1A* was sufficient to reverse the metabolic phenotype seen in cancer cells with *SIM2s* expression, we knocked down *CDKN1A* using a confirmed siRNA and analyzed changes in senescent and metabolic behavior. Down-regulation *CDKN1A* gene expression was verified by qPCR (Figure 37 D). Loss of *CDKN1A* reversed the increased SaβGal staining seen in *SIM2s* cells (Figure 37 D). We also found that *SIM2s*-induced ATP production was significantly affected by inhibition of *CDKN1A*, whereas control cells had no response to loss of *CDKN1A* (Figure 37 E). Additionally, we measured lactate levels in spent media of cells after *CDKN1A* knockdown. DCIS control and *SIM2s* cells showed significant increases in lactate production with loss of *CDKN1A*, likely due to the high levels of *CDKN1A* already present in the parent cell line (Figure 37 E). SUM159 *SIM2s* cells also showed a significant increase in lactate production with *CDKN1A* knockdown, while control cells showed no response to loss of *CDKN1A* (Figure 37 E). Together, these data show that SIM2s mediates the glycolytic shift of breast cancer cells through direct up-regulation of p21-induced senescence.



Figure 37. SIM2s Regulates P21 Expression, Induces Cellular Senescence, and Inhibits Glycolysis. (A) Q-PCR analysis of CDKN1A in DCIS, SUM159, and MCF7 cells. (B) β-Gal staining for cellular senescence in MCF7, DCIS, and SUM159 SIM2s cells. Images were taken at 25.2x magnification. Quantification was taken as average of mean blue staining on cells. (C) Luciferase assay to determine SIM2s regulation of CDKN1A activity. Gene diagram showing RT-PCR primer designs. ChIP analysis of MCF7 cells confirms that SIM2s binds the p53RE in the promoter of CDKN1A, and is increased with stress induction through irradiation. (D) β-Gal staining of Control and CDKN1A siRNA transfected cells. Western blot showed increased p21 expression with SIM2s expression. Q-PCR analysis confirmed loss of CDKN1A in transfected cells. Quantification of β-Gal staining showing loss of increased cellular senescence with loss of CDKN1A. (E) ATP and lactate analysis of DCIS and SUM159 SIM2s cells transfected with control and CDKN1A siRNA, resulting in significantly decreased ATP levels in SIM2s cells, as well as increased lactate production. *=p-value<.05. Scale bars = 100µm. Data are shown as mean + SEM</p>

Discussion

In this study we have demonstrated that SIM2s plays a key role in DCIS progression by regulating the switch between senescence and glycolysis. Previously, we have shown that SIM2s expression inhibits tumor growth and metastasis *in vivo*, and loss of *SIM2s* induces an EMT through SLUG (Gustafson et al., 2009b; Kwak et al., 2007; Laffin et al., 2008; Scribner et al., 2012). Our current study shows that SIM2s plays a role in maintaining cellular metabolic homeostasis under normal circumstances, and this system is hijacked during cancer progression. SIM2s promotes normal mitochondrial function and oxygen consumption while decreasing extracellular acidification and glycolytic enzyme activity, whereas loss of *SIM2s* induces mitochondrial dysfunction and enhances glycolysis. This correlates with our observation in human breast tumors: *SIM2s* expression is lost as glycolytic activity is gained. Taken together, these data provide a mechanism by which SIM2s actively inhibits tumor progression in early stage DCIS.

The functional interface between senescence and tumor metabolism is not well understood. Previous work has alluded to this relationship, as p53 has been well established as a regulator of both cellular metabolism and senescence, as well as the unique roles of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and low glucose in their ability to induce cellular senescence (Bensaad et al., 2006; Feng and Levine, 2010; Ferbeyre et al., 2002; Kawauchi et al., 2008; Ma et al., 2007; Malkin et al., 1990; Matoba et al., 2006; Yeung et al., 2008; Zhou et al., 2003). Previous work in fibroblasts has also established that senescence cells have lower levels of glycolysis than their proliferating counterparts (Zwerschke et al., 2003). Glycogen metabolism has also shown to be up-regulated in tumors and inhibition of glycogen consumption induces senescence and impairs tumorigenesis (Favaro et al., 2012). Our study demonstrates that SIM2s induces p21 expression independently of p53, and subsequently promotes senescence and loss of glycolytic ability. Down-regulation of p21 in SIM2s expressing cells is sufficient to inhibit oxidative phosphorylation and promote lactate production, thereby blocking the SIM2s related effect, indicating that promotion of senescence is the primary mechanism through which SIM2s regulates metabolism. The up-regulation of p21 and subsequent inhibition of glycolysis raises the question whether senescence is involved in differentiation. Comparison of DCIS and SUM159 cell lines show complex responses to *SIM2s* expression depending on cell type. We have previously shown that re-establishment of SIM2s promotes terminal differentiation and milk protein expression in DCIS xenografts (Scribner et al., 2012). This supports our previous work showing that increased Sim2s expression in the mouse mammary gland induces precocious lactogenic differentiation and delayed involution (Scribner et al., 2011; Wellberg et al., 2010). This suggests a role for senescence in the normal metabolic function of the mammary gland. Based on this we hypothesize in early stage DCIS, overexpression of SIM2s induces a terminal differentiation, lactational phenotype. Recent research has made similar connections with oxidative phosphorylation, ROS, and senescence in the phenotype of Alzheimer's and Downs syndrome (Chatterjee et al., 2013; Helguera et al., 2013; Piccoli et al., 2013). SIM2s has been shown to be elevated in the brains of Downs syndrome populations, indicating a potential relationship between SIM2s and brain metabolic activity (Chatterjee et al., 2013; Chrast et al., 2000; Ema et al., 1999; Spellman et al., 2013).

The demand for understanding metabolic homeostasis in tumor cells and how to maintain normal metabolic activity is significant (Ferreira et al., 2012; Levine and Puzio-Kuter, 2010; Lunt and Vander Heiden, 2011). Many effects have been seen and studied in both normal and cancerous environments (DeBerardinis et al., 2007; Marroquin et al., 2007; Pavlides et al., 2009; Swerdlow et al., 2013; Warburg, 1956a). Cells can alter their metabolism in response to available nutrients, however with tumorigenesis, this pathway is derailed and the cells become metabolic powerhouses to maintain proliferation and avoid apoptosis. Our study shows that *SIM2s* expression is necessary for cells to competently operate their metabolic machinery in response to changing environments.

CHAPTER VI CONCLUSIONS

In conclusion, we have developed a new and novel mechanism of action through which SIM2s inhibits early breast cancer progression through upregulation of p21-induced senescence, and subsequently a reverse Warburg effect. The relationship between senescence and metabolism has been alluded to earlier, however no studies have been done to determine the possibility of an upstream role in senescence in metabolic regulation. Our studies point towards this as the potential mechanism for SIM2s-regulated cellular differentiation. The relationship we have shown between differentiation, metabolism, aging, and disease has far reaching implications in breast cancer, as well as other diseases.

SIM2s in Mammary Gland Lactation and Metabolism

Previous work in our lab has elucidated the importance of Sim2s in mammary gland differentiation and lactation (Wellberg et al., 2010). Lactation is the most metabolically active state of mammary gland development, and is characterized by metabolically active, non-proliferating epithelial cells. This is interesting due to the fact senescent cells are also defined as metabolically active and non-proliferating (Rodier and Campisi, 2011). The role of senescence and p21 in induction and maintenance of lactation has not been studied, however prolonged lactation has been associated with increased ROS, oxidative damage, and mitochondrial dysfunction (Hadsell et al., 2011; Hadsell et al., 2006; Hadsell et al., 2005). We hypothesize that the natural induction of Sim2s during lactation actually promotes this lactational phenotype through senescence, and that overexpression of Sim2s could potentially prolong lactation be helping maintain mitochondrial integrity during enhanced metabolic activity. A study done in

2004 examined the expression of p19ARF (another senescence associated protein) during normal mammary gland development (Yi et al., 2004). Yi et al. found that p19ARF increased significantly during pregnancy and plateaued during lactation, eventually decreasing during the second phase of involution. Loss of p19ARF in the mouse mammary gland delayed the first phase of involution, similar to the overexpression of Sim2s, and decreased p21 expression and apoptosis. This aligns well with our hypothesis for the potential role of senescence in lactational metabolism. Thus Sim2s is responsible for metabolic homeostasis not in normally mammary gland function, and this regulation must be lost for tumor progression.

SIM2s and Full Body Metabolism

We have shown that SIM2s can regulate metabolic homeostasis in breast cancer. We hypothesize that likewise, SIM2s plays a role in normal metabolism throughout the body. This is especially important with current health concerns like diet-induced obesity and insulin resistant diabetes. Additionally, this has important implications in muscle development and training. Obesity is defined as a metabolic imbalance: energy input is greater than energy output, likely through enhanced energy storage, with a chronic inflammatory phenotype (Johnson et al., 2012). Many studies have evaluated different risk factors associated with obesity: sleep, genetic predisposition, maternal diabetes, diet, exercise, etc (Bell et al., 1995; Goularte et al., 2012; Johnson et al., 2012; Klingenberg et al., 2012). In general, calorie restriction and exercise are the biggest inhibitors of obesity, and obesity associated diseases. Similarly, caloric restriction has also been shown to lower breast cancer risks through increased insulin sensitivity and decreased proliferation (Frankenberry et al., 2006; Harvie and Howell, 2012; Howell et al., 2009).

Interestingly, people diagnosed with Down syndrome have a high occurrence of obesity and type 2 diabetes (Cento et al., 1999; Cusi, 2010; Fonseca et al., 2005). Down syndrome individuals are prone to obesity at an earlier age, have a lower resting metabolic rate, and low dietary intake. Hypothyroidism and increased leptin levels in people with DS have also been implicated in contributed to the higher rates of obesity. Studies have indicated this predisposition toward metabolic deregulation is through increase adipocyte inflammatory signaling, as well as deregulated endocrine homeostasis, which also has systemic effects in the brain (Misiak et al., 2012). We have previously discussed that upregulation of SIM2 in DS, and its contribution to the etiology of DS. Based on our current studies linking SIM2s to metabolism, we hypothesize that SIM2s also plays an important role in diet induced obesity and diabetes. Initial studies using a systemic, heterozygous knockdown of Sim2s, have shown that loss of Sim2s significantly inhibits weight gain on a high fat diet (Figure 38).



Figure 38. High Fat Diet Reduces SIM2 Expression, and Loss of SIM2s Affects Weight Gain and Mammary Gland Development. WT and *Sim2s^{+/-}* mice were fed a 40% high fat diet for 14+ weeks, mice were weighed weekly and food consumption was measured weekly. High fat diet significantly reduced *Sim2s* expression. *Sim2s^{+/-}* mice gained significantly less weight, despite equal energy uptake, and developed pre-malignant mammary lesions.

Although energy intake between wild-type mice and Sim2s^{+/-} is equivalent, the Sim2s^{+/-} mice do not gain weight compared to wild-type, and high fat diet also down regulates *Sim2s* expression in the mammary gland. We hypothesize that the Sim2s heterozygous mice lose their limited expression of Sim2s with high-fat diet, inhibiting weight gain, and increasing breast cancer risk. Initial studies have shown increased hyperplasias in the mammary gland of Sim2s+/- mice fed a high-fat diet compared to wild-type (Figure 38). This translates the effect SIM2s has on the mammary gland to a systemic regulation of metabolism.

In addition to adipocytes and obesity, another major organ involved in metabolic homeostasis and weight is skeletal muscle. SIM2 has already been identified to be integral to myogenic differentiation (Havis et al., 2012; Zhao et al., 2002b). SIM2 expression in myogenic progenitor cells prevents premature entry into the myogenic differentiation program, and helps to maintain muscle integrity. Using the same $Sim2s^{+/-}$ mice we just discussed, we allowed these mice to run at will and measure distance run and time run. Sim2s^{+/-} mice ran significantly less than their WT counterparts – both in distance and time (Figure 39). This also associated with an increase in glycolytic enzyme RNA levels in Sim2s^{+/-} muscle tissues. In skeletal muscle, muscle fibers are divided into two groups based on their metabolic activity (Figure 39). Type I muscles are slow twitch, used for endurance such as marathon running, and are highly oxidative – primarily using mitochondria and oxidative phosphorylation of energy. Type II fibers are fast twitch, used for strength and sprinting, and are highly glycolytic – with fewer mitochondria than Type I fibers and increased glucose uptake. Based on this we hypothesize that SIM2s expression in muscle fibers is important to the muscle fiber phenotype, with higher expression seen in Type I fibers, and lower expression in Type II fibers. We also hypothesize that under conditions of endurance training, athletes' muscle-specific levels of SIM2s increase, due to the increased demand for slow twitch muscle fibers.



Figure 39. Sim2s Expression Affects Muscle Development and Aerobic Activity. WT and Sim2s^{+/-} were given access to an activity wheel to run on *ad libitum*. Sim2s^{+/-} mice ran significantly less, both in distance and time. Sim2s^{+/-} mice also had significantly higher levels of glycolytic genes *Ldha* and *HK2* in both the gastrocnemius and EDL muscles.

SIM2s in Brain Development and Neurodegenerative Disease

As previously discussed, SIM2s expression is upregulated in the brain of people with Down Syndrome, and contributes to the etiology of DS (Chrast et al., 2000; Spellman et al., 2013). Altered metabolic activity and oxidative stress have long been associated with DS (Arbuzova et al., 2002; Brooksbank and Balazs, 1984; Busciglio et al., 2002). DS neurons generate high levels of ROS which can compromise neuronal survival, and altered mitochondrial activity has been measured in DS fibroblasts (Busciglio et al., 2002; Coskun and Busciglio, 2012). Mitochondria are more fragmented in the DS brain, similar to the shortened mitochondria we found with overexpression of SIM2s, several of the pathways we discussed using microarray analysis are also altered in DS brains compared to normal brains :oxidative stress and mitochondrial dysfunction (Helguera et al., 2013). These symptoms point to prolonged mitochondrial stimulation, ultimately resulting in mitochondrial dysfunction and cell death. It is this metabolic shift that promotes an increased susceptibility to neurodegenerative diseases in DS populations (Coskun and Busciglio, 2012; Coyle et al., 1988; Scholl et al., 1982).

Mitochondrial dysfunction is the key causative effect in the brain for Alzheimer's, Parkinson's, and other neurodegenerative diseases (Ramalingam and Kim, 2012). The accumulation of oxidative stress and disrupted mitochondrial respiration initiate apoptotic cascades in neurons. Cell death in neurons is the hallmark of these diseases, as healthy neurons are not able to proliferate to accommodate neuron loss. Depending on the region of the brain affected, this apoptosis results in the symptoms of Parkinson's, such as loss of muscle control, or Alzheimer's, such as loss of memory, or other diseases such as stroke and Huntington's (Ramalingam and Kim, 2012). Under normal circumstances, the brain is a rapid glucose consuming organ that is easily identified using 18-fluorodeoxyglucose signaling. The onsets of these diseases are often diagnosed by decreased glucose consumption in specific regions of the brain. We have shown that the upregulation of SIM2s decreases glucose uptake and promotes mitochondrial function and ROS, and since it has been shown to be upregulated in DS, we hypothesize that the upregulation of SIM2s in neuronal and astrocyte cells is part of the initial event that induces neurodegenerative disease. Also, since neuronal cells are unable to proliferate, yet remain highly metabolically active, we again hypothesize that SIM2s is necessary for the induction of a senescence phenotype that promotes normal neuronal function. A recent study has already shown that Sim2 expression in neurons is necessary for hyperglycemiainduced injury – and down regulation of Sim2 inhibited subsequent neuronal damage (Wang et al., 2013). Patients suffering from diabetes mellitus (a metabolic disorder) are at high risk for hyperglycemia-induced brain injury, which can result in stroke or intracerebral hemorrhage (ICH). We hypothesize that an upregulation in SIM2s would promote obesity and diabetes,

which would also indicate a higher susceptibility to neuronal injury. This is just another indicator of the important role Sim2s potentially plays in full body and brain metabolism.

Other proteins have had similar implications in the combination of aging, metabolism, and disease (Bonuccelli et al., 2010). Caveolin-1 has been shown to induce oxidative stress in tumor associated stroma, through which it promotes metastasis. Analysis of the transcription profile of this stroma showed a close association with the genetic signature of Alzheimer's disease. Termed the "Reverse Warburg Effect," the authors indicate that oxidative stress, hypoxia, and mitochondrial dysfunction not only contribute to breast cancer metastasis, but also to neurodegeneration. While this conflicts with our studies of these effects being tumor suppressive in the breast, it is important to note that SIM2s is expressed in the luminal epithelial cells, not the stroma and myoepithelial cells – indicating a unique cell compartment effect for mitochondrial function and oxidative stress.

Conclusion

In conclusion, these new studies have elucidated a new and complex role for SIM2s in the global regulation of differentiation, metabolism, and senescence. In breast cancer, SIM2s must be lost for cells to induce metabolic adaptations for survival and progression, and reestablishment of SIM2s promotes cellular senescence and differentiation, which reverses the Warburg effect (Figure 40). These effects have exciting implications in normal mammary gland lactation, diet-induced obesity, muscle development, and neurodegenerative diseases. These are all examples of metabolic homeostasis, and how the loss of metabolic regulation can induce disease. Our hypothesis is that SIM2s will be a causal regulator of metabolic homeostasis in multiple environments in the body, and thus be implicated in further metabolic disorders.



Figure 40. Model of SIM2s Regulation of DCIS Progression through P21 and Metabolic Homeostasis.

REFERENCES

Abell, K., Bilancio, A., Clarkson, R. W., Tiffen, P. G., Altaparmakov, A. I., Burdon, T.

G., Asano, T., Vanhaesebroeck, B., and Watson, C. J. (2005). Stat3-induced apoptosis requires a molecular switch in PI(3)K subunit composition. Nat Cell Biol *7*, 392-398.

Abida, W. M., and Gu, W. (2008). p53-Dependent and p53-independent activation of autophagy by ARF. Cancer Research *68*, 352-357.

Ackler, S., Ahmad, S., Tobias, C., Johnson, M. D., and Glazer, R. I. (2002). Delayed mammary gland involution in MMTV-AKT1 transgenic mice. Oncogene *21*, 198-206.

Ahima, R. S. (2009). Connecting obesity, aging and diabetes. Nature Medicine 15, 996-997.

Akada, M., Crnogorac-Jurcevic, T., Lattimore, S., Mahon, P., Lopes, R., Sunamura, M., Matsuno, S., and Lemoine, N. R. (2005). Intrinsic chemoresistance to gemcitabine is associated with decreased expression of BNIP3 in pancreatic cancer. Clin Cancer Res *11*, 3094-3101.

Al-Hajj, M., Wicha, M. S., Benito-Hernandez, A., Morrison, S. J., and Clarke, M. F. (2003). Prospective identification of tumorigenic breast cancer cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *100*, 3983-3988.

Alarcon, R., Koumenis, C., Geyer, R. K., Maki, C. G., and Giaccia, A. J. (1999). Hypoxia induces p53 accumulation through MDM2 down-regulation and inhibition of E6mediated degradation. Cancer Research *59*, 6046-6051.

Aleman, M. J., DeYoung, M. P., Tress, M., Keating, P., Perry, G. W., and Narayanan, R. (2005). Inhibition of Single Minded 2 gene expression mediates tumor-selective apoptosis and differentiation in human colon cancer cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *102*, 12765-12770.

Alexander, A., Kim, J., and Walker, C. L. (2010). ATM engages the TSC2/mTORC1 signaling node to regulate autophagy. Autophagy *6*, 672-673.

Alfadda, A. A., and Sallam, R. M. (2012). Reactive oxygen species in health and disease. Journal of Biomedicine & Biotechnology *2012*, 936486.

Allred, D. C., Elledge, R., Clark, G. M., and Fuqua, S. A. (1994). The p53 tumorsuppressor gene in human breast cancer. Cancer Treatment and Research *71*, 63-77.

An, W. G., Kanekal, M., Simon, M. C., Maltepe, E., Blagosklonny, M. V., and Neckers, L. M. (1998). Stabilization of wild-type p53 by hypoxia-inducible factor 1alpha. Nature *392*, 405-408.

Andres, A. C., and Strange, R. (1999). Apoptosis in the estrous and menstrual cycles. Journal of Mammary Gland Biology and Neoplasia *4*, 221-228.

Angelini, P. D., Fluck, M. F., Pedersen, K., Parra-Palau, J. L., Guiu, M., Bernado Morales, C., Vicario, R., Luque-Garcia, A., Navalpotro, N. P., Giralt, J., *et al.* (2013). Constitutive HER2 signaling promotes breast cancer metastasis through cellular senescence. Cancer Research *73*, 450-458.

Arbuzova, S., Hutchin, T., and Cuckle, H. (2002). Mitochondrial dysfunction and Down's syndrome. BioEssays : News and Reviews in Molecular, Cellular and Developmental Biology *24*, 681-684.

Armstrong, J. F., Kaufman, M. H., Harrison, D. J., and Clarke, A. R. (1995). Highfrequency developmental abnormalities in p53-deficient mice. Current Biology : CB *5*, 931-936.

Arredouani, M. S., Lu, B., Bhasin, M., Eljanne, M., Yue, W., Mosquera, J. M., Bubley, G. J., Li, V., Rubin, M. A., Libermann, T. A., and Sanda, M. G. (2009). Identification of the transcription factor single-minded homologue 2 as a potential biomarker and immunotherapy target in prostate cancer. Clin Cancer Res *15*, 5794-5802.

Asselin-Labat, M. L., Sutherland, K. D., Barker, H., Thomas, R., Shackleton, M.,

Forrest, N. C., Hartley, L., Robb, L., Grosveld, F. G., van der Wees, J., *et al.* (2007). Gata-3 is an essential regulator of mammary-gland morphogenesis and luminal-cell differentiation. Nat Cell Biol *9*, 201-209.

Atabai, K., Sheppard, D., and Werb, Z. (2007). Roles of the innate immune system in mammary gland remodeling during involution. Journal of Mammary Gland Biology and Neoplasia *12*, 37-45.

Bacon, A. L., Fox, S., Turley, H., and Harris, A. L. (2007). Selective silencing of the hypoxia-inducible factor 1 target gene BNIP3 by histone deacetylation and methylation in colorectal cancer. Oncogene *26*, 132-141.

Ball, R. K., Friis, R. R., Schoenenberger, C. A., Doppler, W., and Groner, B. (1988). Prolactin regulation of beta-casein gene expression and of a cytosolic 120-kd protein in a cloned mouse mammary epithelial cell line. Embo J *7*, 2089-2095.

Bavik, C., Coleman, I., Dean, J. P., Knudsen, B., Plymate, S., and Nelson, P. S. (2006). The gene expression program of prostate fibroblast senescence modulates neoplastic epithelial cell proliferation through paracrine mechanisms. Cancer Research *66*, 794-802.

Baxter, F. O., Came, P. J., Abell, K., Kedjouar, B., Huth, M., Rajewsky, K., Pasparakis, M., and Watson, C. J. (2006). IKKbeta/2 induces TWEAK and apoptosis in mammary epithelial cells. Development *133*, 3485-3494.

Baxter, F. O., Neoh, K., and Tevendale, M. C. (2007). The beginning of the end: death signaling in early involution. Journal of Mammary Gland Biology and Neoplasia *12*, 3-13.

Becker, K. A., Lu, S., Dickinson, E. S., Dunphy, K. A., Mathews, L., Schneider, S. S., and Jerry, D. J. (2005). Estrogen and progesterone regulate radiation-induced p53 activity in mammary epithelium through TGF-beta-dependent pathways. Oncogene *24*, 6345-6353. Behbod, F., Kittrell, F. S., LaMarca, H., Edwards, D., Kerbawy, S., Heestand, J. C.,

Young, E., Mukhopadhyay, P., Yeh, H. W., Allred, D. C., *et al.* (2009). An intraductal humanin-mouse transplantation model mimics the subtypes of ductal carcinoma in situ. Breast Cancer Res *11*, R66.

Behling, K. C., Tang, A., Freydin, B., Chervoneva, I., Kadakia, S., Schwartz, G. F., Rui,
H., and Witkiewicz, A. K. (2011). Increased SIAH expression predicts ductal carcinoma in situ
(DCIS) progression to invasive carcinoma. Breast Cancer Res Treat *129*, 717-724.

Bell, R. R., Spencer, M. J., and Sherriff, J. L. (1995). Diet-induced obesity in mice can be treated without energy restriction using exercise and/or a low fat diet. The Journal of Nutrition *125*, 2356-2363.

Benard, J., Beron-Gaillard, N., and Satge, D. (2005). Down's syndrome protects against breast cancer: is a constitutional cell microenvironment the key? Int J Cancer *113*, 168-170.

Bensaad, K., Tsuruta, A., Selak, M. A., Vidal, M. N., Nakano, K., Bartrons, R., Gottlieb,

E., and Vousden, K. H. (2006). TIGAR, a p53-inducible regulator of glycolysis and apoptosis. Cell *126*, 107-120.

Bensinger, S. J., and Christofk, H. R. (2012). New aspects of the Warburg effect in cancer cell biology. Seminars in Cell & Developmental Biology *23*, 352-361.

Berman, H. K., Gauthier, M. L., and Tlsty, T. D. (2010). Premalignant breast neoplasia: a paradigm of interlesional and intralesional molecular heterogeneity and its biological and clinical ramifications. Cancer Prev Res (Phila) *3*, 579-587.

Bierie, B., Gorska, A. E., Stover, D. G., and Moses, H. L. (2009). TGF-beta promotes cell death and suppresses lactation during the second stage of mammary involution. J Cell Physiol *219*, 57-68.
Bindra, R. S., and Glazer, P. M. (2005). Genetic instability and the tumor

microenvironment: towards the concept of microenvironment-induced mutagenesis. Mutation Research *569*, 75-85.

Bloom, H. J., and Richardson, W. W. (1957). Histological grading and prognosis in breast cancer; a study of 1409 cases of which 359 have been followed for 15 years. British Journal of Cancer *11*, 359-377.

Boidot, R., Vegran, F., Meulle, A., Le Breton, A., Dessy, C., Sonveaux, P., Lizard-Nacol, S., and Feron, O. (2012). Regulation of monocarboxylate transporter MCT1 expression by p53 mediates inward and outward lactate fluxes in tumors. Cancer Research *72*, 939-948.

Boker, L. K., Blumstein, T., Sadetzki, S., Luxenburg, O., Litvak, I., Akstein, E., and Modan, B. (2001). Incidence of leukemia and other cancers in Down syndrome subjects in Israel. Int J Cancer *93*, 741-744.

Boker, L. K., and Merrick, J. (2002). Cancer incidence in persons with Down syndrome in Israel. Downs Syndr Res Pract *8*, 31-36.

Bond, J., Haughton, M., Blaydes, J., Gire, V., Wynford-Thomas, D., and Wyllie, F. (1996). Evidence that transcriptional activation by p53 plays a direct role in the induction of cellular senescence. Oncogene *13*, 2097-2104.

Bonuccelli, G., Whitaker-Menezes, D., Castello-Cros, R., Pavlides, S., Pestell, R. G., Fatatis, A., Witkiewicz, A. K., Vander Heiden, M. G., Migneco, G., Chiavarina, B., *et al.* (2010). The reverse Warburg effect: glycolysis inhibitors prevent the tumor promoting effects of caveolin-1 deficient cancer associated fibroblasts. Cell Cycle *9*, 1960-1971.

Borgdorff, V., Lleonart, M. E., Bishop, C. L., Fessart, D., Bergin, A. H., Overhoff, M. G., and Beach, D. H. (2010). Multiple microRNAs rescue from Ras-induced senescence by inhibiting p21(Waf1/Cip1). Oncogene *29*, 2262-2271.

Brisken, C., Heineman, A., Chavarria, T., Elenbaas, B., Tan, J., Dey, S. K., McMahon, J.

A., McMahon, A. P., and Weinberg, R. A. (2000). Essential function of Wnt-4 in mammary

gland development downstream of progesterone signaling. Genes Dev 14, 650-654.

Brooksbank, B. W., and Balazs, R. (1984). Superoxide dismutase, glutathione peroxidase and lipoperoxidation in Down's syndrome fetal brain. Brain Research *318*, 37-44.

Brown, R. S., Goodman, T. M., Zasadny, K. R., Greenson, J. K., and Wahl, R. L. (2002). Expression of hexokinase II and Glut-1 in untreated human breast cancer. Nuclear Medicine and Biology *29*, 443-453.

Brown, R. S., and Wahl, R. L. (1993). Overexpression of Glut-1 glucose transporter in human breast cancer. An Immunohistochemical Study. Cancer 72, 2979-2985.

Bruick, R. K. (2000). Expression of the gene encoding the proapoptotic Nip3 protein is induced by hypoxia. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *97*, 9082-9087.

Burkhardt, L., Grob, T. J., Hermann, I., Burandt, E., Choschzick, M., Janicke, F.,

Muller, V., Bokemeyer, C., Simon, R., Sauter, G., *et al.* (2010). Gene amplification in ductal carcinoma in situ of the breast. Breast Cancer Res Treat *123*, 757-765.

Burstein, H. J., Polyak, K., Wong, J. S., Lester, S. C., and Kaelin, C. M. (2004). Ductal carcinoma in situ of the breast. New England Journal of Medicine *350*, 1430-1441.

Busciglio, J., Pelsman, A., Wong, C., Pigino, G., Yuan, M., Mori, H., and Yankner, B.

A. (2002). Altered metabolism of the amyloid beta precursor protein is associated with mitochondrial dysfunction in Down's syndrome. Neuron *33*, 677-688.

Cairns, R. A., Harris, I., McCracken, S., and Mak, T. W. (2011a). Cancer cell

metabolism. Cold Spring Harbor Symposia on Quantitative Biology 76, 299-311.

Cairns, R. A., Harris, I. S., and Mak, T. W. (2011b). Regulation of cancer cell metabolism. Nat Rev Cancer *11*, 85-95.

Caldas, J., Gehlenborg, N., Kettunen, E., Faisal, A., Ronty, M., Nicholson, A. G.,

Knuutila, S., Brazma, A., and Kaski, S. (2012). Data-driven information retrieval in heterogeneous collections of transcriptomics data links SIM2s to malignant pleural mesothelioma. Bioinformatics *28*, 246-253.

Campisi, J., Andersen, J. K., Kapahi, P., and Melov, S. (2011). Cellular senescence: a link between cancer and age-related degenerative disease? Seminars in Cancer Biology *21*, 354-359.

Campisi, J., and d'Adda di Fagagna, F. (2007). Cellular senescence: when bad things happen to good cells. Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology *8*, 729-740.

Cancer Genome Atlas, N. (2012). Comprehensive molecular portraits of human breast tumours. Nature *490*, 61-70.

Cao, Y., and Karin, M. (2003). NF-kappaB in mammary gland development and breast cancer. Journal of Mammary Gland Biology and Neoplasia *8*, 215-223.

Cardone, R. A., Casavola, V., and Reshkin, S. J. (2005). The role of disturbed pH dynamics and the Na+/H+ exchanger in metastasis. Nat Rev Cancer *5*, 786-795.

Cento, R. M., Proto, C., Spada, R. S., Ragusa, L., Reitano, S., Napolitano, V., and Lanzone, A. (1999). Serum leptin concentrations in obese women with Down syndrome and Prader-Willi syndrome. Gynecol Endocrinol *13*, 36-41.

Chapman, R. S., Lourenco, P., Tonner, E., Flint, D., Selbert, S., Takeda, K., Akira, S., Clarke, A. R., and Watson, C. J. (2000). The role of Stat3 in apoptosis and mammary gland involution. Conditional deletion of Stat3. Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology *480*, 129-138.

Chapman, R. S., Lourenco, P. C., Tonner, E., Flint, D. J., Selbert, S., Takeda, K., Akira, S., Clarke, A. R., and Watson, C. J. (1999). Suppression of epithelial apoptosis and delayed

mammary gland involution in mice with a conditional knockout of Stat3. Genes Dev *13*, 2604-2616.

Charafe-Jauffret, E., Ginestier, C., Iovino, F., Wicinski, J., Cervera, N., Finetti, P., Hur, M. H., Diebel, M. E., Monville, F., Dutcher, J., *et al.* (2009). Breast cancer cell lines contain functional cancer stem cells with metastatic capacity and a distinct molecular signature. Cancer Research *69*, 1302-1313.

Charafe-Jauffret, E., Monville, F., Ginestier, C., Dontu, G., Birnbaum, D., and Wicha,M. S. (2008). Cancer stem cells in breast: current opinion and future challenges. Pathobiology 75, 75-84.

Chatterjee, A., Dutta, S., Mukherjee, S., Mukherjee, N., Dutta, A., Mukherjee, A., Sinha, S., Panda, C. K., Chaudhuri, K., Roy, A. L., and Mukhopadhyay, K. (2013). Potential contribution of SIM2 and ETS2 functional polymorphisms in Down syndrome associated malignancies. BMC Medical Genetics *14*, 12.

Chatterjee, A., Dutta, S., Sinha, S., and Mukhopadhyay, K. (2011). Exploratory investigation on functional significance of ETS2 and SIM2 genes in Down syndrome. Disease Markers *31*, 247-257.

Chen, G., Ray, R., Dubik, D., Shi, L., Cizeau, J., Bleackley, R. C., Saxena, S., Gietz, R. D., and Greenberg, A. H. (1997). The E1B 19K/Bcl-2-binding protein Nip3 is a dimeric mitochondrial protein that activates apoptosis. The Journal of Experimental Medicine *186*, 1975-1983.

Cheung, E. C., Ludwig, R. L., and Vousden, K. H. (2012). Mitochondrial localization of TIGAR under hypoxia stimulates HK2 and lowers ROS and cell death. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *109*, 20491-20496.

Chin, K., de Solorzano, C. O., Knowles, D., Jones, A., Chou, W., Rodriguez, E. G., Kuo,W. L., Ljung, B. M., Chew, K., Myambo, K., *et al.* (2004). In situ analyses of genome instabilityin breast cancer. Nat Genet *36*, 984-988.

Choi, J., and Donehower, L. A. (1999). p53 in embryonic development: maintaining a fine balance. Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences : CMLS *55*, 38-47.

Chrast, R., Scott, H. S., Chen, H., Kudoh, J., Rossier, C., Minoshima, S., Wang, Y., Shimizu, N., and Antonarakis, S. E. (1997). Cloning of two human homologs of the Drosophila single-minded gene SIM1 on chromosome 6q and SIM2 on 21q within the Down syndrome chromosomal region. Genome Res 7, 615-624.

Chrast, R., Scott, H. S., Madani, R., Huber, L., Wolfer, D. P., Prinz, M., Aguzzi, A., Lipp, H. P., and Antonarakis, S. E. (2000). Mice trisomic for a bacterial artificial chromosome with the single-minded 2 gene (Sim2) show phenotypes similar to some of those present in the partial trisomy 16 mouse models of Down syndrome. Hum Mol Genet *9*, 1853-1864.

Clark, S. E., Warwick, J., Carpenter, R., Bowen, R. L., Duffy, S. W., and Jones, J. L. (2011). Molecular subtyping of DCIS: heterogeneity of breast cancer reflected in pre-invasive disease. British Journal of Cancer *104*, 120-127.

Clarkson, R. W., Heeley, J. L., Chapman, R., Aillet, F., Hay, R. T., Wyllie, A., and Watson, C. J. (2000). NF-kappaB inhibits apoptosis in murine mammary epithelia. J Biol Chem 275, 12737-12742.

Clarkson, R. W., and Watson, C. J. (1999). NF-kappaB and apoptosis in mammary epithelial cells. Journal of Mammary Gland Biology and Neoplasia *4*, 165-175.

Clarkson, R. W., and Watson, C. J. (2003). Microarray analysis of the involution switch. Journal of Mammary Gland Biology and Neoplasia *8*, 309-319. Clarkson, R. W., Wayland, M. T., Lee, J., Freeman, T., and Watson, C. J. (2004). Gene expression profiling of mammary gland development reveals putative roles for death receptors and immune mediators in post-lactational regression. Breast Cancer Res *6*, R92-109.

Cocker, R., Oktay, M. H., Sunkara, J. L., and Koss, L. G. (2007). Mechanisms of progression of ductal carcinoma in situ of the breast to invasive cancer. A hypothesis. Med Hypotheses *69*, 57-63.

Cody, H. S., 3rd (2007). Sentinel lymph node biopsy for DCIS: are we approaching consensus? Ann Surg Oncol *14*, 2179-2181.

Come, C., Arnoux, V., Bibeau, F., and Savagner, P. (2004). Roles of the transcription factors snail and slug during mammary morphogenesis and breast carcinoma progression. Journal of Mammary Gland Biology and Neoplasia *9*, 183-193.

Come, C., Magnino, F., Bibeau, F., De Santa Barbara, P., Becker, K. F., Theillet, C., and Savagner, P. (2006). Snail and slug play distinct roles during breast carcinoma progression. Clin Cancer Res *12*, 5395-5402.

Compton, S., Kim, C., Griner, N. B., Potluri, P., Scheffler, I. E., Sen, S., Jerry, D. J., Schneider, S., and Yadava, N. (2011). Mitochondrial dysfunction impairs tumor suppressor p53 expression/function. J Biol Chem *286*, 20297-20312.

Connelly, L., Barham, W., Pigg, R., Saint-Jean, L., Sherrill, T., Cheng, D. S., Chodosh, L. A., Blackwell, T. S., and Yull, F. E. (2010). Activation of nuclear factor kappa B in mammary epithelium promotes milk loss during mammary development and infection. J Cell Physiol *222*, 73-81.

Contesso, G., Mouriesse, H., Friedman, S., Genin, J., Sarrazin, D., and Rouesse, J. (1987). The importance of histologic grade in long-term prognosis of breast cancer: a study of

1,010 patients, uniformly treated at the Institut Gustave-Roussy. Journal of Clinical Oncology : Official Journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology *5*, 1378-1386.

Coppe, J. P., Patil, C. K., Rodier, F., Krtolica, A., Beausejour, C. M., Parrinello, S., Hodgson, J. G., Chin, K., Desprez, P. Y., and Campisi, J. (2010). A human-like senescenceassociated secretory phenotype is conserved in mouse cells dependent on physiological oxygen. PloS One *5*, e9188.

Coskun, P. E., and Busciglio, J. (2012). Oxidative Stress and Mitochondrial Dysfunction in Down's Syndrome: Relevance to Aging and Dementia. Current Gerontology and Geriatrics Research *2012*, 383170.

Coyle, J. T., Oster-Granite, M. L., Reeves, R. H., and Gearhart, J. D. (1988). Down syndrome, Alzheimer's disease and the trisomy 16 mouse. Trends in Neurosciences *11*, 390-394.

Crabtree, H. G. (1929). Observations on the carbohydrate metabolism of tumours. Biochem J *23*, 536-545.

Crews, S., Franks, R., Hu, S., Matthews, B., and Nambu, J. (1992). Drosophila singleminded gene and the molecular genetics of CNS midline development. J Exp Zool *261*, 234-244.

Crighton, D., Wilkinson, S., O'Prey, J., Syed, N., Smith, P., Harrison, P. R., Gasco, M., Garrone, O., Crook, T., and Ryan, K. M. (2006). DRAM, a p53-induced modulator of autophagy, is critical for apoptosis. Cell *126*, 121-134.

Cui, Y., Riedlinger, G., Miyoshi, K., Tang, W., Li, C., Deng, C. X., Robinson, G. W., and Hennighausen, L. (2004). Inactivation of Stat5 in mouse mammary epithelium during pregnancy reveals distinct functions in cell proliferation, survival, and differentiation. Molecular and Cellular Biology *24*, 8037-8047.

Currie, M. J., Beardsley, B. E., Harris, G. C., Gunningham, S. P., Dachs, G. U., Dijkstra, B., Morrin, H. R., Wells, J. E., and Robinson, B. A. (2013). Immunohistochemical analysis of

cancer stem cell markers in invasive breast carcinoma and associated ductal carcinoma in situ: relationships with markers of tumor hypoxia and microvascularity. Human Pathology *44*, 402-411.

Cusi, K. (2010). The role of adipose tissue and lipotoxicity in the pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes. Curr Diab Rep *10*, 306-315.

Dahmane, N., Charron, G., Lopes, C., Yaspo, M. L., Maunoury, C., Decorte, L., Sinet, P. M., Bloch, B., and Delabar, J. M. (1995). Down syndrome-critical region contains a gene homologous to Drosophila sim expressed during rat and human central nervous system development. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *92*, 9191-9195.

Daido, S., Kanzawa, T., Yamamoto, A., Takeuchi, H., Kondo, Y., and Kondo, S. (2004). Pivotal role of the cell death factor BNIP3 in ceramide-induced autophagic cell death in malignant glioma cells. Cancer Research *64*, 4286-4293.

Damodaran, S., and Olson, E. M. (2012). Targeting the human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 pathway in breast cancer. Hospital Practice *40*, 7-15.

Dang, C. V. (2012). Links between metabolism and cancer. Genes Dev 26, 877-890.

Davidson, L. A., Nguyen, D. V., Hokanson, R. M., Callaway, E. S., Isett, R. B., Turner,

N. D., Dougherty, E. R., Wang, N., Lupton, J. R., Carroll, R. J., and Chapkin, R. S. (2004).

Chemopreventive n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids reprogram genetic signatures during colon cancer initiation and progression in the rat. Cancer Research *64*, 6797-6804.

de Biase, D., Morandi, L., Degli Esposti, R., Ligorio, C., Pession, A., Foschini, M. P., and Eusebi, V. (2010). p63 short isoforms are found in invasive carcinomas only and not in benign breast conditions. Virchows Arch 456, 395-401.

de Carne Trecesson, S., Guillemin, Y., Belanger, A., Bernard, A. C., Preisser, L., Ravon,

E., Gamelin, E., Juin, P., Barre, B., and Coqueret, O. (2011). Escape from p21-mediated

oncogene-induced senescence leads to cell dedifferentiation and dependence on anti-apoptotic Bcl-xL and MCL1 proteins. J Biol Chem 286, 12825-12838.

De Craene, B., Gilbert, B., Stove, C., Bruyneel, E., van Roy, F., and Berx, G. (2005a). The transcription factor snail induces tumor cell invasion through modulation of the epithelial cell differentiation program. Cancer Research *65*, 6237-6244.

De Craene, B., van Roy, F., and Berx, G. (2005b). Unraveling signalling cascades for the Snail family of transcription factors. Cellular Signalling *17*, 535-547.

DeBerardinis, R. J., Lum, J. J., Hatzivassiliou, G., and Thompson, C. B. (2008). The biology of cancer: metabolic reprogramming fuels cell growth and proliferation. Cell Metabolism 7, 11-20.

DeBerardinis, R. J., Mancuso, A., Daikhin, E., Nissim, I., Yudkoff, M., Wehrli, S., and Thompson, C. B. (2007). Beyond aerobic glycolysis: transformed cells can engage in glutamine metabolism that exceeds the requirement for protein and nucleotide synthesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *104*, 19345-19350.

Debnath, J. (2011). The multifaceted roles of autophagy in tumors-implications for breast cancer. Journal of Mammary Gland Biology and Neoplasia *16*, 173-187.

Degenhardt, K., Mathew, R., Beaudoin, B., Bray, K., Anderson, D., Chen, G., Mukherjee, C., Shi, Y., Gelinas, C., Fan, Y., *et al.* (2006). Autophagy promotes tumor cell survival and restricts necrosis, inflammation, and tumorigenesis. Cancer Cell *10*, 51-64.

Deng, X., Kim, M., Vandier, D., Jung, Y. J., Rikiyama, T., Sgagias, M. K., Goldsmith, M., and Cowan, K. H. (2002). Recombinant adenovirus-mediated p14(ARF) overexpression sensitizes human breast cancer cells to cisplatin. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications *296*, 792-798.

Desrivieres, S., Kunz, C., Barash, I., Vafaizadeh, V., Borghouts, C., and Groner, B.

(2006). The biological functions of the versatile transcription factors STAT3 and STAT5 and new strategies for their targeted inhibition. Journal of Mammary Gland Biology and Neoplasia *11*, 75-87.

DeYoung, M. P., Tress, M., and Narayanan, R. (2003a). Down's syndrome-associated Single Minded 2 gene as a pancreatic cancer drug therapy target. Cancer Lett *200*, 25-31.

DeYoung, M. P., Tress, M., and Narayanan, R. (2003b). Identification of Down's syndrome critical locus gene SIM2-s as a drug therapy target for solid tumors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *100*, 4760-4765.

Diers, A. R., Broniowska, K. A., Chang, C. F., and Hogg, N. (2012). Pyruvate fuels mitochondrial respiration and proliferation of breast cancer cells: effect of monocarboxylate transporter inhibition. Biochem J *444*, 561-571.

Dillon, D. A., Guidi, A.J., Schnitt, S.J. (2010). Chapter 28: Pathology of Invasive Breast Cancer. Diseases of the Breast. L.M. Harris JR, Morrow M, Osborne CK, eds. (Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins).

Donehower, L. A., Harvey, M., Slagle, B. L., McArthur, M. J., Montgomery, C. A., Jr., Butel, J. S., and Bradley, A. (1992). Mice deficient for p53 are developmentally normal but susceptible to spontaneous tumours. Nature *356*, 215-221.

Dontu, G., Abdallah, W. M., Foley, J. M., Jackson, K. W., Clarke, M. F., Kawamura, M. J., and Wicha, M. S. (2003). In vitro propagation and transcriptional profiling of human mammary stem/progenitor cells. Genes Dev *17*, 1253-1270.

Du, Z., Li, J., Wang, L., Bian, C., Wang, Q., Liao, L., Dou, X., Bian, X., and Zhao, R. C. (2010). Overexpression of DeltaNp63alpha induces a stem cell phenotype in MCF7 breast carcinoma cell line through the Notch pathway. Cancer Sci *101*, 2417-2424.

Dubois-Marshall, S., Thomas, J. S., Faratian, D., Harrison, D. J., and Katz, E. (2011). Two possible mechanisms of epithelial to mesenchymal transition in invasive ductal breast cancer. Clin Exp Metastasis *28*, 811-818.

Edgar, R., Domrachev, M., and Lash, A. E. (2002). Gene Expression Omnibus: NCBI gene expression and hybridization array data repository. Nucleic Acids Research *30*, 207-210.

Ellenbroek, S. I., Iden, S., and Collard, J. G. (2012). Cell polarity proteins and cancer. Seminars in Cancer Biology *22*, 208-215.

Ema, M., Ikegami, S., Hosoya, T., Mimura, J., Ohtani, H., Nakao, K., Inokuchi, K., Katsuki, M., and Fujii-Kuriyama, Y. (1999). Mild impairment of learning and memory in mice overexpressing the mSim2 gene located on chromosome 16: an animal model of Down's syndrome. Hum Mol Genet *8*, 1409-1415.

Ema, M., Morita, M., Ikawa, S., Tanaka, M., Matsuda, Y., Gotoh, O., Saijoh, Y., Fujii, H., Hamada, H., Kikuchi, Y., and Fujii-Kuriyama, Y. (1996). Two new members of the murine Sim gene family are transcriptional repressors and show different expression patterns during mouse embryogenesis. Molecular and Cellular Biology *16*, 5865-5875.

Eruslanov, E., and Kusmartsev, S. (2010). Identification of ROS using oxidized DCFDA and flow-cytometry. Methods in Molecular Biology *594*, 57-72.

Espina, V., and Liotta, L. A. (2011). What is the malignant nature of human ductal carcinoma in situ? Nat Rev Cancer 11, 68-75.

Farrall, A. L., and Whitelaw, M. L. (2009). The HIF1alpha-inducible pro-cell death gene BNIP3 is a novel target of SIM2s repression through cross-talk on the hypoxia response element. Oncogene 28, 3671-3680.

Favaro, E., Bensaad, K., Chong, M. G., Tennant, D. A., Ferguson, D. J., Snell, C., Steers, G., Turley, H., Li, J. L., Gunther, U. L., *et al.* (2012). Glucose utilization via glycogen phosphorylase sustains proliferation and prevents premature senescence in cancer cells. Cell Metabolism *16*, 751-764.

Feng, Z., and Levine, A. J. (2010). The regulation of energy metabolism and the IGF-1/mTOR pathways by the p53 protein. Trends in Cell Biology *20*, 427-434.

Feng, Z., Zhang, H., Levine, A. J., and Jin, S. (2005). The coordinate regulation of the p53 and mTOR pathways in cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *102*, 8204-8209.

Ferbeyre, G., de Stanchina, E., Lin, A. W., Querido, E., McCurrach, M. E., Hannon, G.

J., and Lowe, S. W. (2002). Oncogenic ras and p53 cooperate to induce cellular senescence.

Molecular and Cellular Biology 22, 3497-3508.

Ferreira, L. M., Hebrant, A., and Dumont, J. E. (2012). Metabolic reprogramming of the tumor. Oncogene *31*, 3999-4011.

Flanders, K. C., and Wakefield, L. M. (2009). Transforming growth factor-(beta)s and mammary gland involution; functional roles and implications for cancer progression. Journal of Mammary Gland Biology and Neoplasia *14*, 131-144.

Fonseca, C. T., Amaral, D. M., Ribeiro, M. G., Beserra, I. C., and Guimaraes, M. M. (2005). Insulin resistance in adolescents with Down syndrome: a cross-sectional study. BMC Endocr Disord *5*, 6.

Frankenberry, K. A., Skinner, H., Somasundar, P., McFadden, D. W., and Vona-Davis, L. C. (2006). Leptin receptor expression and cell signaling in breast cancer. Int J Oncol *28*, 985-993.

Fujii, H., Szumel, R., Marsh, C., Zhou, W., and Gabrielson, E. (1996). Genetic progression, histological grade, and allelic loss in ductal carcinoma in situ of the breast. Cancer Research *56*, 5260-5265.

Furth, P. A. (1999). Introduction: mammary gland involution and apoptosis of mammary epithelial cells. Journal of Mammary Gland Biology and Neoplasia *4*, 123-127.

Gallego, M. I., Binart, N., Robinson, G. W., Okagaki, R., Coschigano, K. T., Perry, J., Kopchick, J. J., Oka, T., Kelly, P. A., and Hennighausen, L. (2001). Prolactin, growth hormone, and epidermal growth factor activate Stat5 in different compartments of mammary tissue and exert different and overlapping developmental effects. Developmental Biology *229*, 163-175.

Gambhir, S. S. (2002). Molecular imaging of cancer with positron emission tomography. Nat Rev Cancer *2*, 683-693.

Gasco, M., Shami, S., and Crook, T. (2002). The p53 pathway in breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res *4*, 70-76.

Gatenby, R. A., and Gillies, R. J. (2004). Why do cancers have high aerobic glycolysis? Nat Rev Cancer *4*, 891-899.

Gauthier, M. L., Berman, H. K., Miller, C., Kozakeiwicz, K., Chew, K., Moore, D., Rabban, J., Chen, Y. Y., Kerlikowske, K., and Tlsty, T. D. (2007). Abrogated response to cellular stress identifies DCIS associated with subsequent tumor events and defines basal-like breast tumors. Cancer Cell *12*, 479-491.

Ginestier, C., Hur, M. H., Charafe-Jauffret, E., Monville, F., Dutcher, J., Brown, M., Jacquemier, J., Viens, P., Kleer, C. G., Liu, S., *et al.* (2007). ALDH1 is a marker of normal and malignant human mammary stem cells and a predictor of poor clinical outcome. Cell Stem Cell *1*, 555-567.

Gomes, L. C., Di Benedetto, G., and Scorrano, L. (2011). During autophagy mitochondria elongate, are spared from degradation and sustain cell viability. Nat Cell Biol *13*, 589-598.

Gomis, R. R., Alarcon, C., Nadal, C., Van Poznak, C., and Massague, J. (2006).

C/EBPbeta at the core of the TGFbeta cytostatic response and its evasion in metastatic breast cancer cells. Cancer Cell *10*, 203-214.

Gong, C., Bauvy, C., Tonelli, G., Yue, W., Delomenie, C., Nicolas, V., Zhu, Y., Domergue, V., Marin-Esteban, V., Tharinger, H., *et al.* (2012). Beclin 1 and autophagy are required for the tumorigenicity of breast cancer stem-like/progenitor cells. Oncogene *32*, 2261-2272.

Gordon, K. E., Binas, B., Chapman, R. S., Kurian, K. M., Clarkson, R. W., Clark, A. J., Lane, E. B., and Watson, C. J. (2000). A novel cell culture model for studying differentiation and apoptosis in the mouse mammary gland. Breast Cancer Res *2*, 222-235.

Goshu, E., Jin, H., Fasnacht, R., Sepenski, M., Michaud, J. L., and Fan, C. M. (2002). Sim2 mutants have developmental defects not overlapping with those of Sim1 mutants. Molecular and Cellular Biology 22, 4147-4157.

Goularte, J. F., Ferreira, M. B., and Sanvitto, G. L. (2012). Effects of food pattern change and physical exercise on cafeteria diet-induced obesity in female rats. The British Journal of Nutrition *108*, 1511-1518.

Greenblatt, M. S., Chappuis, P. O., Bond, J. P., Hamel, N., and Foulkes, W. D. (2001).

TP53 mutations in breast cancer associated with BRCA1 or BRCA2 germ-line mutations: distinctive spectrum and structural distribution. Cancer Research *61*, 4092-4097.

Grimm, S. L., and Rosen, J. M. (2003). The role of C/EBPbeta in mammary gland development and breast cancer. Journal of Mammary Gland Biology and Neoplasia *8*, 191-204.

Group, U. S. Cancer Statistics Working (2013). 1999-2009 Incidence and Mortality Web-Based Report. In United States Cancer Statistics, C.f.D.C.a.P.a.N.C.I. Atlanta: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, ed. (www.cdc.gov/uscs). Gur, D. (2010). The ductal carcinoma in situ (DCIS) dilemma. Academic Radiology 17, 133-134.

Gustafson, T. L., Wellberg, E., Laffin, B., Schilling, L., Metz, R. P., Zahnow, C. A., and Porter, W. W. (2009a). Ha-Ras transformation of MCF10A cells leads to repression of Singleminded-2s through NOTCH and C/EBPbeta. Oncogene 28, 1561-1568.

Hadsell, D. L., Olea, W., Wei, J., Fiorotto, M. L., Matsunami, R. K., Engler, D. A., and Collier, R. J. (2011). Developmental regulation of mitochondrial biogenesis and function in the mouse mammary gland during a prolonged lactation cycle. Physiological Genomics *43*, 271-285.

Hadsell, D. L., Torres, D., George, J., Capuco, A. V., Ellis, S. E., and Fiorotto, M. L. (2006). Changes in secretory cell turnover, and mitochondrial oxidative damage in the mouse mammary gland during a single prolonged lactation cycle suggest the possibility of accelerated cellular aging. Experimental Gerontology *41*, 271-281.

Hadsell, D. L., Torres, D. T., Lawrence, N. A., George, J., Parlow, A. F., Lee, A. V., and Fiorotto, M. L. (2005). Overexpression of des(1-3) insulin-like growth factor 1 in the mammary glands of transgenic mice delays the loss of milk production with prolonged lactation. Biol Reprod *73*, 1116-1125.

Haffner, M. C., Berlato, C., and Doppler, W. (2006). Exploiting our knowledge of NFkappaB signaling for the treatment of mammary cancer. Journal of Mammary Gland Biology and Neoplasia 11, 63-73.

Hallenborg, P., Feddersen, S., Madsen, L., and Kristiansen, K. (2009). The tumor suppressors pRB and p53 as regulators of adipocyte differentiation and function. Expert Opinion on Therapeutic Targets *13*, 235-246. Halvorsen, O. J., Rostad, K., Oyan, A. M., Puntervoll, H., Bo, T. H., Stordrange, L.,

Olsen, S., Haukaas, S. A., Hood, L., Jonassen, I., *et al.* (2007). Increased expression of SIM2-s protein is a novel marker of aggressive prostate cancer. Clin Cancer Res *13*, 892-897.

Hama, Y., and Nakagawa, K. (2010). Early distant relapse in early stage triple-negative breast cancer: usefulness of FDG-PET for diagnosis of distant metastases. Breast Cancer *20*, 191-193.

Hamacher-Brady, A., Brady, N. R., Logue, S. E., Sayen, M. R., Jinno, M., Kirshenbaum,
L. A., Gottlieb, R. A., and Gustafsson, A. B. (2007). Response to myocardial
ischemia/reperfusion injury involves Bnip3 and autophagy. Cell Death and Differentiation *14*, 146-157.

Happ, B., and Groner, B. (1993). The activated mammary gland specific nuclear factor (MGF) enhances in vitro transcription of the beta-casein gene promoter. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol *47*, 21-30.

Harguindey, S., Orive, G., Luis Pedraz, J., Paradiso, A., and Reshkin, S. J. (2005). The role of pH dynamics and the Na+/H+ antiporter in the etiopathogenesis and treatment of cancer. Two faces of the same coin--one single nature. Biochimica et Biophysica acta *1756*, 1-24.

Harvie, M., and Howell, A. (2006). Energy balance adiposity and breast cancer - energy restriction strategies for breast cancer prevention. Obesity Reviews : an Official Journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity *7*, 33-47.

Harvie, M., and Howell, A. (2012). Energy restriction and the prevention of breast cancer. The Proceedings of the Nutrition Society *71*, 263-275.

Hasle, H., Clemmensen, I. H., and Mikkelsen, M. (2000a). [Incidence of cancer in individuals with Down syndrome]. Tidsskr Nor Laegeforen *120*, 2878-2881.

Hasle, H., Clemmensen, I. H., and Mikkelsen, M. (2000b). [Occurrence of cancer in individuals with Down syndrome]. Ugeskr Laeger *162*, 4535-4539.

Hasle, H., Clemmensen, I. H., and Mikkelsen, M. (2000c). Risks of leukaemia and solid tumours in individuals with Down's syndrome. Lancet *355*, 165-169.

Havis, E., Coumailleau, P., Bonnet, A., Bismuth, K., Bonnin, M. A., Johnson, R., Fan,
C. M., Relaix, F., Shi, D. L., and Duprez, D. (2012). Sim2 prevents entry into the myogenic
program by repressing MyoD transcription during limb embryonic myogenesis. Development *139*, 1910-1920.

Hayflick, L. (1965). The Limited in Vitro Lifetime of Human Diploid Cell Strains. Experimental Cell Research *37*, 614-636.

He, Q., Li, G., Su, Y., Shen, J., Liu, Q., Ma, X., Zhao, P., and Zhang, J. (2010). Single minded 2-s (SIM2-s) gene is expressed in human GBM cells and involved in GBM invasion. Cancer Biology & Therapy *9*, 430-436.

Heermeier, K., Benedict, M., Li, M., Furth, P., Nunez, G., and Hennighausen, L. (1996). Bax and Bcl-xs are induced at the onset of apoptosis in involuting mammary epithelial cells. Mechanisms of Development *56*, 197-207.

Helguera, P., Seiglie, J., Rodriguez, J., Hanna, M., Helguera, G., and Busciglio, J.

(2013). Adaptive downregulation of mitochondrial function in down syndrome. Cell Metabolism *17*, 132-140.

Hennessy, B. T., Gonzalez-Angulo, A. M., Stemke-Hale, K., Gilcrease, M. Z.,

Krishnamurthy, S., Lee, J. S., Fridlyand, J., Sahin, A., Agarwal, R., Joy, C., et al. (2009).

Characterization of a naturally occurring breast cancer subset enriched in epithelial-to-

mesenchymal transition and stem cell characteristics. Cancer Research 69, 4116-4124.

Hennighausen, L., Robinson, G. W., Wagner, K. U., and Liu, X. (1997). Developing a mammary gland is a stat affair. Journal of Mammary Gland Biology and Neoplasia 2, 365-372.

Henson, D. E., and Tarone, R. E. (1994). Involution and the etiology of breast cancer. Cancer 74, 424-429.

Hernandez, L., Wilkerson, P. M., Lambros, M. B., Campion-Flora, A., Rodrigues, D. N., Gauthier, A., Cabral, C., Pawar, V., Mackay, A., A'Hern, R., *et al.* (2012). Genomic and mutational profiling of ductal carcinomas in situ and matched adjacent invasive breast cancers reveals intra-tumour genetic heterogeneity and clonal selection. The Journal of Pathology *227*, 42-52.

Herschkowitz, J. I., Simin, K., Weigman, V. J., Mikaelian, I., Usary, J., Hu, Z., Rasmussen, K. E., Jones, L. P., Assefnia, S., Chandrasekharan, S., *et al.* (2007). Identification of conserved gene expression features between murine mammary carcinoma models and human breast tumors. Genome Biol *8*, R76.

Heselmeyer-Haddad, K., Berroa Garcia, L. Y., Bradley, A., Ortiz-Melendez, C., Lee, W.
J., Christensen, R., Prindiville, S. A., Calzone, K. A., Soballe, P. W., Hu, Y., *et al.* (2012).
Single-cell genetic analysis of ductal carcinoma in situ and invasive breast cancer reveals
enormous tumor heterogeneity yet conserved genomic imbalances and gain of MYC during
progression. Am J Pathol *181*, 1807-1822.

Hettinger, A. M., Allen, M. R., Zhang, B. R., Goad, D. W., Malayer, J. R., and Geisert,R. D. (2001). Presence of the acute phase protein, bikunin, in the endometrium of gilts during estrous cycle and early pregnancy. Biol Reprod *65*, 507-513.

Hill, D. A., Gridley, G., Cnattingius, S., Mellemkjaer, L., Linet, M., Adami, H. O., Olsen, J. H., Nyren, O., and Fraumeni, J. F., Jr. (2003). Mortality and cancer incidence among individuals with Down syndrome. Arch Intern Med *163*, 705-711. Hiraoka, K., Zenmyo, M., Komiya, S., Kawabata, R., Yokouchi, M., Suzuki, R.,

Hamada, T., Kato, S., and Nagata, K. (2002). Relationship of p21 (waf1/cip1) and differentiation in chondrosarcoma cells. Virchows Arch *440*, 285-290.

Hirschhaeuser, F., Sattler, U. G., and Mueller-Klieser, W. (2011). Lactate: a metabolic key player in cancer. Cancer Research *71*, 6921-6925.

Hoshino, A., Matoba, S., Iwai-Kanai, E., Nakamura, H., Kimata, M., Nakaoka, M., Katamura, M., Okawa, Y., Ariyoshi, M., Mita, Y., *et al.* (2012). p53-TIGAR axis attenuates mitophagy to exacerbate cardiac damage after ischemia. Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology *52*, 175-184.

Howell, A., Chapman, M., and Harvie, M. (2009). Energy restriction for breast cancer prevention. Recent Results in Cancer Research Fortschritte der Krebsforschung Progres dans les recherches sur le cancer *181*, 97-111.

Hu, M., Yao, J., Carroll, D. K., Weremowicz, S., Chen, H., Carrasco, D., Richardson, A., Violette, S., Nikolskaya, T., Nikolsky, Y., *et al.* (2008). Regulation of in situ to invasive breast carcinoma transition. Cancer Cell *13*, 394-406.

Humphreys, R. C., Bierie, B., Zhao, L., Raz, R., Levy, D., and Hennighausen, L. (2002). Deletion of Stat3 blocks mammary gland involution and extends functional competence of the secretory epithelium in the absence of lactogenic stimuli. Endocrinology *143*, 3641-3650.

Hussien, R., and Brooks, G. A. (2011). Mitochondrial and plasma membrane lactate transporter and lactate dehydrogenase isoform expression in breast cancer cell lines. Physiological Genomics *43*, 255-264.

Imazu, T., Shimizu, S., Tagami, S., Matsushima, M., Nakamura, Y., Miki, T., Okuyama, A., and Tsujimoto, Y. (1999). Bcl-2/E1B 19 kDa-interacting protein 3-like protein (Bnip3L)

interacts with bcl-2/Bcl-xL and induces apoptosis by altering mitochondrial membrane permeability. Oncogene *18*, 4523-4529.

Inoue, N., Yahagi, N., Yamamoto, T., Ishikawa, M., Watanabe, K., Matsuzaka, T., Nakagawa, Y., Takeuchi, Y., Kobayashi, K., Takahashi, A., *et al.* (2008). Cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor, p21WAF1/CIP1, is involved in adipocyte differentiation and hypertrophy, linking to obesity, and insulin resistance. J Biol Chem *283*, 21220-21229.

Ioachim, E. E., Athanassiadou, S. E., Kamina, S., Carassavoglou, K., and Agnantis, N. J. (1998). Matrix metalloproteinase expression in human breast cancer: an immunohistochemical study including correlation with cathepsin D, type IV collagen, laminin, fibronectin, EGFR, c-erbB-2 oncoprotein, p53, steroid receptors status and proliferative indices. Anticancer Res *18*, 1665-1670.

Jager, R., Herzer, U., Schenkel, J., and Weiher, H. (1997). Overexpression of Bcl-2 inhibits alveolar cell apoptosis during involution and accelerates c-myc-induced tumorigenesis of the mammary gland in transgenic mice. Oncogene *15*, 1787-1795.

Jaggi, R., Marti, A., Guo, K., Feng, Z., and Friis, R. R. (1996). Regulation of a physiological apoptosis: mouse mammary involution. J Dairy Sci 79, 1074-1084.

Jerry, D. J., Dickinson, E. S., Roberts, A. L., and Said, T. K. (2002). Regulation of apoptosis during mammary involution by the p53 tumor suppressor gene. J Dairy Sci *85*, 1103-1110.

Jerry, D. J., Kittrell, F. S., Kuperwasser, C., Laucirica, R., Dickinson, E. S., Bonilla, P. J., Butel, J. S., and Medina, D. (2000). A mammary-specific model demonstrates the role of the p53 tumor suppressor gene in tumor development. Oncogene *19*, 1052-1058.

Jerry, D. J., Kuperwasser, C., Downing, S. R., Pinkas, J., He, C., Dickinson, E.,

Marconi, S., and Naber, S. P. (1998). Delayed involution of the mammary epithelium in BALB/c-p53null mice. Oncogene *17*, 2305-2312.

Jerry, D. J., Pinkas, J., Kuperwasser, C., Dickinson, E. S., and Naber, S. P. (1999). Regulation of p53 and its targets during involution of the mammary gland. Journal of Mammary Gland Biology and Neoplasia *4*, 177-181.

Jiang, P., Du, W., Mancuso, A., Wellen, K. E., and Yang, X. (2013). Reciprocal regulation of p53 and malic enzymes modulates metabolism and senescence. Nature *493*, 689-693.

Jiang, P., Du, W., Wang, X., Mancuso, A., Gao, X., Wu, M., and Yang, X. (2011). p53 regulates biosynthesis through direct inactivation of glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase. Nat Cell Biol *13*, 310-316.

Jin, S. (2006). Autophagy, mitochondrial quality control, and oncogenesis. Autophagy 2, 80-84.

Jogi, A., Vaapil, M., Johansson, M., and Pahlman, S. (2012). Cancer cell differentiation heterogeneity and aggressive behavior in solid tumors. Upsala Journal of Medical Sciences *117*, 217-224.

Johnson, A. R., Milner, J. J., and Makowski, L. (2012). The inflammation highway: metabolism accelerates inflammatory traffic in obesity. Immunological Reviews *249*, 218-238.

Johnson, K. J., Peck, A. R., Liu, C., Tran, T. H., Utama, F. E., Sjolund, A. B., Schaber, J. D., Witkiewicz, A. K., and Rui, H. (2010). PTP1B suppresses prolactin activation of Stat5 in breast cancer cells. Am J Pathol *177*, 2971-2983.

Johnson, R. F., and Perkins, N. D. (2012). Nuclear factor-kappaB, p53, and mitochondria: regulation of cellular metabolism and the Warburg effect. Trends in Biochemical Sciences *37*, 317-324.

Johnson, R. F., Witzel, II, and Perkins, N. D. (2011). p53-dependent regulation of mitochondrial energy production by the RelA subunit of NF-kappaB. Cancer Research *71*, 5588-5597.

Jones, J. L. (2006). Overdiagnosis and overtreatment of breast cancer: progression of ductal carcinoma in situ: the pathological perspective. Breast Cancer Res *8*, 204.

Jones, R. G., and Thompson, C. B. (2009). Tumor suppressors and cell metabolism: a recipe for cancer growth. Genes Dev 23, 537-548.

Junttila, M. R., and Evan, G. I. (2009). p53--a Jack of all trades but master of none. Nat Rev Cancer 9, 821-829.

Kabotyanski, E. B., Rijnkels, M., Freeman-Zadrowski, C., Buser, A. C., Edwards, D. P., and Rosen, J. M. (2009). Lactogenic hormonal induction of long distance interactions between beta-casein gene regulatory elements. J Biol Chem *284*, 22815-22824.

Kallergi, G., Papadaki, M. A., Politaki, E., Mavroudis, D., Georgoulias, V., and Agelaki, S. (2011). Epithelial to mesenchymal transition markers expressed in circulating tumour cells of early and metastatic breast cancer patients. Breast Cancer Res *13*, R59.

Kanzawa, T., Zhang, L., Xiao, L., Germano, I. M., Kondo, Y., and Kondo, S. (2005). Arsenic trioxide induces autophagic cell death in malignant glioma cells by upregulation of mitochondrial cell death protein BNIP3. Oncogene *24*, 980-991.

Karantza-Wadsworth, V., Patel, S., Kravchuk, O., Chen, G., Mathew, R., Jin, S., and White, E. (2007). Autophagy mitigates metabolic stress and genome damage in mammary tumorigenesis. Genes Dev *21*, 1621-1635.

Karawajew, L., Rhein, P., Czerwony, G., and Ludwig, W. D. (2005). Stress-induced activation of the p53 tumor suppressor in leukemia cells and normal lymphocytes requires mitochondrial activity and reactive oxygen species. Blood *105*, 4767-4775.

Karimi-Busheri, F., Rasouli-Nia, A., Mackey, J. R., and Weinfeld, M. (2010). Senescence evasion by MCF-7 human breast tumor-initiating cells. Breast Cancer Res *12*, R31.

Kasai, Y., Nambu, J. R., Lieberman, P. M., and Crews, S. T. (1992). Dorsal-ventral patterning in Drosophila: DNA binding of snail protein to the single-minded gene. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *89*, 3414-3418.

Kasper, M., Jaks, V., Fiaschi, M., and Toftgard, R. (2009). Hedgehog signalling in breast cancer. Carcinogenesis *30*, 903-911.

Kasperczyk, H., Baumann, B., Debatin, K. M., and Fulda, S. (2009). Characterization of sonic hedgehog as a novel NF-kappaB target gene that promotes NF-kappaB-mediated apoptosis resistance and tumor growth in vivo. FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology *23*, 21-33.

Kawauchi, K., Araki, K., Tobiume, K., and Tanaka, N. (2008). p53 regulates glucose metabolism through an IKK-NF-kappaB pathway and inhibits cell transformation. Nat Cell Biol *10*, 611-618.

Kerlikowske, K., Molinaro, A. M., Gauthier, M. L., Berman, H. K., Waldman, F., Bennington, J., Sanchez, H., Jimenez, C., Stewart, K., Chew, K., *et al.* (2010). Biomarker expression and risk of subsequent tumors after initial ductal carcinoma in situ diagnosis. Journal of the National Cancer Institute *102*, 627-637.

Kessenbrock, K., Plaks, V., and Werb, Z. (2010). Matrix metalloproteinases: regulators of the tumor microenvironment. Cell *141*, 52-67.

Kewley, R. J., Whitelaw, M. L., and Chapman-Smith, A. (2004). The mammalian basic helix-loop-helix/PAS family of transcriptional regulators. Int J Biochem Cell Biol *36*, 189-204.

Kiaris, H., Politi, K., Grimm, L. M., Szabolcs, M., Fisher, P., Efstratiadis, A., and Artavanis-Tsakonas, S. (2004). Modulation of notch signaling elicits signature tumors and inhibits hras1-induced oncogenesis in the mouse mammary epithelium. Am J Pathol *165*, 695-705.

Kim, Y. M., Seo, Y. H., Park, C. B., Yoon, S. H., and Yoon, G. (2010). Roles of GSK3 in metabolic shift toward abnormal anabolism in cell senescence. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences *1201*, 65-71.

Kitada, T., Asakawa, S., Hattori, N., Matsumine, H., Yamamura, Y., Minoshima, S., Yokochi, M., Mizuno, Y., and Shimizu, N. (1998). Mutations in the parkin gene cause autosomal recessive juvenile parkinsonism. Nature *392*, 605-608.

Kitamura, N., Nakamura, Y., Miyamoto, Y., Miyamoto, T., Kabu, K., Yoshida, M., Futamura, M., Ichinose, S., and Arakawa, H. (2011). Mieap, a p53-inducible protein, controls mitochondrial quality by repairing or eliminating unhealthy mitochondria. PloS One *6*, e16060.

Klar, A. J. (2003). Human handedness and scalp hair-whorl direction develop from a common genetic mechanism. Genetics *165*, 269-276.

Klingenberg, L., Sjodin, A., Holmback, U., Astrup, A., and Chaput, J. P. (2012). Short sleep duration and its association with energy metabolism. Obesity reviews : an official journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity *13*, 565-577.

Knudsen, E. S., Pajak, T. F., Qeenan, M., McClendon, A. K., Armon, B. D., Schwartz,G. F., and Witkiewicz, A. K. (2012). Retinoblastoma and phosphate and tensin homolog tumor suppressors: impact on ductal carcinoma in situ progression. Journal of the National Cancer Institute *104*, 1825-1836.

Kondo, Y., Kanzawa, T., Sawaya, R., and Kondo, S. (2005). The role of autophagy in cancer development and response to therapy. Nat Rev Cancer *5*, 726-734.

Koodie, L., Ramakrishnan, S., and Roy, S. (2010). Morphine suppresses tumor angiogenesis through a HIF-1alpha/p38MAPK pathway. Am J Pathol *177*, 984-997.

Koop, E. A., van Laar, T., van Wichen, D. F., de Weger, R. A., Wall, E., and van Diest,P. J. (2009). Expression of BNIP3 in invasive breast cancer: correlations with the hypoxicresponse and clinicopathological features. BMC Cancer *9*, 175.

Korkaya, H., and Wicha, M. S. (2007). Selective targeting of cancer stem cells: a new concept in cancer therapeutics. BioDrugs *21*, 299-310.

Kouros-Mehr, H., Bechis, S. K., Slorach, E. M., Littlepage, L. E., Egeblad, M., Ewald, A. J., Pai, S. Y., Ho, I. C., and Werb, Z. (2008). GATA-3 links tumor differentiation and dissemination in a luminal breast cancer model. Cancer Cell *13*, 141-152.

Kouros-Mehr, H., Slorach, E. M., Sternlicht, M. D., and Werb, Z. (2006). GATA-3 maintains the differentiation of the luminal cell fate in the mammary gland. Cell *127*, 1041-1055.

Kozlow, W., and Guise, T. A. (2005). Breast cancer metastasis to bone: mechanisms of osteolysis and implications for therapy. Journal of Mammary Gland Biology and Neoplasia *10*, 169-180.

Kritikou, E. A., Sharkey, A., Abell, K., Came, P. J., Anderson, E., Clarkson, R. W., and Watson, C. J. (2003). A dual, non-redundant, role for LIF as a regulator of development and STAT3-mediated cell death in mammary gland. Development *130*, 3459-3468.

Kroemer, G., and Pouyssegur, J. (2008). Tumor cell metabolism: cancer's Achilles' heel. Cancer Cell *13*, 472-482.

Kubli, D. A., Ycaza, J. E., and Gustafsson, A. B. (2007). Bnip3 mediates mitochondrial dysfunction and cell death through Bax and Bak. Biochem J *405*, 407-415.

Kuilman, T., Michaloglou, C., Mooi, W. J., and Peeper, D. S. (2010). The essence of senescence. Genes Dev 24, 2463-2479.

Kuilman, T., and Peeper, D. S. (2009). Senescence-messaging secretome: SMS-ing cellular stress. Nat Rev Cancer *9*, 81-94.

Kwak, H. I., Gustafson, T., Metz, R. P., Laffin, B., Schedin, P., and Porter, W. W. (2007). Inhibition of breast cancer growth and invasion by single-minded 2s. Carcinogenesis *28*, 259-266.

La Rocca, G., Pucci-Minafra, I., Marrazzo, A., Taormina, P., and Minafra, S. (2004). Zymographic detection and clinical correlations of MMP-2 and MMP-9 in breast cancer sera. British Journal of Cancer *90*, 1414-1421.

Laffin, B., Wellberg, E., Kwak, H. I., Burghardt, R. C., Metz, R. P., Gustafson, T., Schedin, P., and Porter, W. W. (2008). Loss of singleminded-2s in the mouse mammary gland induces an epithelial-mesenchymal transition associated with up-regulation of slug and matrix metalloprotease 2. Molecular and Cellular Biology *28*, 1936-1946.

LaMarca, H. L., and Rosen, J. M. (2008). Minireview: hormones and mammary cell fate--what will I become when I grow up? Endocrinology *149*, 4317-4321.

LaMarca, H. L., Visbal, A. P., Creighton, C. J., Liu, H., Zhang, Y., Behbod, F., and Rosen, J. M. (2010). CCAAT/enhancer binding protein beta regulates stem cell activity and specifies luminal cell fate in the mammary gland. Stem Cells *28*, 535-544.

Lee, S., Stewart, S., Nagtegaal, I., Luo, J., Wu, Y., Colditz, G., Medina, D., and Allred, D. C. (2012). Differentially expressed genes regulating the progression of ductal carcinoma in situ to invasive breast cancer. Cancer Research *72*, 4574-4586. Lefebvre, O., Wolf, C., Limacher, J. M., Hutin, P., Wendling, C., LeMeur, M., Basset, P., and Rio, M. C. (1992). The breast cancer-associated stromelysin-3 gene is expressed during mouse mammary gland apoptosis. J Cell Biol *119*, 997-1002.

Lengner, C. J., Steinman, H. A., Gagnon, J., Smith, T. W., Henderson, J. E., Kream, B.
E., Stein, G. S., Lian, J. B., and Jones, S. N. (2006). Osteoblast differentiation and skeletal
development are regulated by Mdm2-p53 signaling. J Cell Biol *172*, 909-921.

Levine, A. J., and Puzio-Kuter, A. M. (2010). The control of the metabolic switch in cancers by oncogenes and tumor suppressor genes. Science *330*, 1340-1344.

Lewis, J. O., and Crews, S. T. (1994). Genetic analysis of the Drosophila single-minded gene reveals a central nervous system influence on muscle development. Mechanisms of Development *48*, 81-91.

Li, M., Hu, J., Heermeier, K., Hennighausen, L., and Furth, P. A. (1996). Apoptosis and remodeling of mammary gland tissue during involution proceeds through p53-independent pathways. Cell growth & differentiation : the molecular biology journal of the American Association for Cancer Research *7*, 13-20.

Li, S., and Rosen, J. M. (1995). Nuclear factor I and mammary gland factor (STAT5) play a critical role in regulating rat whey acidic protein gene expression in transgenic mice. Molecular and Cellular Biology *15*, 2063-2070.

Liang, X. H., Jackson, S., Seaman, M., Brown, K., Kempkes, B., Hibshoosh, H., and Levine, B. (1999). Induction of autophagy and inhibition of tumorigenesis by beclin 1. Nature 402, 672-676.

Liao, N., Zhang, G. C., Liu, Y. H., Li, X. R., Yao, M., Xu, F. P., Li, L., and Wu, Y. L. (2011). HER2-positive status is an independent predictor for coexisting invasion of ductal

carcinoma in situ of the breast presenting extensive DCIS component. Pathology, Research and Practice *207*, 1-7.

Liao, X., Siu, M. K., Au, C. W., Wong, E. S., Chan, H. Y., Ip, P. P., Ngan, H. Y., and Cheung, A. N. (2009). Aberrant activation of hedgehog signaling pathway in ovarian cancers: effect on prognosis, cell invasion and differentiation. Carcinogenesis *30*, 131-140.

Linzer, D. I., and Levine, A. J. (1979). Characterization of a 54K dalton cellular SV40 tumor antigen present in SV40-transformed cells and uninfected embryonal carcinoma cells. Cell *17*, 43-52.

Liu, C., Zhang, H., Shuang, C., Lu, Y., Jin, F., Xu, H., and Lu, P. (2010). Alterations of ER, PR, HER-2/neu, and P53 protein expression in ductal breast carcinomas and clinical implications. Medical Oncology *27*, 747-752.

Liu, D., Guo, H., Li, Y., Xu, X., Yang, K., and Bai, Y. (2012). Association between Polymorphisms in the Promoter Regions of Matrix Metalloproteinases (MMPs) and Risk of Cancer Metastasis: A Meta-Analysis. PloS One 7, e31251.

Liu, R., Wang, X., Chen, G. Y., Dalerba, P., Gurney, A., Hoey, T., Sherlock, G., Lewicki, J., Shedden, K., and Clarke, M. F. (2007). The prognostic role of a gene signature from tumorigenic breast-cancer cells. The New England Journal of Medicine *356*, 217-226.

Liu, X., Gallego, M. I., Smith, G. H., Robinson, G. W., and Hennighausen, L. (1998). Functional rescue of Stat5a-null mammary tissue through the activation of compensating signals including Stat5b. Cell Growth & Differentiation : the Molecular Biology Journal of the American Association for Cancer Research *9*, 795-803.

Liu, X., Robinson, G. W., Gouilleux, F., Groner, B., and Hennighausen, L. (1995). Cloning and expression of Stat5 and an additional homologue (Stat5b) involved in prolactin signal transduction in mouse mammary tissue. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *92*, 8831-8835. Liu, X., Robinson, G. W., Wagner, K. U., Garrett, L., Wynshaw-Boris, A., and

Hennighausen, L. (1997). Stat5a is mandatory for adult mammary gland development and lactogenesis. Genes Dev *11*, 179-186.

Lozy, F., and Karantza, V. (2012). Autophagy and cancer cell metabolism. Seminars in Cell & Developmental Biology *23*, 395-401.

Lu, J., Guo, H., Treekitkarnmongkol, W., Li, P., Zhang, J., Shi, B., Ling, C., Zhou, X., Chen, T., Chiao, P. J., *et al.* (2009). 14-3-3zeta Cooperates with ErbB2 to promote ductal carcinoma in situ progression to invasive breast cancer by inducing epithelial-mesenchymal transition. Cancer Cell *16*, 195-207.

Lu, W., Pelicano, H., and Huang, P. (2010a). Cancer metabolism: is glutamine sweeter than glucose? Cancer Cell *18*, 199-200.

Lu, X., Bennet, B., Mu, E., Rabinowitz, J., and Kang, Y. (2010b). Metabolomic changes accompanying transformation and acquisition of metastatic potential in a syngeneic mouse mammary tumor model. J Biol Chem *285*, 9317-9321.

Lund, L. R., Romer, J., Thomasset, N., Solberg, H., Pyke, C., Bissell, M. J., Dano, K., and Werb, Z. (1996). Two distinct phases of apoptosis in mammary gland involution: proteinaseindependent and -dependent pathways. Development *122*, 181-193.

Lunt, S. Y., and Vander Heiden, M. G. (2011). Aerobic glycolysis: meeting the metabolic requirements of cell proliferation. Annual review of Cell and Developmental Biology *27*, 441-464.

Lyons, T. R., Schedin, P. J., and Borges, V. F. (2009). Pregnancy and breast cancer: when they collide. Journal of Mammary Gland Biology and Neoplasia *14*, 87-98.

Ma, W., Sung, H. J., Park, J. Y., Matoba, S., and Hwang, P. M. (2007). A pivotal role for p53: balancing aerobic respiration and glycolysis. Journal of Bioenergetics and Biomembranes *39*, 243-246.

Ma, X. J., Salunga, R., Tuggle, J. T., Gaudet, J., Enright, E., McQuary, P., Payette, T., Pistone, M., Stecker, K., Zhang, B. M., *et al.* (2003). Gene expression profiles of human breast cancer progression. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *100*, 5974-5979.

Macip, S., Igarashi, M., Berggren, P., Yu, J., Lee, S. W., and Aaronson, S. A. (2003). Influence of induced reactive oxygen species in p53-mediated cell fate decisions. Molecular and Cellular Biology *23*, 8576-8585.

Madan, E., Gogna, R., Bhatt, M., Pati, U., Kuppusamy, P., and Mahdi, A. A. (2011). Regulation of glucose metabolism by p53: emerging new roles for the tumor suppressor. Oncotarget *2*, 948-957.

Maffuz, A., Barroso-Bravo, S., Najera, I., Zarco, G., Alvarado-Cabrero, I., and Rodriguez-Cuevas, S. A. (2006). Tumor size as predictor of microinvasion, invasion, and axillary metastasis in ductal carcinoma in situ. J Exp Clin Cancer Res *25*, 223-227.

Malkin, D., Li, F. P., Strong, L. C., Fraumeni, J. F., Jr., Nelson, C. E., Kim, D. H., Kassel, J., Gryka, M. A., Bischoff, F. Z., Tainsky, M. A., and et al. (1990). Germ line p53 mutations in a familial syndrome of breast cancer, sarcomas, and other neoplasms. Science *250*, 1233-1238.

Mammucari, C., Milan, G., Romanello, V., Masiero, E., Rudolf, R., Del Piccolo, P., Burden, S. J., Di Lisi, R., Sandri, C., Zhao, J., *et al.* (2007). FoxO3 controls autophagy in skeletal muscle in vivo. Cell Metabolism *6*, 458-471. Manka, D., Spicer, Z., and Millhorn, D. E. (2005). Bcl-2/adenovirus E1B 19 kDa interacting protein-3 knockdown enables growth of breast cancer metastases in the lung, liver, and bone. Cancer Research *65*, 11689-11693.

Marroquin, L. D., Hynes, J., Dykens, J. A., Jamieson, J. D., and Will, Y. (2007). Circumventing the Crabtree effect: replacing media glucose with galactose increases susceptibility of HepG2 cells to mitochondrial toxicants. Toxicological Sciences : an Official Journal of the Society of Toxicology *97*, 539-547.

Marti, A., Lazar, H., Ritter, P., and Jaggi, R. (1999). Transcription factor activities and gene expression during mouse mammary gland involution. Journal of Mammary Gland Biology and Neoplasia *4*, 145-152.

Martinez-Estrada, O. M., Culleres, A., Soriano, F. X., Peinado, H., Bolos, V., Martinez,F. O., Reina, M., Cano, A., Fabre, M., and Vilaro, S. (2006). The transcription factors Slug andSnail act as repressors of Claudin-1 expression in epithelial cells. Biochem J *394*, 449-457.

Marzo, I., Brenner, C., Zamzami, N., Jurgensmeier, J. M., Susin, S. A., Vieira, H. L., Prevost, M. C., Xie, Z., Matsuyama, S., Reed, J. C., and Kroemer, G. (1998). Bax and adenine nucleotide translocator cooperate in the mitochondrial control of apoptosis. Science *281*, 2027-2031.

Masgras, I., Carrera, S., de Verdier, P. J., Brennan, P., Majid, A., Makhtar, W., Tulchinsky, E., Jones, G. D., Roninson, I. B., and Macip, S. (2012). Reactive oxygen species and mitochondrial sensitivity to oxidative stress determine induction of cancer cell death by p21. J Biol Chem *287*, 9845-9854.

Mathew, R., Karantza-Wadsworth, V., and White, E. (2009). Assessing metabolic stress and autophagy status in epithelial tumors. Methods in Enzymology *453*, 53-81.

Mathew, R., Kongara, S., Beaudoin, B., Karp, C. M., Bray, K., Degenhardt, K., Chen,

G., Jin, S., and White, E. (2007). Autophagy suppresses tumor progression by limiting chromosomal instability. Genes Dev *21*, 1367-1381.

Mathew, R., and White, E. (2011). Autophagy, stress, and cancer metabolism: what doesn't kill you makes you stronger. Cold Spring Harbor Symposia on Quantitative Biology *76*, 389-396.

Mathupala, S. P., Ko, Y. H., and Pedersen, P. L. (2006). Hexokinase II: cancer's doubleedged sword acting as both facilitator and gatekeeper of malignancy when bound to mitochondria. Oncogene *25*, 4777-4786.

Matoba, S., Kang, J. G., Patino, W. D., Wragg, A., Boehm, M., Gavrilova, O., Hurley, P. J., Bunz, F., and Hwang, P. M. (2006). p53 regulates mitochondrial respiration. Science *312*, 1650-1653.

Mauro, C., Leow, S. C., Anso, E., Rocha, S., Thotakura, A. K., Tornatore, L., Moretti, M., De Smaele, E., Beg, A. A., Tergaonkar, V., *et al.* (2011). NF-kappaB controls energy homeostasis and metabolic adaptation by upregulating mitochondrial respiration. Nat Cell Biol *13*, 1272-1279.

May, P., and May, E. (1999). Twenty years of p53 research: structural and functional aspects of the p53 protein. Oncogene *18*, 7621-7636.

Mazurek, S., Michel, A., and Eigenbrodt, E. (1997). Effect of extracellular AMP on cell proliferation and metabolism of breast cancer cell lines with high and low glycolytic rates. J Biol Chem *272*, 4941-4952.

McDaniel, S. M., Rumer, K. K., Biroc, S. L., Metz, R. P., Singh, M., Porter, W., and Schedin, P. (2006). Remodeling of the mammary microenvironment after lactation promotes breast tumor cell metastasis. Am J Pathol *168*, 608-620. Medina, D., and Kittrell, F. S. (2003). p53 function is required for hormone-mediated protection of mouse mammary tumorigenesis. Cancer Research *63*, 6140-6143.

Meerbrey, K. L., Hu, G., Kessler, J. D., Roarty, K., Li, M. Z., Fang, J. E., Herschkowitz,

J. I., Burrows, A. E., Ciccia, A., Sun, T., et al. (2011). The pINDUCER lentiviral toolkit for

inducible RNA interference in vitro and in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108, 3665-3670.

Mendes, O., Kim, H. T., and Stoica, G. (2005). Expression of MMP2, MMP9 and

MMP3 in breast cancer brain metastasis in a rat model. Clin Exp Metastasis 22, 237-246.

Metz, R. P., Kwak, H. I., Gustafson, T., Laffin, B., and Porter, W. W. (2006).

Differential transcriptional regulation by mouse single-minded 2s. J Biol Chem 281, 10839-10848.

Miller, F. R. (2000). Xenograft models of premalignant breast disease. Journal of Mammary Gland Biology and Neoplasia *5*, 379-391.

Miller, F. R., Santner, S. J., Tait, L., and Dawson, P. J. (2000). MCF10DCIS.com xenograft model of human comedo ductal carcinoma in situ. Journal of the National Cancer Institute *92*, 1185-1186.

Miron, A., Varadi, M., Carrasco, D., Li, H., Luongo, L., Kim, H. J., Park, S. Y., Cho, E. Y., Lewis, G., Kehoe, S., *et al.* (2010). PIK3CA mutations in in situ and invasive breast carcinomas. Cancer Research *70*, 5674-5678.

Misiak, B., Leszek, J., and Kiejna, A. (2012). Metabolic syndrome, mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease--the emerging role of systemic low-grade inflammation and adiposity. Brain Research Bulletin *89*, 144-149.

Miyoshi, K., Shillingford, J. M., Smith, G. H., Grimm, S. L., Wagner, K. U., Oka, T., Rosen, J. M., Robinson, G. W., and Hennighausen, L. (2001). Signal transducer and activator of transcription (Stat) 5 controls the proliferation and differentiation of mammary alveolar epithelium. J Cell Biol *155*, 531-542.

Moffett, P., and Pelletier, J. (2000). Different transcriptional properties of mSim-1 and mSim-2. FEBS Letters *466*, 80-86.

Moffett, P., Reece, M., and Pelletier, J. (1997). The murine Sim-2 gene product inhibits transcription by active repression and functional interference. Molecular and Cellular Biology *17*, 4933-4947.

Moiseeva, O., Bourdeau, V., Roux, A., Deschenes-Simard, X., and Ferbeyre, G. (2009). Mitochondrial dysfunction contributes to oncogene-induced senescence. Molecular and Cellular Biology *29*, 4495-4507.

Molchadsky, A., Rivlin, N., Brosh, R., Rotter, V., and Sarig, R. (2010). p53 is balancing development, differentiation and de-differentiation to assure cancer prevention. Carcinogenesis *31*, 1501-1508.

Moraes, R. C., Zhang, X., Harrington, N., Fung, J. Y., Wu, M. F., Hilsenbeck, S. G., Allred, D. C., and Lewis, M. T. (2007). Constitutive activation of smoothened (SMO) in mammary glands of transgenic mice leads to increased proliferation, altered differentiation and ductal dysplasia. Development *134*, 1231-1242.

Morselli, E., Tasdemir, E., Maiuri, M. C., Galluzzi, L., Kepp, O., Criollo, A., Vicencio, J. M., Soussi, T., and Kroemer, G. (2008). Mutant p53 protein localized in the cytoplasm inhibits autophagy. Cell Cycle *7*, 3056-3061.

Muggerud, A. A., Hallett, M., Johnsen, H., Kleivi, K., Zhou, W., Tahmasebpoor, S., Amini, R. M., Botling, J., Borresen-Dale, A. L., Sorlie, T., and Warnberg, F. (2010). Molecular diversity in ductal carcinoma in situ (DCIS) and early invasive breast cancer. Molecular Oncology *4*, 357-368. Nambu, J. R., Franks, R. G., Hu, S., and Crews, S. T. (1990). The single-minded gene of Drosophila is required for the expression of genes important for the development of CNS midline cells. Cell *63*, 63-75.

Nambu, J. R., Lewis, J. O., Wharton, K. A., Jr., and Crews, S. T. (1991). The Drosophila single-minded gene encodes a helix-loop-helix protein that acts as a master regulator of CNS midline development. Cell *67*, 1157-1167.

Naushad, S. M., Prayaga, A., Digumarti, R. R., Gottumukkala, S. R., and Kutala, V. K. (2012). Bcl-2/adenovirus E1B 19 kDa-interacting protein 3 (BNIP3) expression is epigenetically regulated by one-carbon metabolism in invasive duct cell carcinoma of breast. Molecular and Cellular Biochemistry *361*, 189-195.

Nelson, D. L., and Cox, M. M. (2005). Principles of Biochemistry, 4 edn (New York: W.H. Freeman and Company).

Newcomb, P. A. (1997). Lactation and breast cancer risk. Journal of Mammary Gland Biology and Neoplasia 2, 311-318.

Nizetic, D., and Groet, J. (2012). Tumorigenesis in Down's syndrome: big lessons from a small chromosome. Nat Rev Cancer *12*, 721-732.

Nofech-Mozes, S., Spayne, J., Rakovitch, E., Kahn, H. J., Seth, A., Pignol, J. P.,

Lickley, L., Paszat, L., and Hanna, W. (2008). Biological Markers Predictive of Invasive

Recurrence in DCIS. Clinical Medicine Oncology 2, 7-18.

Norton, K. A., Wininger, M., Bhanot, G., Ganesan, S., Barnard, N., and Shinbrot, T. (2010). A 2D mechanistic model of breast ductal carcinoma in situ (DCIS) morphology and progression. J Theor Biol *263*, 393-406.

O'Brien, J., and Schedin, P. (2009). Macrophages in breast cancer: do involution macrophages account for the poor prognosis of pregnancy-associated breast cancer? Journal of Mammary Gland Biology and Neoplasia *14*, 145-157.

Oakes, S. R., Hilton, H. N., and Ormandy, C. J. (2006). The alveolar switch: coordinating the proliferative cues and cell fate decisions that drive the formation of lobuloalveoli from ductal epithelium. Breast Cancer Res *8*, 207.

Oakman, C., Viale, G., and Di Leo, A. (2010). Management of triple negative breast cancer. Breast *19*, 312-321.

Oh, S., Xiaofei, E., Ni, D., Pirooz, S. D., Lee, J. Y., Lee, D., Zhao, Z., Lee, S., Lee, H., Ku, B., *et al.* (2011). Downregulation of autophagy by Bcl-2 promotes MCF7 breast cancer cell growth independent of its inhibition of apoptosis. Cell Death and Differentiation *18*, 452-464.

Okui, M., Yamaki, A., Takayanagi, A., Kudoh, J., Shimizu, N., and Shimizu, Y. (2005). Transcription factor single-minded 2 (SIM2) is ubiquitinated by the RING-IBR-RING-type E3 ubiquitin ligases. Experimental Cell Research *309*, 220-228.

Owens, K. M., Kulawiec, M., Desouki, M. M., Vanniarajan, A., and Singh, K. K. (2011). Impaired OXPHOS complex III in breast cancer. PloS One *6*, e23846.

Pan, Y., Oprysko, P. R., Asham, A. M., Koch, C. J., and Simon, M. C. (2004). p53 cannot be induced by hypoxia alone but responds to the hypoxic microenvironment. Oncogene *23*, 4975-4983.

Pavlides, S., Whitaker-Menezes, D., Castello-Cros, R., Flomenberg, N., Witkiewicz, A.
K., Frank, P. G., Casimiro, M. C., Wang, C., Fortina, P., Addya, S., *et al.* (2009). The reverse
Warburg effect: aerobic glycolysis in cancer associated fibroblasts and the tumor stroma. Cell
Cycle *8*, 3984-4001.

Peeper, D. S. (2010). PICS-ure this: prosenescence therapy? Cancer Cell 17, 219-220.
Peinado, H., Marin, F., Cubillo, E., Stark, H. J., Fusenig, N., Nieto, M. A., and Cano, A. (2004). Snail and E47 repressors of E-cadherin induce distinct invasive and angiogenic properties in vivo. J Cell Sci *117*, 2827-2839.

Peinado, H., Olmeda, D., and Cano, A. (2007). Snail, Zeb and bHLH factors in tumour progression: an alliance against the epithelial phenotype? Nat Rev Cancer *7*, 415-428.

Pelletier, J., Bellot, G., Gounon, P., Lacas-Gervais, S., Pouyssegur, J., and Mazure, N.M. (2012). Glycogen Synthesis is Induced in Hypoxia by the Hypoxia-Inducible Factor andPromotes Cancer Cell Survival. Frontiers in Oncology 2, 18.

Pellikainen, J. M., Ropponen, K. M., Kataja, V. V., Kellokoski, J. K., Eskelinen, M. J., and Kosma, V. M. (2004). Expression of matrix metalloproteinase (MMP)-2 and MMP-9 in breast cancer with a special reference to activator protein-2, HER2, and prognosis. Clin Cancer Res *10*, 7621-7628.

Pensa, S., Watson, C. J., and Poli, V. (2009). Stat3 and the inflammation/acute phase response in involution and breast cancer. Journal of Mammary Gland Biology and Neoplasia *14*, 121-129.

Perou, C. M., Sorlie, T., Eisen, M. B., van de Rijn, M., Jeffrey, S. S., Rees, C. A., Pollack, J. R., Ross, D. T., Johnsen, H., Akslen, L. A., *et al.* (2000). Molecular portraits of human breast tumours. Nature *406*, 747-752.

Pescador, N., Villar, D., Cifuentes, D., Garcia-Rocha, M., Ortiz-Barahona, A., Vazquez, S., Ordonez, A., Cuevas, Y., Saez-Morales, D., Garcia-Bermejo, M. L., *et al.* (2010). Hypoxia promotes glycogen accumulation through hypoxia inducible factor (HIF)-mediated induction of glycogen synthase 1. PloS One *5*, e9644.

Philp, J. A., Burdon, T. G., and Watson, C. J. (1996). Differential activation of STATs 3 and 5 during mammary gland development. FEBS Letters *396*, 77-80.

Piccoli, C., Izzo, A., Scrima, R., Bonfiglio, F., Manco, R., Negri, R., Quarato, G., Cela,
O., Ripoli, M., Prisco, M., *et al.* (2013). Chronic pro-oxidative state and mitochondrial
dysfunctions are more pronounced in fibroblasts from Down syndrome foeti with congenital
heart defects. Hum Mol Genet *22*, 1218-1232.

Pielage, J., Steffes, G., Lau, D. C., Parente, B. A., Crews, S. T., Strauss, R., and Klambt,C. (2002). Novel behavioral and developmental defects associated with Drosophila single-minded. Developmental Biology 249, 283-299.

Pilsl, A., and Winklhofer, K. F. (2012). Parkin, PINK1 and mitochondrial integrity: emerging concepts of mitochondrial dysfunction in Parkinson's disease. Acta Neuropathologica *123*, 173-188.

Politi, K., Feirt, N., and Kitajewski, J. (2004). Notch in mammary gland development and breast cancer. Seminars in Cancer Biology 14, 341-347.

Polyak, K. (2006). Pregnancy and breast cancer: the other side of the coin. Cancer Cell *9*, 151-153.

Polyak, K. (2010). Molecular markers for the diagnosis and management of ductal carcinoma in situ. J Natl Cancer Inst Monogr *2010*, 210-213.

Ponting, C. P., and Aravind, L. (1997). PAS: a multifunctional domain family comes to light. Current Biology : CB 7, R674-677.

Porrello, A., Cerone, M. A., Coen, S., Gurtner, A., Fontemaggi, G., Cimino, L., Piaggio, G., Sacchi, A., and Soddu, S. (2000). p53 regulates myogenesis by triggering the differentiation activity of pRb. J Cell Biol *151*, 1295-1304.

Porter, D., Lahti-Domenici, J., Keshaviah, A., Bae, Y. K., Argani, P., Marks, J.,

Richardson, A., Cooper, A., Strausberg, R., Riggins, G. J., *et al.* (2003). Molecular markers in ductal carcinoma in situ of the breast. Mol Cancer Res *1*, 362-375.

Pratt, M. A., Tibbo, E., Robertson, S. J., Jansson, D., Hurst, K., Perez-Iratxeta, C., Lau, R., and Niu, M. Y. (2009). The canonical NF-kappaB pathway is required for formation of luminal mammary neoplasias and is activated in the mammary progenitor population. Oncogene *28*, 2710-2722.

Probst, M. R., Fan, C. M., Tessier-Lavigne, M., and Hankinson, O. (1997). Two murine homologs of the Drosophila single-minded protein that interact with the mouse aryl hydrocarbon receptor nuclear translocator protein. J Biol Chem *272*, 4451-4457.

Quarrie, L. H., Addey, C. V., and Wilde, C. J. (1996). Programmed cell death during mammary tissue involution induced by weaning, litter removal, and milk stasis. J Cell Physiol *168*, 559-569.

Quijano, C., Cao, L., Fergusson, M. M., Romero, H., Liu, J., Gutkind, S., Rovira, II,

Mohney, R. P., Karoly, E. D., and Finkel, T. (2012). Oncogene-induced senescence results in marked metabolic and bioenergetic alterations. Cell Cycle *11*, 1383-1392.

Rabinowitz, J. D., and White, E. (2010). Autophagy and metabolism. Science *330*, 1344-1348.

Rachidi, M., Lopes, C., Charron, G., Delezoide, A. L., Paly, E., Bloch, B., and Delabar, J. M. (2005). Spatial and temporal localization during embryonic and fetal human development of the transcription factor SIM2 in brain regions altered in Down syndrome. International Journal of Developmental Neuroscience : the Official Journal of the International Society for Developmental Neuroscience *23*, 475-484.

Radisky, D. C., and Hartmann, L. C. (2009). Mammary involution and breast cancer risk: transgenic models and clinical studies. Journal of Mammary Gland Biology and Neoplasia *14*, 181-191. Rahman, Q., Clarke, K., and Morera, T. (2009). Hair whorl direction and sexual orientation in human males. Behavioral Neuroscience *123*, 252-256.

Rajan, P. B., Scott, D. J., Perry, R. H., and Griffith, C. D. (1997). p53 protein expression in ductal carcinoma in situ (DCIS) of the breast. Breast Cancer Res Treat *42*, 283-290.

Ramalingam, M., and Kim, S. J. (2012). Reactive oxygen/nitrogen species and their

functional correlations in neurodegenerative diseases. J Neural Transm 119, 891-910.

Reddy, J. P., and Li, Y. (2011). Oncogene-induced senescence and its role in tumor

suppression. Journal of Mammary Gland Biology and Neoplasia 16, 247-256.

Rikka, S., Quinsay, M. N., Thomas, R. L., Kubli, D. A., Zhang, X., Murphy, A. N., and Gustafsson, A. B. (2011). Bnip3 impairs mitochondrial bioenergetics and stimulates mitochondrial turnover. Cell Death and Differentiation *18*, 721-731.

Robey, I. F., and Martin, N. K. (2011). Bicarbonate and dichloroacetate: evaluating pH altering therapies in a mouse model for metastatic breast cancer. BMC Cancer *11*, 235.

Robey, I. F., Stephen, R. M., Brown, K. S., Baggett, B. K., Gatenby, R. A., and Gillies, R. J. (2008). Regulation of the Warburg effect in early-passage breast cancer cells. Neoplasia *10*,

745-756.

Rodier, F., and Campisi, J. (2011). Four faces of cellular senescence. J Cell Biol *192*, 547-556.

Rodier, F., Campisi, J., and Bhaumik, D. (2007). Two faces of p53: aging and tumor suppression. Nucleic Acids Research *35*, 7475-7484.

Rossignol, R., Gilkerson, R., Aggeler, R., Yamagata, K., Remington, S. J., and Capaldi, R. A. (2004). Energy substrate modulates mitochondrial structure and oxidative capacity in cancer cells. Cancer Research *64*, 985-993. Ruan, J. W., Liao, Y. C., Lua, I., Li, M. H., Hsu, C. Y., and Chen, J. H. (2012). Human pituitary tumor-transforming gene 1 overexpression reinforces oncogene-induced senescence through CXCR2/p21 signaling in breast cancer cells. Breast Cancer Res *14*, R106.

Rudolph, M. C., Wellberg, E. A., and Anderson, S. M. (2009). Adipose-depleted mammary epithelial cells and organoids. Journal of Mammary Gland Biology and Neoplasia *14*, 381-386.

Russo, I. H., and Russo, J. (1998). Role of hormones in mammary cancer initiation and progression. Journal of Mammary Gland Biology and Neoplasia *3*, 49-61.

Sablina, A. A., Budanov, A. V., Ilyinskaya, G. V., Agapova, L. S., Kravchenko, J. E., and Chumakov, P. M. (2005). The antioxidant function of the p53 tumor suppressor. Nature

Medicine 11, 1306-1313.

Sah, V. P., Attardi, L. D., Mulligan, G. J., Williams, B. O., Bronson, R. T., and Jacks, T.

(1995). A subset of p53-deficient embryos exhibit exencephaly. Nat Genet 10, 175-180.

Salemi, S., Yousefi, S., Constantinescu, M. A., Fey, M. F., and Simon, H. U. (2012). Autophagy is required for self-renewal and differentiation of adult human stem cells. Cell Research *22*, 432-435.

Sarkisian, C. J., Keister, B. A., Stairs, D. B., Boxer, R. B., Moody, S. E., and Chodosh,

L. A. (2007). Dose-dependent oncogene-induced senescence in vivo and its evasion during mammary tumorigenesis. Nat Cell Biol *9*, 493-505.

Satge, D., Sasco, A. J., Geneix, A., and Malet, P. (1998). Another reason to look for tumor suppressor genes on chromosome 21. Genes Chromosomes Cancer *21*, 1.

Scatena, R. (2012). Mitochondria and cancer: a growing role in apoptosis, cancer cell metabolism and dedifferentiation. Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology *942*, 287-308.

Schedin, P., Mitrenga, T., McDaniel, S., and Kaeck, M. (2004). Mammary ECM

composition and function are altered by reproductive state. Mol Carcinog 41, 207-220.

Schedin, P., O'Brien, J., Rudolph, M., Stein, T., and Borges, V. (2007).

Microenvironment of the involuting mammary gland mediates mammary cancer progression. Journal of Mammary Gland Biology and Neoplasia *12*, 71-82.

Schmid, P., Lorenz, A., Hameister, H., and Montenarh, M. (1991). Expression of p53 during mouse embryogenesis. Development *113*, 857-865.

Schmidt, M., Voelker, H. U., Kapp, M., Krockenberger, M., Dietl, J., and Kammerer, U.

(2010). Glycolytic phenotype in breast cancer: activation of Akt, up-regulation of GLUT1,

TKTL1 and down-regulation of M2PK. Journal of Cancer Research and Clinical Oncology *136*, 219-225.

Schmitt, C. A., Fridman, J. S., Yang, M., Lee, S., Baranov, E., Hoffman, R. M., and Lowe, S. W. (2002). A senescence program controlled by p53 and p16INK4a contributes to the outcome of cancer therapy. Cell *109*, 335-346.

Scholl, T., Stein, Z., and Hansen, H. (1982). Leukemia and other cancers, anomalies and infections as causes of death in Down's syndrome in the United States during 1976. Dev Med Child Neurol *24*, 817-829.

Schorr, K., Li, M., Krajewski, S., Reed, J. C., and Furth, P. A. (1999). Bcl-2 gene family and related proteins in mammary gland involution and breast cancer. Journal of Mammary Gland Biology and Neoplasia *4*, 153-164.

Schwartzenberg-Bar-Yoseph, F., Armoni, M., and Karnieli, E. (2004). The tumor suppressor p53 down-regulates glucose transporters GLUT1 and GLUT4 gene expression. Cancer Research *64*, 2627-2633. Scribner, K. C., Behbod, F., and Porter, W. W. (2012). Regulation of DCIS to invasive breast cancer progression by Singleminded-2s (SIM2s). Oncogene, Epub Jul 9.

Scribner, K. C., Wellberg, E. A., Metz, R. P., and Porter, W. W. (2011). Singleminded-2s (Sim2s) Promotes Delayed Involution of the Mouse Mammary Gland through Suppression of Stat3 and NF {kappa}B. Mol Endocrinol *25*, 635-644.

Seagroves, T. N., Krnacik, S., Raught, B., Gay, J., Burgess-Beusse, B., Darlington, G. J., and Rosen, J. M. (1998). C/EBPbeta, but not C/EBPalpha, is essential for ductal morphogenesis, lobuloalveolar proliferation, and functional differentiation in the mouse mammary gland. Genes Dev *12*, 1917-1928.

Seewald, L., Taub, J. W., Maloney, K. W., and McCabe, E. R. (2012). Acute leukemias in children with Down syndrome. Molecular Genetics and Metabolism *107*, 25-30.

Semenza, G. L. (2008). Tumor metabolism: cancer cells give and take lactate. The Journal of Clinical Investigation *118*, 3835-3837.

Sendoel, A., Kohler, I., Fellmann, C., Lowe, S. W., and Hengartner, M. O. (2010). HIF-1 antagonizes p53-mediated apoptosis through a secreted neuronal tyrosinase. Nature *465*, 577-583.

Shamblott, M. J., Bugg, E. M., Lawler, A. M., and Gearhart, J. D. (2002). Craniofacial abnormalities resulting from targeted disruption of the murine Sim2 gene. Dev Dyn *224*, 373-380.

Shapovalov, Y., Hoffman, D., Zuch, D., de Mesy Bentley, K. L., and Eliseev, R. A.

(2011). Mitochondrial dysfunction in cancer cells due to aberrant mitochondrial replication. J Biol Chem *286*, 22331-22338.

Shaulsky, G., Goldfinger, N., Peled, A., and Rotter, V. (1991). Involvement of wild-type p53 in pre-B-cell differentiation in vitro. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *88*, 8982-8986.

Shay, J. W., and Roninson, I. B. (2004). Hallmarks of senescence in carcinogenesis and cancer therapy. Oncogene *23*, 2919-2933.

Shekhar, M. P., Tait, L., Pauley, R. J., Wu, G. S., Santner, S. J., Nangia-Makker, P., Shekhar, V., Nassar, H., Visscher, D. W., Heppner, G. H., and Miller, F. R. (2008). Comedoductal carcinoma in situ: A paradoxical role for programmed cell death. Cancer Biology & Therapy *7*, 1774-1782.

Siegel, P. M., and Muller, W. J. (2010). Transcription factor regulatory networks in mammary epithelial development and tumorigenesis. Oncogene *29*, 2753-2759.

Silva, C. M. (2004). Role of STATs as downstream signal transducers in Src family kinase-mediated tumorigenesis. Oncogene *23*, 8017-8023.

Sims, J. D., McCready, J., and Jay, D. G. (2011). Extracellular heat shock protein (Hsp)70 and Hsp90alpha assist in matrix metalloproteinase-2 activation and breast cancer cell migration and invasion. PloS One *6*, e18848.

Sivaraman, L., Conneely, O. M., Medina, D., and O'Malley, B. W. (2001). p53 is a potential mediator of pregnancy and hormone-induced resistance to mammary carcinogenesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *98*, 12379-12384.

Slamon, D. J., Godolphin, W., Jones, L. A., Holt, J. A., Wong, S. G., Keith, D. E.,

Levin, W. J., Stuart, S. G., Udove, J., Ullrich, A., and et al. (1989). Studies of the HER-2/neu proto-oncogene in human breast and ovarian cancer. Science *244*, 707-712.

Smit, M. A., and Peeper, D. S. (2010). Epithelial-mesenchymal transition and senescence: two cancer-related processes are crossing paths. Aging (Albany NY) *2*, 735-741.

Smolkova, K., Bellance, N., Scandurra, F., Genot, E., Gnaiger, E., Plecita-Hlavata, L., Jezek, P., and Rossignol, R. (2010). Mitochondrial bioenergetic adaptations of breast cancer cells to aglycemia and hypoxia. Journal of Bioenergetics and Biomembranes *42*, 55-67. Sorlie, T., Perou, C. M., Tibshirani, R., Aas, T., Geisler, S., Johnsen, H., Hastie, T., Eisen, M. B., van de Rijn, M., Jeffrey, S. S., *et al.* (2001). Gene expression patterns of breast carcinomas distinguish tumor subclasses with clinical implications. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *98*, 10869-10874.

Sowter, H. M., Ferguson, M., Pym, C., Watson, P., Fox, S. B., Han, C., and Harris, A. L. (2003). Expression of the cell death genes BNip3 and NIX in ductal carcinoma in situ of the breast; correlation of BNip3 levels with necrosis and grade. The Journal of Pathology *201*, 573-580.

Sowter, H. M., Ratcliffe, P. J., Watson, P., Greenberg, A. H., and Harris, A. L. (2001). HIF-1-dependent regulation of hypoxic induction of the cell death factors BNIP3 and NIX in human tumors. Cancer Research *61*, 6669-6673.

Spellman, C., Ahmed, M. M., Dubach, D., and Gardiner, K. J. (2013). Expression of trisomic proteins in Down syndrome model systems. Gene *512*, 219-225.

Stein, T., Morris, J. S., Davies, C. R., Weber-Hall, S. J., Duffy, M. A., Heath, V. J., Bell, A. K., Ferrier, R. K., Sandilands, G. P., and Gusterson, B. A. (2004). Involution of the mouse mammary gland is associated with an immune cascade and an acute-phase response, involving LBP, CD14 and STAT3. Breast Cancer Res *6*, R75-91.

Stein, T., Salomonis, N., and Gusterson, B. A. (2007). Mammary gland involution as a multi-step process. Journal of Mammary Gland Biology and Neoplasia *12*, 25-35.

Stein, T., Salomonis, N., Nuyten, D. S., van de Vijver, M. J., and Gusterson, B. A. (2009). A mouse mammary gland involution mRNA signature identifies biological pathways potentially associated with breast cancer metastasis. Journal of Mammary Gland Biology and Neoplasia *14*, 99-116.

Steinman, R. A., Hoffman, B., Iro, A., Guillouf, C., Liebermann, D. A., and el-Houseini,

M. E. (1994). Induction of p21 (WAF-1/CIP1) during differentiation. Oncogene 9, 3389-3396.

Sternlicht, M. D., Lochter, A., Sympson, C. J., Huey, B., Rougier, J. P., Gray, J. W.,

Pinkel, D., Bissell, M. J., and Werb, Z. (1999). The stromal proteinase MMP3/stromelysin-1

promotes mammary carcinogenesis. Cell 98, 137-146.

Stockmann, C., Doedens, A., Weidemann, A., Zhang, N., Takeda, N., Greenberg, J. I.,

Cheresh, D. A., and Johnson, R. S. (2008). Deletion of vascular endothelial growth factor in myeloid cells accelerates tumorigenesis. Nature *456*, 814-818.

Stylianou, S., Clarke, R. B., and Brennan, K. (2006). Aberrant activation of notch signaling in human breast cancer. Cancer Research *66*, 1517-1525.

Sukhatme, V. P., and Chan, B. (2012). Glycolytic cancer cells lacking 6-

phosphogluconate dehydrogenase metabolize glucose to induce senescence. FEBS Letters *586*, 2389-2395.

Sundaram, M. V. (2005). The love-hate relationship between Ras and Notch. Genes Dev 19, 1825-1839.

Swarbrick, A., Roy, E., Allen, T., and Bishop, J. M. (2008). Id1 cooperates with oncogenic Ras to induce metastatic mammary carcinoma by subversion of the cellular senescence response. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *105*, 5402-5407.

Swerdlow, R. H., Lezi, E., Aires, D., and Lu, J. (2013). Glycolysis-respiration relationships in a neuroblastoma cell line. Biochimica et Biophysica acta *1830*, 2891-2898.

Sympson, C. J., Talhouk, R. S., Alexander, C. M., Chin, J. R., Clift, S. M., Bissell, M. J., and Werb, Z. (1994). Targeted expression of stromelysin-1 in mammary gland provides evidence for a role of proteinases in branching morphogenesis and the requirement for an intact basement membrane for tissue-specific gene expression. J Cell Biol *125*, 681-693. Tait, L. R., Pauley, R. J., Santner, S. J., Heppner, G. H., Heng, H. H., Rak, J. W., and

Miller, F. R. (2007). Dynamic stromal-epithelial interactions during progression of

MCF10DCIS.com xenografts. Int J Cancer 120, 2127-2134.

Tan, E. Y., Campo, L., Han, C., Turley, H., Pezzella, F., Gatter, K. C., Harris, A. L., and Fox, S. B. (2007). BNIP3 as a progression marker in primary human breast cancer; opposing functions in in situ versus invasive cancer. Clin Cancer Res *13*, 467-474.

Tanida, I., Ueno, T., and Kominami, E. (2008). LC3 and Autophagy. Methods in Molecular Biology *445*, 77-88.

Tasdemir, E., Chiara Maiuri, M., Morselli, E., Criollo, A., D'Amelio, M., Djavaheri-Mergny, M., Cecconi, F., Tavernarakis, N., and Kroemer, G. (2008a). A dual role of p53 in the control of autophagy. Autophagy *4*, 810-814.

Tasdemir, E., Maiuri, M. C., Galluzzi, L., Vitale, I., Djavaheri-Mergny, M., D'Amelio, M., Criollo, A., Morselli, E., Zhu, C., Harper, F., *et al.* (2008b). Regulation of autophagy by cytoplasmic p53. Nat Cell Biol *10*, 676-687.

Taylor, W. R., and Stark, G. R. (2001). Regulation of the G2/M transition by p53. Oncogene *20*, 1803-1815.

te Poele, R. H., Okorokov, A. L., Jardine, L., Cummings, J., and Joel, S. P. (2002). DNA damage is able to induce senescence in tumor cells in vitro and in vivo. Cancer Research *62*, 1876-1883.

Tennant, D. A., Duran, R. V., and Gottlieb, E. (2010). Targeting metabolic transformation for cancer therapy. Nat Rev Cancer *10*, 267-277.

Thangaraju, M., Rudelius, M., Bierie, B., Raffeld, M., Sharan, S., Hennighausen, L., Huang, A. M., and Sterneck, E. (2005). C/EBPdelta is a crucial regulator of pro-apoptotic gene expression during mammary gland involution. Development *132*, 4675-4685. Thangaraju, M., Sharan, S., and Sterneck, E. (2004). Comparison of mammary gland involution between 129S1 and C57BL/6 inbred mouse strains: differential regulation of Bcl2a1, Trp53, Cebpb, and Cebpd expression. Oncogene *23*, 2548-2553.

Tinoco, G., Warsch, S., Gluck, S., Avancha, K., and Montero, A. J. (2013). Treating breast cancer in the 21st century: emerging biological therapies. Journal of Cancer *4*, 117-132.

Tonner, E., Allan, G., Shkreta, L., Webster, J., Whitelaw, C. B., and Flint, D. J. (2000). Insulin-like growth factor binding protein-5 (IGFBP-5) potentially regulates programmed cell death and plasminogen activation in the mammary gland. Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology *480*, 45-53.

Tracy, K., Dibling, B. C., Spike, B. T., Knabb, J. R., Schumacker, P., and Macleod, K. F. (2007). BNIP3 is an RB/E2F target gene required for hypoxia-induced autophagy. Molecular and Cellular Biology *27*, 6229-6242.

Trost, T. M., Lausch, E. U., Fees, S. A., Schmitt, S., Enklaar, T., Reutzel, D., Brixel, L. R., Schmidtke, P., Maringer, M., Schiffer, I. B., *et al.* (2005). Premature senescence is a primary fail-safe mechanism of ERBB2-driven tumorigenesis in breast carcinoma cells. Cancer Research *65*, 840-849.

Tsuchihara, K., Fujii, S., and Esumi, H. (2009). Autophagy and cancer: dynamism of the metabolism of tumor cells and tissues. Cancer Lett *278*, 130-138.

Valdez, K. E., Fan, F., Smith, W., Allred, D. C., Medina, D., and Behbod, F. (2011). Human primary ductal carcinoma in situ (DCIS) subtype-specific pathology is preserved in a mouse intraductal (MIND) xenograft model. The Journal of Pathology *225*, 565-573.

van 't Veer, L. J., Dai, H., van de Vijver, M. J., He, Y. D., Hart, A. A., Mao, M., Peterse,
H. L., van der Kooy, K., Marton, M. J., Witteveen, A. T., *et al.* (2002). Gene expression
profiling predicts clinical outcome of breast cancer. Nature *415*, 530-536.

Vande Velde, C., Cizeau, J., Dubik, D., Alimonti, J., Brown, T., Israels, S., Hakem, R., and Greenberg, A. H. (2000). BNIP3 and genetic control of necrosis-like cell death through the mitochondrial permeability transition pore. Molecular and Cellular Biology *20*, 5454-5468.

Vander Heiden, M. G., Locasale, J. W., Swanson, K. D., Sharfi, H., Heffron, G. J.,
Amador-Noguez, D., Christofk, H. R., Wagner, G., Rabinowitz, J. D., Asara, J. M., and Cantley,
L. C. (2010). Evidence for an alternative glycolytic pathway in rapidly proliferating cells.
Science *329*, 1492-1499.

Vargo-Gogola, T., and Rosen, J. M. (2007). Modelling breast cancer: one size does not fit all. Nat Rev Cancer 7, 659-672.

Verbon, E. H., Post, J. A., and Boonstra, J. (2012). The influence of reactive oxygen species on cell cycle progression in mammalian cells. Gene *511*, 1-6.

Visbal, A. P., LaMarca, H. L., Villanueva, H., Toneff, M. J., Li, Y., Rosen, J. M., and Lewis, M. T. (2011). Altered differentiation and paracrine stimulation of mammary epithelial cell proliferation by conditionally activated Smoothened. Developmental Biology *352*, 116-127.

Visvader, J. E. (2009). Keeping abreast of the mammary epithelial hierarchy and breast tumorigenesis. Genes Dev 23, 2563-2577.

von Lintig, F. C., Dreilinger, A. D., Varki, N. M., Wallace, A. M., Casteel, D. E., and Boss, G. R. (2000). Ras activation in human breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat *62*, 51-62.

Walenta, S., Wetterling, M., Lehrke, M., Schwickert, G., Sundfor, K., Rofstad, E. K., and Mueller-Klieser, W. (2000). High lactate levels predict likelihood of metastases, tumor recurrence, and restricted patient survival in human cervical cancers. Cancer Research *60*, 916-921.

Walker, N. I., Bennett, R. E., and Kerr, J. F. (1989). Cell death by apoptosis during involution of the lactating breast in mice and rats. Am J Anat *185*, 19-32.

Walker, S. R., Nelson, E. A., Zou, L., Chaudhury, M., Signoretti, S., Richardson, A., and Frank, D. A. (2009). Reciprocal effects of STAT5 and STAT3 in breast cancer. Mol Cancer Res 7, 966-976.

Wallace, D. C. (2012). Mitochondria and cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 12, 685-698.

Walsh, L. A., Cepeda, M. A., and Damjanovski, S. (2012). Analysis of the MMPdependent and independent functions of tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-2 on the invasiveness of breast cancer cells. Journal of Cell Communication and Signaling *6*, 87-95.

Wang, C., Hu, F., Guo, S., Mi, D., Shen, W., Zhang, J., Qiao, Y., Zhu, T., and Yang, S.
(2011). BMP-6 inhibits MMP-9 expression by regulating heme oxygenase-1 in MCF-7 breast cancer cells. Journal of Cancer Research and Clinical Oncology *137*, 985-995.

Wang, J. A., Fan, S., Yuan, R. Q., Ma, Y. X., Meng, Q., Goldberg, I. D., and Rosen, E.
M. (1999). Ultraviolet radiation down-regulates expression of the cell-cycle inhibitor
p21WAF1/CIP1 in human cancer cells independently of p53. International Journal of Radiation
Biology 75, 301-316.

Wang, R. A., Vadlamudi, R. K., Bagheri-Yarmand, R., Beuvink, I., Hynes, N. E., and Kumar, R. (2003). Essential functions of p21-activated kinase 1 in morphogenesis and differentiation of mammary glands. J Cell Biol *161*, 583-592.

Wang, X., Kua, H. Y., Hu, Y., Guo, K., Zeng, Q., Wu, Q., Ng, H. H., Karsenty, G., de Crombrugghe, B., Yeh, J., and Li, B. (2006). p53 functions as a negative regulator of osteoblastogenesis, osteoblast-dependent osteoclastogenesis, and bone remodeling. J Cell Biol *172*, 115-125.

Wang, X., Song, Y., Chen, L., Zhuang, G., Zhang, J., Li, M., and Meng, X. F. (2013). Contribution of single-minded 2 to hyperglycaemia-induced neurotoxicity. Neurotoxicology *35C*, 106-112. Warburg, O. (1956a). On respiratory impairment in cancer cells. Science *124*, 269-270.Warburg, O. (1956b). On the origin of cancer cells. Science *123*, 309-314.

Ward, P. S., and Thompson, C. B. (2012). Metabolic reprogramming: a cancer hallmark even warburg did not anticipate. Cancer Cell *21*, 297-308.

Wasielewski, M., Elstrodt, F., Klijn, J. G., Berns, E. M., and Schutte, M. (2006). Thirteen new p53 gene mutants identified among 41 human breast cancer cell lines. Breast Cancer Res Treat *99*, 97-101.

Watson, C. J. (2001). Stat transcription factors in mammary gland development and tumorigenesis. Journal of Mammary Gland Biology and Neoplasia *6*, 115-127.

Watson, C. J., and Neoh, K. (2008). The Stat family of transcription factors have diverse roles in mammary gland development. Seminars in Cell & Developmental Biology *19*, 401-406.

Weijzen, S., Rizzo, P., Braid, M., Vaishnav, R., Jonkheer, S. M., Zlobin, A., Osborne, B.
A., Gottipati, S., Aster, J. C., Hahn, W. C., *et al.* (2002). Activation of Notch-1 signaling
maintains the neoplastic phenotype in human Ras-transformed cells. Nature Medicine *8*, 979-986.

Wellberg, E., Metz, R. P., Parker, C., and Porter, W. W. (2010). The bHLH/PAS transcription factor singleminded 2s promotes mammary gland lactogenic differentiation. Development *137*, 945-952.

West, M., Blanchette, C., Dressman, H., Huang, E., Ishida, S., Spang, R., Zuzan, H., Olson, J. A., Jr., Marks, J. R., and Nevins, J. R. (2001). Predicting the clinical status of human breast cancer by using gene expression profiles. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *98*, 11462-11467.

Wilde, C. J., Knight, C. H., and Flint, D. J. (1999). Control of milk secretion and apoptosis during mammary involution. Journal of Mammary Gland Biology and Neoplasia *4*, 129-136.

Wirawan, E., Vanden Berghe, T., Lippens, S., Agostinis, P., and Vandenabeele, P.

(2012). Autophagy: for better or for worse. Cell Research 22, 43-61.

Witty, J. P., Wright, J. H., and Matrisian, L. M. (1995). Matrix metalloproteinases are expressed during ductal and alveolar mammary morphogenesis, and misregulation of stromelysin-1 in transgenic mice induces unscheduled alveolar development. Mol Biol Cell *6*, 1287-1303.

Won, K. Y., Lim, S. J., Kim, G. Y., Kim, Y. W., Han, S. A., Song, J. Y., and Lee, D. K. (2012). Regulatory role of p53 in cancer metabolism via SCO2 and TIGAR in human breast cancer. Human Pathology *43*, 221-228.

Woods, S., Farrall, A., Procko, C., and Whitelaw, M. L. (2008). The bHLH/Per-Arnt-Sim transcription factor SIM2 regulates muscle transcript myomesin2 via a novel, non-canonical E-box sequence. Nucleic Acids Research *36*, 3716-3727.

Woods, S. L., and Whitelaw, M. L. (2002). Differential activities of murine single minded 1 (SIM1) and SIM2 on a hypoxic response element. Cross-talk between basic helix-loop-helix/per-Arnt-Sim homology transcription factors. J Biol Chem 277, 10236-10243.

Wu, M., Neilson, A., Swift, A. L., Moran, R., Tamagnine, J., Parslow, D., Armistead, S., Lemire, K., Orrell, J., Teich, J., *et al.* (2007). Multiparameter metabolic analysis reveals a close link between attenuated mitochondrial bioenergetic function and enhanced glycolysis dependency in human tumor cells. American Journal of Physiology Cell Physiology *292*, C125-136.

Xavier, A. C., Ge, Y., and Taub, J. W. (2009). Down syndrome and malignancies: a unique clinical relationship: a paper from the 2008 william beaumont hospital symposium on molecular pathology. The Journal of Molecular Diagnostics : JMD *11*, 371-380.

Yalcin-Ozuysal, O., Fiche, M., Guitierrez, M., Wagner, K. U., Raffoul, W., and Brisken,C. (2010). Antagonistic roles of Notch and p63 in controlling mammary epithelial cell fates. CellDeath and Differentiation *17*, 1600-1612.

Yao, J., Weremowicz, S., Feng, B., Gentleman, R. C., Marks, J. R., Gelman, R., Brennan, C., and Polyak, K. (2006). Combined cDNA array comparative genomic hybridization and serial analysis of gene expression analysis of breast tumor progression. Cancer Research *66*, 4065-4078.

Yeung, S. J., Pan, J., and Lee, M. H. (2008). Roles of p53, MYC and HIF-1 in regulating glycolysis - the seventh hallmark of cancer. Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences : CMLS *65*, 3981-3999.

Yi, Y., Shepard, A., Kittrell, F., Mulac-Jericevic, B., Medina, D., and Said, T. K. (2004). p19ARF determines the balance between normal cell proliferation rate and apoptosis during mammary gland development. Mol Biol Cell *15*, 2302-2311.

Yoo, Y. A., Kang, M. H., Lee, H. J., Kim, B. H., Park, J. K., Kim, H. K., Kim, J. S., and Oh, S. C. (2011). Sonic hedgehog pathway promotes metastasis and lymphangiogenesis via activation of Akt, EMT, and MMP-9 pathway in gastric cancer. Cancer Research *71*, 7061-7070.

Yoon, K. A., Nakamura, Y., and Arakawa, H. (2004). Identification of ALDH4 as a p53inducible gene and its protective role in cellular stresses. Journal of Human Genetics *49*, 134-140.

Young, A. R., Narita, M., Ferreira, M., Kirschner, K., Sadaie, M., Darot, J. F., Tavare, S., Arakawa, S., Shimizu, S., Watt, F. M., and Narita, M. (2009). Autophagy mediates the mitotic senescence transition. Genes Dev *23*, 798-803.

Young, C. D., Lewis, A. S., Rudolph, M. C., Ruehle, M. D., Jackman, M. R., Yun, U. J., Ilkun, O., Pereira, R., Abel, E. D., and Anderson, S. M. (2011). Modulation of glucose transporter 1 (GLUT1) expression levels alters mouse mammary tumor cell growth in vitro and in vivo. PloS One *6*, e23205.

Yu, H., Pardoll, D., and Jove, R. (2009). STATs in cancer inflammation and immunity: a leading role for STAT3. Nat Rev Cancer *9*, 798-809.

Yuan, Z. M., Huang, Y., Whang, Y., Sawyers, C., Weichselbaum, R., Kharbanda, S., and Kufe, D. (1996). Role for c-Abl tyrosine kinase in growth arrest response to DNA damage. Nature *382*, 272-274.

Zajchowski, D. A., Bartholdi, M. F., Gong, Y., Webster, L., Liu, H. L., Munishkin, A., Beauheim, C., Harvey, S., Ethier, S. P., and Johnson, P. H. (2001). Identification of gene expression profiles that predict the aggressive behavior of breast cancer cells. Cancer Research *61*, 5168-5178.

Zawacka-Pankau, J., Grinkevich, V. V., Hunten, S., Nikulenkov, F., Gluch, A., Li, H., Enge, M., Kel, A., and Selivanova, G. (2011). Inhibition of glycolytic enzymes mediated by pharmacologically activated p53: targeting Warburg effect to fight cancer. J Biol Chem *286*, 41600-41615.

Zhan, Q., Fan, S., Smith, M. L., Bae, I., Yu, K., Alamo, I., Jr., O'Connor, P. M., and Fornace, A. J., Jr. (1996). Abrogation of p53 function affects gadd gene responses to DNA basedamaging agents and starvation. DNA and Cell Biology *15*, 805-815.

Zhang, D., Shimizu, T., Araki, N., Hirota, T., Yoshie, M., Ogawa, K., Nakagata, N., Takeya, M., and Saya, H. (2008). Aurora A overexpression induces cellular senescence in mammary gland hyperplastic tumors developed in p53-deficient mice. Oncogene *27*, 4305-4314.

Zhang, J., and Ney, P. A. (2009). Role of BNIP3 and NIX in cell death, autophagy, and mitophagy. Cell Death and Differentiation *16*, 939-946.

Zhao, L., Melenhorst, J. J., and Hennighausen, L. (2002a). Loss of interleukin 6 results in delayed mammary gland involution: a possible role for mitogen-activated protein kinase and not signal transducer and activator of transcription 3. Mol Endocrinol *16*, 2902-2912.

Zhao, P., Iezzi, S., Carver, E., Dressman, D., Gridley, T., Sartorelli, V., and Hoffman, E. P. (2002b). Slug is a novel downstream target of MyoD. Temporal profiling in muscle regeneration. J Biol Chem *277*, 30091-30101.

Zhao, Y., Coloff, J. L., Ferguson, E. C., Jacobs, S. R., Cui, K., and Rathmell, J. C. (2008). Glucose metabolism attenuates p53 and Puma-dependent cell death upon growth factor deprivation. J Biol Chem *283*, 36344-36353.

Zhao, Y. H., Zhou, M., Liu, H., Ding, Y., Khong, H. T., Yu, D., Fodstad, O., and Tan, M. (2009). Upregulation of lactate dehydrogenase A by ErbB2 through heat shock factor 1 promotes breast cancer cell glycolysis and growth. Oncogene *28*, 3689-3701.

Zheng, H., Ying, H., Yan, H., Kimmelman, A. C., Hiller, D. J., Chen, A. J., Perry, S. R., Tonon, G., Chu, G. C., Ding, Z., *et al.* (2008). p53 and Pten control neural and glioma stem/progenitor cell renewal and differentiation. Nature *455*, 1129-1133.

Zhou, J., Chehab, R., Tkalcevic, J., Naylor, M. J., Harris, J., Wilson, T. J., Tsao, S., Tellis, I., Zavarsek, S., Xu, D., *et al.* (2005a). Elf5 is essential for early embryogenesis and mammary gland development during pregnancy and lactation. Embo J *24*, 635-644.

Zhou, J., Wulfkuhle, J., Zhang, H., Gu, P., Yang, Y., Deng, J., Margolick, J. B., Liotta, L. A., Petricoin, E., 3rd, and Zhang, Y. (2007). Activation of the PTEN/mTOR/STAT3 pathway in breast cancer stem-like cells is required for viability and maintenance. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *104*, 16158-16163.

Zhou, J., Zhang, H., Gu, P., Bai, J., Margolick, J. B., and Zhang, Y. (2008). NF-kappaB pathway inhibitors preferentially inhibit breast cancer stem-like cells. Breast Cancer Res Treat *111*, 419-427.

Zhou, S., Kachhap, S., and Singh, K. K. (2003). Mitochondrial impairment in p53deficient human cancer cells. Mutagenesis *18*, 287-292.

Zhou, Y., Eppenberger-Castori, S., Eppenberger, U., and Benz, C. C. (2005b). The NFkappaB pathway and endocrine-resistant breast cancer. Endocr Relat Cancer *12 Suppl 1*, S37-46.

Zhu, B., Zhou, Y., Xu, F., Shuai, J., Li, X., and Fang, W. (2012). Porcine circovirus type 2 induces autophagy via the AMPK/ERK/TSC2/mTOR signaling pathway in PK-15 cells. Journal of Virology *86*, 12003-12012.

Zigman, W. B., and Lott, I. T. (2007). Alzheimer's disease in Down syndrome: neurobiology and risk. Mental Retardation and Developmental Disabilities Research Reviews *13*, 237-246.

Zigman, W. B., Schupf, N., Sersen, E., and Silverman, W. (1996). Prevalence of dementia in adults with and without Down syndrome. American Journal of Mental Retardation : AJMR *100*, 403-412.

Zuo, S., Liu, C., Wang, J., Wang, F., Xu, W., Cui, S., Yuan, L., Chen, X., Fan, W., Cui, M., and Song, G. (2012). IGFBP-rP1 induces p21 expression through a p53-independent pathway, leading to cellular senescence of MCF-7 breast cancer cells. Journal of Cancer Research and Clinical Oncology *138*, 1045-1055.

Zwerschke, W., Mazurek, S., Stockl, P., Hutter, E., Eigenbrodt, E., and Jansen-Durr, P. (2003). Metabolic analysis of senescent human fibroblasts reveals a role for AMP in cellular senescence. Biochem J *376*, 403-411.

APPENDIX I

COPYRIGHT INFORMATION

Molecular Endocrinology Copyright

From:	Roberson, Sybia	
To:	Scribner, Kelly	
Subject:	Original Author Permission Request	
Date:	Thursday, March 21, 2013 8:02:46 AM	

Hello,

Thank you for contacting the Endocrine Society Permissions Department. As the original author of the article in question, you do not need to get permission for reuse. You are to include in your citation: the title of the journal, title of article, volume, issue number, date, page numbers, and journal URL.

Let me know if you need any further information.

Best regards,



Please consider the environment before printing this e-mail

Oncogene Copyright

Permission requests	
	On this page
	Nature Publishing Group grants permission for authors, readers and third parties to reproduce material from its journals and online products as part of another publication or entity. This includes, for example, the use of a figure in a presentation, the posting of an abstract on a web site, or the reproduction of a full article within another journal. Certain permissions can be granted free of charge; others incur a fee.
	For answers to frequently asked questions click here
	 Type of permission request Permission request options

Types of permission request

Permission can be obtained for re-use of portions of material - ranging from a single figure to a whole paper - in books, journals/magazines, newsletters, theses/dissertations, dassroom materials/academic course packs, academic conference materials, training materials (including continuing medical education), promotional materials, and web sites. Some permission requests can be granted free of charge, others carry a fee.

Nature Publishing Group rarely grants free permission for PDFs of full papers to be reproduced online, however e-print PDFs can be <u>purchased as commercial reprints</u>. If you wish to purchase multiple stand-alone copies of a Nature Publishing Group paper, which is then printed and shipped to you, please go to <u>commercial reprints</u>.

Permission request options

Permission requests from authors

The authors of articles published by Nature Publishing Group, or the authors' designated agents, do not usually need to seek permission for re-use of their material as long as the journal is credited with initial publication. For further information about the terms of re-use for authors please see below.

Author Requests

If you are the author of this content (or his/her designated agent) please read the following. Since 2003, ownership of copyright in in original research articles remains with the Authors^{*}, and provided that, when reproducing the Contribution or extracts from it, the Authors acknowledge first and reference publication in the Journal, the Authors retain the following non-exclusive rights:

- a. To reproduce the Contribution in whole or in part in any printed volume (book or thesis) of which they are the author(s).
- b. They and any academic institution where they work at the time may reproduce the Contribution for the purpose of course teaching.
- c. To reuse figures or tables created by them and contained in the Contribution in other works created by them.
- d. To post a copy of the Contribution as accepted for publication after peer review (in Word or Tex format) on the Author's own web site, or the Author's institutional repository, or the Author's funding body's archive, six months after publication of the printed or online edition of the Journal, provided that they also link to the Journal article on NPG's web site (eg through the DOI).

NPG encourages the self-archiving of the accepted version of your manuscript in your funding agency's or institution's repository, six months after publication. This policy complements the recently announced policies of the US National Institutes of Health, Wellcome Trust and other research funding bodies around the world. NPG recognizes the efforts of funding bodies to increase access to the research they fund, and we strongly encourage authors to participate in such efforts.

Authors wishing to use the published version of their article for promotional use or on a web site must request in the normal way.

If you require further assistance please read NPG's online author reuse guidelines.

Note: British Journal of Cancer and Clinical Pharmacology & Therapeutics maintain copyright polices of their own that

are different from the general NPG policies. Please consult these journals to learn more.

* Commissioned material is still subject to copyright transfer conditions

Ordering permissions online

Most permission requests can be granted online through the Rightslink® service. To use this system, locate the article for which you wish to request a permission by using the <u>advanced search</u>.

Beneath the listing for the paper (when found through the search), you will find a clickable option 'Rights and Permissions', which will take you to the order entry page from which you can request your permission.

To request a permission through the Rightslink® service you will be required to create an account by filling out a simple online form. Most customers can order and, where necessary, make payment - by credit card or invoice - through the Rightslink® service. Rightslink then issues a printable licence, which is the official confirmation that permission has been granted.

For questions about Rightslink accounts, please telephone Copyright Clearance Center customer support on 877 622 5543 (toll free inside the USA) or e-mail customercare@copyright.com. Note that once you have created a Rightslink® account you can use this in the future to request and pay for permissions from other participating publishers.

If the abstract or article does not contain a 'Rights and permissions' link, or the article that you wish to request permission to re-use has not yet been published, or pre-dates our online archive, please e-mail <u>the appropriate permissions manager for</u> the journal.

About NPG Contact NPG Accessibility statement Help Privacy policy Use of cookies Legal notice Terms Naturejobs Nature Asia Nature Education RSS web feeds

Search: go

0 2013 Nature Publishing Group, a division of Macmillan Publishers Limited. All Rights Reserved.

partner of AGORA, HINARI, OARE, INASP, ORCID, CrossRef and COUNTER

APPENDIX II

MOLECULAR ENDOCRINOLOGY COVER



APPENDIX III

NOMENCLATURE

- 2-DG 2-Deoxy Glucose
- AKT Protein Kinase B
- ALDH Aldefluor Dehydrogenase
- APP Amyloid Precursor Protein
- ARNT Aryl hydrocarbon Receptor nuclear translocator
- ATP Adenosine Triphosphate
- BCL2 B-cell lymphoma 2
- BECN1 Beclin-1
- bHLH basic helix-loop-helix

Bcl2/adenovirus E1B 19kDa protein-interacting

- BNIP3 protein 3
- BRCA1/2 Breast cancer 1/2
- C/EBP CAAT/Enhancer Binding Protein
- CBF1 C-Repeat Binding factor 1
- CC3 Cleaved-Caspase 3
- CCDN1 Cyclin-D1
- CDH1 E Cadherin
- ChIP Chromatin Immunoprecipitation
- CK5/6 Cytokeratin 5/6
- CK8/18 Cytokeratin 8/18

- CME Central Midline Element
- CNS Central Nervous System
- CoIP Coimmunoprecipitation
- COX Cytochrome c complex
- Csn2 β-Casein
- CTNNB1 β-Catenin
- DCIS Ductal Carcinoma in situ
- DS Down Syndrome
- DSCR Down Syndrome Critical Region
- dSim drosophila, Single-minded
- dTgo drosophila, TANGO
- ECM Extracellular Matrix
- EGFR Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor
- EMT Epithelial Mesenchymal Transition
- ER Estrogen Receptor
- ETC Electron Transport Chain
- FDG FluorDeoxyGlucose
- FiSH Flurescent in situ hybridization
- G6PD Glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase
- GADD Growth arrest and DNA damage
- GLUT Glucose Transporter
- GR Glucocorticoid Receptor
- H&E Hematoxylin and Eosin
- HER2 Human epidermal growth factor receptor 2

- HIF1α Hypoxia-inducible factor 1-alpha
- HK Hexokinase
- hPTTG1 Human pituitary tumor-tranforming gene 1
- HRE Hypoxic Response Element
- IDC Invasive ductal cancer
- IGFBP5 Insulin-like Growth Factor Bdinging Protein
- JAK2 Januse Kinase 2
- LCIS Lobular Carcionoma in situ
- LDHA Lactate Dehydrogenase
- MAPK Mitogen-activated protein kinase
- MIND mouse intraductal injection
- MMP Matrix Metalloproteinase
- MMP Matrix Metalloproteinase
- MMTV Mouse Mammary Tumor Virus
- mtDNA Mitochondrial DNA
- NADPH Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate
- NCAD N-Cadherin
- NFκB Nuclear Factor -kappa B
- NICD NOTCH intracellular domain
- OIS Oncogene Induced Senescence
- OXPHOS Oxidative Phosphorylation
- PAS Per-Arnt-Sim
- PAS Per-Arnt-Sim
- PET Positron Emission Tomography

- PPP Pentose Phosphate Pathway
- PR Progesterone Receptor
- Prl Prolactin
- PTEN Phosphatase and tensin homolog
- PYGL glycogen phosphorylase
- PyMT Polyoma Middle-T
- Q-PCR Quantitative PCR
- RB Retinoblastoma
- ROS Reactive Oxygen Species
- RT-PCR Reverse Transcriptase PCR
- S2RE SIM2 Response Element
- SA- β Gal Senescence Associated β -Galactosidase
- SCO2 Synthesis of cytochrome c oxidase
- SIM2s Singleminded-2 short isoform
- SNP single nucleotide polymorphisms
- STAT Signal transducer and activator
- STAT Signal transducer and activator of transcription
- TBP TATA Binding Protein
- TCA Tricarboxylic Cycle
- TEB Terminal End Bud
- TIC Tumor Initiating Cell
- TIGAR TP53-induced glycolysis and apoptosis regulator
- TIMP Tissue Inhibitor of metallo proteinase
- UPR Unfolded Protein Response

VEGF	Vascular	endothelial	growth	factor
------	----------	-------------	--------	--------

- VIM Vimentin
- WAP Whey acidic protein
- WT Wild Type
- XRE Xenobiotic response element

APPENDIX IV

VITA

Education

Ph.D. – Toxicology (Defense: March 25, 2013)

Texas A&M University – College Station, TX

Phillips, Ph.D., and Scott Dindot, Ph.D.

Committee: Weston Porter, Ph.D. (Chair), Stephen Safe, Ph.D., Les Dees, Ph.D., Tim

Dissertation: "Metabolic Demands in Mammary Gland Development and Breast

Cancer"

B.S. - Veterinary Science, Biomedical Option (Minor: Biochemistry)

University of Nebraska – Lincoln, NE

Research Experience

Aug 2008 – Current Graduate Research Assistant

Texas A&M University College of Veterinary Medicine (CVM)

Veterinary Integrative Biosciences/Interdisciplinary Faculty of Toxicology

Principle Investigator: Weston W. Porter, Ph.D.

Jan 2008 – May 2008 Undergraduate Research Assistant (Independent Study)

University of Nebraska – Lincoln

Veterinary Diagnostic Lab – Toxicology

Principal Investigator: Michael Carlson, Ph.D.

Apr 2004 – Mar 2005 Student Assistant

University of Nebraska - Lincoln

Animal Research Facility

Jan 2003 – May 2003 Student Assistant University of Nebraska – Lincoln

Ruminant Nutrition Lab

Awards & Honors

2013	TAMU Auxiliary Graduate Student Award	
2013	High Impact Research Achievement Award – First Author Publication,	
	Texas A&M	
2012	Ethel Ashworth-Tsutsui Memorial Award for Research	
2012	3 rd Place, Platform Presentation, Breast Cancer Research and Education	
	Program, Baylor College of Medicine	
2012	High Impact Research Achievement Award, Texas A&M University	
2012	1 st Place, Platform Presentation, CVM - Graduate Student Association	
	Symposium	
2012	TAMU Academic Excellence Award	
2012	George T. Edd's Outstanding Toxicology Student Award,	
	TAMU Interdisciplinary Faculty of Toxicology	
2011	CVM Graduate Student Research Trainee Grant	
2011	CVM-GSA Travel Award	
2011	CVM Award for Exemplary Work during Graduate Career	

2011	5 th Place, Poster Presenta	ation, CVM-GSA	Spring Symposium
------	--	----------------	------------------

- 2011 Pinnacle Honor Society, Induction
- 2010 Who's Who among Students in American Colleges & Universities, Induction
- 2010San Antonio Breast Cancer Symposium Basic Science Scholars-In-
Training Scholarship, American Association for Cancer Research
- 2010 2nd Place, Platform Presentation, Society of Toxicology, Gulf Coast Chapter Annual Meeting
- 2010 Gulf Coast Society of Toxicology Annual Meeting Travel Award
- **2010** 1st Place, Platform Presentation, Toxicology Research Forum
- **2010** 3rd Place, Poster Presentation, Texas Forum on Reproductive Science
- 2010 CVM-GSA Travel Award
- 2009 Honorable Mention, Poster Presentation, Toxicology Research Forum
- 2009 CVM-GSA Travel Award
- **2008-2009** Toxicology Regents Fellow (full support)

Research Support

BC100880 (Scribner, KC) 1/15/2011 – 1/31/2014
DOD BCRP Pre-Doctoral Traineeship Award
"Regulation of Mammary Gland and Breast Tumor Differentiation by Singleminded-2s"
Role: Principle Investigator

CVM Graduate Student Research Trainee Grant 1/01/2012 – 12/01/2012 "The Role of Singleminded-2s (Sim2s) in breast cancer cell metabolism and energy homeostasis"

Role: Principle Investigator

Publications

- Scribner K.C., Metz R.P., Schilling L., Ragavan M., Fan Y.Y., Hilty C., Chapkin R., Payne H.R., Mouneimne R., Behbod F., Medina D., Porter W.W. "SIM2s inhibits DCIS progression by regulating senescent-dependent metabolic equilibrium." *Cancer Research*. (Submitted)
- Dyer L.M., Hu J., Reinhard M.K., Izumchenko E., Scribner K.C., Leeuwenburgh C., Porter W.W., McKinnon P.J., Brown K.D. "Atm is required for homeostasis within the lactating mammary gland." *Breast Cancer Research*. (Submitted).
- Scribner K.C., Behbod F., and Porter W.W. "Regulation of DCIS to invasive breast cancer progression by Singleminded-2s (SIM2s)." *Oncogene*. 2012 Jul 9. [Epub ahead of print].
- Romoser A.A., Figueroa D.E., Sooresh A, Scribner K.C., Chen P.L., Porter W.W, Criscitiello M.F., and Sayes C.M.(2012) "Differential NF-κB competency mediates

nanoparticle toxicity in normal human dermal cells." *Toxicology Letters*, May 5;210(3):293-301.

 Scribner K.C., Wellberg E.A., Metz R.P., Porter W.W. (2011) "Singleminded-2s (Sim2s) promotes delayed involution of the mouse mammary gland through inhibition of Stat3 and NFκB." *Molecular Endocrinology*, Apr;25(4):635-44.(Cover)

National Presentations

- Mediation of a Metabolic "Switch" from DCIS to IBC
 Platform, 8th Annual Breast Cancer Research and Education Program, September 2012, Montgomery, TX (3rd Place)
- 2. Singleminded-2s (Sim2s) plays a unique role in mammary gland and breast cancer autophagy and energy homeostasis

Poster, American Association for Cancer Research Special Conference on Metabolism in Cancer, October 2011, Baltimore, MD

3. Singleminded-2s (Sim2s) plays a unique role in mammary gland and breast cancer autophagy and metabolism homeostasis

Poster, 7th Annual Breast Cancer Research and Education Program, September 2011, Montgomery, TX

4. Singleminded-2s (Sim2s) induces metabolic and autophagic changes in the functioning mammary gland and breast cancer

Poster, Mammary Gland Biology Gordon Research Conference, Salve Regina University, June 2011, Newport, RI

5. Singleminded-2s (Sim2s) in Breast Cancer

Seminar, Interdisciplinary Faculty of Toxicology, Texas A&M University, February 2011, College Station, TX

- Inhibition of DCIS progression through promotion of differentiation
 Poster, CTRC-AACR Breast Cancer Research Symposium, December 2010, San Antonio, TX
- 7. Singleminded-2s (Sim2s) inhibits MCF10DCIS.COM progression in vivo by promoting differentiation

Platform, Gulf Coast Society of Toxicology Annual Meeting, October 2010, Houston, TX (2nd Place)

8. Singleminded-2s (Sim2s) inhibits MCF10DCIS.COM progression and metastasis in vivo by promoting differentiation

Platform, 6th Annual Breast Cancer Research and Education Program, September 2010, Montgomery, TX

9. Singleminded-2s (Sim2s) inhibits MCF10DCIS.COM progression and metastasis in vivo by promoting differentiation

Poster, MRS-AACR Metastasis and The Tumor Microenvironment Conference, September 2010, Philadelphia, PA

10. Singleminded-2s (Sim2s) delays apoptosis and involution of the mammary gland through inhibition of phospho-Stat3

Poster, Texas Forum on Reproductive Sciences, April 2010, Houston, TX (3rd Place)

 MDF10DCIS.COM Breast Cancer Cell Lines are Attenuated by Expression of Singleminded- 2s(Sim2s) Platform, Gulf Coast Society of Toxicology Annual Meeting, October 2009, Austin, TX

- Aberrant Involuting Pathways in MMTV-Singleminded-2s (Sim2s) Mice
 Poster, 5th Annual Breast Cancer Research and Education Program,
 September 2009, Houston, TX
- Differential Induction of Involution in MMTV-Singleminded-2s (Sim2s) Mice
 Poster, Mammary Gland Biology Gordon Research Conference, June 2009, Newport, RI

Local Presentations

1. SIM2s inhibits DCIS progression by regulating senescent-dependent metabolic equilibrium

Seminar, Baylor College of Medicine, February 2013, Houston, TX.

2. Singleminded-2S (SIM2S) mediates breast cancer cell metabolism and mitochondrial bioenergetics

Platform, CVM-GSA Spring Research Symposium, April 2012, College Station, TX. (1st Place)

3. Singleminded-2s (Sim2s) plays a unique role in breast cancer metabolism and mitochondrial bioenergetics

Platform, Student Research Week, March 2012, College Station, TX.

4. Singleminded-2s (Sim2s) induces metabolic and autophagic changes in the functioning mammary gland and breast cancer

Poster, Toxicology Research Symposium, August 2011, College Station, TX.

5. Inhibition of DCIS Progression through the Re-establishment of Sim2s Expression
Poster, CVM-GSA Spring Research Symposium, April 2011, College Station, TX (5th Place)

6. Singleminded-2s (Sim2s) inhibits MCF10DCIS.COM progression and metastasis in vivo by promoting differentiation

Platform, Toxicology Research Symposium, August 2010, College Station, TX. (1st Place)

 Differential Induction of Involution in MMTV-Singleminded-2s (Sim2s) Mice
 Poster, Toxicology Research Symposium, August 2009, College Station, TX. (Honorable Mention)

Professional Affiliations

2011-Current	Society of Toxicology
2011-Current	Metastasis Research Society – Member
2010-Current	American Association of Cancer Researchers – Associate
	Member
2009-Current	Lone Star Society of Toxicology – Student Member

Volunteering & Service

2011-2012	TAMU Veritas Forum Planning Committee – Member
2009-Current	Texas A&M CVM Graduate Student Association Spring Symposium
2009-Current	Texas A&M CVM Open House Volunteer
2008-Current	TAMU CVM Graduate Student Association – Member
2011-2012	TAMU Veritas Forum Planning Committee – Member
2010-2012	American Cancer Society (College Station, TX) – Volunteer

- 2010-2012 American Cancer Society Reach to Recovery Program East Texas Coordinator
- 2010-2012 Executive Toxicology Committee Student Representative
- 2010-2012 TAMU Student Service Fee Advisory Board Board Member
- 2009-2012 TAMU Medical Sciences Library Student Advisory Board Board Member
- 2012 TAMU Student Research Week Poster Judge
- 2011 TAMU Women's Leadership Conference
- 2011 Expanding Your Horizons Program (Bryan, TX) Workshop Leader
- 2010-2011 Cattle Barron's Ball Planning Committee Food and Beverage Chair
- 2010-2011 TAMU GSC Legislative Relations Committee –Committee Member
- 2010-2011 TAMU Rec Sports Advisory Committee– Student Representative
- 2010-2011 Graduate Student Council Toxicology Representative
- 2010 Harmony Science Academy (Bryan, TX) Science Fair Judge
- 2009-2010 TAMU CVM Graduate Student Association President
- 2009-2010 TAMU CVM Graduate Instruction Council Graduate Student Representative
- 2008 Texas A&M/BYD Kennels Equine Theft Prevention Clinic

Mentorship/Teaching

- Graduate Panel, VIBS 650: Education in a Veterinary Medical and Biomedical Environment
 - o (Faculty Coordinator: Dr. Jane Welsh) Fall Semester 2012.
- Sydney Duckworth, Undergraduate, 485 Directed Studies January-May 2012

- Substitute Lecturer, Tumor Cell Biology (Professor: Weston Porter) Spring Semester 2012.
- Expanding Your Horizons: Motivating young women in math and science, 2011
 Fall workshop for 6th grade girls interested in math and science.
- Graduate Panel, VIBS 650: Education in a Veterinary Medical and Biomedical Environment
 - o (Faculty Coordinator: Dr. Jane Welsh) Fall Semester 2010.
- Graduate Panel, VIBS 650: Education in a Veterinary Medical and Biomedical Environment
 - o (Faculty coordinator: Dr. Jane Welsh) Fall Semester 2009.
- Mansi Gaitonde, Undergraduate researcher, (Directed Studies) Aug-Dec 2009.
 Currently a medical student at UT Southwestern in Dallas, TX.
 - Sara Filliben, Veterinary student, Summer Research Program 2009
 Poster Presentation: "Role of Singleminded-2s in tumorigenicity of
 MCF10DCIS.COM Cancer Cell Line." Sarah Filliben, Kelly Scribner, and
 Weston Porter at the Merck-Merial NIH Veterinary Scholars Symposium in
 North Carolina. August, 2009.
- Nebraska Women in Science Conference, 2008.

Conference for junior high and high school girls interested in careers in science.